Recent Results in Cancer Research P.M. Schlag · H.- J. Senn Series Editors

Uwe M. Martens Volume Editor

Small Molecules in Oncology

Indexed in PubMed/Medline



Recent Results in Cancer Research

184



H.-J. Senn, St. Gallen

Associate Editors P. Kleihues, Zürich F. Stiefel, Lausanne B. Groner, Frankfurt A. Wallgren, Göteborg

Founding Editor P. Rentchnik, Geneva Uwe M. Martens (Ed.)

Small Molecules in Oncology



Editor **Prof. Dr. Uwe M. Martens** SLK-Kliniken Heilbronn GmbH Medizinische Klinik III Am Gesundbrunnen 20-26 74078 Heilbronn Germany

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany

uwe.martens@slk-kliniken.de

ISBN: 978-3-642-01221-1

e-ISBN: 978-3-642-01222-8

DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-01222-8

Springer Heidelberg Dordrecht London New York

Library of Congress Control Number: 2009933609

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2010

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Product liability: The publishers cannot guarantee the accuracy of any information about dosage and application contained in this book. In every individual case the user must check such information by consulting the relevant literature.

Cover design: eStudioCalamar Figueres/Berlin

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Contents

Part I Protein Kinase Inhibitors

1	Imatinit Corneliu	• Mesylate	3
	1.1	Introduction.	3
	1.2	Chemical Structure	5
	1.3	Clinical Pharmacology	6
	1.4	Drug Targets	6
	1.5	Preclinical Studies	6
	1.6	Clinical Data in CML	8
	1.6.1	Phase I Trials	8
	1.6.2	Phase II Studies.	8
	1.6.3	Phase III Study (IRIS-Trial)	9
	1.6.4	Side Effects/Toxicity.	10
	1.7	Disease Progression and Imatinib Resistance.	11
	1.8	Treatment Recommendations for the Use of Imatinib	
		in Chronic Phase CML	14
	1.9	Imatinib in Combination with Other Drugs	15
	1.10	Imatinib – Other Targets	15
	1.11	Conclusion and Future Perspectives.	16
		References.	17
2	Erlotini	b	21
	M. Stein	s, M. Thomas, and M. Geißler	
	2.1	Introduction.	21
	2.2	Mechanism of Action	22
	2.3	Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer	22
	2.4	Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma	24
	2.5	Hepatocellular Carcinoma	27
	2.6	Other Tumour Entities	28
		References.	28

3	Axitinib (AG-013736) 3 Ronan Joseph Kelly and Olivier Rixe 3				
	3.1	Introduction	33		
	3.2	Structure of Molecule	34		
	3.3	Preclinical Data	34		
	3.3.1	Bioavailability in Humans	36		
	3.4	Phase II Studies.	36		
	3.4.1	Axitinib in Renal Cell Carcinoma	36		
	3.4.2	Axitinib in Pancreatic Cancer	37		
	3.4.3	Axitinib in Metastatic Breast Cancer	38		
	3.4.4	Axitinib in Thyroid Cancer.	38		
	3.4.5	Axitinib in Other Solid Tumors	39		
	3.5	Phase III Studies	39		
	3.6	Toxicity	40		
	3.7	Drug Interactions	41		
	3.8	Future	42		
		References	42		
4	Lapatinił)	45		
	Tanja Sch	neider-Merck and Martin Trepel			
	4.1	Introduction	45		
	4.1.1	The Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Family of Tyrosine Kinases	45		
	4.1.2	Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptors			
		and Breast Cancer	47		
	4.2	Structure and Mechanism of Action	47		
	4.3	Clinical Data	49		
	4.3.1	Pharmacology	49		
	4.3.2	Results from Clinical Trials	49		
	4.4	Conclusion and Future Perspectives	54		
		References	55		
5	Sorafenib)	61		
	Jens Hass	karl			
	5.1	Introduction	61		
	5.2	Structure and Mechanism of Action	62		
	5.3	Clinical Data	64		
	5.3.1	Phase I	64		
	5.3.2	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Renal Cell Cancer (RCC)	64		
	5.3.3	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Lung Cancer	66		
	5.3.4	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Hepatocellular Cancer (HCC)	66		
	5.3.5	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Breast Cancer	66		
	5.3.6	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Malignant Melanoma	66		
	5.3.7	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Prostate Cancer.	67		

	5.3.8	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Head and Neck Cancer	67
	5.3.9	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Ovarian Cancer	67
	5.3.10	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Brain Tumors	67
	5.3.11	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Thyroid Cancer	67
	5.3.12	Sorafenib in the Treatment of Hematologic Diseases	67
	5.4	Conclusion and Future Perspectives	68
		References	68
6	Sunitini	b	71
	Daniel Y	C. Heng and Christian Kollmannsberger	
	6.1	Introduction	71
	6.2	Sunitinib	71
	6.3	Renal Cell Carcinoma	72
	6.3.1	Targets for Renal Cell Carcinoma	72
	6.3.2	Phase II/III Studies in Metastatic RCC	74
	6.4	Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors	75
	6.4.1	Targets for Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors	75
	6.4.2	GIST Clinical Trials	75
	6.4.3	Side Effects.	76
	6.4.4	Drug Interactions	78
	6.4.5	Activity in Other Tumor Sites and Ongoing Research	78
	6.5	Conclusion	79
		References.	79
7	Dasatini	ib	83
	Markus	Lindauer and Andreas Hochhaus	
	7.1	Introduction.	83
	7.2	Structure and Mechanism of Action	85
	7.2.1	Inhibition of ABL	86
	7.2.2	Inhibition of SRC	87
	7.2.3	Inhibition of c-KIT	87
	7.2.4	Inhibition of Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Receptor	
		(PDGFR)- α and β Tyrosine Kinases	88
	7.2.5	Inhibition of Ephrin Receptor Tyrosine Kinases	88
	7.2.6	Additional Effects.	88
	7.3	Clinical Data	88
	7.3.1	Pharmacokinetic Profile	88
	7.3.2	Clinical Studies with Dasatinib in CML	
		and Other Diseases	89
	7.3.3	CML and Ph ⁺ ALL – Overview	89
	7.3.4	Dasatinib and Other Diseases	95
	7.3.5	Safety and Tolerability	96
	7.4	Conclusion and Further Perspectives	98
		References.	99

8	Nilotinib Alfonso Q	uintás-Cardama, Theo Daniel Kim, Vince Cataldo,	103
	and Philipp le Coutre		
	8.1	Background.	103
	8.2	Preclinical and Pharmacokinetic Data	104
	8.2.1	Pharmacological Design	104
	8.2.2	Drug Targets	104
	8.2.3	Preclinical Activity	104
	8.2.4	Pharmacokinetics and Metabolism	105
	8.3	Clinical Efficacy	105
	8.3.1	Nilotinib Phase I Study	106
	8.3.2	Nilotinib After Imatinib Failure	106
	8.3.3	Nilotinib First-Line Therapy.	108
	8.3.4	Nilotinib After Dasatinib Failure	108
	8.3.5	Toxicity	109
	8.3.6	Resistance to Nilotinib	112
	8.4	Outlook	113
	8.5	Conclusion	114
		References.	114
9	Bosutinib Gunhild K	eller, Philippe Schafhausen, and Tim H. Brümmendorf	119
	9.1	Chemical Structure	119
	9.2	Mechanism of Action	119
	9.2.1	SRC Kinase Inhibition	120
	9.2.2	Abl and bcr-abl Inhibition	120
	9.3	Bosutinib in Chronic Myeloid Leukaemia (CML)	121
	9.3.1	Preclinical Data	121
	9.3.2	Clinical Trials	121
	9.4	Bosutinib in Solid Tumours	124
	9.4.1	Preclinical Data.	124
	9.4.2	Clinical Trials	125
	9.5	Conclusion and Future Directions	125
		References	126
Par	t II Epige	netic Modifiers	
10	Decitabin Michael D	e vaskalakis, Nadja Blagitko-Dorfs, and Björn Hackanson	131
	10.1	Introduction	131
	10.2	Structure and Mechanism of Action	132
	10.3	Studies of Single-Agent Decitabine in MDS	

1010			
	and Acute Leukemias	133	
10.4	Combination Treatment in AML, MDS, and Other Diseases	135	

	10.5	Decitabine as a Preparative Agent in Allogeneic Stem Cell	
		Transplantation	140
	10.6	Immunomodulation with Decitabine	142
	10.7	Decitabine Treatment in Other Diseases	143
	10.7.1	Activity of Decitabine in Patients with Acute	
		Lymphoblastic Leukemia	143
	10.7.2	Activity of Decitabine in Patients with Chronic	
		Myeloid Leukemia	144
	10.7.3	Activity of Decitabine in Patients with Idiopathic	
		Myelofibrosis (IMF)	145
	10.7.4	Clinical Effects of Decitabine in Severe β -Thalassemia	
		and Sickle Cell Disease	145
	10.7.5	Efficacy of Decitabine in Patients with Solid Tumors	146
	10.8	Conclusion and Future Perspectives	148
		References.	149
11	5-Azacytic	dine/Azacitidine	159
Antonia Müller and Mareike Florek			
	11.1	Introduction: 5-Azacytidine – Novel or Almost Historic?	159
	11.2	Agent	160
	11.2.1	Chemical Structure	160
	11.2.2	Mode of Action.	160
	11.3	Pharmacology	161
	11.3.1	Route of Administration and Dosage	161
	11.3.2	Bioavailability, Half-Life, Elimination, Drug-Drug	
		Interactions	162
	11.3.3	Safety, Side Effects, and Contraindications	162
	11.4	Clinical Use of 5-Azacytidine	164
	11.4.1	Early Studies	164
	11.4.2	5-Azacytidine in Myelodysplastic Syndromes (MDS)	164
	11.4.3	New Therapeutic Approaches.	166
	11.5	Future Perspective, Experimental Studies, and Conclusion	166
		References.	167
Part	III Cell	Cycle Inhibitors	

12	Bortezo	mib	173
	Hermann	n Einsele	
	12.1	Mode of Action.	173
	12.2	Antitumor Effects	175
	12.3	Clinical Application of Proteasome Inhibitors	176
	12.4	Bortezomib	177
	12.5	Bortezomib-Based Combination Therapy	
		for Multiple Myeloma	178

224

	12.6	Treatment Options for Patients Eligible for Transplant	179
	12.7	Next Generation Proteasome Inhibitors	179
		Kelerences.	180
13	Temsiroli	mus	189
	Christian	Stock, Massimo Zaccagnini, Michael Schulze, Dogu Teber,	
	and Jens J	. Rassweiler	
	13.1	Introduction.	189
	13.2	Development	190
	13.3	Structure and mechanism of action.	190
	13.4	Clinical Data	192
	13.5	Safety and Efficacy	192
	13.6	Side Effects	193
	13.7	Conclusion and Future Perspectives	194
		References	195
14	Danusert	ib (formerly PHA-739358) – A Novel Combined Pan-Aurora	
	Kinases a	and Third Generation Bcr-Abl Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor	199
	Artur Gor	ntarewicz and Tim H. Brümmendorf	
	14.1	Introduction.	199
	14.2	Structure, Localization, and Functions	200
	14.3	Aurora Kinases and Cancer	201
	14.4	Inhibitors	202
	14.5	Danusertib (formerly PHA-739358)	204
	14.6	Conclusion	208
		References	209
15	BI 2536 -	- Targeting the Mitotic Kinase Polo-Like Kinase 1 (Plk1)	215
	R. Wäsch	, J. Hasskarl, D. Schnerch, and M. Lübbert	
	15.1	Introduction.	215
	15.2	Structure and Mechanism of Action	217
	15.3	Clinical Data	217
	15.4	Conclusion and Future Perspectives	218
		References	218
Par	t IV Othe	er Novel Agents	
16	Imetelsta	t (GRN163L) - Telomerase-Based Cancer Therany	221
10	Alexander	r Röth, Calvin B. Harley, and Gabriela M. Baerlocher	221
	16.1	Introduction.	221
	16.2	Telomerase-Based Approaches of Cancer Treatment.	224
	16.3	Telomerase Inhibition	224
	16.4	Structure of Imetelstat and Mechanism of Action	224

	16.5	Preclinical and Clinical Data of Imetelstat	225
	16.6	Conclusion and Future Prospects	229
		References	229
17	GDC-04 Christine	49 - Targeting the Hedgehog Signaling Pathway	235
	17.1	Introduction.	235
	17.2	Structure and Mechanism of Action	236
	17.3	Clinical Data	236
	17.4	Conclusion and Future Perspectives	237
		References.	237

Contributors

Gabriela M. Baerlocher

Department of Hematology University Hospital Bern, Freiburgstraße 3010 Bern, Switzerland

Nadja Blagitko-Dorfs

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany

Tim H. Brümmendorf

Department of Hematology and Oncology University Hospital Aachen Pauwelsstraße 30 52074 Aachen, Germany

University Cancer Center Hamburg (UCCH) University Hospital Eppendorf Martinistraße 52 20246 Hamburg, Germany t.bruemmendorf@uke.uni-hamburg.de

Vince Cataldo

Division of Cancer Medicine, M.D. Anderson Cancer Center 1515 Holcombe Boulevard Houston, TX 77030, USA

Philipp le Coutre

Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin Campus Virchow-Klinikum Medizinische Klinik m.S. Hämatologie und Onkologie Augustenburger Platz 1 13353 Berlin, Germany Philipp.lecoutre@charite.de

Michael Daskalakis

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany michael.daskalakis@uniklinik-freiburg.de

Christine Dierks

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany christine.dierks@uniklinik-freiburg.de

Hermann Einsele

Department of Internal Medicine II University Hospital Würzburg Josef-Schneider Straße 2 97080 Würzburg, Germany Einsele_h@klinik.uni-wuerzburg.de

Mareike Florek

Stanford University, School of Medicine Division of Blood and Marrow Transplantation, 269 West Campus Drive CCSR, Stanford, CA 94305, USA mareike@stanford.edu

Michael Geißler

Städtische Kliniken Esslingen Department of Oncology Gastroenterology and Internal Medicine Hirschlandstraße 97 73730 Esslingen, Germany M.Geissler@klinikum-esslingen.de

Artur Gontarewicz

Department of Oncology and Hematology University Hospital Hamburg-Eppendorf Martinistraße 52 20246 Hamburg, Germany

Björn Hackanson

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany

Calvin B. Harley

Geron Corporation, Menlo Park, CA, USA

Jens Hasskarl

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany jens.hasskarl@uniklinik-freiburg.de

Daniel Y.C. Heng

BC Cancer Agency 600 West 10th Avenue Vancouver, British Columbia, V5Z 4E6 Canada

Andreas Hochhaus

III. Medizinische Klinik
Hämatologie und Internistische Onkologie
Universitätsmedizin Mannheim
Universität Heidelberg
Theodor-Kutzer-Ufer 1–3
68167 Mannheim, Germany

Universitätsklinikum Jena Klinik für Innere Medizin II Abteilung Hämatologie und Internistische Onkologie, Erlanger Allee 101 07747 Jena, Germany hochhaus@uni-hd.de Andreas.Hochhaus@med3.ma.uni-heidel berg.de

Gunhild Keller

Klinik für Onkologie und Hämatologie mit der Sektion Pneumologie Universitäres Cancer Center Hamburg (UCCH) Universitäts-Klinikum Hamburg-Eppendorf Martinistraße 52 20246 Hamburg, Germany

Ronan Joseph Kelly

Thoracic Oncology Department Medical Oncology Branch National Cancer Institute Bethesda, MD 20892, USA kellyro@mail.nih.gov

Theo Daniel Kim

Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin Campus Virchow-Klinikum Medizinische Klinik m.S. Hämatologie und Onkologie Augustenburger Platz 1 Berlin 13353, Germany

Christian Kollmannsberger

BC Cancer Agency 600 West 10th Avenue Vancouver, British Columbia, V5Z 4E6 Canada e-mail: ckollmannsberger@bccancer.bc.ca

Markus Lindauer

SLK-Kliniken Heilbronn GmbH Medizinische Klinik III Am Gesundbrunnen 20–26 74078 Heilbronn Germany markus.lindauer@slk-kliniken.de

Michael Lübbert

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany

Antonia Müller

Stanford University, School of Medicine Division of Blood and Marrow Transplantation 269 West Campus Drive CCSR, Stanford, CA 94305, USA anmuelle@stanford.edu

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany

Alfonso Quintás-Cardama

Department of Leukemia Division of Cancer Medicine M.D. Anderson Cancer Center 1515 Holcombe Boulevard, Houston TX 77030, USA

Jens J. Rassweiler

Department of Urology SLK-Kliniken Heilbronn GmbH Medizinische Klinik III Am Gesundbrunnen 20–26 74078 Heilbronn Germany

Olivier Rixe

Medical Oncology Branch National Cancer Institute Bethesda, MD USA olivier.rixe@yahoo.com rixeo@mail.nih.gov

Alexander Röth

Department of Hematology University Hospital Essen University of Duisburg-Essen Hufelandstraße 55 45122 Essen, Germany alexander.roeth@uni-due.de

Philippe Schafhausen

Klinik für Onkologie und Hämatologie mit der Sektion Pneumologie Universitäres Cancer Center Hamburg (UCCH) Universitäts-Klinikum Hamburg-Eppendorf Martinistraße 52 20246 Hamburg, Germany

Tanja Schneider-Merck

Department of Oncology and Hematology University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf Martinistraße 52 20246 Hamburg, Germany t.schneider-merck@uke.de

Schnerch D.

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany

Michael Schulze

Department of Urology SLK-Kliniken Heilbronn GmbH Am Gesundbrunnen 20–26 74078 Heilbronn Germany

Martin Steins

Clinic for Thoracic Diseases University of Heidelberg Amalienstraße 5 69126 Heidelberg, Germany martin.steins@thoraxklinik-heidelberg.de

Christian Stock

Department of Urology SLK-Kliniken Heilbronn GmbH Am Gesundbrunnen 20–26 74078 Heilbronn Germany

Dogu Teber

Department of Urology SLK-Kliniken Heilbronn GmbH Am Gesundbrunnen 20–26 74078 Heilbronn Germany

Michael Thomas

Clinic for Thoracic Diseases University of Heidelberg Amalienstraße 5 69126 Heidelberg, Germany Michael.thomas@thoraxklinik-heidelberg.de

Martin Trepel

University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf Department of Oncology and Hematology Martinistraße 52 20246 Hamburg, Germany m.trepel@uke.de

Cornelius F. Waller

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany cornelius.waller@uniklinik-freiburg.de

Ralph Wäsch

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany ralph.waesch@uniklinik-freiburg.de

Massimo Zaccagnini

Department of Urology "U. Bracci" Policlinico Umberto I University of Rome "La Sapienza" Italy

Part I

Protein Kinase Inhibitors

Imatinib Mesylate

Cornelius F. Waller

Abstract IMATINIB MESYLATE (Gleevec, Glivec [Novartis, Basel, Switzerland], formerly referred to as STI571 or CGP57148B) represents the paradigm of a new class of anticancer agents, the so-called small molecules. They have a high selectivity against a specific molecular target known to be the cause for the establishment and maintenance of the malignant phenotype. Imatinib is a rationally designed oral signal transduction inhibitor that specifically targets several protein tyrosine kinases, Abl, Arg (Abl-related gene), the stem-cell factor receptor (c-KIT), platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGF-R), and their oncogenic forms, most notably Bcr-Abl. Imatinib has been shown to have remarkable clinical activity in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) and malignant gastrointestinal stroma tumors (GIST) leading to its approval for treatment of these diseases.

Treatment with imatinib is generally well tolerated with a low incidence of severe side effects. The most common adverse events (AE) include mild to moderate edema, muscle cramps, diarrhea, nausea, skin rashes, and myelosuppression.

Germany

Several mechanisms of resistance have been identified. Clonal evolution, amplification, or overexpression of Bcr-Abl as well as mutations in the catalytic domain, P-loop, and other mutations have been demonstrated to play a role in primary and secondary resistance to imatinib, respectively. Improved understanding of the underlying mechanisms of resistance has led to the development of new second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors (see Chaps. 7–9).

1.1 Introduction

CML is a clonal disorder of the hematopoietic stem cell. The clinical presentation often includes granulocytosis, a hypercellular bone marrow, and splenomegaly. The natural course of the disease involves three sequential phases – chronic phase (CP), progressing often through an accelerated phase (AP) into the terminal blast crisis (BC). The duration of CP is several years, while AP and BC usually last only for months. In the past, median survival was in the range of 4–5 years (Hehlmann et al. 2007b; Sawyers 1999).

CML is characterized by the presence of the Philadelphia chromosome (Ph), a unique reciprocal translocation between the long arms of chromosomes 9 and 22, t (9:22), which is present

C. F. Waller

Department of Hematology and Oncology, University of Freiburg Medical Center,

Hugstetterstraße 55, 79106 Freiburg,

e-mail: cornelius.waller@uniklinik-freiburg.de



Fig. 1.1 Common breakpoint in chronic myeloid leukemia *(CML)* and Ph⁺*ALL*: In *CML, bcr* breakpoints occur after the second or third exon, whereas in Ph⁺

ALL, breaks can occur after the first exon. In *c-Abl*, a break occurs between the first and second exon (*CML* and Ph⁺ *ALL*)

in >90% of patients with CML and approximately 15–30% of ALL (Nowell and Hungerford 1960; Rowley 1973). On the molecular level, t(9;22) results in the generation of an oncogene, the bcr-abl fusion gene, encoding the Bcr-Abl protein, which has constitutive tyrosine kinase activity (Konopka et al. 1984) (Figure 1.1).

Its causal role in the development of CML has been demonstrated in vitro as well as in several animal models (Daley et al. 1990; Heisterkamp et al. 1990; Lugo et al. 1990; Voncken et al. 1995).

The pathological effects of Bcr-Abl include increased proliferation, protection from programmed cell death, altered stem cell adhesion, and possibly genetic instability that leads to disease progression (Deininger et al. 2000).

Before the introduction of imatinib, the standard therapy of CML was interferon- α alone or in combination with cytarabine (ara-C) leading to hematological remissions in the majority of patients, but major cytogenetic responses (MCyR) – i.e., <35% Ph⁺ metaphases – were only seen in 6–25% of patients (Hehlmann et al. 2007b). The only curative treatment of CML is allogeneic stem cell transplantation from an HLA-compatible donor. However, it is only an option for a part of the patients and is still associated with considerable morbidity and mortality (Gratwohl et al. 1998; Hehlmann et al. 2007a).

The presence of Bcr-Abl in >90% of CML patients and the identification of its essential role in the pathogenesis of the disease provided the rationale for targeting this fusion protein for the treatment of CML.

In the last decade of the twentieth century, the first data for compounds with an effect on tyrosine kinases were published (Levitzky and Gazit 1995). Tyrphostins and other similar compounds were shown to inhibit the ABL as well as the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase at micromolar concentrations, but had only limited specificity (Anafi et al. 1993a, b; Carlo-Stella et al. 1999). This led to the rational design of further TKI with selective activity against the ABL tyrosine kinase, one of which was a 2-phenylaminopyrimidine called CGP57148B, later called STI571 or imatinib

1

mesylate (Buchdunger et al. 1995, 1996; Druker and Lydon 2000; Druker et al. 1996).

After demonstration of specificity in vitro, in cell-based systems as well as in different animal models, this compound was tested in several phase I- and phase II-studies (Druker et al. 2001a; Kantarjian et al. 2002). Imatinib was shown to have very high rates of hematological remissions in CP-CML patients previously treated with interferon- α as well as in advanced stages of the disease. Cytogenetic remissions were achieved in a considerable portion of patients. Based on these good results, imatinib was approved for treatment of CML patients in CP after treatment failure with interferon- α and the advanced stages, i.e., AP and BC (Cohen et al. 2002).

The phase III (IRIS) trial led to establishment of imatinib as the standard for first-line therapy of CP-CML.

Other molecular targets of imatinib are the stemcell factor receptor (c-KIT) and platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGF-R) (Buchdunger et al. 2000, 1995; Heinrich et al. 2002).

c-KIT is expressed in a variety of human cancers, including germ cell tumors, neuroblastoma, melanoma, small cell lung cancer, breast and ovarian cancer, acute myeloid leukemia, mast cell disorders as well as malignant gastrointestinal stroma tumors (GIST). While in most of these diseases the exact role of c-KIT expression is not defined, in mastocytosis and GISTs, activating mutations of c-KIT have been identified.

Based on data of a single open-label phase II trial and two large phase-III-trials by the EORTC and SWOG, imatinib received approval for treatment of metastatic/unresectable GIST (Cohen et al. 2009; Dagher et al. 2002).

Furthermore, imatinib has been successfully used in diseases with aberrant PDGF-R. They have been shown to deregulate the growth of a variety of cancers, such as myeloproliferative disorders (Pardanani and Tefferi 2004), e.g., in hypereosinophilic syndrome (FIP1L1/PDGFRαrearrangement), chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (CMML) harboring the actiating translocations involving the PDGFR β receptor locus on chromosome 5q33 (FIP1/PDGFR-translocation), carcinomas, melanoma, gliomas, and sarcomas, including dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans (Barnhill et al. 1996; Greco et al. 2001).

1.2 Chemical Structure

Imatinib mesylate is designated chemically as 4-[(4-methyl-1-piperazinyl)methyl]-N-[4-methyl-3-[[4-(3-pyridinyl)-2-pyrimidinyl] aminophenyl] benzamide methanesulfonate. Its molecular formula is $C_{29}H_{31}N_7O\cdot CH_4SO_3$, and its relative molecular mass is 589.7 (Fig. 1.2).

Imatinib functions as a specific competitive inhibitor of ATP. It binds with high affinity at the ATP binding site in the inactive form of the kinase domain, blocks ATP binding, and thereby inhibits kinase activity by interrupting the transfer of phosphate from ATP to tyrosine residues on substrate proteins (Cohen et al. 2002, 2005; Lyseng-Williamson and Jarvis 2001; Mauro et al. 2002).



Fig. 1.2 Structure of imatinib mesylate (formerly STI 571 bzw. CGP57148)

1.3 Clinical Pharmacology

After oral administration to normal volunteers, imatinib was well absorbed with an absolute bioavailability of 98%. Peak plasma concentrations were attained between 2 and 4 h. At clinically relevant concentrations, total binding of imatinib to plasma proteins is approximately 95%, mostly to albumin and α 1-acid glycoprotein. The elimination half-lives of imatinib and its major active metabolite CGP74588 from plasma are approximately 18 and 40 h, respectively.

Imatinib AUC is dose-proportional at the recommended daily dose range of 400 and 600 mg. Within 7 days, approximately 81% of the dose is eliminated, 68% in feces and 13% in urine.

Cytochrome P450 (CYP3A4) is the major enzyme responsible for imatinib metabolism and both imatinib and CGP74588 appear to be potent in vitro CYP2D6 inhibitors. Imatinib plasma concentrations may be altered when the drug is administered with inhibitors or inducers of CYP3A4. When CYP3A4 inhibitors, e.g., itroconazole, ketoconazole, erythromycin, or clarithromycin, are co-administered with imatinib, its metabolization may be decreased. CYP3A4 inducers, such as dexamethasone, phenytoin, rifampicin, carbamazepine, phenobarbital, and others, may increase imatinib metabolism. Furthermore, increased plasma concentrations of drugs that are substrates of CYP3A4, e.g., simvastatin, cyclosporine, and others, may be the result of imatinib use (Cohen et al. 2002, 2005; Lyseng-Williamson and Jarvis 2001; Mauro et al. 2002).

In a small number of children with Ph⁺ ALL, imatinib plasma levels as well as those of its metabolite CGP74588 were measured. Imatinib plasma levels were similar to those in adult patients. However, AUC of CGP74588 was only 5–24% of the parent drug's AUC, and it was eliminated much faster than in adults, indicating a lesser role of the metabolite in antileukemic activity (Marangon et al. 2009). In the phase –III-(IRIS) trial, the correlation of imatinib pharmacokinetics and the response to treatment as well as to side effects could be shown (Larson et al. 2008).

1.4 Drug Targets

Imatinib selectively inhibits all the ABL tyrosine kinases, including BCR-ABL, cellular homologue of the Abelson murine leukemia viral oncogene product (c-ABL), v-ABL, TEL-ABL, and Abelson-related gene (ARG). In addition, it was found to potently inhibit the tyrosine kinase activity of the α - and β -PDGF-R and the receptor for stem cell factor (c-KIT; CD117). The concentrations required for a 50% kinase inhibition were in the range of $0.025 \,\mu\text{M}$ in in vitro kinase assays and approximately 0.25 µM in intact cells. Extensive screening did not show activity against other tyrosine kinases or serine/ threonine kinases (Buchdunger et al. 1995, 1996, 2000, 2001; Deininger et al. 2005; Druker and Lydon 2000; Druker et al. 1996; Heinrich et al. 2002; Okuda et al. 2001) (Table 1.1).

1.5 Preclinical Studies

In vitro studies demonstrated specific inhibition of myeloid cell lines expressing Bcr-Abl without killing the parental cell lines from which they were derived (Deininger et al. 1997; Druker et al. 1996; Gambacorti-Passerini et al. 1997). Continuous treatment with imatinib inhibited tumor formation in syngeneic mice as well as in a nude mouse model after inoculation of Bcr-Abl-expressing cells in a dose-dependent manner, treated intraperitoneally or with oral administration of STI571, respectively (Druker et al. 1996; le Coutre et al.

Protein kinase	Substrate phosphorylation IC50 (μM)	Cellular tyrosine phosphorylation IC50 a (μ M)
c-abl	0.2; 0.025 ^a	ND
v-abl	0.038	0.1 - 0.3
p210 ^{BCR-ABL}	0.025ª	0.25
p185 ^{BCR-ABL}	0.025ª	0.25
TEL-ABL	ND	0.35
PDGF-R α and β	0.38 (PDGF-Rβ)	0.1
Tel-PDGF-R	ND	0.15
c-KIT	0.41	0.1
FLT-3	>10	>10
Btk	>10	ND
c-FMS	ND	>10
v-FMS	ND	>10
c-SRC	>100	ND
v-SRC	ND	>10
c-LYN	>100	ND
c-FGR	>100	ND
LCK	9.0	ND
SYK (TPK-IIB)	>100	ND
JAK-2	>100 ^a	>100
EGF-R	>100	>100
Insulin receptor	>10	>100
IGF-IR	>10	>100
FGF-R1	31.2	ND
VEGF-R1 (FLT-1)	19.5	ND
VEGF-R2 (KDR)	10.7	ND
VEGF-R3 (FLT-4)	5.7	ND
TIE-2 (TEK)	>50	ND
c-MET	>100	ND
РКА	>500	ND
РРК	>500	ND
PKC α , β 1, γ , δ , ϵ , ξ , η	>100	ND
Proteinkinase CK-1, CK-2	>100	ND
РКВ	>10	ND
P39	>10	ND
PDK1	>10	ND
c-RAF-1	0.97	ND
CDC2/cyclin B	>100	ND

 Table 1.1
 Inhibition of protein kinases by imatinib mesylate (formerly STI 571 bzw. CGP57148) (adapted from Deininger et al. 2005)

Imatinib concentrations causing a 50% reduction in kinase activity (IC50) are given

ND not done; *PDGF-R* platelet-derived growth-factor receptor; *Btk* Bruton tyrosine kinase; *TPK* tyrosineprotein kinase; *EGF-R* epidermal growth factor receptor; *IGF-IR* insulin-like growth factor receptor I; *FGF-R1* fibroblast growth factor receptor 1; *VEGF-R* vascular endothelial growth factor receptor; *PKA* cAMP-dependent protein kinase; *PPK* phosphorylase kinase; *PKC* protein kinase C; *CK* casein kinase; *PKB* protein kinase B (also known as Akt); *PKD1* 3-phosphoinoside-dependent protein kinase 1. ^aIC50 was determined in immunocomplex assays 1999). Activity on primary CML cells could be demonstrated and a >90% reduction of Bcr-Abl expressing colonies in colony-forming assays from peripheral blood or bone marrow from CML patients was achieved at a concentration of imatinib of 1 μ M while normal colonies did not show growth inhibition (Deininger et al. 1997; Druker et al. 1996; Gambacorti-Passerini et al. 1997).

1.6 Clinical Data in CML

1.6.1 Phase I Trials

In 1998, a phase I clinical trial with imatinib was initiated. This study was a dose escalation trial designed to determine the maximally tolerated dose, with clinical benefit as a secondary endpoint. 83 patients with CP CML who had failed standard therapy with interferon- α (IFN- α) or were intolerant to it, were enrolled. One-third of patients had signs of early progression to AP. They received escalating oral doses of imatinib, ranging from 25 to 1,000 mg/day. Clinical features of patients were typical of the disease. Dose-limiting toxicity was not reached, although a higher frequency of severe toxicities was encountered at imatinib doses >750 mg/day. The most common adverse events (AE) were nausea (43%), myalgia (41%), edema (39%), and diarrhea (25%). After 29 patients were enrolled, therapeutic doses of 300 mg or more per day were reached. 53 of 54 patients achieved a complete hematologic response (CHR), reaching normal blood counts typically within 4 weeks of treatment. Fifty-one of these 53 patients maintained normal blood counts after 1 year of therapy. Furthermore, these patients had a 31% rate of MCyR (MCyR; <35% Ph⁺ metaphases) and a 13% rate of complete cytogenetic responses (CCR; eradication of Ph⁺ bone marrow cells) (Druker 2008; Druker et al. 2001b).

In another phase-I-trial, patients with myeloid and lymphoid BC and patients with relapsed or refractory Ph⁺ lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) were treated with daily doses of 300–1,000 mg of imatinib. Fifty-five of patients with myeloid BC responded to therapy (45% of patients with <5% blasts in the bone marrow, and 11% reaching a complete remission with full recovery of peripheral blood counts, respectively), but only in 18% response was maintained longer than 1 year.

Of 20 patients with Ph⁺ ALL or lymphoid BC, 70% responded, 20% reaching a complete hematologic remission. Nevertheless, all but one relapsed between days 45 and 117 (Druker et al. 2001a).

Based on the results of the phase I trials, the use of imatinib was expanded to large phase-II and phase-III clinical trials.

1.6.2 Phase II Studies

Three open-label, single-arm phase-II studies using imatinib as a single agent were conducted in patients with Ph⁺ CML in three clinical settings: CML-CP after IFN- α failure or with intolerance to the drug, CML-AP, and CML-BC. Imatinib was administered orally once daily. Initially, all patients received 400 mg/day. Early in the study, however, the imatinib dose was increased to 600 mg daily for CML-AP and CML-BC trials. Patients with resistant or progressive disease receiving a dose of 400 or 600 mg/day could receive doses of 600 or 800 mg daily (administered as 400 mg twice daily).

In 532 patients with CP CML who had failed IFN- α therapy, 95% of patients reached a CHR, with complete cytogenetic response rates of 41% and major cytogenetic remission (MCR) of 60%. The estimated rates of freedom from progression to accelerated or blastic phase and overall survival at 6 years were 61 and 76%, respectively (Druker 2008; Hochhaus et al. 2008; Kantarjian et al. 2002).

For patients in BC and with Ph⁺- ALL, the studies confirmed the results of the phase – I trial. Response rates were also high; however, relapses were seen frequently. The majority of patients in BC relapsed during the first year of treatment. Hematologic responses were observed in 52% of patients (n=260) with myeloid BC, with a median response duration of 10 months. Interestingly, 48% of patients in this trial developed new cytogenetic abnormalities during treatment, demonstrating clonal evolution (Ottmann et al. 2002; Sawyers et al. 2002).

The efficacy in patients with AP CML was intermediate between CP and BC. Of 181 patients with AP, 82% showed a hematologic response, 53% reaching a CHR, which was sustained in 69%. MCRs were seen in 24% of patients with a complete cytogenetic responses rate of 17% (Talpaz et al. 2002).

The treatment results in advanced-phase CML and Ph⁺ ALL underline the necessity of combination therapies with conventional chemotherapy as well as the use of second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors.

The results of the phase-I and phase-II trials led to the approval by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) of imatinib for the treatment of CML in advanced phase and after failure of IFN therapy (Cohen et al. 2002; Deininger et al. 2005; Druker 2008).

1.6.3 Phase III Study (IRIS-Trial)

In a landmark phase III study, the International Randomized Study of Interferon and STI571 (IRIS) trial, imatinib and the combination of IFN plus cytarabine were compared in newly diagnosed CP CML patients. More than 1,000 patients were accrued in less than 7 months. Five hundred and fifty three patients were randomized to each of the two treatments, imatinib at 400 mg/day or interferon- α plus Ara-C. There were no significant differences in prognostic or

clinical features between the two treatment arms. After a median follow-up of 19 months, patients randomized to imatinib had significantly better results for CHR, MCR, and complete cytogenetic responses, as well as progression-free survival than patients treated with interferon- α plus Ara-C (O'Brien et al. 2003).

The remarkable superiority of imatinib led to early disclosure of study results. Thereafter, most patients were crossed over from interferon- α plus Ara-C to the imatinib arm.

The IRIS trial is now a long-term follow-up study of patients who received imatinib as initial therapy. After a follow-up of 5 years, the overall survival for newly diagnosed CP patients treated with imatinib is 89%. An estimated 93% of imatinib-treated patients remain free from disease progression to the AP or BC. The estimated annual rate of treatment failure was 3.3% in the first year, 7.5% in the year 2, 4.8% in year 3, 1.5% in year 4, and 0.9% in year 5. The progression rate did not increase over time (Druker et al. 2006) (Fig. 1.3).

Most of the side effects of imatinib were mild to moderate, with the most common being edema, muscle cramps, diarrhea, nausea, skin rashes, and myelosuppression (Druker et al. 2006). Quality of life was far better in patients treated with imatinib (Hahn et al. 2003). Rates of hematologic and cytogenetic responses are shown in Table 1.2. The most recent update at 7 years showed an estimated overall survival of 86% and of 94% considering only CML-related deaths, respectively. The estimated EFS at 7 years was 81% and the estimated rate without progression to AP or BC 93%. A complete cytogenetic responses was achieved by 456 of 553 (82%) of patients on first-line imatinib (O'Brien et al. 2008).

Monitoring of residual disease by quantitative RT-PCR in complete cytogenetic responders showed that the risk of disease progression was inversely correlated with the reduction of BCR-ABL mRNA when compared with pretherapeutic levels (Hughes et al. 2003). The rates of major molecular remissions as well as



the depth of molecular responses increase over time with a downward trend of relapse (O'Brien et al. 2008).

Investigation of pharmacokinetics in the imatinib-treated patients showed a correlation between imatinib trough plasma concentrations with clinical responses, EFS and AEs. Patients with high imatinib exposure had better rates of complete cytogenetic responses, major molecular responses, and event-free survival, respectively (Larson et al. 2008).

The results of the IRIS trial have led to FDA approval of imatinib for first-line treatment of patients with CP CML in 2002 (Cohen et al. 2002, 2005; Druker et al. 2001b).

1.6.4 Side Effects/Toxicity

Hematological side effects of imatinib are shown in Tables 1.3 and 1.4. Grade 3 or 4

Timepoint of follow-up	First-line treatment	Estimated cumulative rate of CHR (%)	Estimated cumulative rate of MCR (%)
18 months	IFN+Ara-C n=553	55.5	22.1
	Imatinib n=553	95.3*	85.2*
60 months	Imatinib	98	92

*Statistically significant difference to treatment with IFN + Ara-C p = 0.001

^aOAS 94% considering only CML-related deaths

neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, or anemia was seen in all phase II – trials and the phase III study. While grade 3/4 neutropenia occurred in first-line treatment of CP CML in about 17%, in accelerated and blastic phase, it could be detected in approximately 60% of patients. In addition, in advanced phase, CML thrombocytopenia and anemia occur more frequently than in CP-CML (first or second line).

Typical nonhematological side effects in phase II-trials of imatinib in CML are shown in Table 1.3 (Cohen et al. 2005, 2002; Guilhot 2004). In the IRIS trial, most of the side effects of imatinib were mild to moderate, with the most common being edema, muscle cramps, diarrhea, nausea, skin rashes, and myelosuppression (Table 1.4) (Druker et al. 2006; O'Brien et al. 2003).

Recently, it has been suggested that imatinib may cause cardiotoxicity (Kerkelä et al. 2006). However, a preexisting condition predisposing to congestive heart failure (CHF) could not be excluded in these patients. Furthermore, a follow-up examination of the Novartis database of imatinib clinical trials including >5,600 years of exposure to imatinib found an incidence of CHF in imatinib recipients of 0.2% cases per year with a possible or probable relationship to the drug. In the IRIS trial, the incidence of cardiac failure and left ventricular dysfunction was estimated at 0.04% per year in the imatinib arm when compared with 0.75% in interferon- α and ara-C-treated patients (Hatfield et al. 2007).

1.7 Disease Progression and Imatinib Resistance

Resistance to imatinib includes de novo resistance and relapse after an initial response. The frequent and durable responses in CP-CML are caused by the selective inhibition of Bcr-Abl by imatinib. In accelerated and blastic phase CML as well as in Ph⁺ ALL, the combination of high numbers of proliferating tumor cells and genomic instability may lead to secondary genetic alterations, independent of Bcr-Abl (von Bubnoff et al. 2003). In the majority of patients who respond to imatinib and then relapse, reactivation of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase could be shown. This indicates that Bcr-Abl-dependent mechanisms either prevent imatinib from reaching its target or render the target insensitive to Bcr-Abl. In the former category are mechanisms such as increased drug efflux through the multidrug resistance gene or protein binding of imatinib, while the latter include mutations in the catalytic domain, the P-loop, and other mutations (Druker 2008; Gorre et al. 2001). Over 70 point mutations have been demonstrated to play a role in primary and secondary resistance to imatinib, respectively.

Estimated cumulative rate of CCR (%)	Progression-free survival (PFS) (%)	Freedom from progression to AP or BC (%)	ªOAS (%)	Reference
8.5	73.5	91.5		O'Brien 2003
73.8*	92.1	96.7		O'Brien 2003
87	83	93	89	Druker 2006

Table 1.3 Adverse events ≥1	0% in the phase II CMI	L trials (Guilhot 200	4; Cohen et al. 2002)			
Reported or specified term	CML-CP ^a after IFN-		CML-AP ^b		CML-myeloid BC ^b	
	failure/intolerance		N>235		N>260	
	N>532		Dosage 600 mg: <i>n</i> >	158	Dosage 600 mg: <i>n</i> >2	23
	Dosage: 400 mg		Dosage 400 mg: $n >$	77	Dosage 400 mg: $n > 3$	7
	All grades (%)	Grades 3/4 (%)	All grades (%)	Grades 3/4 (%)	All grades (%)	Grades 3/4 (%)
Hematologic AEs						
Anemia		4		36		50
Neutropenia		33		58		62
Thrombocythemia		16		42		58
Non-hematologic AEs						
Nausea	60	2	71	5	70	4
Fluid retention	66	3	73	6	71	12
Superficial edema	64	2	71	4	67	5
Other fluid retention	7	2	7	2	22	8
Muscle cramps	55	1	42	0.4	27	0.8
Diarrhea	43	2	55	4	42	2
Vomiting	32	1	56	3	54	4
Hemorrhage	22	2	44	6	52	19
GI hemorrhage	2	0.4	5	3	8	33
CNS hemorrhage	1	1	2	0.9	7	5
Musculoskeletal pain	35	2	46	6	43	6
Skin rash	42	3	44	4	35	5
Headache	34	0.2	30	2	27	5
Fatigue	40	1	41	4	29	3
Arthralgia/joint pain	36	1	31	6	25	4
Dyspepsia	24	0	21	0	11	0

25 0.2 22 2 8 0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
30 5 14 3 5 0.8 17 1 39 8 41 7 29 0.6 33 3 3 31 6 17 0 26 0.9 14 0.8
30 5 14 3 5 0.8 17 1 39 8 41 7 29 0.6 33 3 3 31 6
30 5 14 3 5 0.8 17 1 39 8 41 7
30 5 14 3 5 0.8
25 0.2 22 2 8 0

1 Imatinib Mesylate

1

Table 1.4Most frequently reported AEs: first-lineimatinib at 7-year follow-up: (Druker NEJM 2006;O'Brien ASH 2008)

Most common AEs (by 5 years)	All grade AEs patients (%)	Grade 3/4 AEs patients (%)
Superficial edema	60	2
Nausea	50	1
Muscle cramps	49	2
Musculoskeletal pain	47	5
Diarrhea	45	3
Rash/skin problems	40	3
Fatigue	39	2
Headache	37	<1
Abdominal pain	37	4
Joint pain	31	3
Elevated liver enzymes	5	5
Hematological toxicity		
Neutropenia	60.8	17
Thrombocytopenia	56.6	9
Anemia	44.6	4

Only serious AEs (SAEs) were collected after 2005. Grade 3/4 AEs decreased in incidence after years 1–2

Figure 1.4: Point mutations in Bcr-Abl (adapted from Branford 2006).

Gene amplification or overexpression of Bcr-Abl as reason for resistance are seen occasionally (Shah et al. 2008; Shah and Sawyers 2003).

Understanding the underlying mechanisms of resistance has led to the development and investigation of new second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Mueller 2009; Schiffer 2007) (see Chaps. 7–9).

1.8

Treatment Recommendations for the Use of Imatinib in Chronic Phase CML

Based on the results achieved in the phase I-, II-, and III-trials with imatinib expert panels of the European Leukemia Net and the NCCN

 Table 1.5
 Treatment goals for CP-CML patients

 treated with imatinib (Baccarani et al. Blood 2006)
 1000 (2006)

Timepoint	Suboptimal response	Treatment failure
3 months	No CHR	No HR
6 months	No PCgR	No CHR
	(Ph ⁺ >35%)	No CgR (Ph ⁺ >95%)
12 months	No CCR (Ph ⁺	No PCgR
	>0%)	(Ph ⁺ >35%)
18 months	No MMR	No CCR (Ph ⁺
	(BCR-ABL/	>0%)
	ABL >0,	
	10%)	
Any time	Loss of MMR	Loss of CHR/
point	Mutation with	CCR
	high	Mutation with
	imatinib	low imatinib
	sensitivity	sensitivity
	Additional	
	cytogenetic	
	aberrations	
	in Ph ⁺ cells	

HR hematologic response; *CHR* complete hematologic response; *CgR* cytogenetic response (Ph⁺ <95%); *PCgR* partial cytogenetic response (Ph⁺ <35%); *CCR* complete cytogenetic response (absence of Ph⁺); *MMR* major molecular response (ratio BCR-ABL/ABL >0, 10%)

have developed guidelines for monitoring and treatment of CP-CML with imatinib (Table 1.5).

(Baccarani et al. 2006; NCCN_Practice_ Guidelines_in_Oncology, - v.3 (2008 http:// www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/ PDF/cml.pdf).

In case of suboptimal response, imatinib dosage should be increased and the option of allogeneic stem cell transplantation should be considered. In addition, in patients with failure of imatinib therapy, second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors, such as dasatinib or nilotinib, have been approved. Other TKI, such as bosutinib, and new third-generation TKIs are currently under investigation.



Fig. 1.4 Map of Bcr-Abl kinase domain mutations associated with clinical resistance to imatinib (*adapted from* Branford 2006). *P* P-loop; *B* imatinib binding site; *C* catalytic domain; *A* activation loop.

1.9 Imatinib in Combination with Other Drugs

To further optimize the efficacy of imatinib in CML, a number of approaches have been investigated in phase II-trials. Increase in the dose of imatinib monotherapy to 800 mg/day in CP-CML has shown earlier, complete cytogenetic responses, but is associated with more side effects. However, the importance of faster responses has not been clear, yet (Cortes et al. 2003). In addition, imatinib in combination with other agents, such as interferon- α , cytarabine, and homoharringtonine, has been examined. Patients treated with combination therapy not only reached faster cytogenetic remission, but also experienced higher rates of toxicity, in particular myelotoxicity (Baccarani et al. 2004; Gardembas et al. 2003). Several major phase-III trials have been initiated, which compare standard dose imatinib with increased doses and combinations with cytarabine or interferon.

Amino-acid substitutions in green indicate mutations detected in 2-10% and in red in >10% of patients with mutations. (Adapted with permission from Susan Branford, Adelaide, Australia

1.10 Imatinib – Other Targets

Other molecular targets of imatinib are the PDGF-R and the stem-cell factor receptor (c-KIT) (Buchdunger et al. 1995, 2000; Heinrich et al. 2002).

Aberrant PDGF-R have been shown to deregulate the growth of a variety of cancers, such as myeloproliferative disorders (Pardanani and Tefferi 2004), e.g., in hypereosinophilic syndrome (FIP1L1/PDGFR-rearrangement) (Jovanovic et al. 2007), CMML involving the 5q33 translocations (Jovanovic et al. 2007), carcinomas, melanoma, gliomas, and sarcomas, including dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans (Barnhill et al. 1996; Greco et al. 2001).

c-KIT is expressed in a variety of human malignancies, including germ cell tumors, neuroblastoma, melanoma, small cell lung cancer, breast and ovarian cancer, acute myeloid While in most of these diseases, the exact role of c-KIT expression is not defined in mastocytosis and GISTs, activating mutations of c-KIT have been identified (Heinrich et al. 2003).

In approximately 60% of cases of GIST, there are mutations in $c-kit^{105}$ in the juxtamembrane domain. In most of the remaining cases, mutations in exon 13 and exon 9 have been found. The mutations lead to constitutive activation of the receptor without its ligand (Lux et al. 2000). Imatinib was investigated in 147 patients with histologically and immuno-histochemically confirmed metastatic and/or unresectable GIST in a single, open-label trial involving one European center and three centers in the United States. Seventy-three patients were randomized to receive 400 mg of imatinib daily, and 74 patients received 600 mg daily. An objective response was confirmed in 56 patients with an overall response rate for the combined study arms of 38% (95% confidence interval, 30-46%). All responses were partial responses. AEs were similar to CML patients and included edema, fluid retention, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, myalgia, skin rash, bone marrow suppression, bleeding, and elevations in aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, or bilirubin. Gastrointestinal bleeding or intratumoral hemorrhage occurred in seven patients (5%) and was not correlated with thrombocytopenia or tumor bulk. The pharmacokinetics of imatinib in GIST patients were similar to those of CML patients (Demetri 2002; Demetri et al. 2002). Imatinib mesylate at a recommended dose of 400 or 600 mg daily was approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of malignant metastatic and/or unresectable GISTs in 2001 (Dagher et al. 2002).

Following approval, two open-label, controlled, multicenter, randomized phase III studies were performed by the EORTC (n=946) and the other by SWOG (n=746). Both studies compared imatinib at a dosage of 400 and 800 mg/ day, respectively. Combined analysis of the two studies was prospectively defined by both groups. Objective responses were achieved in >50% of patients receiving either imatinib dose. Median PFS was approximately 20 months and median OS was approximately 49 months, respectively. In the combined analysis, 347 patients crossed over to imatinib 800 mg/day at the time of progression according to the protocol. Median OS after crossover was 14.3 months. The most common AEs were fluid retention. nausea, fatigue, skin rash, gastrointestinal complaints, and myalgia, which were usually mild to moderate. The most common laboratory abnormality was anemia. Fluid retention and skin rash were reported more often in patients treated with 800 mg/day. Based on these data, escalation of imatinib dosing up to 800 mg/day for patients with progressive disease was approved (Blanke et al. 2008; Heinrich et al. 2008).

1.11 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

The development of imatinib mesylate resembles the progress made in molecular biology over the past 30 years and has changed the landscape of cancer treatment leading toward causative treatment not only of CML and GIST but also for other malignancies.

After identification of the critical role of Bcr-Abl in the pathogenesis of CML, less than 15 years went by until the development of imatinib, which is now the standard of care for patients in CP CML. It has specific activity against a limited number of targets and has been shown to be highly effective not only in CML but also in other hematologic malignancies and solid tumors such as GIST. Side effects of treatment are mild to moderate. The understanding of mechanisms of resistance and disease progression has further led to the development of second- and third-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors for this disease.

References

- Anafi M, Gazit A, Gilon C, Neriah YB, Levitzki A (1993a) Tyrphostin-induced differentiation of mouse erythroleukemia cells. FEBS Lett 330: 260–264
- Anafi M, Gazit A, Zehavi A, Ben-Neriah Y, Levitzki A (1993b) Tyrphostin-induced inhibition of p210bcr-abl tyrosine kinase activity induces K562 to differentiate. Blood 82:3524–3529
- Baccarani M, Martinelli G, Rosti G, Trabacchi E, Testoni N, Bassi S, Amabile M, Soverini S, Castagnetti F, Cilloni D et al (2004) Imatinib and pegylated human recombinant interferon-alpha2b in early chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 104:4245–4251
- Baccarani M, Saglio G, Goldman J, Hochhaus A, Simonsson B, Appelbaum F, Apperley J, Cervantes F, Cortes J, Deininger M et al (2006) Evolving concepts in the management of chronic myeloid leukemia: recommendations from an expert panel on behalf of the European LeukemiaNet. Blood 108:1809–1820
- Barnhill RL, Xiao M, Graves D, Antoniades HN (1996) Expression of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-A, PDGF-B and the PDGF-alpha receptor, but not the PDGF-beta receptor, in human malignant melanoma in vivo. Br J Dermatol 135:898–904
- Blanke CD, Rankin C, Demetri GD, Ryan CW, von Mehren M, Benjamin RS, Raymond AK, Bramwell VH, Baker LH, Maki RG et al (2008) Phase III randomized, intergroup trial assessing imatinib mesylate at two dose levels in patients with unresectable or metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumors expressing the kit receptor tyrosine kinase: S0033. J Clin Oncol 26: 626–632
- Buchdunger E, Cioffi CL, Law N, Stover D, Ohno-Jones S, Druker BJ, Lydon NB (2000) Abl proteintyrosine kinase inhibitor STI571 inhibits in vitro signal transduction mediated by c-kit and plateletderived growth factor receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 295:139–145
- Buchdunger E, Matter A, Druker BJ (2001) Bcr-Abl inhibition as a modality of CML therapeutics. Biochim Biophys Acta 1551:M11–M18
- Buchdunger E, Zimmermann J, Mett H, Meyer T, Muller M, Druker BJ, Lydon NB (1996) Inhibition of the Abl protein-tyrosine kinase in vitro and in vivo by a 2-phenylaminopyrimidine derivative. Cancer Res 56:100–104

- Buchdunger E, Zimmermann J, Mett H, Meyer T, Muller M, Regenass U, Lydon NB (1995) Selective inhibition of the platelet-derived growth factor signal transduction pathway by a protein-tyrosine kinase inhibitor of the 2-phenylaminopyrimidine class. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:2558–2562
- Carlo-Stella C, Regazzi E, Sammarelli G, Colla S, Garau D, Gazit A, Savoldo B, Cilloni D, Tabilio A, Levitzki A, Rizzoli V (1999) Effects of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor AG957 and an Anti-Fas receptor antibody on CD34(+) chronic myelogenous leukemia progenitor cells. Blood 93: 3973–3982
- Cohen MH, Farrell A, Justice R, Pazdur R (2009) Approval Summary: Imatinib Mesylate in the Treatment of Metastatic and/or Unresectable Malignant Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors. Oncologist 14(2):174–180
- Cohen MH, Johnson JR, Pazdur R (2005) U.S. food and drug administration drug approval summary: conversion of imatinib mesylate (STI571; Gleevec) tablets from accelerated approval to full approval. Clin Cancer Res 11:12–19
- Cohen MH, Williams G, Johnson JR, Duan J, Gobburu J, Rahman A, Benson K, Leighton J, Kim SK, Wood R et al (2002) Approval summary for imatinib mesylate capsules in the treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia. Clin Cancer Res 8:935–942
- Cortes J, Giles F, O'Brien S, Thomas D, Garcia-Manero G, Rios MB, Faderl S, Verstovsek S, Ferrajoli A, Freireich EJ et al (2003) Result of high-dose imatinib mesylate in patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive chronic myeloid leukemia after failure of interferon-alpha. Blood 102:83–86
- Dagher R, Cohen M, Williams G, Rothmann M, Gobburu J, Robbie G, Rahman A, Chen G, Staten A, Griebel D, Pazdur R (2002) Approval summary: imatinib mesylate in the treatment of metastatic and/or unresectable malignant gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Clin Cancer Res 8: 3034–3038
- Daley GQ, Van Etten RA, Baltimore D (1990) Induction of chronic myelogenous leukemia in mice by the P210bcr/abl gene of the Philadelphia chromosome. Science 247:824–830
- Deininger M, Buchdunger E, Druker BJ (2005) The development of imatinib as a therapeutic agent for chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 105:2640–2653

- Deininger MW, Goldman JM, Lydon N, Melo JV (1997) The tyrosine kinase inhibitor CGP57148B selectively inhibits the growth of BCR-ABLpositive cells. Blood 90:3691–3698
- Deininger MW, Goldman JM, Melo JV (2000) The molecular biology of chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 96:3343–3356
- Demetri GD (2002) Identification and treatment of chemoresistant inoperable or metastatic GIST: experience with the selective tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib mesylate (STI571). Eur J Cancer 38(Suppl 5):S52–S59
- Demetri GD, von Mehren M, Blanke CD, Van den Abbeele AD, Eisenberg B, Roberts PJ, Heinrich MC, Tuveson DA, Singer S, Janicek M et al (2002) Efficacy and safety of imatinib mesylate in advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumors. N Engl J Med 347:472–480
- Druker BJ (2008) Translation of the Philadelphia chromosome into therapy for CML. Blood 112:4808–4817
- Druker BJ, Guilhot F, O'Brien SG, Gathmann I, Kantarjian H, Gattermann N, Deininger MW, Silver RT, Goldman JM, Stone RM et al (2006) Five-year follow-up of patients receiving imatinib for chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 355:2408–2417
- Druker BJ, Lydon NB (2000) Lessons learned from the development of an abl tyrosine kinase inhibitor for chronic myelogenous leukemia. J Clin Invest 105:3–7
- Druker BJ, Sawyers CL, Kantarjian H, Resta DJ, Reese SF, Ford JM, Capdeville R, Talpaz M (2001a) Activity of a specific inhibitor of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase in the blast crisis of chronic myeloid leukemia and acute lymphoblastic leukemia with the Philadelphia chromosome. N Engl J Med 344:1038–1042
- Druker BJ, Talpaz M, Resta DJ, Peng B, Buchdunger E, Ford JM, Lydon NB, Kantarjian H, Capdeville R, Ohno-Jones S, Sawyers CL (2001b) Efficacy and safety of a specific inhibitor of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase in chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 344:1031–1037
- Druker BJ, Tamura S, Buchdunger E, Ohno S, Segal GM, Fanning S, Zimmermann J, Lydon NB (1996) Effects of a selective inhibitor of the Abl tyrosine kinase on the growth of Bcr-Abl positive cells. Nat Med 2:561–566
- Gambacorti-Passerini C, Le Coutre P, Mologni L, Fanelli M, Bertazolli C, Marchesi E, Di Nicola M,

Biondi A, Corneo GM, Belotti D, Pogliani E, Lydon NB (1997) Inhibition of the ABL kinase activity blocks the proliferation of BCR/ABL+ leukemic cells and induces apoptosis. Blood Cells Mol Dis 23:380–394

- Gardembas M, Rousselot P, Tulliez M, Vigier M, Buzyn A, Rigal-Huguet F, Legros L, Michallet M, Berthou C, Cheron N et al (2003) Results of a prospective phase 2 study combining imatinib mesylate and cytarabine for the treatment of Philadelphia-positive patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia in chronic phase. Blood 102:4298–4305
- Gorre ME, Mohammed M, Ellwood K, Hsu N, Paquette R, Rao PN, Sawyers CL (2001) Clinical resistance to STI-571 cancer therapy caused by BCR-ABL gene mutation or amplification. Science 293:876–880
- Gratwohl A, Hermans J, Goldman JM, Arcese W, Carreras E, Devergie A, Frassoni F, Gahrton G, Kolb HJ, Niederwieser D et al (1998) Risk assessment for patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia before allogeneic blood or marrow transplantation. Chronic leukemia working party of the European group for blood and marrow transplantation. Lancet 352:1087–1092
- Greco A, Roccato E, Miranda C, Cleris L, Formelli F, Pierotti MA (2001) Growth-inhibitory effect of STI571 on cells transformed by the COL1A1/ PDGFB rearrangement. Int J Cancer 92:354–360
- Guilhot F (2004) Indications for imatinib mesylate therapy and clinical management. Oncologist 9:271–281
- Hahn EA, Glendenning GA, Sorensen MV, Hudgens SA, Druker BJ, Guilhot F, Larson RA, O'Brien SG, Dobrez DG, Hensley ML, Cella D (2003) Quality of life in patients with newly diagnosed chronic phase chronic myeloid leukemia on imatinib versus interferon alfa plus low-dose cytarabine: results from the IRIS Study. J Clin Oncol 21:2138–2146
- Hatfield A, Owen S, Pilot PR (2007) In reply to 'Cardiotoxicity of the cancer therapeutic agent imatinib mesylate' [letter]. Nat Med 13:13
- Hehlmann R, Berger U, Pfirrmann M, Heimpel H, Hochhaus A, Hasford J, Kolb HJ, Lahaye T, Maywald O, Reiter A et al (2007a) Drug treatment is superior to allografting as first-line therapy in chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 109:4686–4692
- Hehlmann R, Hochhaus A, Baccarani M (2007b) Chronic myeloid leukaemia. Lancet 370:342–350

- Heinrich MC, Blanke CD, Druker BJ, Corless CL (2002) Inhibition of KIT tyrosine kinase activity: a novel molecular approach to the treatment of KIT-positive malignancies. J Clin Oncol 20:1692–1703
- Heinrich MC, Corless CL, Demetri GD, Blanke CD, von Mehren M, Joensuu H, McGreevey LS, Chen CJ, Van den Abbeele AD, Druker BJ et al (2003) Kinase mutations and imatinib response in patients with metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumor. J Clin Oncol 21:4342–4349
- Heinrich MC, Owzar K, Corless CL, Hollis D, Borden EC, Fletcher CD, Ryan CW, von Mehren M, Blanke CD, Rankin C et al (2008) Correlation of kinase genotype and clinical outcome in the North American Intergroup Phase III Trial of imatinib mesylate for treatment of advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumor: CALGB 150105 Study by Cancer and Leukemia Group B and Southwest Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol 26: 5360–5367
- Heisterkamp N, Jenster G, ten Hoeve J, Zovich D, Pattengale PK, Groffen J (1990) Acute leukaemia in bcr/abl transgenic mice. Nature 344:251–253
- Hochhaus A, Druker B, Sawyers C, Guilhot F, Schiffer CA, Cortes J, Niederwieser DW, Gambacorti-Passerini C, Stone RM, Goldman J et al (2008) Favorable long-term follow-up results over 6 years for response, survival, and safety with imatinib mesylate therapy in chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia after failure of interferon-alpha treatment. Blood 111:1039–1043
- Hughes TP, Kaeda J, Branford S, Rudzki Z, Hochhaus A, Hensley ML, Gathmann I, Bolton AE, van Hoomissen IC, Goldman JM, Radich JP (2003) Frequency of major molecular responses to imatinib or interferon alfa plus cytarabine in newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 349:1423–1432
- Jovanovic JV, Score J, Waghorn K, Cilloni D, Gottardi E, Metzgeroth G, Erben P, Popp H, Walz C, Hochhaus A et al (2007) Low-dose imatinib mesylate leads to rapid induction of major molecular responses and achievement of complete molecular remission in FIP1L1-PDGFRApositive chronic eosinophilic leukemia. Blood 109:4635–4640
- Kantarjian H, Sawyers C, Hochhaus A, Guilhot F, SchifferC, Gambacorti-PasseriniC, Niederwieser D, Resta D, Capdeville R, Zoellner U et al (2002) Hematologic and cytogenetic responses to ima-

tinib mesylate in chronic myelogenous leukemia. N Engl J Med 346:645–652

- Kerkelä R, Grazette L, Yacobi R et al (2006) Cardiotoxicity of the cancer therapeutic agent imatinib mesylate. Nature Medicine 12:908–916
- Konopka JB, Watanabe SM, Witte ON (1984) An alteration of the human c-abl protein in K562 leukemia cells unmasks associated tyrosine kinase activity. Cell 37:1035–1042
- Larson RA, Druker BJ, Guilhot F, O'Brien SG, Riviere GJ, Krahnke T, Gathmann I, Wang Y (2008) Imatinib pharmacokinetics and its correlation with response and safety in chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia: a subanalysis of the IRIS study. Blood 111:4022–4028
- le Coutre P, Mologni L, Cleris L, Marchesi E, Buchdunger E, Giardini R, Formelli F, Gambacorti- Passerini C (1999) In vivo eradication of human BCR/ABL-positive leukemia cells with an ABL kinase inhibitor. J Natl Cancer Inst 92:163–168
- Levitzky A, Gazit A (1995) Tyrosine kinase inhibition: an approach to drug development. Science 267:1782–1788
- Lugo TG, Pendergast AM, Muller AJ, Witte ON (1990) Tyrosine kinase activity and transformation potency of bcr-abl oncogene products. Science 247:1079–1082
- Lux ML, Rubin BP, Biase TL, Chen CJ, Maclure T, Demetri GD, Xiao S, Singer S, Fletcher CD, Fletcher JA (2000) Kit extracellular and kinase domain mutations in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Am J Pathol 156:791–795
- Lyseng-Williamson K, Jarvis B (2001) Imatinib. Drugs 61:1765–1774
- Marangon E, Citterio M, Sala F, Barisone E, Lippi AA, Rizzari C, Biondi A, D'Incalci M, Zucchetti M (2009) Pharmacokinetic profile of imatinib mesylate and N-demethyl-imatinib (CGP74588) in children with newly diagnosed Ph+ acute leukemias. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 63: 563–566
- Mauro MJ, O'Dwyer M, Heinrich MC, Druker BJ (2002) STI571: a paradigm of new agents for cancer therapeutics. J Clin Oncol 20:325–334
- Mueller BA (2009) Imatinib and its successors how modern chemistry has changed drug development. Curr Pharm Design 15:120–133
- NCCN_Practice_Guidelines_in_Oncology (-v.3.2008. http://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_ gls/PDF/cml.pdf)

- Nowell PC, Hungerford DA (1960) A minute chromosome in human chronic granulocytic leukemia. Science 132:1497
- O'Brien SG, Guilhot F, Larson RA, Gathmann I, Baccarani M, Cervantes F, Cornelissen JJ, Fischer T, Hochhaus A, Hughes T et al (2003) Imatinib compared with interferon and low-dose cytarabine for newly diagnosed chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 348: 994–1004
- O'Brien SG, Guilhot F, Goldman J, Hochhaus A, Hughes T, Radich J, Rudoltz M, Filian J, Gathmann I, Druker B et al (2008) International randomized study of interferon versus STI571 (IRIS) 7-year follow-up: sustained survival, low rate of transformation and increased rate of major molecular response (MMR) in patients (pts) with newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia in chronic phase (CML-CP) treated with imatinib (IM). Blood 112:76
- Okuda K, Weisberg E, Gilliland DG, Griffin JD (2001) ARG tyrosine kinase activity is inhibited by STI571. Blood 97:2440–2448
- Ottmann OG, Druker BJ, Sawyers CL, Goldman JM, Reiffers J, Silver RT, Tura S, Fischer T, Deininger MW, Schiffer CA et al (2002) A phase 2 study of imatinib in patients with relapsed or refractory Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoid leukemias. Blood 100:1965–1971
- Pardanani A, Tefferi A (2004) Imatinib targets other than bcr/abl and their clinical relevance in myeloid disorders. Blood 104:1931–1939
- Rowley JD (1973) A new consistent abnormality in chronic myelogenous leukaemia identified by quinacrine fluorescence and Giemsa staining. Nature 243:290–293
- Sawyers CL (1999) Chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 340:1330–1340

- Sawyers CL, Hochhaus A, Feldman E, Goldman JM, Miller CB, Ottmann OG, Schiffer CA, Talpaz M, Guilhot F, Deininger MW et al (2002) Imatinib induces hematologic and cytogenetic responses in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia in myeloid blast crisis: results of a phase II study. Blood 99:3530–3539
- Schiffer CA (2007) BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors in chronic myelogenous leukemia. N Engl J Med 357:258–265
- Shah NP, Kantarjian HM, Kim DW, Rea D, Dorlhiac-Llacer PE, Milone JH, Vela-Ojeda J, Silver RT, Khoury HJ, Charbonnier A et al (2008) Intermittent target inhibition with dasatinib 100 mg once daily preserves efficacy and improves tolerability in imatinib-resistant and -intolerant chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol 26: 3204–3212
- Shah NP, Sawyers CL (2003) Mechanisms of resistance to STI571 in Philadelphia chromosomeassociated leukemias. Oncogene 22:7389–7395
- Talpaz M, Silver RT, Druker BJ, Goldman JM, Gambacorti-Passerini C, Guilhot F, Schiffer CA, Fischer T, Deininger MW, Lennard AL et al (2002) Imatinib induces durable hematologic and cytogenetic responses in patients with accelerated phase chronic myeloid leukemia: results of a phase 2 study. Blood 99:1928–1937
- von Bubnoff N, Peschel C, Duyster J (2003) Resistance of Philadelphia-chromosome positive leukemia towards the kinase inhibitor imatinib (STI571, Glivec): a targeted oncoprotein strikes back. Leukemia 17:829–838
- Voncken JW, Kaartinen V, Pattengale PK, Germeraad WT, Groffen J, Heisterkamp N (1995) BCR/ ABL P210 and P190 cause distinct leukemia in transgenic mice. Blood 86:4603–4611

Abstract The epidermal growth factor receptor 2.1 (EGFR) has been implicated in a multiplicity of cancer-related signal transduction pathways like cellular proliferation, adhesion, migration, neoangiogenesis, and apoptosis inhibition, all of them important features of cancerogenesis and tumour progression. Its tyrosine kinase activity plays a central role in mediating these processes and has been intensely studied to exploit it as a therapeutic target. Inhibitors of this pathway have been developed and assessed in trials with significant efficacy in clinical applications. The current review focuses in particular on the clinical data of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibition in different tumour entities, preferably non-small cell lung cancer

(NSCLC) and pancreatic cancer with emphasis on the approved small molecule *erlotinib*. Its clinical applications, evidence-based efficacy, and toxicity as well as predictive markers of response are discussed.

2.1 Introduction

The development of small molecule inhibitors like erlotinib, gefitinib, sorafenib, sunitinib, or lapatinib evoked a new era of anti-neoplastic agents in cancer therapy to supplement conventional cytotoxic drugs. The principle of this novel anti-cancer treatment is based on the inhibition of receptor tyrosine kinases, which are essential components of the intracellular signalling apparatus. Several cellular receptors on the cell surface regulate their signalling via the extracellular binding of ligands with a consecutive activation of intracellular tyrosine kinase domains and tyrosine phosphorylation. One of these receptors, the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), has gained considerable interest as a possibly useful therapeutic target of tumour cells. EGFR is frequently overexpressed in solid tumours (Arteaga 2002) and plays a pivotal role in signal transduction pathways involved in cell proliferation, migration, adhesion, angiogenesis induction, and apoptosis inhibition. Its overexpression correlates in some tumour entities with disease progression and poorer prognosis (Brabender et al. 2001).

In clinical practice, the use of the EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKI) erlotinib

M. Steins (🖂)

Clinic for Thoracic Diseases, University of Heidelberg, Amalienstraße 5, 69126 Heidelberg, Germany

e-mail: martin.steins@thoraxklinik-heidelberg.de

2

and gefitinib have been approved so far for patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) for selected indications. In addition, erlotinib combined with gemcitabine has also gained approval for systemic treatment in advanced, non-operable pancreatic carcinoma. The TKI benefit is mainly based on tumour control and overall survival (OS) rather than rapid tumour responses and complete remission rates. In contrast to cytotoxic agents, these responses have been achieved by a specific molecular mechanism disturbing the enzyme-mediated signal pathways in cancerogenesis.

2.2 Mechanism of Action

EGFR, the primary therapeutic target for erlotinib, belongs to the human epidermal growth factor receptor (HER) family 1, also known as erbB. The structure of this 170-kDa membranespanning glycoprotein consists of an extracellular cysteine-rich ligand-binding region, a transmembrane part, and the cytoplasmatic tyrosine kinase domain, which is the binding site for kinase inhibitors like erlotinib. Extracellular binding of ligands like the epidermal growth factor (EGF) and transforming growth factoralpha (TGF- α) transforms the receptors from inactive monomers to active homo- or heterodimers through confirmational changes, with subsequent phosphorylation of tyrosine residues. These phosphorylated tyrosine residues serve as binding sites for signal transducers with the initiation of a cascade of signalling pathways resulting in tumour growth and progression (Salomon et al. 1995; Alroy and Yarden 1997). In contrast, the small molecule TKIs inhibit the intracellular tyrosine kinase of EGFR by competitive and reversible docking at the ATP binding site of the catalytic domain. Subsequently, the autophosphorylation of the receptor is prevented, resulting in weakening of the downstream signalling pathways (Hynes and Lane 2005). Therefore, signals induced by extracellular ligand binding cannot be conveyed to the tumour cell nucleus where genes involved in cellular differentiation, proliferation, and apoptosis are regulated. The consequences are reduced potency for tumour cell migration and invasiveness on the one hand, and induction of apoptosis on the other. This TKI mechanism differs from the active principle of anti-EGFR antibodies like cetuximab or panitumumab, which function via a competitive binding to the extracellular domain. But it explains the striking efficacy of EGFR-TKIs in patients with somatic mutations of the EGFR kinase domain. as it targets a key protein in the tumorigenesis of these patients.

2.3 Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer

Lung cancer does not only belong to the most frequent tumour entities in Western countries, it is also in cancer mortality statistics on the first range in men, and on the third (after breast and colorectal cancer) in women. This is the consequence of late detection due to delayed and unspecific symptoms in patients with locally advanced or metastasized disease at the time of first diagnosis. But also in earlier and locally limited tumour stages, the risks for relapse are quite high. Altogether, only 15% of all lung cancer patients survive 5 years after diagnosis despite multi-modal therapeutic concepts and new chemotherapeutic agents. Prognosis of the disease still remains serious. Therefore, new agents with efficacy mechanisms, that are different from conventional chemotherapy, are necessary to expand the arsenal of systemic therapy. In the last years, these efforts have led to the emergence of the new group of TKIs with approvals of the EGFR inhibitors erlotinib and gefitinib in advanced
NSCLC. In unselected patients, these inhibitors have shown objective tumour responses in 8–19% and prolongation of OS of 2 months (Fukuoka et al. 2003; Kris et al. 2003; Pérez-Soler et al. 2004; Shepherd et al. 2005). Especially, this last trial, the BR.21 study of Shepherd et al., has led to the approval of erlotinib in the United States and the European Community in the year 2004 and 2005, respectively, as a TKI for patients with advanced NSCLC who did not respond sufficiently to systemic chemotherapy or suffered a tumour relapse. Approval was based on the data of 731 patients in this randomised, placebo-controlled, multi-center phase III trial performed by the National Cancer Institute of Canada. Oral erlotinib was used as single agent in the second or third therapy line in patients with stage IIIb or IV according to UICC/AJCC. It demonstrated substantial advantage in terms of OS and significant release of disease-related symptoms like dyspnoea, pain, and cough (Bezjak et al. 2006). Whereas response rates in the erlotinib group comprises only 8.9% with 0.4 month difference in progression-free survival, the OS previously defined as the study's primary end point - was 2 months longer when compared with the placebo group (6.7 vs. 4.7 months, hazard ratio 0.70, p < 0.001). According to the prolongation in median survival, 31% of patients treated with erlotinib in this study were alive at 1 year vs. 22% in the placebo group. As independent clinical predictors for survival non-smoking status, female gender, adenocarcinoma histology, and Asian ethnicity have been identified in the BR.21 trial (Tsao et al. 2005), which are often related to the presence of activating EGFR gene mutations. EGFR mutations of the tyrosine kinase domain have been found in 10% up to 17% of NSCLC patients, preferably with adenocarcinoma and non-smoking status (Marchetti et al. 2005; Pao and Miller 2005; Zhu et al. 2008).

These mutations, mainly within the exons 19 and 21 (exon 19 deletion, L858R mutation), are

the most relevant biologic factors associated with an improved response to erlotinib (Zhu et al. 2008). Various studies also with gefitinib have demonstrated that the presence of EGFR gene mutations within the kinase domain of the receptor correlates with TKI sensitivity (Lynch et al. 2004; Paez et al. 2004; Pao et al. 2004). In addition, analyses of EGFR copy numbers by fluorescence in situ hybridisation (FISH) in the BR.21 study revealed high EGFR gene copy as a predictive marker of survival benefit from erlotinib.

On the other hand, erlotinib's efficacy for OS has also been described in patients not presenting the reported clinical characteristics that are associated with the greatest degree of benefit like non-smoking status, female gender, or adenocarcinoma histology. Subset analyses of ever-smokers revealed significant survival advantages also for men and patients with squamous cell histology in the second or third therapy line despite very low response rates under erlotinib treatment (Clark et al. 2006).

Gefitinib, another EGFR-TKI, was positively associated with clinical benefits, such as tumour response, health-related quality of life, and increased survival, in two large randomised phase II studies (IRESSA Dose Evaluation in Advanced Lung Cancer IDEAL-1 and IDEAL-2) in pretreated NSCLC patients (Fukuoka et al. 2003; Natale 2004). However, it did not result in a statistically significant improvement in OS time in comparison with best supportive care in pretreated NSCLC patients of the ISEL (Iressa Survival Evaluation in Lung Cancer) trial, although in preplanned subgroup analyses, a significant survival benefit was shown in never-smokers and Asian patients. Recently, the INTEREST trial (Iressa Non-small cell lung cancer Trial Evaluating REsponse and Survival against Taxotere) and the INVITE trial (open-label, parallel-group study compared gefitinib with vinorelbine in chemotherapy-naïve elderly patients) met the primary endpoint of demonstrating non-inferiority in terms of OS for gefitinib in comparison with docetaxel or vinorelbine.

Moreover, patients treated with gefitinib experienced a lower treatment-related toxicity and better improvement in quality of life.

On the other hand, small molecule EGFR-TKIs have class-specific adverse effects mainly including skin reactions like xerosis, acneiform eruption, and eczema or mucosa-associated toxicity like diarrhoea. Rash has been reported in up to 75% of patients treated with these agents in phase II/III clinical trials. The rash that occurs with EGFR-targeted agents is generally mild to moderate; severe (grade 3/4) rash is rare (<10-15% in NSCLC trials). In a number of clinical trials, a positive correlation between severity of rash (grade ≥ 2) and clinical outcome with EGFR-targeted therapy has been demonstrated (Dudek et al. 2006; Pérez-Soler 2006; Cedrés et al. 2009) suggesting rash as a surrogate marker for response. Other side effects have been reported rarely like liver dysfunction or interstitial lung disease (Sandler 2006).

For the first-line treatment of metastatic NSCLC, several phase II and III trials have been conducted utilising EGFR-TKIs in this setting. Patients with advanced NSCLC who are life long never-smokers, those with EGFR mutations and/ or with bronchioloalveolar cell carcinoma histology seem to have promising efficacy with EGFR-TKI first-line therapy when compared with unselected patients receiving the same agents. In fact, based on the data of the I-PASS (Iressa PanASia Study, Mok et al. 2008), the European Medicines Agency (EMEA) has recommended the approval of gefitinib for mutation-positive NSCLC patients in all treatment lines including upfront therapy. This study performed in never or light former smokers yielded a statistically significant progression-free survival (PFS) for the gefitinib-treated patient group when compared with carboplatin/paclitaxel in first-line therapy of EGFR-mutated NSCLC (HR 0.48, p < 0.0001).

In contrast, no improvement in survival could be demonstrated in phase III trials when EGFR-TKIs were combined with conventional platinum-based doublets, with the exception of subset analysis in non-smokers (Giaccone 2004; Herbst et al. 2005; Gatzemeier et al. 2007).

The results have initiated further investigative activity to determine alterations in the EGFR signalling pathway, but also to analyse clinical, immunohistologic, molecular, and genetic issues to predict benefit from an EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibition. In general, the therapeutic aim should be to offer a personalised systemic therapy for NSCLC patients dependent on individual predictive parameters. Furthermore, in case of ineffectiveness against secondary mutations and acquired resistance, development of the first generation of TKIs with their reversible receptor binding should be continued along with new agents with irreversible tyrosine kinase inhibition.

2.4 Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma

Pancreatic cancer is the 13th most common cancer and the 8th leading cause of cancer death worldwide (Parkin et al. 2005). Only few patients with pancreatic cancer (15-20%) present with resectable disease, where surgery offers a chance of cure. Following resection for operable pancreatic cancer, the median disease-free survival interval is 13.4 months for patients treated with adjuvant gemcitabine and 6.9 months for untreated patients. The longer median disease-free survival time associated with adjuvant gemcitabine has translated into a significant 5-year OS advantage (21 vs. 9%) (Neuhaus et al. 2008). A much higher percentage of patients, however, present with metastatic disease (40-45%) or unresectable locally advanced disease (40%). These disease stages are characterised by median survival times of 3-6 months or 8-12 months, respectively. In locally advanced, unresectable disease, patients typically receive 5-fluorouracil (5-FU)-based chemoradiation or gemcitabine chemotherapy alone. The benefits of chemoradiation over

chemotherapy alone in locally advanced disease have not been well established. Erlotinib has been evaluated in two phase I studies using a multi-modal chemoradiation approach. One study examined erlotinib plus gemcitabine and paclitaxel plus radiation followed by maintenance with erlotinib and reported a partial response rate of 46% and median survival time of 14 months (Iannitti et al. 2005). These results are supported by the other trial of erlotinib plus gemcitabine and radiation for patients with locally advanced, unresectable pancreatic cancer (Duffy et al. 2008). Single-agent gemcitabine is the standard first-line agent for the treatment of advanced inoperable pancreatic cancer with a marginally superior clinical benefit and survival when compared with fluorouracil (FU) approximately 10 years ago (Burris et al. 1997). A number of randomised controlled trials performed over the last decade have aimed to demonstrate superiority of alternative cytotoxic agents and cytotoxic combinations over gemcitabine alone with mostly disappointing results. A recent meta-analysis, however, suggested a survival benefit with a reduction of 9% in risk of death for gemcitabine-based combination chemotherapy (14 trials, 4.060 patients; HR=0.91; 95% CI. 0.85–0.97) (Sultana et al. 2007). In parallel. our understanding of the underlying genetic and molecular abnormalities that drive the development of pancreatic cancer has expanded significantly over the last decade (Schneider et al. 2008). Alterations to oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes, such as KRas, TP53, and p16INK4, are thought to play a critical role in the development of pancreatic cancer. In addition, expression of the human EGFR (HER-1/ EGFR) in pancreatic cancer cells is associated with the stimulation of tumour cell proliferation, poor disease outcomes, and lower sensitivity to chemotherapy (Birk et al. 1999; Nicholson et al. 2001; Xiong and Abbruzzese 2002). These observations have allowed for the rational development of targeted therapies for this hard-to-treat disease. However, with the excep-

tion of erlotinib, the completed phase III trials have not confirmed an important clinical benefit (Van Cutsem et al. 2004; Moore et al. 2003, 2007; Bramhall et al. 2002; Kindler et al. 2007; Philip et al. 2007; Shapiro et al. 2005). Based on a phase III randomised, placebo-controlled trial (NCIC-CTG study), erlotinib in combination with gemcitabine received U.S. Food and Drug Administration approval as treatment for chemotherapy-naïve locally advanced and metastatic pancreatic cancer in 2005 (Moore et al. 2007). The EMEA subsequently licenced erlotinib in combination with gemcitabine restricted for the treatment of patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer only because there was no survival benefit in the locally advanced stage (HR 0.94; 0.63-1.39). In total, 569 patients were randomly assigned in a 1:1 ratio to receive standard gemcitabine plus erlotinib (100 mg/day orally) or gemcitabine plus placebo in this double blind, international phase III trial. The primary endpoint of a longer OS time was achieved statistically with an HR of 0.82 (95% CI, 0.69-0.99; p=0.038) and a median survival duration of 6.24 vs. 5.91 months. Secondary endpoint results from this trial showed a 1-year survival rate of 23% in the erlotinib plus gemcitabine arm, vs. 17% with gemcitabine monotherapy (p=0.023). The PFS duration was also significantly longer with the combination regimen (3.75 vs. 3.55 months; HR, 0.77; p=0.004). Objective response rates were not significantly different between the arms, although more patients on erlotinib had disease stabilisation. The clinical significance of these efficacy results has been questioned by several investigators and treating physicians. A review of toxicities may further discourage the use of gemcitabine plus erlotinib. Patients receiving erlotinib and gemcitabine experienced higher frequencies of rash (72%), diarrhoea (56%), infection (43%), and stomatitis (23%), generally grade 1 or 2. Grade 3 or 4 toxicities were similar, except for diarrhoea and cutaneous rash, which were more frequent with the two-drug combination (6% each). The six

2

26

protocol-related deaths were all in the erlotinibgemcitabine arm. Two were attributed to treatment complications (interstitial pneumonitis and sepsis) and four were attributed to a combination of cancer and protocol treatment complications (interstitial pneumonitis, sepsis, cerebrovascular accident, and neutropenic sepsis). Interstitial lung disease was observed in seven patients receiving erlotinib plus gemcitabine and in one patient receiving placebo plus gemcitabine. In fact, there may be an interaction between gemcitabine and erlotinib contributing to increased pulmonary toxicity (Boeck et al. 2007).

An unplanned analysis of the NCIC-CTG study suggested the development of rash as a predictive marker for response to therapy with erlotinib. Patients with advanced pancreatic cancer who experienced grade 2 rash or higher (n=102)had a reported median survival time of 10.5 months and a 1-year survival rate of 43%. Rash development was linked to overall and progression-free survival and these correlations increased with grade (grade 1 vs. no rash: hazard ratio (HR) 0.47, p < 0.001; grade 2 or more vs. no rash: HR 0.29; p < 0.001). These data were supported by a combined analysis from two large phase III studies (National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group Studies BR.21 in NSCLC and NCIC-CTG PA.3 in pancreatic cancer). Presence of rash strongly correlated with OS in both studies. Similar results were observed for PFS (Wacker et al. 2007). In addition, a retrospective exploratory analysis of the phase III AVITA study (gemcitabine+erlotinib+placebo VS. gemcitabine+erlotinib+bevacizumab) confirmed the results of the NCIC-CTG study (Van Cutsem et al. 2009). In the placebo arm, OS was only 4.3 months in patients without rash when compared with 7.1 and 8.3 months in patients with grade 1 and grade >1 rash, respectively (p < 0.0001). In the NCIC-CTG study, however, rash was also present in 18% of placebo taking patients with median survival 8.2 months (Moore et al. 2007). Placebo-taking patients who did not develop rash had a median survival of 4.7 months. In the

combined treatment arm (gemcitabine plus erlotinib), 81% of the patients developed a rash, compared with 30% of patients in the control group. Since no reliable molecular predictive biomarker exists for the medical treatment of pancreatic cancer, physicians and patients should view rash development as a positive event indicative of greater likelihood of clinical benefit. It is important to understand that the development of rash following erlotinib treatment is not an intrinsic effect of erlotinib itself but more likely correlated to individual differences in drug exposure, the integrity of the immune system, or EGFR polymorphisms (Saif et al. 2008; Lynch et al. 2007). Further studies are required to identify patients most likely to develop rash and to determine if dose escalation to induce rash can improve efficacy.

How shall we use rash in daily practice? It has been suggested that the rash clinically improves with continuation of treatment. Nevertheless, severe rash development may be a determining cause of treatment discontinuation by patients on erlotinib outside clinical trials. If rash development is in fact a surrogate marker for treatment success, then patients discontinuing treatment are potentially stopping a life-prolonging treatment. This is why it is crucial to exploit all means available in the treatment of the erlotinib-induced skin rash, to discourage patients from stopping it. Assessing the tumour response according to RECIST or WHO criteria remains the standard of care independent on the development of rash because there may exist responders without rash and, contrary, patients with a tumour progress despite the development of rash.

Since it is unclear if every patient with advanced pancreatic cancer has to be treated with a combination chemotherapy of gemcitabine and erlotinib, there may be a rationale for sequential therapeutic strategies. Several drugs have been examined as a second-line therapy (Kulke et al. 2007). The most promising chemotherapeutic regimen may be the OFF-protocol consisting of Oxaliplatin, 5-FU, and FA. In a randomised phase III study, this combination chemotherapy resulted in a significant survival advantage when compared with 5-FU/FA alone (Pelzer et al. 2008). Another option in gemcitabine pre-treated patients would be the combination of erlotinib and capecitabine. In one single arm phase II study with 32 patients, the median PFS time was 3.4 months, and the median OS time was 6.5 months (Kulke et al. 2007). Oneyear OS was 26%. In contrast, disappointing results were reported in a retrospective analysis of 13 patients treated with single-agent erlotinib (Epelbaum et al. 2007). No responses and a median time to progression (TTP) of only 1 month were observed.

At the current time, gemcitabine, either alone or in combination with erlotinib, remains the only approved first-line treatment for advanced pancreatic carcinoma. Multiple trials are planned that will employ new and novel targeted and biological agents together with the search for predictive biomarkers.

2.5 Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the third largest cause of cancer-related death third to lung and colon cancers (Parkin et al. 2005). The incidence has increased in the Western world over the past 20 years primarily as a result of the prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection (El-Serag and Mason 1999). Management of HCC is complex and is guided by the Barcelona Liver Clinic (BCLC) staging system, which has important prognostic value (Llovet et al. 1999). The BCLC system is conceptually useful, because it helps to integrate liver function and tumour features into a classification that is meaningful from a standpoint of treatment options. For example, BCLC C patients are those best suited for systemic therapies or clinical trials. Systemic chemotherapy, however, has largely been disappointing in terms of palliation or cure. Cytotoxic chemotherapy has been shown to provide no survival benefit. With that background in mind, the multi-targeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor sorafenib was studied in HCC. Patients with advanced-stage HCC, who were not candidates for or who had disease progression after locoregional therapy, were enrolled in the Sorafenib Hepatocellular Carcinoma Assessment Randomised Protocol (SHARP) trial (Llovet et al. 2008). The 1-year survival for the sorafenib group was 44 and 33% for the placebo group. The median survival for the sorafenib group was 10.7 months from enrolment compared to 7.9 months for those who received placebo. The survival benefit appeared to be correlated to a 2.7-month delay in radiologic progression (5.5 months for the sorafenib group vs. 2.8 months for the placebo group). A recent phase 3 study of sorafenib vs. placebo in Asian patients reported a similar increase in survival (6.2 vs. 4.1 months) (Cheng et al. 2009). Sorafenib is now considered to be the standard medical treatment for patients with Child-Pugh stage A cirrhosis within the BCLC stage 3 group.

EGFR is frequently overexpressed in HCC (Buckley et al. 2008). In a phase II study, erlotinib was evaluated in 38 patients with unresectable or metastastic HCC (Philip et al. 2005). Most frequent grade 3-4 toxicities were skin rash (13%), diarrhoea (8%), and fatigue (8%). There was a correlation between the severity (grade 3 or higher) of toxicity and Child-Pugh classification: only 22% of the Child-Pugh A patients experienced severe toxicity when compared with 70% of Child-Pugh B patients (p=0.02). Thirty-two of the patients were progression-free after 24 weeks. The overall confirmed response rate was only 9%. Seventeen patients (50%) achieved stabilisation of disease for a median of 3.8 months. There was no correlation between response and EGFR status. The median OS time was 13 months, with a probability of 33% of patients alive at 18 months from entry into the study. In a second phase II study, 40 HCC patients were treated with erlotinib 150 mg daily for 16 weeks (Thomas et al. 2007). There were no complete or partial responses; however, 17 of 40 patients achieved stable disease at 16 weeks of continuous therapy. The PFS at 16 weeks was 43%, and the median OS was 43 weeks (10.75 months). No patients required dose reductions of erlotinib. Again, no correlation between EGFR expression and outcome was found.

In contrast to lung cancer, the gain of function in EGFR signalling in HCC seems mediated through increase in ligand-receptor interaction, rather than by point mutations or amplifications (Llovet and Bruix 2008). Erlotinib treatment of HCC might inhibit the mitogen activated protein (MAP)-kinase pathway and signal transducer of activation and transcription (STAT)-mediated signalling resulting in an altered expression of apoptosis and cell cycle regulating genes (Huether et al. 2006). Overexpression of proapoptotic factors like caspases and gadds associated with a downregulation of anti-apoptotic factors like Bcl-2, Bcl(XL), or jun-D might account for erlotinib's potency to induce apoptosis. In addition, downregulation of cell cycle regulators promoting the G₁/S-transition and overexpression of cyclindependent kinase inhibitors and gadds might contribute to the induction of a G_1/G_0 -arrest of HCC cells in response to erlotinib. Together, erlotinib alone appears to have only modest activity against HCC and further randomised studies are needed to evaluate the potential benefit of erlotinib in HCC patients.

There is scientific rationale for combining bevacizumab and erlotinib in HCC (Llovet and Bruix 2008). Overexpression of proangiogenic factors, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor, and angiopoietin-2, has been demonstrated in HCC (Llovet and Bruix 2008; Villanueva et al. 2007; Chiang et al. 2008). As mentioned above, there is also a rationale to abrogate EGFR signalling in HCC. Thomas et al. (2009) reported a single-arm phase II study with 40 HCC patients treated with the combination of bevacizumab (10 mg/kg every 14 days) and erlotinib (150 mg daily). Regarding efficacy, objective response rate was 25%, and the median PFS and OS times were 9 and 15.6 months, respectively. The results are encouraging, but have to be interpreted with caution due to patient selection bias and the small sample size and short follow-up time.

Together, sorafenib is the standard of care in patients with advanced HCC as a result of robust data obtained in the setting of phase III investigations both in the West and Asia. The role of erlotinib and erlotinib combinations has to be explored in randomised phase II and III studies. In fact, a phase III study of erlotinib plus bevacizumab against sorafenib is under consideration within the North American GI Steering Committee Hepatobiliary Task Force.

2.6 Other Tumour Entities

Erlotinib has been examined in phase I and II studies in malignant glioma and colorectal, biliary, gastric, breast, ovarian, endometrial, and renal cell cancer. Efficacy with respect to OS and response rates, however, was low. In contrast, single-agent erlotinib or erlotinib-based polychemotherapy may be promising in recurrent or metastatic squamous cell cancer of the head and neck. These studies are discussed in detail elsewhere (Tang et al. 2006).

References

- Alroy I, Yarden Y (1997) The ErbB signaling network in embryogenesis and oncogenesis: signal diversification through combinatorial ligandreceptor interactions. FEBS Lett 410:83–86
- Arteaga CL (2002) Overview of epidermal growth factor receptor biology and its role as a therapeutic target in human neoplasia. Semin Oncol 29 (5 Suppl14):3–9
- Bezjak A, Tu D, Seymour L et al (2006) Symptom improvement in lung cancer patients treated with

erlotinib: quality of life analysis of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group Study Br. 21. J Clin Oncol 24:3831–3837

- Birk D, Gansauge F, Gansauge S (1999) Serum and correspondent tissue measurements of epidermal growth factor (EGF) and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGF-R). Clinical relevance in pancreatic cancer and chronic pancreatitis. Int J Pancreatol 25:89–96
- Boeck S, Hausmann A, Reibke R et al (2007) Severe lung and skin toxicity during treatment with gemcitabine and erlotinib for metastatic pancreatic cancer. Anticancer Drugs 18:1109–1111
- Brabender J, Danenberg KD, Metzger R et al (2001) Epidermal growth factor receptor and HER2-neu mRNA expression in non-small cell lung cancer is correlated with survival. Clin Cancer Res 7: 1850–1855
- Bramhall SR, Schulz J, Nemunaitis J (2002) A double-blind placebo-controlled, randomised study comparing gemcitabine and marimastat with gemcitabine and placebo as first line therapy in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer 87:161–167
- Buckley AF, Burgart LJ, Sahai V et al (2008) Epidermal growth factor receptor expression and gene copy number in conventional hepatocellular carcinoma. Am J Clin Pathol 129: 245–251
- Burris HA 3rd, Moore MJ, Andersen J (1997) Improvements in survival and clinical benefit with gemcitabine as first-line therapy for patients with advanced pancreas cancer: a randomized trial. J Clin Oncol 15:2403–2413
- Cedrés S, Prat A, Martínez P et al (2009) Clinical surrogate markers of survival in advanced nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients treated with second-third line erlotinib. Lung Cancer, in Press
- Cheng AL, Kang YK, Chen Z et al (2009) Efficacy and safety of sorafenib in patients in the Asia-Pacific region with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: a phase III randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 10:25–34
- Chiang D, Villanueva A, Peix J (2008) Focal VEGFA amplifications and molecular classification of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Res 68: 6779–6788
- Clark GM, Zborowski DM, Santabarbara P et al (2006) Smoking history and epidermal growth factor receptor expression as predictors of survival benefit from erlotinib for patients with non-

small-cell lung cancer in the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group study BR.21. Clin Lung Cancer 7:389–394

- Dudek AZ, Kmak KL, Koopmeiners J, Keshtgarpour M (2006) Skin rash and bronchoalveolar histology correlates with clinical benefit in patients treated with gefitinib as a therapy for previously treated advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 51:89–96
- Duffy A, Kortmansky J, Schwartz GK et al (2008) A phase I study of erlotinib in combination with gemcitabine and radiation in locally advanced, non-operable pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Ann Oncol 19:86–91
- El-Serag HB, Mason AC (1999) Rising incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. N Engl J Med 340:745–750
- Epelbaum R, Schnaider J, Gluzman A (2007) Erlotinib as a single-agent therapy in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. ASCO Gastrointestinal Cancer Symposium, Orlando, FL, 19–21 January 2007
- Fukuoka M, Yano S, Giaccone G et al (2003) Multiinstitutional randomized phase II trial of gefitinib for previously treated patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 21: 2237–2246
- Gatzemeier U, Pluzanska A, Szczesna A et al (2007) Phase III study of erlotinib in combination with cisplatin and gemcitabine in advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer: the tarceva lung cancer investigation trial. J Clin Oncol 25:1545–1552
- Giaccone G (2004) The role of gefitinib in lung cancer treatment. Clin Cancer Res 10:4233s–4237s
- Herbst RS, Prager D, Hermann R et al (2005) TRIBUTE: a phase III trial of erlotinib hydrochloride (OSI-774) combined with carboplatin and paclitaxel chemotherapy in advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 23: 5892–5899
- Huether A, Hopfner M, Sutter AP et al (2006) Signaling pathways involved in the inhibition of epidermal growth factor receptor by erlotinib in hepatocellular cancer. World J Gastroenterol 12:5160–5167
- Hynes NE, Lane HA (2005) ERBB receptors and cancer: the complexity of targeted inhibitors. Nat Rev Cancer 5:341–354
- Iannitti D, Dipetrillo T, Akerman P (2005) Erlotinib and chemoradiation followed by maintenance erlotinib for locally advanced pancreatic cancer: a phase I study. Am J Clin Oncol 28:570–575

- Kindler H, Niedzwiecki D, Hollis D (2007) A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized phase III trial of gemcitabine (G) plus bevacizumab (B) versus gemcitabine plus placebo (P) in patients (Pts) with advanced pancreatic cancer (PC): a preliminary analysis of cancer and leukemia group B (CALGB) 80303. J Clin Oncol 25(Suppl 18):4508
- Kris MG, Natale RB, Herbst RS et al (2003) Efficacy of gefitinib, an inhibitor of the epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase, in symptomatic patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a randomized trial. JAMA 290:2149–2158
- Kulke MH, Blaszkowsky LS, Ryan DP et al (2007) Capecitabine plus erlotinib in gemcitabinerefractory advanced pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol 25:4787–4792
- Llovet JM, Brú C, Bruix J (1999) Prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma: the BCLC staging classification. Semin Liver Dis 19:329–338
- Llovet JM, Bruix J (2008) Molecular targeted therapies in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 48:1312–1327
- Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V et al, SHARP Investigators Study Group (2008) Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med 359:378–390
- Lynch TJ, Bell DW, Sordella R et al (2004) Activating mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying responsiveness of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib. N Engl J Med 350:2129–2139
- Lynch TJ Jr, Kim ES, Eaby B (2007) Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor-associated cutaneous toxicities: an evolving paradigm in clinical management. Oncologist 12:610–621
- Marchetti A, Martella C, Felicioni L et al (2005) EGFR mutations in non–small-cell lung cancer: analysis of a large series of cases and development of a rapid and sensitive method for diagnostic screening with potential implications on pharmacologic treatment. J Clin Oncol 23:857–865
- Mok T, Wu Y-L, Thongprasert S et al (2008) Phase III, randomised, open-label, first-line study of gefitinib (G) vs. carboplatin/paclitaxel (C/P) in clinically selected patients (PTS) with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (IPASS). Ann Oncol 19(Suppl 8):viii1
- Moore MJ, Goldstein D, Hamm J (2007) Erlotinib plus gemcitabine compared with gemcitabine alone in patients with advanced pancreatic can-

cer: a phase III trial of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol 25:1960–1966

- Moore MJ, Hamm J, Dancey J (2003) Comparison of gemcitabine versus the matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor BAY12–9566 in patients with advanced or metastatic adenocarcinoma of the pancreas: a phase III trial of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol 21:3296–3302
- Natale RB (2004) Effects of ZD1839 (Iressa, gefitinib) treatment on symptoms and quality of life in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Sem Oncol 31(3 Suppl 9):23–30
- Neuhaus P, Riess H, Post S et al (2008) CONKO-001: final results of the randomized, prospective, multicenter phase III trial of adjuvant chemotherapy with gemcitabine versus observation in patients with resected pancreatic cancer (PC). J Clin Oncol 26:abstr. LBA4504
- Nicholson RI, Gee JM, Harper ME (2001) EGFR and cancer prognosis. Eur J Cancer 37(Suppl 4):S9–S15
- Paez JG, Janne PA, Lee JC et al (2004) EGFR mutations in lung cancer: correlation with clinical response to gefitinib therapy. Science 304: 1497–1500
- Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J (2005) Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J Clin 55:74–108
- Pao W, Miller V, Zakowski M et al (2004) EGF receptor gene mutations are common in lung cancers from "never smokers" and are associated with sensitivity of tumors to gefitinib and erlotinib. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101: 13306–13311
- Pao W, Miller VA (2005) Epidermal growth factor receptor mutations, small-molecule kinase inhibitors, and non-small cell lung cancer: current knowledge and future directions. J Clin Oncol 23:2556–2568
- Pelzer U, Kubica K, Stieler J et al (2008) A randomized trial in patients with gemcitabine refractory pancreatic cancer. Final results of the CONKO 003 study. J Clin Oncol 26 (Suppl):abstr 4508
- Pérez-Soler R, Chachoua A, Hammond LA et al (2004) Determants of tumour response and survival with erlotinib in patients with non-smallcell lung cancer: a randomized trial. J Clin Oncol 22:3238–3247
- Pérez-Soler R (2006) Rash as a surrogate marker for efficacy of epidermal growth factor inhibitors in lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 8(Suppl 1): S7–14

- Philip PA, Benedetti J, Fenoglio-Preiser C (2007) Phase III study of gemcitabine (G) plus cetuximab (C) versus gemcitabine in patients (Pts) with locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma (PC) SWOG S0205 study. J Clin Oncol 25(Suppl 18):abstr LBA4509
- Philip PA, Mahoney MR, Allmer C (2005) Phase II study of erlotinib (OSI-774) in patients with advanced hepatocellular cancer. J Clin Oncol 23: 6657–6663
- Schneider G, Hamacher R, Eser S et al (2008) Molecular biology of pancreatic cancer – new aspects and targets. Anticancer Res 28(3A): 1541–1550
- Saif MW, Merikas I, Tsimboukis S et al (2008) Erlotinib-induced skin rash. Pathogenesis, clinical significance and management in pancreatic cancer patients. JOP 9:267–274
- Salomon DS, Brandt R, Ciardiello F et al (1995) Epidermal growth factor-related peptides and their receptors in human malignancies. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 19:183–232
- Sandler AB (2006) Nondermatologic adverse events associated with anti-EGFR therapy. Oncology 20(5 Suppl 2):35–40
- Shapiro J, Marshall J, Karasek P (2005) G17DT+gemcitabine(Gem)versusplacebo+Gem in untreated subjects with locally advanced, recurrent, or metastatic adenocarcinoma of the pancreas: results of a randomized, double-blind, multinational, multicenter study. J Clin Oncol 23(Suppl 16):4012
- Shepherd FA, Pereira JR, Ciuleanu T et al for the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trails Group (2005) Erlotinib in previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 353:123–132
- Sultana A, Smith CT, Cunningham D et al (2007) Meta-analyses of chemotherapy for locally advanced and metastatic pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol 20: 2607–2615

- Tang PA, Tsao MS, Moore MJ (2006) A review of erlotinib and its clinical use. Expert Opin Pharmacother 7:177–193
- Thomas MB, Chadha R, Glover K (2007) Phase 2 study of erlotinib in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer 110: 1059–1067
- Thomas MB, Morris JS, Chadha R et al (2009) Phase II trial of the combination of bevacizumab and erlotinib in patients who have advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 27: 843–850
- Tsao M-S, Sakurada A, Cutz J-C et al (2005) Erlotinib in lung cancer – molecular and clinical predictors of outcome. N Engl J Med 353: 133–144
- Van Cutsem E, Van de Velde H, Karasek P (2004) Phase III trial of gemcitabine plus tipifarnib compared with gemcitabine plus placebo in advanced pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol 22: 1430–1438
- Van Cutsem E, Vervenne WL, Bennouna J et al (2009) Rash as a marker for the efficacy of gemcitabine plus erlotinib-based therapy in pancreatic cancer: results from the AViTA study. ASCO Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium, San Francisco, CA, A117
- Villanueva A, Newell P, Chiang D (2007) Genomics and signaling pathways in hepatocellular carcinoma. Semin Liver Dis 27:55–76
- Wacker B, Nagrani T, Weinberg J et al (2007) Correlation between development of rash and efficacy in patients treated with the epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor erlotinib in two large phase III studies. Clin Cancer Res 13:3913–3921
- Xiong HQ, Abbruzzese JL (2002) Epidermal growth factor receptor-targeted therapy for pancreatic cancer. Semin Oncol 29(Suppl 14):31–37
- Zhu C-Q, da Cunha Santos G, Ding K et al (2008) Role of KRAS and EGFR as biomarkers of response to erlotinib in National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group Study Br. 21. J Clin Oncol 26:4268–4275

Axitinib (AG-013736)

Ronan Joseph Kelly and Olivier Rixe

Abstract The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)/VEGF receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) signaling pathway plays a pivotal role in tumor angiogenesis. Neovascularization promotes increased tumor cell proliferation, survival and metasasis. Many antiangiogenic agents including multi-RTK inhibitors are either approved or are undergoing testing in clinical trials. Axitinib is a potent and selective inhibitor of VEGF RTK 1, 2, and 3. This chapter discusses the stucture of axitinib as well as its toxicities and drug interactions. Important preclinical and clinical data for axitinib are presented including findings from phase II studies in many tumor types including malignant melanoma and renal, pancreatic, thyroid, breast, lung and colorectal carcinomas. Ongoing phase III studies in pancreatic and metastatic renal cell carcinoma will ultimately define the therapeutic role of this targeted agent.

R. J. Kelly (🖂)

Thoracic Oncology Department Medical Oncology Branch, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD 20892, USA e-mail: kellyro@mail.nih.gov

3.1 Introduction

Tumors require angiogenesis to grow beyond 1–2 mm in size (Folkman and Engl 1971). Newly formed blood vessels provide nutrients for growing tumors and serve as an escape route for metastatic cells. When a tumor acquires the ability to establish its own vasculature, its behavior becomes more aggressive (Weidner et al. 1991). The inhibition of new blood vessel growth has, therefore, become an important cancer control target and represents a major advancement in the treatment of various solid tumors.

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a potent endothelial cell mitogen, which is normally seen in certain physiologic situations (fetal development, menstruation, wound healing). Overexpression of VEGF has been associated with tumor progression and poor prognosis in several tumor types, including renal cell carcinoma (RCC), colorectal carcinoma, gastric carcinoma, pancreatic carcinoma, breast cancer, prostate cancer, lung cancer, and melanoma.

There are four known VEGFs (VEGF-A to -C and placental growth factor (PLGF) and four platelet-derived growth factors (PDGF-A to -D) (Ferrara et al. 2003). Growth factors of these families function primarily in a paracrine manner to promote angiogenesis and vasculogenesis

U. M. Martens (ed.), *Small Molecules in Oncology*, Recent Results in Cancer Research, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-01222-8_3, © Springer Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2010

3

(Leung et al. 1989). Both angiogenesis and vasculogenesis play a role in the formation and maintenance of tumor vasculature and the progression of cancer (Hicklin and Ellis 2005). VEGF and PDGF peptides circulate as homo- or heterodimers that regulate cellular processes, such as proliferation and migration, via binding to tyrosine kinase receptors that are expressed on the surface of target cells (Cross et al. 2003). Ligand binding triggers receptor autophosphorylation and the initiation of downstream signaling processes that promote the proliferation, migration, and survival of endothelial cells. In tumor vascularization, these processes form the framework of immature new neoplastic vessels (Hicklin and Ellis 2005). The downstream effects of the majority of VEGF isoforms are mediated by VEGFR-2.

VEGFR-2 (kinase-insert domain receptor (KDR)/fetal liver kinase (Flk)-1) is a type III transmembrane kinase receptor, first isolated in 1991 by Terman and coworkers (Terman et al. 1991). The human VEGFR-2 gene, located on chromosomes 4q11-q12, encodes a full-length receptor of 1356 amino acids (Sait et al. 1995). It consists of an extracellular region composed of seven immunoglobulin (Ig)-like domains, a short transmembrane domain, and an intracellular region containing a tyrosine kinase domain, split by a 70-amino-acid insert. It belongs to the 7/5-Ig protein tyrosine kinase superfamily, and is thus closely related to the platelet-derived growth factor receptors (PDGFRs), fms receptor, and c-Kit receptor (Shibuya et al. 2002). Within the cell, the VEGFR-2 protein is translated as a 150 kDa protein without significant glycosylation. It is then processed by a series of glycosylations to a mature 230 kDa form that is expressed on the cell surface (Takahashi et al. 1997).

VEGF-A binds to the second and third extracellular Ig-like domains of VEGFR-2. Ligand binding induces receptor dimerization and autophosphorylation. A number of studies have shown that VEGFR-2 is the principal mediator of several physiological and pathological effects of VEGF-A on endothelial cells. These include proliferation, migration, survival, and permeability.

The PDGFs play a role in the regulation of cell proliferation, particularly in connective tissues, and are thought to function as growth signals for pericytes, cells that line and stabilize the nascent vessels formed by endothelial cells. PDGFs are also overexpressed in various cancers. Studies involving anti-VEGF and anti-PDGF receptor therapies have demonstrated that these agents can potently inhibit angiogenesis and tumor growth in preclinical models (Hicklin and Ellis 2005).

The indazole derivative axitinib is an oral and selective inhibitor of the VEGFR-1, -2, and -3. Axitinib entered clinical trials in cancer subjects in May 2002, and it is currently being investigated in various tumor types in Phase 2/3 clinical trials.

3.2 Structure of Molecule

Structure, chemical characteristics, and interaction with the VEGF receptor are shown in Figs. 3.1 and 3.2.

3.3 Preclinical Data

Axitinib was generated from a structure-based drug design approach and is a potent ATPcompetitive inhibitor of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) of VEGFR1, 2, 3. It is a weaker inhibitor of PDGFR- β . Axitinib is not a potent inhibitor of the closely related kinases of FGFR-1, Flt-3, or Tie-2, and other kinases of distant families in the kinome.

Axitinib blocks VEGF-mediated endothelial cell adhesion and migration on extracellular matrix proteins and induces endothelial apoptosis as early as 6 h after treatment in cell culture. It has also been shown to produce rapid and potent



Fig.3.1 Synonyms: AG-013736, AG-13736. Molecular weight: 386.47 Da. Molecular formula: C₂₂H₁₈N₄OS. Chemical name: *N*-methyl-2-[3-((E)-2-pyridin-2-yl-

vinyl)-1H-indazol-6-ylsulfanyl]-benzamide (IUPAC). Formulations: two strength of tablets (1 and 5 mg), stored at room temperature and protected from light



Fig. 3.2 VEGFR-2 and axitinib interaction: image showing axitinib in the kinase domain of the membrane receptor

inhibition of eNOS, Akt, and ERK 1/2 phosphorylation at concentrations that correlate with its potency for VEGFRs (Hu-Lowe et al. 2008).

In vitro, axitinib has limited direct activity against VEGFRs, PDGFR-β, and KIT. In vivo DCE-MRI studies showed that axitinib treatment decreased the overall tumor blood flow/permeability at as early as 2 days after initiation of treatment, with a maximum reduction in K^{trans} (endothelial volume transfer constant, an indicator or vascular leakage of a contrast-enhanced agent) observed on day 7 after dosing. The studies also showed that the changes in vascular Ktrans correlated with decreased microvessel density, cellular viability, and tumor growth (Wilmes et al. 2007). The antiangiogenesis activity of axitinib was also assessed by measuring tumor microvessel density (MVD, measured by CD-31 staining) after either acute or prolonged treatment in xenograft tumor models. A further study demonstrated that neoangiogenesis occurred as early as 1 day after drug withdrawal and tumors were fully revascularized within 7 days, which still responded to the second cycle of axitinib. Based on this observation, a continuous daily dosing of axitinib would be optimal for antiangiogenesis (Hu-Lowe et al. 2008).

Axitinib has demonstrated additive or synergistic antitumor activity with docetaxel in models of murine lung cancer and human breast cancer, with carboplatin in a model of ovarian cancer, and with gemcitabine in a model of human pancreatic cancer, which resulted in an improvement in antitumor efficacy ranging 36

from efficacy enhancement to an additive effect and synergism (Rugo et al. 2005). Animal studies have shown that both p.o., b.i.d. dosing (10 and 30 mg/kg), and continuous subcutaneous infusion of axitinib (3, 10 and 30 mg/mL) generated a similar exposure (determined by estimating AUCs), and that the levels of Cmax achieved in the p.o. dosing group were not reached in any of the infusion groups; a greater and/or maximal TGI (tumor growth inhibition) was accomplished by the route of continuous infusion of the compound (Hu-Lowe et al. 2008).

A further study was carried out to evaluate whether, after an initial treatment with axitinib followed by a prolonged dosing break period, tumors would become refractory to axitinib and begin to develop resistance. The results indicated that the regrown tumors after an 11-day dosing break continued to respond to axitinib treatment. However, comparing with continuous daily b.i.d. dosing, cessation of axitinib treatment for 11 days significantly compromised the overall magnitude of TGI in the end. Continuous daily dosing of axitinib seems to be necessary for optimal antitumor efficacy.

In vitro metabolism studies show that axitinib metabolism in the liver is predominantly mediated by CYP3A4, and to a lesser extent by CYP1A2. The pharmacokinetics of axitinib may be affected by CYP3A4 inhibitors and inducers. Systemic exposure of axitinib may be affected by drugs that are substrates or inhibitors of P-glycoprotein.

In vivo metabolism studies show that biotransformation pathways include oxygenation, glucuronidation, glucosylation, and oxygenation followed by either glucuronidation or glucosylation. Axitinib has two major human plasma metabolites, a sulfoxide and an N-glucuronide.

3.3.1 Bioavailability in Humans

Up to early 2007, 21 studies had evaluated the safety, efficacy, and the PK of axitinib. These

studies included seven phase 1 studies in healthy subjects, and 14 studies in subjects with cancer.

Axitinib in the fed stage is absorbed rapidly, with peak plasma concentrations occurring within 2-6 h after dosing. The rate and extent of absorption of the drug was higher in the overnight fasted state with peak concentrations occurring 1-2 h after dosing, indicating a significant food effect (Rugo et al. 2005). However, further studies have confirmed that overnight fasting is not required and ongoing studies recommend that subjects take axitinib with food. The plasma elimination half-life ranges between 2 and 5 h. The mean absolute bioavailability for oral axitinib was 58%. This mean estimate indicates that approximately 58% of an administered dose of axitinib reaches the systemic circulation following oral administration (Rugo et al. 2005).

Studies have demonstrated that the effect of pH on absorption of axitinib was not considered to be clinically significant but in patients taking axitinib, antacids, or PPIs should be administered at times other than 2 h before and 2 h after drug dosing (Rugo et al. 2005).

3.4 Phase II Studies

3.4.1 Axitinib in Renal Cell Carcinoma

In recent years, many new promising treatments and investigational drugs inhibiting angiogenesis have been evaluated in RCC. In patients with cytokine-refractory metastatic RCC, median progression-free survival has been reported as 4.8 months in patients treated with high-dose bevacizumab (Yang et al. 2003) and 5.5 months in those treated with sorafenib (Escudier et al. 2007), with objective responses of 10% for both drugs. Sunitinib has shown an objective response rate (ORR) of 40% in patients who have failed cytokine treatment (Motzer et al. 2006), and a high objective response (31%) and longer progression-free survival when compared with interferon alfa in previously untreated patients (Motzer et al. 2007).

Sunitinib and Sorafenib have a broader multitargeted approach and simultaneously inhibit numerous tyrosine kinase receptors, including VEGF receptor, the platelet-derived growth factor receptor, and the tyrosine kinases c-KIT and FLT3. It was anticipated that the specificity and high picomolar potency of axitinib, against the VEGF receptors 1, 2, and 3-receptors, which play an important role in renal cell cancer pathogenesis, would account for significant antitumor activity.

Axitinib is one of the first tyrosine kinase inhibitors developed in metastatic RCC, and the preliminary results were reported in the 2005 ASCO meeting by Rixe et al. The efficacy of axitinib (5 mg b.i.d.) in patients (n=52) with metastatic RCC whose disease was refractory to cytokine treatment was demonstrated in a phase II, nonrandomized clinical trial (Rixe et al. 2007). Patients were treated in 28-day treatment cycles until disease progression or unacceptable toxicity. Analysis of results demonstrated two complete and 21 partial responses, for an ORR of 44.2% (95% CI 30.5-58.7). Median response duration was 23.0 months. Twenty-two patients showed stable disease lasting for longer than 8 weeks, including 13 patients with stable disease for at least 24 weeks. Stable disease was noted in the only patient with papillary histology, who had a 27.3% decrease in tumor diameter (as defined by RECIST) on day 71. Median time to progression was 15.7 months and median overall survival was 29.9 months. In ancillary studies in 13 of the patients (7 responders and 6 nonresponders), decreased tumor perfusion was observed in patients who responded to treatment. Decreased perfusion correlated with improved response in 4 out of 6 patients with stable or progressive disease (Rixe et al. 2005). The results obtained from this phase II study indicate that Axitinib is a potent agent for the treatment of metastatic RCC.

A phase II nonrandomized, open-label, singlegroup clinical trial evaluated axitinib (5 mg p.o., twice daily) in patients (n=62) with advanced and refractory RCC who had also failed sorafenibbased therapy (Rini 2007). A partial response was observed in 13 patients (21%), stable disease in 21 patients (34%), and progressive disease in 16 patients (26%). Tumor shrinkage to some extent was experienced by 57% of patients. A preliminary analysis after a median follow-up of 8.1 months indicated an overall median progression-free survival of 7.4 months. These preliminary results suggest the absence of cross-resistance between axitinib and sorafenib for a limited but significant subset of patients.

3.4.2 Axitinib in Pancreatic Cancer

VEGF promotes tumor growth in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Kore 2003). High VEGF expression is associated with increased microvessel density (Seo et al. 2000), and is a predictor of early tumor recurrence after curative resection and of poor outcome (Niedergethmann et al. 2002). The addition of bevacizumab to gemcitabine failed to show a survival advantage when compared with gemcitabine alone in advanced pancreatic cancer (Kindler et al. 2007). This prompted studies evaluating the use VEGF inhibitors in pancreatic cancer with a different mechanism of action to bevacizumab.

A Phase II, randomized, open-label clinical trial was conducted to determine the relative survival rates of patients (n=103) with metastatic pancreatic cancer receiving either a combination of axitinib and gemcitabine or gemcitabine alone (Spano et al. 2008). Patients were treated with gemcitabine (1,000 mg/m² days 1, 8, and 15) and axitinib 5 mg twice daily in 28 day cycles, or gemcitabine 1,000 mg/m² days 1, 8, and 15 alone. The primary endpoint was overall survival. The median overall survival with the combination treatment was 6.9 months, compared with 5.6 months for

gemcitabine alone. Progression-free survival results were consistent with those for overall survival. Median progression-free survival with gemcitabine plus axitinib was 4.2 (95% CI 3.6-10.2) months, compared with 3.7 (2.2-6.7) months with gemcitabine alone. The confirmed ORR was 7% for the gemcitabine plus axitinib group when compared with 3% for the gemcitabine alone group. These improvements were not statistically significant (hazard ratio 0.71, 95% CI 0.44-1.13 for overall survival; HR 0.79 CI, 0.43-1.45 for progression-free survival). In a subgroup analysis, patients with locally advanced disease had a greater overall survival advantage when treated with gemcitabine plus axitinib than patients who had metastatic disease (HR 0.54, 95% CI 0.26-1.12 vs. HR 0.96 CI 0.52-1.77). The small, nonstatistically significant gain in overall survival is currently being assessed in a randomized phase III trial using a similar design. This study allows the axitinib dose to be titrated up from the starting dose of 5 mg twice daily to a maximum of 10 mg twice daily.

3.4.3 Axitinib in Metastatic Breast Cancer

A randomized, multicenter, double-blind, placebocontrolled phase 2 study investigated axitinib given in combination with docetaxel vs. docetaxel alone for subjects who have not received prior chemotherapy for metastatic breast cancer (n=168). Patients were eligible if they were ≥ 12 months from adjuvant chemotherapy, had measurable disease, ECOG PS 0-2, and no uncontrolled brain metastases (Phase 2 study of AG-013736 in combination with docetaxel vs. docetaxel alone for patients with metastatic breast cancer. Clinicaltrials.gov 2006; Rugo et al. 2005). The starting doses were determined to be 80 mg/ m² of docetaxel (IV, once every 3 weeks) and 5 mg b.i.d. of axitinib (or placebo-equivalent). The primary endpoint of the trial was time to progression. A median of seven cycles were administered in each arm of the trial. The median time to progression was 8.2 months for the combination therapy, compared with 7 months for placebo (p=0.05) (Rugo 2007). In the axitinib arm, the overall response rate was 40% and for the placebo arm, the response rate was 23% (p=0.038). A subgroup analysis revealed that the median time to progression in patients who had previously received anthracycline treatment was 9.0 months in the axitinib arm and 6.3 months in the placebo arm, with a hazard ratio of 0.54 (p=0.012). Within this subgroup, the response rates were 45 and 13% for the axitinib and placebo arms, respectively (p=0.003) (Rugo 2007).

3.4.4 Axitinib in Thyroid Cancer

The prognosis for thyroid cancer is generally favorable when standard paradigms are applied. Radioactive Iodine (RAI) refractory, recurrent, or metastatic disease is therapeutically challenging, and death from thyroid cancer within 3 years under these circumstances is not uncommon. Anaplastic thyroid cancer is relatively rare but it is typically un-resectable at presentation and is resistant to RAI and chemotherapy. Medullary thyroid cancer is derived from parafollicular C cells. RAI does not have a role in the management of medullary thyroid cancer and it has a worse prognosis than the more common papillary thyroid tumors (Cupisti et al. 2007). Many advanced thyroid cancers will eventually develop lack of iodine avidity, making chemotherapy the only viable option for systemic treatment. Doxorubicin is an approved therapy in incurable thyroid cancer based on response rates of 10-37% (Gottlieb and Hill 1974; Shimaoka et al. 1985).

A common element to thyroid cancers is their associated vascularity, with elevated levels of VEGF compared with normal thyroid tissue (Viglietto et al. 1995). Microvessel density is also higher in papillary thyroid cancer than in normal thyroid (Kilicarslan et al. 2003). In human thyroid tumor specimens, VEGF levels are correlated with stage, large tumor size, nodal involvement, extrathyroidal invasion, and distant metastasis (Klein et al. 1999). These observations support evaluating axitinib in this disease.

In a phase II multicenter clinical trial in patients (n=60) with measurable metastatic or unresectable locally advanced thyroid cancer that was refractory to or unsuitable for 131 iodine treatment, patients received axitinib at an oral dose of 5 mg twice daily (Cohen et al. 2008). Partial responses were observed in 18 patients, yielding an ORR of 30% (95% CI, 18.9-43.2). Stable disease lasting ≥16 weeks was reported in another 23 patients (38%). Objective responses were noted in all histologic subtypes. Median PFS was 18.1 months (95% CI, 12.1 to not estimable). Axitinib was generally well tolerated with the most common grade ≥ 3 treatment-related adverse event (AE) being hypertension (n=7; 12%). Eight patients (13%) discontinued treatment because of AEs. Axitinib selectively decreased sVEGFR-2 and sVEGFR-3 plasma concentrations vs. sKIT, demonstrating its targeting of VEGFR.

3.4.5 Axitinib in Other Solid Tumors

A phase II, nonrandomized, open-label, uncontrolled clinical trial of axitinib was conducted in patients (n=32) with metastatic NSCLC or advanced NSCLC with malignant pleural effusion (Schiller 2007). Patients were orally administered axitinib (5 mg b.i.d.), with doses up to 10 mg permitted, until unacceptable toxicity or disease progression. Three responses were confirmed, with a median duration of response of 9.4 months. There were 10 patients with stable disease and 9 with progressive disease. Median survival and progression-free survival were 12.5 and 5.8 months, respectively. Treatment was discontinued for 26 patients mostly due to a lack of efficacy.

A phase II, single-arm, multicenter, openlabel, clinical trial in patients (n=32) with metastatic melanoma was presented by Fruehauf et al. at ASCO 2008 (Fruehauf et al. 2008). The primary objective of this study is ORR by RECIST. An investigator report shows an ORR of 19% (95% CI: 7–36%) including one durable CR. Median duration of response was 7.9 months, median PFS was 2.3 months (95% CI 1.8–5.7), and median OS for all patients was 6.8 months (95% CI 5.2–10.4). These results compare favorably with other agents developed in the same indication, and support further evaluations.

Two phase II, multicenter, nonrandomized, open-label clinical trials to study the effect of axitinib in combination with bevacizumab and standard chemotherapy regimens have been initiated in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. In the first trial, 123 patients receive FOLFOX, and either axitinib (5 mg b.i.d.), bevacizumab (5 mg/kg every 2 weeks), or axitinib (5 mg b.i.d.) plus bevacizumab (2 mg/kg every 2 weeks) (Phase 2 study with AG-013736 combined with chemotherapy and bevacizumab in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Clinicaltrials.gov 2008). This trial is currently ongoing. In a second, ongoing study, patients who have previously failed treatment with irinotecan or oxaliplatinbased therapy were to be administered axitinib in conjunction with either FOLFOX or FOLFIRI or bevacizumab with FOLFIRI or FOLFOX. (A study combining FOLFOX or FOLFIRI with AG-013736 or avastin in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer after failure of one first-line regimen. Clinicaltrials.gov 2008).

3.5 Phase III Studies

A phase III, randomized, double-blind, activecontrolled clinical trial has been initiated to compare treatment with axitinib plus gemcitabine with gemcitabine plus placebo, in patients (n=596) with advanced pancreatic cancer. Patients receive gemcitabine (1,000 mg/m² i.v.) on days 1, 8, and

r type		Phase II/III	Response rate (%)	PFS (months)	Reference
RCC	52	II	44.2	15.7	(Rixe et al. 2007)
Pancreatic	103	II	7	4.2	(Spano et al. 2008)
Breast	168	Π	40	8.2	(Phase 2 study of AG-013736 in combination with docetaxel versus docetaxel alone for patients with metastatic breast cancer. Clinicaltrials.gov 2006; Rugo et al. 2005)
Thyroid	60	II	30	18.1	(Cohen et al. 2008)
NSCLC	32	II	9	5.8	(Schiller et al. 2007)
Melanoma	32	II	19	2.3	(Fruehauf et al. 2008)

Table 3.1 Summary of results from phase II trials

15 of every 4 weeks, either with or without oral axitinib (5 mg b.i.d.), until disease progression or unacceptable toxicity. The primary endpoint in this trial is overall survival (randomized study of gemcitabine plus AG-013736 vs. gemcitabine for advanced pancreatic cancer. CLINICALTRIALS. GOV 2007).

3.6 Toxicity

AEs reported in axitinib clinical studies are considered manageable, generally reversible and expected for this class of agents. For single-agent axitinib, the most common AEs reported are hypertension, fatigue, and gastrointestinal toxicity.

In phase 1 studies, the dose limiting toxicity (DLT) was hypertension, which was responsive to medications and was reversible with drug cessation. None of the patients receiving 5 mg b.i.d. had hypertension that could not be managed with standard antihypertensive medications. In ongoing clinical programs, subjects receive a starting dose of 5 mg b.i.d. with home monitoring of blood pressure (before each dose) and in-clinic monitoring at the time of scheduled visits. Those subjects who tolerate axitinib with no AEs above CTCAE

grade 2 for 2 consecutive weeks increase their dose step-wise to 7 mg b.i.d. and then to 10 mg b.i.d., unless BP is >150/90 mmHg or the subject is receiving antihypertensive medication. Bleeding events that have occurred among the phase 1 studies have included one fatal case of hemoptysis in a subject with lung adenocarcinoma, epistaxis, breast hemorrhage, hematochezia, rectal hemorrhage, and vaginal hemorrhage. Asymptomatic proteinuria was seen in early studies and consequently, the phase 1 protocol was amended to exclude subjects with proteinuria at baseline(>500 mg/24 h) and to require dose modifications of axitinib on the basis of proteinuria. The maximum tolerated dose was defined as a 5 mg b.i.d. starting dose.

In the phase II study conducted in metastatic RCC (Rixe et al. 2007), Axitinib was given as a single agent and toxicities are reported as follows:

The most commonly reported treatment related AEs of severity grade 3 or higher were hypertension (14%), fatigue (10%), diarrhea (4%), palmar plantar erythrodysesthesia syndrome (3%), hypertension aggravated (2%), and stomatitis (2%) (Table 3.2).

Laboratory abnormalities for subjects with solid tumors who received single-agent axitinib were grade 3/4 hyperglycemia in 5.5%, hyponatremia or elevation in creatinine in 4.6%, elevations in AST in4.0%, and proteinuria in 0.8%.

3

Hematological abnormalities were grade 3 or 4 neutropenia in 0.8% and thrombocytopenia in 1.0%. Grade 3/4 lymphopenia was reported in 19%.

Hypertension is commonly observed during treatment with axitinib and other VEGFR inhibitors. Increases in blood pressure have been proposed as an efficacy marker for VEGF pathway inhibitors. Post hoc, combined analyzes of data from two phase II studies of axitinib in mRCC were performed to explore the possible association between diastolic blood pressure \geq 90 mmHg and efficacy endpoints (Rixe et al. 2008). The two studies included 111 patients (59 and 52 with sorafenib and cytokine refractory mRCC, respectively) evaluable for changes in diastolic BP. Seventy patients (63.1%) had \geq 1 diastolic BP measurement \geq 90 mmHg. The ORR was 48.4% for patients with

Table 3.2 Treatment-related adverse events (AEs) occurring in at least 10% of patients (n=52) (Rixe et al. 2007)

	All grades, n	Grades 3–4, n
Diarrhea	31	5
Hypertension	30	8
Fatigue	27	4
Nausea	23	0
Hoarseness	19	0
Anorexia	18	1
Dry skin	17	0
Weight loss	14	0
Dyspepsia	12	0
Vomiting NOS	11	0
Limb pain	10	2
Stomatitis	9	1
Headache	8	0
Dry mouth	8	0
Nail disorder	7	0
Arthralgia	7	1
Constipation	7	0
Abdominal pain	6	0
NOS		
Rash	6	0
Dysgeusia	6	0
Myalgia	6	1

diastolic BP measurement ≥90 mmHg vs. 12.2% for patients without. Median OS (30.0 vs. 9.8 months; p < 0.0001) and PFS (17.6 vs. 7.1 months; p < 0.0001) were longer in patients with diastolic BP measurement ≥90 mmHg than in those without. The frequencies of most commonly reported AEs were greater in patients with diastolic BP measurement ≥ 90 mmHg than in those without. including fatigue (80.0 vs. 41.5%), diarrhea (72.9 vs. 41.5%), hypertension reported as an AE (67.1 vs. 24.4%), nausea (52.9 vs. 43.9%), and anorexia (51.4 vs. 34.1%). Further studies are required to prospectively validate the occurrence of diastolic BP measurement ≥90 mmHg as a biomarker of axitinib activity. A post hoc exploratory analysis in the phase II pancreatic study (Spano et al. 2008) also showed an improvement in overall survival in patients with at least one diastolic blood pressure measurement of 90 mmHg or more during treatment. Dose-escalation in pancreatic trials, adapted to the blood pressure level, is promising but remains to be validated

Preliminary evidence suggests that axitinib is safe and has a side-effect profile that gives an advantage over other antiangiogenic drugs. The continuous administration and the constant dose appear to be safe, and compatible with longterm administration. In the phase II RCC study, patients have received Axitinib for more than 3 years, with the absence of cumulative toxicity (Rixe et al. 2007).

3.7 Drug Interactions

As mentioned previously, metabolism of axitinib is primarily mediated by the CYP3A4 drugmetabolizing enzyme, and to a lesser extent by CYP1A2 as determined by in vitro studies with human liver microsomes. There is a mechanistic potential for elevated concentrations of axitinib in plasma in the presence of drugs that are CYP3A4 inhibitors. 42

Ketoconazole is a potent CYP3A4 inhibitor. Ketoconazole causes a twofold increase in the plasma exposure of axitinib and a 1.5-fold increase in peak plasma concentration. Rifampin is a potent CYP3A4 inducer. Rifampin causes a 79% decrease in axitinib plasma exposures and a 71% decrease in axitinib peak plasma concentrations.

3.8 Future

Axitinib has demonstrated outstanding activity in the treatment of solid tumors including RCC and pancreatic tumors. Axitinib presents original characteristics and advantages in comparison with the other antiangiogenic compounds: a favorable profile of toxicity with the absence of cumulative dose-limiting toxicity, a large spectrum of activity, a constant and manageable schedule of administration, the occurrence of complete responses in RCC, the emergence of long-term survivors. From these early phases of development, large randomized phase II and III clinical trials are ongoing with axitinib in several types of cancer and should definitively demonstrate its efficacy and define its future indications. It will not be surprising if this agent gains approval for the treatment of metastatic RCC, pancreatic and thyroid cancers due to the significant activity that was observed in phase II trials in these malignancies.

Cross-resistance between antiangiogenic compounds needs to be addressed. Preliminary preclinical studies tried to demonstrate the putative mechanisms involved in acquired resistance to antivascular agents. They underline the heterogeneity of the endothelial cell, angiogenic factors, and tumor cells, the role of the microenvironment, the potential angiogeno-independence, or the implication of pharmacokinetic parameters. Based on the Rini study in metastatic RCC, axitinib (Rini 2007) has demonstrated a different spectrum of activity from other VEGFR inhibitors, suggesting a potential absence of cross-resistance in a subset of patients.

The definitive role of Axitinib for the treatment of solid tumors will be determined in the two ongoing phase III studies conducted in pancreatic and renal carcinoma. Based on initial positive phase II studies, results from these randomized studies are expected by the community. The pursuit of reliable predictive factors of VEGR inhibitor activity is ongoing. Biomarkers in addition to clinical parameters (such as blood pressure or erythropoietin level) are currently being evaluated with promising preliminary results.

Future developments with Axitinib include combination studies with cytotoxics. Based on preclinical evidence (tumor vasculature normalization induced by VEGF modulation) and a favorable toxicity profile, clinical studies are ongoing in breast, colon, and bladder carcinoma.

Finally, the role of a specific inhibitor of VEGFR-1, -2, and -3 in the adjuvant setting should be addressed. Identification of molecular and cellular pathways that constitute the "premetastatic niche phenomenon," which is driven by the expression of VEGFR-1 on bone marrow-derived hematopoietic progenitors will most likely lead to a prevention of metastasis at an earlier stage (Kaplan et al. 2006). Axitinib represents an ideal drug to test this hypothesis.

References

- Folkman J (1971) Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. N Engl J Med 285:1182–6
- Weidner N, Semple JP, Welch WR, Folkman J (1991) Tumor angiogenesis and metastasis– correlation in invasive breast carcinoma. N Engl J Med 324:1–8
- Ferrara N, Gerber HP, LeCouter J (2003) The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nat Med 9: 669–676
- Leung DW, Cachianes G, Kuang WJ (1989) Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. Science 246:1306–1309

- Hicklin DJ, Ellis LM (2005) Role of the vascular endothelial growth factor pathway in tumor growth and angiogenesis. JCO 23:1011–1027
- Cross MJ, Dixelius J, Matsumoto T (2003) VEGFreceptor signal transduction. Trends Biochem Sci 28:488–494
- Terman BI, Carrion ME, Kovacs E (1991) Identification of a new endothelial cell growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase. Oncogene 6(9): 1677–1683
- Sait SN, Dougher-Vermazen M, Shows TB (1995) The kinase insert domain receptor gene (KDR) has been relocated to chromosome 4q11–>q12. Cytogenet Cell Genet 70(1–2): 145–146
- Shibuya M (2002) Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor family genes: when did the three genes phylogenetically segregate? Biol Chem 383(10):1573–1579
- Takahashi T, Shibuya M (1997) The 230 kDa mature form of KDR/Flk-1 (VEGF receptor-2) activates the PLC-gamma pathway and partially induces mitotic signals in NIH3T3 fibroblasts. Oncogene 1997 May 1;14(17):2079–89
- Hu-Lowe DD, Zou HY, Grazzini ML (2008) Nonclinical antiangiogenesis and antitumor activities of axitinib (AG-013736), an oral, potent, and selective inhibitor of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases 1, 2, 3. Clin Cancer Res 14(22): 7272–7283
- Wilmes LJ, Pallavicini MG, Fleming LM (2007) AG-013736, a novel inhibitor of VEGF receptor tyrosine kinases, inhibits breast cancer growth and decreases vascular permeability as detected by dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. Magn Reson Imaging 25(3): 319–327
- Rugo HS, Herbst RS, Liu G (2005a) Phase I trial of the oral antiangiogenesis agent AG-013736 in patients with advanced solid tumors: pharmacokinetic and clinical results. J Clin Oncol 23(24):5417–5419
- Yang JC, Haworth L, Sherry RM et al (2003) A randomized trial of bevacizumab, an anti-vascular endothelial growth factor antibody, for metastatic renal cancer. N Engl J Med 349:427–434
- Escudier B, Eisen T, Stadler WM et al (2007) Sorafenib in advanced renal cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 356:125–134
- Motzer RJ, Michaelson MD, Redman BG et al (2006) Activity of SU1124, a multitargeted inhibitor of vascular endothelial growth factor

receptor and platelet-derived growth factor receptor, in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 24:16–24

- Motzer RJ, Hutson TE, Tomczak P et al (2007) Sunitinib versus interferon alfa in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 356: 115–124
- Rixe O, Bukowski R, Dror M et al (2007) Axitinib treatment in patients with cytokine-refractory metastatic renal-cell cancer: a phase II study. Lancet Oncol 8:975–984
- Rixe O, Meric J, Bloch J, et al (2005) Surrogate markers of activity of AG- 013736, a multitarget tyrosine kinase receptor inhibitor, in metastatic renal cell cancer. Proc ASCO 24:abstr. 3003
- Rini BI (2007) Axitinib (AG-013736) in patients with metastatic renal cell cancer (RCC) refractory to sorafenib. ASCO 43:abstr. 5032
- Korc M (2003) Pathways for aberrant angiogenesis in pancreatic cancer. Mol Cancer 2:8
- Seo Y, Baba H, Fukuda T, Takashima M, Sugimachi K (2000) High expression of vascular endothelial growth factor is associated with liver metastasis and a poor prognosis for patients with ductal pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Cancer 88: 2239–2245
- Niedergethmann M, Hildenbrand R, Wostbrock B et al (2002) High expression of vascular endothelial growth factor predicts early recurrence and poor prognosis after curative resection for ductal adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. Pancreas 25: 122–129
- Kindler HL, Niedzwiecki D, Hollis D et al (2007) A double-blind, placebo- controlled, randomized phase III trial of gemcitabine (G) plus bevacizumab (B) versus gemcitabine plus placebo (P) in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: a preliminary analysis of Cancer and Leukemia Group B (CALGB). J Clin Oncol 25(18S):1998
- Spano J-P, Chodkiewicz C, Maurel J et al (2008) Efficacy of gemcitabine plus axitinib compared with gemcitabine alone in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: an open-label randomized phase II study. Lancet 371:2101–2108
- Phase 2 study of AG-013736 in combination with docetaxel versus docetaxel alone for patients with metastatic breast cancer. Clinicaltrials.gov 2006 July 25
- Rugo HS, Stopeck A, Badorf A, Pithavala YK, Steinfeldt HM (2005b) A phase I/II study of

AG-013736, an oral anti-angiogenesis agent, in combination with docetaxel in patients with metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 94:S1–S62

- Rugo HS (2007) A randomized, double-blind phase II study of the oral tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) axitinib (AG-013736) in combination with docetaxel (DOC) compared to DOC plus placebo (PL) in metastatic breast cancer (MBC). ASCO 43:abstr. 1003
- Cupisti K, Wolf A, Raffel A et al (2007) Long-term biochemical and clinical follow-up in medullary thyroid carcinoma. A single institution's experience over 20 years. Ann Surg 246:815–821
- Gottlieb JA, Hill CS (1974) Chemotherapy of thyroid cancer with adriamycin: experience with 30 patients. N Engl J Med 290:193–197
- Shimaoka K, Schoenfeld D, DeWys WD et al (1985) A randomized trial of doxorubicin versus doxorubicin plus cisplatin in patients with advanced thyroid carcinoma. Cancer 56:2155–2160
- Viglietto G, Maglione D, Rambaldi M et al (1995) Upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and downregulation of placenta growth factor (PIGF) associated with malignancy in human thyroid tumors and cell lines. Oncogene 11:1569–1579
- Kilicarslan AB, Ogus M, Arici C et al (2003) Clinical importance of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) for papillary thyroid carcinomas. APMIS 111:439–443
- Klein M, Picard E, Vignaud JM et al (1999) Vascular endothelial growth factor gene and protein:

Strong expression in thyroiditis and thyroid carcinoma. J Endocrinol 161:41-49

- Cohen E, Lee R, Everett V et al (2008) Axitinib is an active treatment for all histologic subtypes of advanced thyroid cancer: results from a phase II study. JCO 26:4708–4713
- Schiller JH (2007) Efficacy and safety of axitinib (AG-013736; AG) in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): a phase II trial. Am Soc Clin Oncol 43:abstr. 7507
- Fruehauf JP, Lutsky J, McDermott D (2008) Axitinib (AG-013736) in patients with metastatic melanoma: a phase II study. ASCO abstr. 9006
- Phase 2 study with AG-013736 combined with chemotherapy and bevacizumab in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Clinicaltrials.gov 2008 April 07
- A study combining FOLFOX or FOLFIRI with AG-013736 or avastin in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer after failure of one first line regimen. Clinicaltrials.gov 2008 April 07
- Randomized study of gemcitabine plus AG-013736 versus gemcitabine for advanced pancreatic cancer. Clinicaltrials.gov 2007 May 07
- Rixe O, Dutcher JP, Motzer RJ (2008) Association between diastolic blood pressure ≥90 mmHg and efficacy in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma receiving axitinib (AG-013736). ESMO abstr.
- Kaplan RN, Rafii S, Lyden D (2006) Preparing the "soil": the premetastatic niche. Cancer Res 66(23):11089–11093

Tanja Schneider-Merck and Martin Trepel

Abstract The human epidermal growth factor receptor (HER) family of growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) plays an important role in the biology of many cancers. In breast cancer, HER2 and its homo- or heterodimerization with HER1 or HER3 are essential for cancer cell growth and survival. Patients overexpressing HER2 have a poor prognosis, which can be substantially improved upon HER2-targeted therapy using the monoclonal antibody trastuzumab. Lapatinib is a novel dual tyrosine kinase inhibitor, blocking HER1 and HER2 tyrosine kinase activity by binding to the ATP-binding site of the receptor's intracellular domain. This results in inhibition of tumor cell growth. The drug is relatively well tolerated in patients, with few and mostly low-grade adverse effects. In particular and unlike to trastuzumab, it has very little, if any, adverse effects on cardiac function. In patients with advanced HER2-positive breast cancer, lapatinib has shown substantial antitumor activity, particularly in combination with capecitabine upon progressive disease following standard therapy with antracyclines, taxanes,

Department of Oncology and Hematology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Martinistraße 52, 20246 Hamburg, Germany e-mail: m.trepel@uke.de and trastuzumab. Ongoing and future studies will explore its role in the adjuvant therapy setting, in drug combinations other than capecitabine, and in the treatment of HER2-positive tumors other than breast cancer.

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 The Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Family of Tyrosine Kinases

More than 400,000 women die from breast cancer per year, making this the most common cause of death from cancer among women worldwide (Parkin et al. 2005). Breast cancers often display overexpression or constitutive activation of the human epidermal growth factor receptor (HER, EGFR, ErbB) tyrosine kinases, which are also involved in normal breast development (Atalay et al. 2003; Yarden 2001). Aberrant receptor activation or overexpression of HER1 (27-30% of cases) and HER2 (20-25% of cases) in human breast cancers is associated with poor clinical outcome (Nahta et al. 2006; Witton et al. 2003; Yarden and Sliwkowski 2001). These RTKs provide specific docking sites for various adapter proteins

M. Trepel (🖂)



Fig. 4.1 Organizational principle of the epidermal growth factor receptor family and some dimerization possibilities with corresponding downstream biological events. The *left half* of the graph shows the names of the HER family members, depicted as homodimers. The *right half* of the graph shows heterodimers and downstream effects upon dimerization. P symbolizes phosphorylation. Ligands are shown as *semicircles* (name in *rectangles*) and in the color corresponding to the suitable receptor.

and signaling enzymes, which, upon binding, activate various downstream signaling pathways. These signaling events are linked to cell proliferation, survival, and apoptosis (Atalay et al. 2003; Danielsen and Maihle 2002; Stern 2000). The HER family of RTKs is comprised of four members: HER1 (=EGFR1 or ErbB1), HER2 (=HER2/c-neu or ErbB2), HER3 (=ErbB3), and HER4 (=ErbB4) (Citri and Yarden 2006; Yarden and Sliwkowski 2001). RTKs consist of an extracellular ligand-binding domain, a transmembrane domain, and an intracellular cytoplasmic domain containing the tyrosine kinase catalytic site. The receptors are not fixed in the lipid bilayer of the plasma membrane. Therefore, dimerization can and does occur upon ligand binding to the extracellular domain. Such dimers can be homodimers

Note, that HER2 does not have a known ligand; it presumably acts mostly as a combination partner for heterodimers. Also note, that HER3 homodimers lack tyrosine kinase activity (indicated by *X*), but upon ligand binding, the receptor can initiate signal transduction as heterodimer (mainly with the preferred dimerization partner HER2) through the other HER-family member's intracellular domain, resulting in multiple downstream effects influencing cell growth and survival

or heterodimers comprised of two different members of the same RTK family (Fig. 4.1) (Mendelsohn and Baselga 2003). When HER2 is overexpressed in cancers, it appears to be the preferred dimerization partner for all members of the HER-family (Graus-Porta et al. 1997). While homodimers are either inactive (like HER3 homodimers) or provide only weak signaling, HER2-containing heterodimers have attributes, which prolong and enhance downstream signaling (Sliwkowski 2003). Upon dimerization, the intracellular cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase is activated and autophosphorylated. The type of dimerization (homo- or heterodimerization) has an important impact on the downstream signaling pathways in terms of growth, proliferation and transformation (Olayioye et al. 2000; Prenzel et al. 2001).

4.1.2 Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptors and Breast Cancer

Evidence from in vitro and in vivo studies pointed at the functional importance of the HER-family in a wide range of cancers (Gridelli et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2008; Klapper et al. 2000; Milanezi et al. 2008; Nahleh 2008; Rapidis et al. 2008). This prompted the development of agents that target these receptors, including monoclonal antibodies such as cetuximab and trastuzumab, or small molecule inhibitors of the RTK such as erlotinib and gefitinib (Cappuzzo et al. 2007; Lin and Winer 2004; Rivera et al. 2008; Toschi and Cappuzzo 2007; Valabrega et al. 2007). In breast cancer, the outcome of both early and advanced HER2-positive breast cancer patients could be substantially improved by the addition of trastuzumab, a monoclonal antibody binding to the extracellular domain of HER2 and therefore inhibiting heterodimerization of HER2 and subsequent activation of growth and survival signals in cancer cells. For instance, using trastuzumab in combination with chemotherapy in the adjuvant setting, relapse rates were substantially reduced and overall survival improved (Piccart-Gebhart et al. 2005; Romond et al. 2005). In view of the downstream signaling characteristics within the HER-family, it is reasonable to assume that agents inhibiting both HER1 and HER2 may result in more effective inhibition of cancer cell growth and survival. The rationale for development of such dual HER tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) such as lapatinib is based on several reasons. First, as opposed to a drug that targets only one member of the HER-family, simultaneous inhibition of HER1 and HER2 may overcome escape mechanisms mediated by redundancy in cell signaling pathways, a form of resistance observed in single tyrosine kinase inhibition, in which upregulation of other members of the HER-family occurs (Lin and Winer 2004; Milanezi et al. 2008). Second, synergistic

inhibition of cancer cell growth has been demonstrated upon simultaneous targeting of HER1 and HER2, resulting in a more potent repression of cell growth or greater apoptotic effect compared with targeting either HER1 or HER2 alone (Burris 2004). Third, a dual HER1/HER2 tyrosine kinase inhibitor may be a useful substrate in a wider range of patients, in view of the impact of heterodimerization in the progression of a variety of cancer types and in addition to breast cancer (Kim et al. 2008; Nahta et al. 2006; Olayioye et al. 2000; Xia et al. 2004). Therefore, the dual HER-TKI lapatinib is expected to have superior activity compared with mono-target TKIs, and even though lapatinib has been primarily developed for and evaluated in breast cancer, its efficacy may reach well beyond this disease.

4.2 Structure and Mechanism of Action

Lapatinib ditosylate (GW572016, Tykerb[®], Fig. 4.2) is an orally applicable, dual RTK inhibitor targeting two members of the HER-family receptors: HER1 (EGFR1/ErbB1) and HER2/cneu (ErbB2) (Bilancia et al. 2007; Medina and Goodin 2008; Nelson and Dolder 2006).

Lapatinib acts intracellularly, interacting with the tyrosine kinase domain of the receptor (Fig. 4.3). There, it binds reversibly to the cytoplasmic ATP-binding site of the kinase domain, blocking phosphorylation and activation of the receptor (Moy and Goss 2006). This results in the inhibition of various downstream signaling cascades such as extracellular signal-related kinase1/2 (ERK1/2) and phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase (PI3K)/AKT, involved in cell proliferation and survival (Burris 2004; Nahta et al. 2003; Okano et al. 2000) and apoptosis (Xia et al. 2005). The kinase inhibition is very effective with IC₅₀ (50% inhibitory concentration) values of <0.2 μ M. Consequently, application



Fig. 4.3 Intracellular action of lapatinib. Lapatinib binds to the tyrosine kinase domain of HER1 and HER2, blocking the ATP-binding site and thus preventing the activation of downstream cascades. HER1 is depicted in *yellow*, HER2 in *green*, HER3

in *blue*. Ligands are shown as *semicircles*. *Lap* lapatinib; *JNK* Jun-N-terminal kinase; *MAPK* mitogenactivated protein kinase; *MEKK* MAPK/extracellular signal-related kinase (ERK); *PI3K* phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase

of the drug in vivo results in a strong inhibition of tumor growth in xenograft models (Rusnak et al. 2001; Xia et al. 2002; Zhou et al. 2006).

Lapatinib binds the *inactive* form of EGFR, and by doing so, it differs from other EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as erlotinib or gefitinib, which bind the *active* EGFR conformation. Lapatinib also has a slower dissociation rate compared with other TKIs. Both could contribute to a greater duration of effect at the target site (Wood et al. 2004). There are several theoretical advantages of small molecule inhibitors of both HER1 and HER2 compared with the monoclonal antibody cetuximab, which targets the extracellular domain of HER1, or trastuzumab, which targets the extracellular domain of HER2. One such advantage of the dual kinase inhibition activity of lapatinib is that it is active even in truncated mutated forms of the HER1and HER2-receptors in tumors. While still exhibiting tyrosine kinase activity, these truncated forms lack the extracellular domain of the receptors and therefore cannot be bound by antibodies (Xia et al. 2005). In breast cancer cells expressing such receptor versions, truncated HER2, like the wild type HER2, preferentially forms heterodimers with HER3. Such truncated HER2-positive cells can still signal (and often do so constitutively). They are necessarily resistant to the treatment with antibodies binding the extracellular HER2-domain (e.g., trastuzumab). However, truncated HER2 is still sensitive to the TKI lapatinib (Xia et al. 2004). Another unique feature of lapatinib over antibody-based anti-HER strategies is its biodistribution. Lapatinib is the first approved small molecule inhibitor with the ability to cross the blood–brain barrier (BBB), making it suitable for targeting brain metastases, a common feature in patients with breast cancer, particularly the ones expressing HER2 (Gril et al. 2008; Lin et al. 2008).

4.3 Clinical Data

4.3.1 Pharmacology

Lapatinib can be administered orally, but resorption rates vary, depending on food effects, which can increase bioavailability rates substantially (Rahman et al. 2007; Ratain and Cohen 2007; Singh and Malhotra 2004). In the blood, lapatinib is bound to 99% to proteins, mainly albumin and acidic alpha1 glycoprotein. Oral administration of lapatinib in healthy volunteers demonstrated the good tolerability of the drug (Bence et al. 2005). Commonly reported side effects included diarrhea, rush, nausea, vomiting, fatigue, and headache (see later). The peak plasma level of lapatinib occurs 3-6 h after administration, and the half life is approximately 17-24 h. Therefore, the drug is administered at a once daily schedule. The drug accumulates upon repetitive administration, and equilibrium plasma levels are reached after 6-7 days of administration. Lapatinib is eliminated by hepatic metabolism, primarily through cytochrome P450(CYP)3A4 and biliary excretion. Therefore, inducers or inhibitors of CYP3A4 may alter the metabolism of lapatinib, and vice versa, lapatinib may increase the level of other CYP3A4 substrates (e.g., benzodiazepines and calcium channel blockers) and also CYP2C8 substrates (e.g., amiodarone and pioglitazone) (Burris et al. 2005; Medina and Goodin 2008; Ulhoa-Cintra et al. 2008). Also, administration of the drug in patients with impaired liver function such as liver cirrhosis or diffuse hepatic metastases may be problematic, and if at all, has to be done with particular care and in a dosereduced schedule, even though it has not been systemically investigated in this setting so far. The recommended daily dose of lapatinib is 1,250 mg as a single dose. To decrease variability in bioavailability, lapatinib intake is recommended no less than one hour before or at least one hour after food intake.

4.3.2 Results from Clinical Trials

4.3.2.1 Efficacy

As lapatinib has been approved solely for the use in breast cancer so far, this chapter is focused on this tumor entity only.

Several preclinical data provided the biological rationale to evaluate lapatinib in patients with HER2-positive breast cancer (Chu et al. 2005; Geyer et al. 2006a; Konecny et al. 2006; Medina and Goodin 2008; Montemurro et al. 2007; Nelson and Dolder 2006; Storniolo et al. 2008). A number of phase I-III clinical trials were conducted or are ongoing in healthy probands or patients with cancers of various origins and stages, evaluating lapatinib both as single agent and in combination with other therapeutics, including chemotherapy, hormone therapy, or monoclonal anti-HER2 antibodies. Several of these trials are listed in Table 4.1. Some exemplifying trials revealing the clinical efficacy of lapatinib are discussed in more detail below.

	References		Bence et al. (2005); DeSimone et al. (2002)	Burris (2004); Burris et al (2005); Dees et al (2004); Minami et al (2004); Pandite et al (2004); Spector et al (2005); Versola et al (2004)		DeBono et al. (2003)	Chu et al. (2005)	Lakhai et al. (2004)	Jones et al. (2004)	Midgley et al. (2005)	27 Storniolo et al. (2005)	Safran et al. (2006)
		SD	NA	58		NR	4	2/7	Г	10	10/	
	ise (n)	PR	NA	Q		1	1	2/7	3	4	5/27	
	Respon	CR	NA	-		I	I	I	I	I	1/27	5/20
		Phase	н	Г		I	I	I	I	I	I	Ι
		Patients (n)	43	137		11	36	13	26	25	48	21
I clinical trails	Treatment		Lapatinib (10–175 mg) in single and multiple doses	Lapatinib (175–1,800 mg) once or twice daily	Lapatinib (750–1,500 mg) plus ^a	Capecitabine $(1,500 \text{ mg/m}^2)^b$	Letrozole (2.5 mg/day)	FOLFOX4 (-20% standard dose)	Paclitaxel (135–225 mg/m ²) ^c	FOLFIRI (60–80% standard dose) ^d	Trastuzumab (2 mg/kg) ^e	Gemcitabine (1 mg/m^2) or GEMOX $(1 \text{ g/m}^2)^f$
Table 4.1 Lapatinib in phase I–III	Indication		Phase I monotherapy Healthy voluntcers	Second line, solid tumors	Phase I combination therapy (second line)	Various solid tumors	Breast, ovarian, endometrial	Various solid tumors	Various solid tumors	Various solid tumors	Metastatic breast cancer	Pancreatic and biliary cancer

L

50

	Blackwell et al. (2005); Blackwell et al. (2004); Johnston (2005)	Burstein et al. (2004)	Geyer et al. (2006b)	Geyer et al. (2006b);	Stemmler et al. (2006)	Gomez et al. (2005)	Di Leo et al. (2008)	Safran et al. (2006)	Ingle et al. (2006)	Moy and Goss (2007b)
	24					35		15	38	
		37		5		35			70	
	12	1				0	d.n.a.	5	0	d.n.a.
	Π	III	III	II		II	III	III	II	III
	Lapatinib	Lapatinib vs. Capecitabine	Lapatinib vs. Trastuzumab	Lapatinib in brain metastases		Lapatinib mono (° vs. ^f)	Lapatinib vs. Paclitaxel	Lapatinib vs. Letrozole	Lapatinib in refractory IBC	TEACH
Phase II and III	Metastatic breast cancer					First-line advanced	breast cancer		IBC	Breast cancer adjuvant

CR complete response; PR partial response; SD stable disease; NA not applicable, healthy volunteer; NR not reported; d.n.a. data not available; IBC inflammatory breast cancer; TEACH Tykerb[®] evaluation after chemotherapy

^aOnce daily

^bTwice a day

"Every 3 weeks

^dEvery 14 days ^cLoading dose followed by weekly infusions ^tWeekly

[•]Weekly [§]Response to lapatinib treatment Phase I clinical trials suggested a favorable side effect profile of lapatinib, revealing good tolerability for the majority of patients treated ((Bence et al. 2005; Moy and Goss 2007a), see later for more details on tolerability). Phase II and III studies demonstrated that lapatinib has substantial clinical activity in HER2-positive breast cancer patients, but showed only moderate, if any, activity in cancers with predominant HER1 expression such as colorectal cancer, squamous cell cancer of the head and neck, lung or renal cancer (Montemurro et al. 2007; Ravaud et al. 2008; Reuter et al. 2007; Rocha-Lima et al. 2007).

Lapatinib is moderately effective in frontline therapy as a single agent in metastatic breast cancer (Gomez et al. 2008). Its major strength, however, is probably the combination with other cytotoxic agents. So far, the most important study in this regard has been the EGF100151 trial (Geyer et al. 2006a), forming the basis for approval of the drug (see later). This open label phase III trial included patients with advanced HER2-positive breast cancers, who had been treated before with antracyclines, taxanes, and the anti-HER2 antibody trastuzumab. Patients had to have measurable disease so as to evaluate tumor response following RECIST criteria. Patients were randomized to either receive capecitabine alone (201 patients) or a reduced dose of capecitabine and lapatinib 1,250 mg/ day (198 patients). Time to disease progression (TTP) was the primary endpoint of this study. Secondary endpoints were overall survival, event-free survival, and overall response rate as well as safety and tolerability. A planned interims analysis (Geyer et al. 2006a) revealed 49 events in the lapatinib group vs. 72 events in the control group, resulting in a 51% risk reduction in time to progression. Based on these data, randomization within this trial was stopped, and patients in the control arm could also receive lapatinib in addition to capecitabine. A recent update analysis of the trial confirmed the positive results of the interims analysis (Cameron et al. 2008) with TTP improvement from 4.5 to 6.2 months upon addition of lapatinib to capecitabine. Also, there was a thus far statistically nonsignificant trend toward improved overall survival. Importantly, central nervous system (CNS) relapse rates were also significantly reduced in the lapatinib arm compared with the control arm (2% vs. 6%). This confirms the assumption of a high risk for CNS metastases in this group of patients and the ability of lapatinib to cross the BBB and therefore inhibit growth of micrometastases in CNS tissue before they can grow to a size upon which BBB function is disrupted.

Meanwhile, lapatinib in combination with chemotherapy has also been proven effective as first line treatment in HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer (Di Leo et al. 2008). In this large phase III trial, patients were included irrespective of HER2-expression. They were randomly assigned to receive either paclitaxel alone or in combination with lapatinib. While patients without HER2 overexpression did not benefit from the addition of lapatinib, HER2-positive patients had significantly improved response rates and event-free survival rates upon additional treatment with lapatinib (Di Leo et al. 2008).

As stated earlier, brain metastases are a major problem among patients treated with trastuzumab for metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer with incidence rates of 28–43%. The efficacy of lapatinib in breast cancer patients with brain metastases was specifically addressed in a phase II trial (EGF105084) (Lin et al. 2007). Patients included in this trial had brain metastases and had already received trastuzumab therapy as well as brain irradiation, i.e., the study addressed a prognostically particularly unfavorable group of patients. Tumor response (>50% size reduction) was the primary endpoint. Patients received lapatinib monotherapy. Approximately 8% (in a smaller series published recently by the same group: 3%, (Lin et al. 2008)) achieved a partial response, and 16% (smaller series: 18%) achieved stable disease. These are admittedly moderate clinical benefit rates; however, they were achieved in a group of patients with very little treatment options and an extremely high risk of disease progression. To date, it is unknown, whether lapatinib can actually decrease the risk of *new formation* of brain metastases and therefore prolong survival. A phase III trial comparing lapatinib with trastuzumab treatment in this regard is currently being planned.

A pertinent question concerns the benefit of combining TKIs with monoclonal antibodies directed to HER-family members as compared with either therapy alone. A recent two-armed phase II trial included advanced HER2-positive breast cancer patients progressive after previous standard therapies with antracyclines, taxanes, and trastuzumab. Patients were treated either with a combination of trastuzumab and lapatinib or with lapatinib alone. Progression-free survival was 12 weeks in the combination treatment arm, while it was only 8 weeks in the lapatinib mono arm (O'Shaughnessy et al. 2008). Even though these data are very promising, a randomized phase III trial is needed to comprehensively evaluate the value of this drug combination vs. either therapy alone in advanced breast cancer.

In a very recent phase III trial (Johnston et al. 2008), lapatinib has been shown to be of benefit, when used as first-line treatment in advanced breast cancer. The trial included 1,286 postmenopausal women with hormone receptorpositive metastatic breast cancer, irrespective of HER2-expression status. Patients were treated with the aromatase inhibitor letrozole and were randomized to receive or not receive lapatinib in addition. The addition of lapatinib increased progression-free survival to 11.9 months, compared with 10.8 months for letrozole alone in the overall patient population. In HER2-positive patients, the combination of lapatinib plus letrozole increased progression-free survival even by

29% compared with letrozole alone. Also, the response rate upon the combination treatment was 28%, compared with 15% with letrozole alone. The clinical benefit rate was 48% compared with 29%. These data also confirm the importance of HER2-targeted treatment to overcome resistance to hormonal therapy, as previously suggested by a phase III trial (Mackey et al. 2006), which compared an aromatase inhibitor plus or minus trastuzumab and yielded comparable results. It remains as yet unclear, which HER-inhibiting combination partner for hormone therapy is better and whether a combination of antibody and RTK-inhibitor may have yielded even better results than either drug alone as an addition to hormone therapy.

Markers predicting response to targeted therapy will be one of the most important things to be addressed in future clinical trials. A recent study investigated lapatinib response in refractory patients with inflammatory breast cancer and its dependence on HER-expression to elucidate a molecular signature predictive of lapatinib sensitivity (Kaufman et al. 2008; Spector et al. 2006). This phase II trial (EGF103009) assigned patients to cohorts A (HER2-positive) or B (HER2-negative, but HER1-positive). Patients received lapatinib 1,500 mg once daily. In cohort A, 50% had clinical responses to lapatinib compared with 7% in cohort B. Within cohort A, phosphorylated HER3 and lack of p53 expression predicted for response to lapatinib. Tumors coexpressing phosphorylated HER2 and phosphorylated HER3 were more likely to respond to lapatinib (90% vs. 29%). Prior trastuzumab therapy and loss of phosphate and tensin homolog 10 (PTEN) did not correlate with response to lapatinib.

Based on the results of the pivotal EGF100151 trial, the drug was approved in 2007 by the FDA and in 2008 by the EMEA for its use in patients with advanced HER2-positive breast cancer after progression upon therapy with antracyclines, taxanes, and trastuzumab. 4

4.3.2.2 Tolerability

Diarrhea, hand-foot syndrome, nausea, vomiting, fatigue, and skin rashes were the most frequently reported adverse events in the EGF100151 trial (Cameron et al. 2008). Of these, diarrhea and skin rashes were more frequent in the lapatinib plus capecitabine group vs. the capecitabine group. These were mainly grade I toxicities. Toxicity-related interruption of therapy (43%), the need for dose reduction (42–43%), or complete stop of treatment due to intolerance (14%) was approximately equal in both treatment arms. Cardiac events were slightly more frequent in the lapatinib group (4 events) than in the control group (2 events), but were asymptomatic. Importantly, cardiac function as defined by left ventricular ejection fraction was observed at an equal rate (2.1%) in both treatment arms of the EGF100151 trial and was asymptomatic in >90% of cases. Cardiac failure is therefore considerably less prominent than upon treatment with trastuzumab, in which reduction in left ventricular output has been a significant concern, prevents simultaneous treatment with antracyclines and excludes patients with coexisting cardiac failure. Nevertheless, a routine evaluation of left ventricular output is usually recommended before initiating treatment with lapatinib. Additional reported, but very infrequent, adverse events observed upon treatment with lapatinib were hepatotoxicity and interstitial pneumonitis. Therefore, routine laboratory evaluation of liver function and clinical observation of pulmonary function are recommended before and during treatment with lapatinib. Altogether, however, life-threatening events (grade 4) or death (grade 5) attributable to lapatinib treatment seem to be very rare and most adverse effects are of grade 2 or 3 in severity (Moy and Goss 2006; Moy and Goss 2007a). Of note, lapatinib does not seem to add to the myelosuppressive adverse effects of chemotherapy.

4.4 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Lapatinib has been a valuable advancement in the treatment of HER2-positive breast cancer. This group of cancer patients has a high risk of disease progression even upon treatment with conventional chemotherapeutic drugs but benefits enormously of the targeted treatment with trastuzumab. Failure to respond to trastuzumab-containing therapeutic regimens in advanced breast cancer has posed a serious therapeutic dilemma to both patients and clinicians, which can now be addressed by the treatment with lapatinib, since a phase III trial has provided clear evidence of its efficacy in this situation in combination with capecitabine. In particular, it may overcome the primary trastuzumab resistance associated with the inefficiency of antibodies in the treatment of cancers expressing truncated versions of HER2 and in the treatment of brain metastases.

Open questions regarding its future role in the treatment of HER2-positive cancers remain, however, and need to be addressed in current or future clinical trials. Such questions include:

- What is the role of lapatinib in the adjuvant situation in combination with (which is currently being investigated) or as an alternative to trastuzumab in early breast cancer?
- 2. What is the role of lapatinib as a single agent in advanced breast cancer compared with combination therapy?
- 3. Since a recent trial has shown that trastuzumab may be effective in alternative combination regimens after disease progression upon previous trastuzumab treatment (Von Minckwitz et al. 2008), it is unclear whether trastuzumab may have been equally effective as lapatinib in clinical settings such as the ones in the EGF100151 trial. This is particularly important as lapatinib has theoretical advantages over trastuzumab, but also disadvantages (e.g., the lack of immune-mediated cytotoxicity).

- 4. What is the exact value of the combination of trastuzumab with lapatinib vs. either drug alone in advanced breast cancer?
- 5. Is lapatinib a better first-line-therapy drug in HER2-positive breast cancers than trastuzumab?
- 6. Are the drug combinations with capecitabine or paclitaxel ideal or are there superior combination partners with lapatinib?

Many of these questions will be addressed in ongoing or future clinical trials the results of which are eagerly awaited, but may not be available for quite some time. Until then, the combination of lapatinib with capecitabine in HER2-positive, trastuzumab-resistant breast cancer is the only approved application of this novel agent and as such is a valuable and well-tolerable treatment perspective for patients with this dismal disease.

References

- Atalay G, Cardoso F, Awada A, Piccart MJ (2003) Novel therapeutic strategies targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) family and its downstream effectors in breast cancer. Ann Oncol 14:1346–1363
- Bence AK, Anderson EB, Halepota MA, Doukas MA, DeSimone PA, Davis GA, Smith DA, Koch KM, Stead AG, Mangum S, Bowen CJ, Spector NL, Hsieh S, Adams VR (2005) Phase I pharmacokinetic studies evaluating single and multiple doses of oral GW572016, a dual EGFR-ErbB2 inhibitor, in healthy subjects. Invest New Drugs 23:39–49
- Bilancia D, Rosati G, Dinota A, Germano D, Romano R, Manzione L (2007) Lapatinib in breast cancer. Ann Oncol 18(Suppl 6):26–30
- Blackwell KL, Burstein H, Pegram M, Storniolo AM, Salazar VM, Maleski JE, Lin X, Spector N, Stein SH, Berger MS (2005) Determining relevant biomarkers from tissue and serum that may predict response to single agent lapatinib in trastuzumab refractory metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 23:3004
- Blackwell KL, Kaplan EH, Franco SX, Marcom PK, Maleski JE, Sorensen MJ, Berger MS (2004)

A phase II, open-label, multicenter study of GW572016 in patients with trastuzumabrefractory metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 22:3006

- Burris HA 3rd (2004) Dual kinase inhibition in the treatment of breast cancer: initial experience with the EGFR/ErbB-2 inhibitor lapatinib. Oncologist 9(Suppl 3):10–15
- Burris HA 3rd, Hurwitz HI, Dees EC, Dowlati A, Blackwell KL, O'Neil B, Marcom PK, Ellis MJ, Overmoyer B, Jones SF, Harris JL, Smith DA, Koch KM, Stead A, Mangum S, Spector NL (2005) Phase I safety, pharmacokinetics, and clinical activity study of lapatinib (GW572016), a reversible dual inhibitor of epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases, in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic carcinomas. J Clin Oncol 23:5305–5313
- Burstein H, Storniolo AM, Franco S, Salazar VM, Sorensen MJ, Stein SH (2004) A phase II, openlabel, multicenter study of lapatinib in two cohorts of patients with advanced or metastatic breast cancer who have progressed while receiving trastuzumab-containing regimens. Annal Oncol 15:1040
- Cameron D, Casey M, Press M, Lindquist D, Pienkowski T, Romieu CG, Chan S, Jagiello-Gruszfeld A, Kaufman B, Crown J, Chan A, Campone M, Viens P, Davidson N, Gorbounova V, Raats JI, Skarlos D, Newstat B, Roychowdhury D, Paoletti P, Oliva C, Rubin S, Stein S, Geyer CE (2008) A phase III randomized comparison of lapatinib plus capecitabine versus capecitabine alone in women with advanced breast cancer that has progressed on trastuzumab: updated efficacy and biomarker analyses. Breast Cancer Res Treat 112:533–543
- Cappuzzo F, Toschi L, Finocchiaro G, Ligorio C, Santoro A (2007) Surrogate predictive biomarkers for response to anti-EGFR agents: state of the art and challenges. Int J Biol Markers 22: S10–S23
- Chu Q, Goldstein L, Murray N, Rowinsky E, Cianfrocca M, Gale M, Ho P, Paul E, Loftiss J, Pandite L (2005) A phase I, open-label study of the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of lapatinib (GW572016) in combination with letrozole in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 23:3001
- Citri A, Yarden Y (2006) EGF-ERBB signalling: towards the systems level. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7:505–516

- Danielsen AJ, Maihle NJ (2002) The EGF/ErbB receptor family and apoptosis. Growth Factors 20:1–15
- DeBono JS, Schwartz G, Monroe P (2003) Phase I and pharmacokinetics (PK) study of oral GW572016, a potent reversible dual inhibitor of both erbB1 and erbB2 tyrosine kinase (TK), administered in combination with cepecitabine. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 22:981a
- Dees EC, Burris H, Hurwitz H, Dowlati A, Smith D, Koch K, Stead A, Mangum S, Harris J, Spector N (2004) Clinical summary of 67 heavily pretreated patients with metastatic carcinomas treated with GW572016 in a phase Ib study. J Clin Oncol 22:3188
- DeSimone PA, Bence AK, Anderson EB, Halepota MA, Smith DA, Koch KM, Stead AG, Mangum SG, Spector NL, Davis GA, Doukas MA, Adams VR (2002) A phase I study to investigate the safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of single oral escalating doses of GW572016 in healthy volunteers. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 21:375
- Di Leo A, Gomez HL, Aziz Z, Zvirbule Z, Bines J, Arbushites MC, Guerrera SF, Koehler M, Oliva C, Stein SH, Williams LS, Dering J, Finn RS, Press MF (2008) Phase III, double-blind, randomized study comparing lapatinib plus paclitaxel with placebo plus paclitaxel as first-line treatment for metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 26:5544–5552
- Geyer CE, Forster J, Lindquist D, Chan S, Romieu CG, Pienkowski T, Jagiello-Gruszfeld A, Crown J, Chan A, Kaufman B, Skarlos D, Campone M, Davidson N, Berger M, Oliva C, Rubin SD, Stein S, Cameron D (2006a) Lapatinib plus capecitabine for HER2-positive advanced breast cancer. N Engl J Med 355:2733–2743
- Geyer CE, Forster JK, Cameron D (2006b) A phase III, randomized, open-label, international study comparing lapatinib and capecitabine vs capecitabine in women with refractory advanced or metastatic breast cancer (EGF100151). J Clin Oncol 24:3717–3718
- Gomez HL, Chavez MA, Doval DC, Chow LWC, Wood BA, Berger MS, Sledge GW (2005) A phase II, randomized trial using the small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor lapatinib as a firstline treatment in patients with FISH positive advanced or metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 23:3046

- Gomez HL, Doval DC, Chavez MA, Ang PC, Aziz Z, Nag S, Ng C, Franco SX, Chow LW, Arbushites MC, Casey MA, Berger MS, Stein SH, Sledge GW (2008) Efficacy and safety of lapatinib as first-line therapy for ErbB2-amplified locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 26:2999–3005
- Graus-Porta D, Beerli RR, Daly JM, Hynes NE (1997) ErbB-2, the preferred heterodimerization partner of all ErbB receptors, is a mediator of lateral signaling. EMBO J 16:1647–1655
- Gridelli C, Rossi A, Maione P, Ferrara C, Del Gaizo F, Guerriero C, Nicolella D, Palazzolo G, Falanga M, Colantuoni G (2008) New insights in drug development for the non-small cell lung cancer therapy. Front Biosci 13:5108–5119
- Gril B, Palmieri D, Bronder JL, Herring JM, Vega-Valle E, Feigenbaum L, Liewehr DJ, Steinberg SM, Merino MJ, Rubin SD, Steeg PS (2008) Effect of lapatinib on the outgrowth of metastatic breast cancer cells to the brain. J Natl Cancer Inst 100:1092–1103
- Ingle JN, Tu D, Pater JL, Martino S, Robert NJ, Muss HB, Piccart MJ, Castiglione M, Shepherd LE, Pritchard KI, Livingston RB, Davidson NE, Norton L, Perez EA, Abrams JS, Cameron DA, Palmer MJ, Goss PE (2006) Duration of letrozole treatment and outcomes in the placebo-controlled NCIC CTG MA.17 extended adjuvant therapy trial. Breast Cancer Res Treat 99:295–300
- Johnston S, Pegram M, Press M, Pippen J, Pivot X, Gomez H, Florance A, O'Rourke L, Maltzman J, (2008) Lapatinib combined with letrozole vs. letrozole alone for front line postmenopausal hormone receptor positive (HR+) metastatic breast cancer (MBC): first results from the EGF30008 Trial. San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium (abstract)
- Johnston SR (2005) Clinical trials of intracellular signal transductions inhibitors for breast cancer–a strategy to overcome endocrine resistance. Endocr Relat Cancer 12(Suppl 1): S145–S157
- Jones SF, Hainsworth JD, Spigel DR, Peacock NW, Willcutt NT, Pandite LN, Versola MJ, Koch KM, Greco F, Burris HA (2004) A phase I study of the dual kinase inhibitor GW572016 in combination with paclitaxel (EGF10009). J Clin Oncol 22:2083
- Kaufman B, Trudeau ME, Johnston S, Awada A, Blackwell KL, Bachelot T, Salazar V, Westlund

R, Desilvio M, Zaks T (2008) Clinical activity of lapatinib monotherapy in patients with HER2+ relapsed/refractory inflammatory breast cancer (IBC): Final results of the expanded HER2+ cohort in EGF103009. J Clin Oncol 26:636

- Kim JW, Kim HP, Im SA, Kang S, Hur HS, Yoon YK, Oh DY, Kim JH, Lee DS, Kim TY, Bang YJ (2008) The growth inhibitory effect of lapatinib, a dual inhibitor of EGFR and HER2 tyrosine kinase, in gastric cancer cell lines. Cancer Lett 272:296–306
- Klapper LN, Kirschbaum MH, Sela M, Yarden Y (2000) Biochemical and clinical implications of the ErbB/HER signaling network of growth factor receptors. Adv Cancer Res 77:25–79
- Konecny GE, Pegram MD, Venkatesan N, Finn R, Yang G, Rahmeh M, Untch M, Rusnak DW, Spehar G, Mullin RJ, Keith BR, Gilmer TM, Berger M, Podratz KC, Slamon DJ (2006) Activity of the dual kinase inhibitor lapatinib (GW572016) against HER-2-overexpressing and trastuzumab-treated breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 66:1630–1639
- Lakhai WS, Beijnen JH, Den Boer SS, Westermann AM, Versola M, Koch K, Ho P, Pandite L, Richel DJ, Schellens J (2004) Phase I trial to determine the safety and tolerability of GW572016 in combination with oxaliplatin (OX)/5-fluorouracil (5-FU)/leucovorin (LV) [FOLFOX4] in patients with solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 22:2044
- Lin NU, Carey LA, Liu MC, Younger J, Come SE, Ewend M, Harris GJ, Bullitt E, Van den Abbeele AD, Henson JW, Li X, Gelman R, Burstein HJ, Kasparian E, Kirsch DG, Crawford A, Hochberg F, Winer EP (2008) Phase II trial of lapatinib for brain metastases in patients with human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 26:1993–1999
- Lin NU, Dieras V, Paul D, Lossignol D, Christodoulou C, Laessig D, Roché H, Zembryki D, Oliva CR, Winer EP (2007) EGF105084, a phase II study of lapatinib for brain metastases in patients (pts) with HER2+ breast cancer following trastuzumab (H) based systemic therapy and cranial radiotherapy (RT). J Clin Oncol 25:1012
- Lin NU, Winer EP (2004) New targets for therapy in breast cancer: small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Breast Cancer Res 6:204–210
- Mackey JR, Kaufman B, Clemens M, Bapsy PP, Vaid A, Wardley A, Tjulandin S, Jahn M, Lehle M, Jones A (2006) Trastuzmab prolongs progression-

free survival in hormone-dependent and HER2positive metastatic breast cancer. San Antonio breast cancer conference 2006 (abstract 3)

- Medina PJ, Goodin S (2008) Lapatinib: a dual inhibitor of human epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases. Clin Ther 30:1426–1447
- Mendelsohn J, Baselga J (2003) Status of epidermal growth factor receptor antagonists in the biology and treatment of cancer. J Clin Oncol 21: 2787–2799
- Midgley R, Flaherty KT, Haller DG, Versola MJ, Smith DA, Koch KM, Pandite L, Kerr DJ, O'Dwyer PJ, Middelton MR (2005) Phase I study of GW572016 (lapatinib), a dual kinase inhibitor, in combination with irinotecan (IR), 5-fluorouracil (FU) and leucovorin (LV). J Clin Oncol 23:3086
- Milanezi F, Carvalho S, Schmitt FC (2008) EGFR/ HER2 in breast cancer: a biological approach for molecular diagnosis and therapy. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 8:417–434
- Minami H, Nakagawa K, Kawada K, Mukai H, Tahara M, Kurata T, Uejima H, Nogami T, Sasaki Y, Fukuoka M (2004) A phase I study of GW572016 in patients with solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 22:3048
- Montemurro F, Valabrega G, Aglietta M (2007) Lapatinib: a dual inhibitor of EGFR and HER2 tyrosine kinase activity. Expert Opin Biol Ther 7:257–268
- Moy B, Goss PE (2006) Lapatinib: current status and future directions in breast cancer. Oncologist 11:1047–1057
- Moy B, Goss PE (2007a) Lapatinib-associated toxicity and practical management recommendations. Oncologist 12:756–765
- Moy B, Goss PE (2007b) TEACH: Tykerb evaluation after chemotherapy. Clin Breast Cancer 7: 489–492
- Nahleh ZA (2008) Molecularly targeted therapy in breast cancer: the new generation. Recent Patents Anticancer Drug Discov 3:100–104
- Nahta R, Hortobagyi GN, Esteva FJ (2003) Growth factor receptors in breast cancer: potential for therapeutic intervention. Oncologist 8:5–17
- Nahta R, Yu D, Hung MC, Hortobagyi GN, Esteva FJ (2006) Mechanisms of disease: understanding resistance to HER2-targeted therapy in human breast cancer. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 3:269–280
- Nelson MH, Dolder CR (2006) Lapatinib: a novel dual tyrosine kinase inhibitor with activity in solid tumors. Ann Pharmacother 40:261–269

- O'Shaughnessy J, Blackwell KL, Burstein H, Storniolo AM, Sledge G, Baselga J, Koehler M, Laabs S, Florance A, Roychowdhury D (2008) A randomized study of lapatinib alone or in combination with trastuzumab in heavily pretreated HER2+ metastatic breast cancer progressing on trastuzumab therapy. J Clin Oncol 26:1015
- Okano J, Gaslightwala I, Birnbaum MJ, Rustgi AK, Nakagawa H (2000) Akt/protein kinase B isoforms are differentially regulated by epidermal growth factor stimulation. J Biol Chem 275: 30934–30942
- Olayioye MA, Neve RM, Lane HA, Hynes NE (2000) The ErbB signaling network: receptor heterodimerization in development and cancer. EMBO J 19:3159–3167
- Pandite L, Burris HA, Jones S, Wilding G, Taylor C, Versola MJ, Smith DA, Stead A, Koch KM, Spector NL (2004) A safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetic (PK) study of GW572016 in patients with solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 22: 3179
- Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P (2005) Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J Clin 55: 74–108
- Piccart-Gebhart MJ, Procter M, Leyland-Jones B, Goldhirsch A, Untch M, Smith I, Gianni L, Baselga J, Bell R, Jackisch C, Cameron D, Dowsett M, Barrios CH, Steger G, Huang CS, Andersson M, Inbar M, Lichinitser M, Lang I, Nitz U, Iwata H, Thomssen C, Lohrisch C, Suter TM, Ruschoff J, Suto T, Greatorex V, Ward C, Straehle C, McFadden E, Dolci MS, Gelber RD (2005) Trastuzumab after adjuvant chemotherapy in HER2-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med 353:1659–1672
- Prenzel N, Fischer OM, Streit S, Hart S, Ullrich A (2001) The epidermal growth factor receptor family as a central element for cellular signal transduction and diversification. Endocr Relat Cancer 8:11–31
- Rahman A, Pazdur R, Wang Y, Huang SM, Lesko L (2007) The value meal: effect of food on lapatinib bioavailability. J Clin Oncol 25: 5333–5334
- Rapidis AD, Vermorken JB, Bourhis J (2008) Targeted therapies in head and neck cancer: past, present and future. Rev Recent Clin Trials 3: 156–166
- Ratain MJ, Cohen EE (2007) The value meal: how to save \$1, 700 per month or more on lapatinib. J Clin Oncol 25:3397–3398

- Ravaud A, Hawkins R, Gardner JP, von der Maase H, Zantl N, Harper P, Rolland F, Audhuy B, Machiels JP, Petavy F, Gore M, Schoffski P, El-Hariry I (2008) Lapatinib versus hormone therapy in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma: a randomized phase III clinical trial. J Clin Oncol 26:2285–2291
- Reuter CW, Morgan MA, Eckardt A (2007) Targeting EGF-receptor-signalling in squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck. Br J Cancer 96:408–416
- Rivera F, Vega-Villegas ME, Lopez-Brea MF (2008) Cetuximab, its clinical use and future perspectives. Anticancer Drugs 19:99–113
- Rocha-Lima CM, Soares HP, Raez LE, Singal R (2007) EGFR targeting of solid tumors. Cancer Control 14:295–304
- Romond EH, Perez EA, Bryant J, Suman VJ, Geyer CE Jr, Davidson NE, Tan-Chiu E, Martino S, Paik S, Kaufman PA, Swain SM, Pisansky TM, Fehrenbacher L, Kutteh LA, Vogel VG, Visscher DW, Yothers G, Jenkins RB, Brown AM, Dakhil SR, Mamounas EP, Lingle WL, Klein PM, Ingle JN, Wolmark N (2005) Trastuzumab plus adjuvant chemotherapy for operable HER2-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med 353:1673–1684
- Rusnak DW, Affleck K, Cockerill SG, Stubberfield C, Harris R, Page M, Smith KJ, Guntrip SB, Carter MC, Shaw RJ, Jowett A, Stables J, Topley P, Wood ER, Brignola PS, Kadwell SH, Reep BR, Mullin RJ, Alligood KJ, Keith BR, Crosby RM, Murray DM, Knight WB, Gilmer TM, Lackey K (2001) The characterization of novel, dual ErbB-2/EGFR, tyrosine kinase inhibitors: potential therapy for cancer. Cancer Res 61: 7196–7203
- Safran H, Iannitti D, Miner T, Demel K, Yoo D, Joseph P, Maia-Acuna C, Lockridge L, Evans D, Teresa K (2006) GW572016, gemcitabine and GW572016, gemcitabine, oxaliplatin, a twostage, phase I study for advanced pancreaticobiliary cancer. J Clin Oncol 24:4002
- Singh BN, Malhotra BK (2004) Effects of food on the clinical pharmacokinetics of anticancer agents: underlying mechanisms and implications for oral chemotherapy. Clin Pharmacokinet 43: 1127–1156
- Sliwkowski MX (2003) Ready to partner. Nat Struct Biol 10:158–159
- Spector NL, Blackwell K, Hurley J, Harris JL, Lombardi D, Bacus S, Ahmed SB, Boussen H,

Frikha M, Ayed FB (2006) EGF103009, a phase II trial of lapatinib monotherapy in patients with relapsed/refractory inflammatory breast cancer (IBC): Clinical activity and biologic predictors of response. J Clin Oncol 24:502

- Spector NL, Xia W, Burris H 3rd, Hurwitz H, Dees EC, Dowlati A, O'Neil B, Overmoyer B, Marcom PK, Blackwell KL, Smith DA, Koch KM, Stead A, Mangum S, Ellis MJ, Liu L, Man AK, Bremer TM, Harris J, Bacus S (2005) Study of the biologic effects of lapatinib, a reversible inhibitor of ErbB1 and ErbB2 tyrosine kinases, on tumor growth and survival pathways in patients with advanced malignancies. J Clin Oncol 23: 2502–2512
- Stemmler J, Schmitt M, Willems A, Bernhard H, Harbeck N, Heinemann V (2006) Brain metastases in HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer: comparative analysis of trastuzumab levels in serum and cerebrospinal fluid. J Clin Oncol 24:1525
- Stern DF (2000) Tyrosine kinase signalling in breast cancer: ErbB family receptor tyrosine kinases. Breast Cancer Res 2:176–183
- Storniolo AM, Burris HA 3rd, Pegram M, Overmoyer B, Miller K, Jones S, Silverman P, Paul E, Loftiss J, Pandite L (2005) A phase I, open-label study of lapatinib (GW572016) plus trastuzumab; a clinically active regimen. J Clin Oncol 23:559
- Storniolo AM, Pegram MD, Overmoyer B, Silverman P, Peacock NW, Jones SF, Loftiss J, Arya N, Koch KM, Paul E, Pandite L, Fleming RA, Lebowitz PF, Ho PT, Burris HA 3rd (2008) Phase I dose escalation and pharmacokinetic study of lapatinib in combination with trastuzumab in patients with advanced ErbB2-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 26:3317–3323
- Toschi L, Cappuzzo F (2007) Understanding the new genetics of responsiveness to epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Oncologist 12:211–220
- Ulhoa-Cintra A, Greenberg L, Geyer CE (2008) The emerging role of lapatinib in HER2-positive breast cancer. Curr Oncol Rep 10:10–17
- Valabrega G, Montemurro F, Aglietta M (2007) Trastuzumab: mechanism of action, resistance and future perspectives in HER2-overexpressing breast cancer. Ann Oncol 18:977–984
- Versola M, Burris HA, Jones S, Wilding G, Taylor C, Pandite L, Smith DA, Stead A, Spector NL (2004) Clinical activity of GW572016 in EGF10003 in patients with solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 22:3047

- Von Minckwitz G, Zielinski C, Maarteense E, Vogel P, Schmidt M, Eidtmann H, Cufer T, de Jongh FE, Kaufmann M, Loibl S (2008) Capecitabine vs. capecitabine + trastuzumab in patients with HER2positive metastatic breast cancer progressing during trastuzumab treatment: the TBP phase III study (GBG 26/BIG 3–05). J Clin Oncol 26:1025
- Witton CJ, Reeves JR, Going JJ, Cooke TG, Bartlett JM (2003) Expression of the HER1–4 family of receptor tyrosine kinases in breast cancer. J Pathol 200:290–297
- Wood ER, Truesdale AT, McDonald OB, Yuan D, Hassell A, Dickerson SH, Ellis B, Pennisi C, Horne E, Lackey K, Alligood KJ, Rusnak DW, Gilmer TM, Shewchuk L (2004) A unique structure for epidermal growth factor receptor bound to GW572016 (Lapatinib): relationships among protein conformation, inhibitor off-rate, and receptor activity in tumor cells. Cancer Res 64:6652–6659
- Xia W, Gerard CM, Liu L, Baudson NM, Ory TL, Spector NL (2005) Combining lapatinib (GW572016), a small molecule inhibitor of ErbB1 and ErbB2 tyrosine kinases, with therapeutic anti-ErbB2 antibodies enhances apoptosis of ErbB2-overexpressing breast cancer cells. Oncogene 24:6213–6221
- Xia W, Liu LH, Ho P, Spector NL (2004) Truncated ErbB2 receptor (p95ErbB2) is regulated by heregulin through heterodimer formation with ErbB3 yet remains sensitive to the dual EGFR/ ErbB2 kinase inhibitor GW572016. Oncogene 23:646–653
- Xia W, Mullin RJ, Keith BR, Liu LH, Ma H, Rusnak DW, Owens G, Alligood KJ, Spector NL (2002) Anti-tumor activity of GW572016: a dual tyrosine kinase inhibitor blocks EGF activation of EGFR/erbB2 and downstream Erk1/2 and AKT pathways. Oncogene 21:6255–6263
- Yarden Y (2001) Biology of HER2 and its importance in breast cancer. Oncology 61(Suppl 2):1–13
- Yarden Y, Sliwkowski MX (2001) Untangling the ErbB signalling network. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2:127–137
- Zhou Y, Li S, Hu YP, Wang J, Hauser J, Conway AN, Vinci MA, Humphrey L, Zborowska E, Willson JK, Brattain MG (2006) Blockade of EGFR and ErbB2 by the novel dual EGFR and ErbB2 tyrosine kinase inhibitor GW572016 sensitizes human colon carcinoma GEO cells to apoptosis. Cancer Res 66:404–411
Sorafenib

Jens Hasskarl

Abstract Sorafenib (BAY 43–9006, Nexavar[®]) is a novel oral kinase inhibitor that targets multiple tyrosine kinases in vivo and in vitro. Main targets are receptor tyrosine kinase pathways frequently deregulated in cancer such as the rafras pathway, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) pathway, and FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3). Sorafenib was approved by the FDA in fast track for advanced renal cell cancer and hepatocellular cancer and shows good clinical activity in thyroid cancer. Multiple clinical trials are undertaken to further investigate the role of sorafenib alone or in combination for the treatment of various tumor entities.

5.1 Introduction

Cancer cells exhibit multiple changes in cell cycle control, apoptosis, proliferation, and invasion. In many cases, excessive growth factor signaling leads to increased prolifera-

J. Hasskarl

Freiburg University Medical Center,

Department of Hematology and Oncology, Hugstetterstraße 55, 79106, Freiburg, Germany e-mail: jens.hasskarl@uniklinik-freiburg.de tion of cells. Growth factor receptors (GFRs) function as cell surface receptors for circulating growth factors, cytokines, and hormones. A majority of these receptors possess unique tyrosine kinase domains, so-called receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs). They consist of an extracellular ligand-binding domain and an intracellular catalytic domain. Activating mutations within the RTK domains important for signal transduction result in constitutive activation of downstream signaling pathways found in many cancers (McInnes and Sykes 1997). These pathways include Raf kinase, PDGF (platelet-derived growth factor), vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) 2 and 3 kinases, and c-Kit, the receptor for stem cell factor. More than 15 different classes of RTK have been identified to date (Fig. 5.1). They function during normal growth and development but are also closely connected to tumorigenesis. Protein kinases are constitutively activated in many molecular pathways that contribute to malignant transformation and growth factor independent growth. Thus, GFRs and their RTKs have become attractive targets for tumor therapy.

There are three general approaches to target RTKs: (1) to target the ligand before it binds to the receptor, (2) to target the extracellular domain of the receptors, and (3) to



Fig. 5.1 Growth factor receptor and associated protein kinases targeted by sorafenib. *PDGFR* plateletderived growth factor receptor; *FLT3* FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3; *VEGFR* vascular endothelial growth factor receptor; *PLGF* placental growth fac-

tor; *RET* rearranged during transfection; *GDNF* glial-derived neurotrophic factor; *SCF* stem cell factor; *FGFR* fibroblast growth factor. Modified from (Hicklin and Ellis 2005; Sebolt-Leopold and Herrera 2004; Stirewalt and Radich 2003)



target the intracellular RTK domain. While (1) and (2) can be achieved by antibody technologies or decoys, small molecule inhibitors, so-called receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors (RTKIs), have been designed to target the intracellular RTK domains. The first RTKI approved for the treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) was imatinib (STI-571, Glivec[®]) (Savage and Antman 2002). Sorafenib (BAY 43-9006, Nexavar[®]) is a small molecular inhibitor of multiple protein kinases. Sorafenib was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) on December 20, 2005, for the treatment of advanced renal cell cancer (RCC) and shortly after receiving marketing authorization in the EU. (Wilhelm et al. 2006).

5.2 Structure and Mechanism of Action

Sorafenib (Fig. 5.2) is an inhibitor of multiple RTK, including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor 2, FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) receptor, and fibroblast growth factor receptor-1 (FGFR1). It was originally designed as inhibitor of the Raf kinases A-Raf, B-Raf, and C-Raf (Raf1) by chemical optimization (Wilhelm et al. 2006) and codeveloped by Bayer Pharmaceuticals and Onyx Pharmaceutical.

Raf kinases are the initial kinases in the Ras/ Raf/MEK pathway/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (Friday and Adjei 2008) and are frequently deregulated in human cancers resulting in altered cellular growth and survival. Apart from Raf1 kinase, sorafenib effectively inhibits wild-type and oncogenic B-raf, VEGFR 1–3, PDGFR, FGFR1, c-kit, Flt-3, and RET (Carlomagno et al. 2006; Wilhelm et al. 2004) (Fig. 5.3). In contrast, sorafenib did not inhibit MEK1, ERK1, epithelial growth factor receptor 1 (EGFR1/HER1/ErbB-1), HER2/ neu (ErbB-2), or insulin-like growth factor receptor 1 (IGFR1) (Wilhelm et al. 2004; 2006) in tissue culture experiments. These results could be confirmed in a series of murine xenograft tumor models, including ras-mutant tumors where sorafenib showed broad-spectrum antitumor activity in colon, breast, and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), melanoma, thyroid cancer, hepatocellular cancer (HCC), and RCC and Flt-3 mutant leukemia (Auclair et al. 2007; Carter et al. 2007; Chang et al. 2007; Kim et al. 2007; Liu et al. 2006; Sharma et al. 2005; Smalley et al. 2009) (Table 5.1).



Fig. 5.3 Intracellular targets of sorafenib. Sorafenib blocks signal transduction and (auto)phosphorylation of receptor tyrosine kinases and inhibits raf activity. Inhibition of raf results in decreased tumor angiogenesis and proliferation, reduced invasiveness, and facilitates apoptosis. *ERK* extracellular signal-regulated kinase; *SOS1* son of sevenless

homolog; *GRB2* growth factor receptor-bound protein 2; *SHC* Src homology 2 domain containing; *MEK* MAPK/ERK kinase; *MAPK/ERK* mitogenactivated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinases. Modified from (Wilhelm et al. 2006). Structure of sorafenib modified from DrugBank (Wishart et al. 2008)

Table 5.1 Xenograft tumor models

Tumor type	Reference
Colon cancer	Wilhelm et al. (2004)
Breast cancer	Wilhelm et al. (2004)
Non-small cell	Carter et al. (2007);
lung cancer	Wilhelm et al. (2004)
Renal cell cancer	Chang et al. (2007)
Thyroid cancer	Carlomagno et al. (2006);
	Kim et al. (2007);
	Salvatore et al. (2006)
Melanoma	Karasarides et al. (2004);
	Smalley et al. (2009)
Hepatocellular	Liu et al. (2006);
carcinoma	Wang et al. (2008)
Leukemia	Auclair et al. (2007);
	Zhang et al. (2008)

5.3 Clinical Data

5.3.1 Phase I

Starting from these interesting preclinical data, several phase I studies in patients with solid tumors alone or in combination with standard cytotoxic chemotherapy were launched (Awada et al. 2005; Hotte and Hirte 2002; Lyons et al. 2001; Richly et al. 2003, 2004; Strumberg et al. 2002). These trials proved the safety and efficacy of sorafenib in the treatment of solid tumors (Clark et al. 2005; Kupsch et al. 2005; Moore et al. 2005; Strumberg et al. 2005). Most frequent adverse events observed were hypertension, rash, diarrhea, hand-foot syndrome, and fatigue, whereas hematologic side effects were mild. Side effects improved promptly after sorafenib was stopped. From these trials, the standard dose of sorafenib was determined as 400 mg twice daily. Although resorption is influenced by concomitant food intake, bioavailability is not altered. Plasma half-life is

approximately 36 h. Maximum plasma levels are reached 3 h after ingestion, and steady-state levels are reached after 1 week. 99.5% of sorafenib is protein-bound. It is hardly metabolized and excreted in feces (ca. 80%) and urine (ca. 20%). Metabolism of sorafenib is independent of age and gender. Plasma levels in patients with reduced liver function (Child-Pugh A and B) or reduced kidney function (creatinine clearance > 30 mL/min) do not differ from healthy subjects. There are no data about sorafenib in patients with severe liver disease (Child-Pugh C) or severely reduced kidney function (creatinine clearance < 30 mL/min) or patients on hemodialysis. Up to October 2008, 247 trials using sorafenib for the treatment of solid tumors and hematologic malignancies have been regis-(Table 5.2) (http://www.cancer.gov/ tered CLINICALTRIALS, http://www.cinicaltrials. gov). A majority of these are phase I and II trials. The greater part of phase II and III trials are in RCC, NSCLC, HCC, malignant melanoma, breast and ovarian cancer, prostate cancer, and head and neck cancer (HNC).

5.3.2 Sorafenib in the Treatment of Renal Cell Cancer (RCC)

Primary treatment of RCC is surgical. Once metastasized or inaberable, RCC had been regarded as chemoresistant. The introduction of TKIs improved the prognosis tremendously. RCC is characterized by dense vascularization, most likely due to upregulation of VEGF and VEGFR activity, resistance to conventional cytotoxic chemotherapy, and upregulation of Raf1 and EGFR (Oka et al. 1995). Thus, a drug targeting the VEGF pathway and the ras pathway such as sorafenib seemed perfect for the treatment of RCC. In phase I trials, some patients with RCC showed significant and sustained disease stabilization (Clark et al. 2005; Strumberg et al. 2002). Based on

Phase I/II Phase II Indication Phase I Phase III Phase IV Other RCC 3 8 23 8 11 4 NSCLC 1 15 3 1 2 SCLC 1 Advanced cancer, lymphoma 22 1 1 1 3 11 5 HCC 2 12 3 Melanoma 1 Breast cancer 3 11 1 1 Prostate cancer 2 1 8 Brain tumors 2 3 4 Head and neck cancer 1 4 7 Ovarian cancer 1 Pancreatic cancer 1 1 4 1 Sarcoma 4 1 1 Bladder cancer 1 4 2 Gastric cancer 1 1 1 3 Lymphoma 2 AML/MDS 1 Multiple myeloma 2 1 2 Biliary tract cancer CML 2 Colorectal cancer 1 1 GIST 2 MDS 2 Neuroendocrine tumors 2 Thyroid cancer 2 AML 1 Cervical cancer 1 Childhood malignancies 1 Esophageal cancer 1 Leukemia 1 Mesothelioma 1 SCLC 1 Testicular cancer 1

Table 5.2 Registered clinical trials with sorafenib

these observations, sorafenib was tested as monotherapy for RCC in a phase II randomized discontinuation trial (Ratain et al. 2006). Of 202 patients, 36% had an objective tumor response and 32% showed disease stabilization. Median progression-free survival was increased from 6 to 24 weeks (p=0.0087). These results were substantiated by the TARGET (Treatment Approaches in Renal Cancer Global Evaluation Trial) phase III trial (Escudier et al. 2007). Here, 903 patients with renal-cell carcinoma after treatment failure (mostly cytokine) were randomized to receive sorafenib (400 mg b.i.d.) or placebo. Primary study endpoint was overall survival. Because a planned interim analysis showed significant progression-free survival in the sorafenib arm (5.5 months vs. 2.8 months, p < 0.01), crossover was allowed. Patients receiving sorafenib experienced a 39% improvement in overall survival compared with placebo (p < 0.018; hazard ratio 0.72), which did not reach significance (Escudier et al. 2007), and 10% had an objective tumor response. These results led to the approval of sorafenib for treatment of RCC. Currently sorafenib is tested in multiple trials in various combinations and indications for treatment of RCC (Table 5.2).

5.3.3 Sorafenib in the Treatment of Lung Cancer

In addition to 20 phase I and II trials, there are currently 3 phase III trials investigating the efficacy of sorafenib in combination with standard chemotherapy for advanced NSCLC (Table 5.2). In a phase II trial in 52 patients with advanced NSCLC treated with 400 mg sorafenib per day, no objective response was noted. Nevertheless, 59% patients achieved stable disease (Gatzemeier et al. 2006). Sorafenib is evaluated in phase III trials in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin, and gemcitabine and cisplatin (www.clinicaltrials.gov, (Gutierrez and Giaccone 2008)). The first has been recently closed because of missing activity and a higher risk in patients with squamous cell carcinoma (Scagliotti et al. 2008); the latter is still accruing.

5.3.4 Sorafenib in the Treatment of Hepatocellular Cancer (HCC)

Like in RCC, preclinical and early clinical studies had suggested activity in RCC. In a phase II study in patients with chemo-naive advanced HCC were treated with 400 mg sorafenib b.i.d. Of 137 patients treated, 2.2%

patients achieved an objective response, 39.4% had stable disease for at least 16 weeks. Median time to progression was 4.2 months. and median overall survival was 9.2 months. Side effects were generally tolerable and comparable with other trials (Abou-Alfa et al. 2006). This led to a multicenter randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial testing efficacy of 400 mg sorafenib b.i.d. in patients with advanced chemo-naive HCC (Llovet et al. 2008). Only patients with Child-Pugh Class A cirrhosis were included. The primary endpoint was overall survival, which showed an improvement from 7.9 to 10.7 months in patients receiving sorafenib compared with placebo (hazard ratio, 0.69; 95% CI, 0.55–0.87; p=0.0001). Likewise, time to radiologic progression increased from 2.8 to 5.5 months (p < 0.001) (Llovet et al. 2008). Because of this trial, Sorafenib was approved by the FDA for the treatment of advanced HCC.

5.3.5

Sorafenib in the Treatment of Breast Cancer

In breast cancer, there are 16 phase I and phase II trials with sorafenib alone, in combination with antihormonal therapy or in combination with standard cytotoxic chemotherapy (Table 5.2). No results are available yet.

5.3.6 Sorafenib in the Treatment of Malignant Melanoma

B-raf is a target of sorafenib and has been identified as therapeutic target in melanoma (Karasarides et al. 2004). Unfortunately, sorafenib as single agent failed to show clinical efficacy in a phase II trial (Eisen et al. 2006). Nevertheless, when tested in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel or dacarbacin objective responses were noted (Flaherty et al. 2008; McDermott et al. 2008). Currently 18 trials are investigating sorafenib in combination with chemotherapy in phase I and II trials (Table 5.2).

5.3.7 Sorafenib in the Treatment of Prostate Cancer

To date results from 4 phase II studies of sorafenib in hormone-independent prostate cancer have been published (Chi et al. 2008; Dahut et al. 2008; Safarinejad 2008; Steinbild et al. 2007). In summary, these studies failed to show convincing activity of sorafenib in prostate cancer. More phase I and II trials are investigating sorafenib alone or in combination with chemotherapy, but so far no results have become available yet.

5.3.8 Sorafenib in the Treatment of Head and Neck Cancer

Like in prostate cancer, single agent sorafenib reached only modest results in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (Elser et al. 2007). Thus, five trials are investigating sorafenib in combination with chemotherapy in this tumor entity.

5.3.9 Sorafenib in the Treatment of Ovarian Cancer

Dual inhibition of the VEGF pathway with sorafenib (200 mg b.i.d.) and bevacizumab (5 or 10 mg/m²) showed promising tumor response in a phase I dose-escalation trial (Azad et al. 2008). Objective responses were seen in 6 (43%) of 13 patients with ovarian cancer. Unfortunately 74% required sorafenib dose reduction, indicating that the combination of sorafenib with bevacizumab might be too toxic for routine use. Other trials are addressing the question of the optimal combination partner for sorafenib in ovarian cancer (Table 5.2).

5.3.10 Sorafenib in the Treatment of Brain Tumors

Two case reports described good response of cerebral metastases of RCC (Ranze et al. 2007; Valcamonico et al. 2009), demonstrating efficacy of sorafenib in the brain. Accordingly, 10 phase I and II trials are investigating the efficacy of sorafenib alone or in combination for brain metastases and primary brain tumors (glioblastoma, gliosarcoma). No results have been presented yet.

5.3.11 Sorafenib in the Treatment of Thyroid Cancer

One open-label phase II trial of sorafenib in 30 patients with advanced thyroid carcinoma recorded 23% objective response lasting for 18–84 weeks and disease control in 53% of patients. Seventeen of 19 patients showed a rapid decrease in thyroglobulin levels. The median PFS was 79 weeks. Compared with standard chemotherapy patients with metastatic, iodine-refractory thyroid carcinoma seem to benefit tremendously from sorafenib (Gupta-Abramson et al. 2008). Four other phase II trials are currently recruiting.

5.3.12

Sorafenib in the Treatment of Hematologic Diseases

Mutations of the Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3) gene have been identified in approximately one third of acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) patients. FLT3-mutations are associated with a poor prognosis in these patients. In this setting, sorafenib might be a new compound to improve therapeutic options of FLT3 mutant AML. In a mouse model, sorafenib reduced the tumor burden of FLT3 mutated blasts, and a phase I study showed clinical activity of sorafenib in FLT3 mutant patients (Zhang et al. 2008). A total of 13 phase I and II trials are using sorafenib in combination with other agents for treatment of leukemia and lymphomas (Table 5.2).

5.4 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Identification of tumor-specific pathways led to the development of sorafenib as a rationally designed pathway-specific drug. Positive trials in RCC and HCC led to the rapid approval of sorafenib for the treatment of RCC and HCC by the FDA. Because sorafenib targets not only angiogenesis (VEGF pathway) but also tumorigenesis (raf, Flt-3, RET), it might have a much broader activity than currently known. Multiple clinical trials in various tumor entities are on their way and will hopefully show clinical benefit of sorafenib alone or in combination with standard chemotherapy or other targeted agents.

References

- Abou-Alfa GK, Schwartz L, Ricci S, Amadori D, Santoro A, Figer A et al (2006) Phase II study of sorafenib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 24:4293–4300
- Auclair D, Miller D, Yatsula V, Pickett W, Carter C, Chang Y et al (2007) Antitumor activity of sorafenib in FLT3-driven leukemic cells. Leukemia 21:439–445
- Awada A, Hendlisz A, Gil T, Bartholomeus S, Mano M, de Valeriola D et al (2005) Phase I safety and pharmacokinetics of BAY 43–9006 administered for 21 days on/7 days off in patients with advanced, refractory solid tumours. Br J Cancer 92:1855–1861
- Azad NS, Posadas EM, Kwitkowski VE, Steinberg SM, Jain L, Annunziata CM et al (2008) Combination targeted therapy with sorafenib and bevacizumab results in enhanced toxicity and antitumor activity. J Clin Oncol 26:3709–3714

- Carlomagno F, Anaganti S, Guida T, Salvatore G, Troncone G, Wilhelm SM et al (2006) BAY 43–9006 inhibition of oncogenic RET mutants. J Natl Cancer Inst 98:326–334
- Carter CA, Chen C, Brink C, Vincent P, Maxuitenko YY, Gilbert KS et al (2007) Sorafenib is efficacious and tolerated in combination with cytotoxic or cytostatic agents in preclinical models of human non-small cell lung carcinoma. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 59:183–195
- Chang YS, Adnane J, Trail PA, Levy J, Henderson A, Xue D et al (2007) Sorafenib (BAY 43–9006) inhibits tumor growth and vascularization and induces tumor apoptosis and hypoxia in RCC xenograft models. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 59:561–574
- Chi KN, Ellard SL, Hotte SJ, Czaykowski P, Moore M, Ruether JD et al (2008) A phase II study of sorafenib in patients with chemo-naive castration-resistant prostate cancer. Ann Oncol 19:746–751
- Clark JW, Eder JP, Ryan D, Lathia C, Lenz HJ (2005) Safety and pharmacokinetics of the dual action Raf kinase and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor inhibitor, BAY 43–9006, in patients with advanced, refractory solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res 11:5472–5480
- Dahut WL, Scripture C, Posadas E, Jain L, Gulley JL, Arlen PM et al (2008) A phase II clinical trial of sorafenib in androgen-independent prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res 14:209–214
- Eisen T, Ahmad T, Flaherty KT, Gore M, Kaye S, Marais R et al (2006) Sorafenib in advanced melanoma: a Phase II randomised discontinuation trial analysis. Br J Cancer 95:581–586
- Elser C, Siu LL, Winquist E, Agulnik M, Pond GR, Chin SF et al (2007) Phase II trial of sorafenib in patients with recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck or nasopharyngeal carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 25:3766–3773
- Escudier B, Eisen T, Stadler WM, Szczylik C, Oudard S, Siebels M et al (2007) Sorafenib in advanced clear-cell renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 356:125–134
- Flaherty KT, Schiller J, Schuchter LM, Liu G, Tuveson DA, Redlinger M et al (2008) A phase I trial of the oral, multikinase inhibitor sorafenib in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel. Clin Cancer Res 14:4836–4842
- Friday BB, Adjei AA (2008) Advances in targeting the Ras/Raf/MEK/Erk mitogen-activated protein

kinase cascade with MEK inhibitors for cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res 14:342–346

- Gatzemeier U, Blumenschein G, Fosella F, Simantov R, Elting J, Bigwood D et al (2006) Phase II trial of single-agent sorafenib in patients with advanced non-small cell lung carcinoma. J Clin Oncol (Meeting Abstracts) 24:7002
- Gupta-Abramson V, Troxel AB, Nellore A, Puttaswamy K, Redlinger M, Ransone K et al (2008) Phase II trial of sorafenib in advanced thyroid cancer. J Clin Oncol 26:4714–4719
- Gutierrez M, Giaccone G (2008) Antiangiogenic therapy in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Curr Opin Oncol 20:176–182
- Hicklin DJ, Ellis LM (2005) Role of the vascular endothelial growth factor pathway in tumor growth and angiogenesis. J Clin Oncol 23: 1011–1027
- Hotte SJ, Hirte HW (2002) BAY 43–9006: early clinical data in patients with advanced solid malignancies. Curr Pharm Des 8:2249–2253
- Karasarides M, Chiloeches A, Hayward R, Niculescu-Duvaz D, Scanlon I, Friedlos F et al (2004) B-RAF is a therapeutic target in melanoma. Oncogene 23:6292–6298
- Kim S, Yazici YD, Calzada G, Wang ZY, Younes MN, Jasser SA et al (2007) Sorafenib inhibits the angiogenesis and growth of orthotopic anaplastic thyroid carcinoma xenografts in nude mice. Mol Cancer Ther 6:1785–1792
- Kupsch P, Henning BF, Passarge K, Richly H, Wiesemann K, Hilger RA et al (2005) Results of a phase I trial of sorafenib (BAY 43–9006) in combination with oxaliplatin in patients with refractory solid tumors, including colorectal cancer. Clin Colorectal Cancer 5:188–196
- Liu L, Cao Y, Chen C, Zhang X, McNabola A, Wilkie D et al (2006) Sorafenib blocks the RAF/ MEK/ERK pathway, inhibits tumor angiogenesis, and induces tumor cell apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma model PLC/PRF/5. Cancer Res 66:11851–11858
- Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V, Hilgard P, Gane E, Blanc JF et al (2008) Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med 359: 378–390
- Lyons JF, Wilhelm S, Hibner B, Bollag G (2001) Discovery of a novel Rafkinase inhibitor. Endocr Relat Cancer 8:219–225
- McDermott DF, Sosman JA, Gonzalez R, Hodi FS, Linette GP, Richards J et al (2008) Double-blind

randomized phase II study of the combination of sorafenib and dacarbazine in patients with advanced melanoma: a report from the 11715 Study Group. J Clin Oncol 26:2178–2185

- McInnes C, Sykes BD (1997) Growth factor receptors: structure, mechanism, and drug discovery. Biopolymers 43:339–366
- Moore M, Hirte HW, Siu L, Oza A, Hotte SJ, Petrenciuc O et al (2005) Phase I study to determine the safety and pharmacokinetics of the novel Raf kinase and VEGFR inhibitor BAY 43–9006, administered for 28 days on/7 days off in patients with advanced, refractory solid tumors. Ann Oncol 16:1688–1694
- Oka H, Chatani Y, Hoshino R, Ogawa O, Kakehi Y, Terachi T et al (1995) Constitutive activation of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases in human renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Res 55: 4182–4187
- Ranze O, Hofmann E, Distelrath A, Hoeffkes HG (2007) Renal cell cancer presented with leptomeningeal carcinomatosis effectively treated with sorafenib. Onkologie 30:450–451
- Ratain MJ, Eisen T, Stadler WM, Flaherty KT, Kaye SB, Rosner GL et al (2006) Phase II placebocontrolled randomized discontinuation trial of sorafenib in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 24:2505–2512
- Richly H, Kupsch P, Passage K, Grubert M, Hilger RA, Kredtke S et al (2003) A phase I clinical and pharmacokinetic study of the Raf kinase inhibitor (RKI) BAY 43–9006 administered in combination with doxorubicin in patients with solid tumors. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 41:620–621
- Richly H, Kupsch P, Passage K, Grubert M, Hilger RA, Voigtmann R et al (2004) Results of a phase I trial of BAY 43–9006 in combination with doxorubicin in patients with primary hepatic cancer. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 42:650–651
- Safarinejad MR (2008) Safety and efficacy of sorafenib in patients with castrate resistant prostate cancer: a Phase II study. Urol Oncol Article in Press
- Salvatore G, De Falco V, Salerno P, Nappi TC, Pepe S, Troncone G et al (2006) BRAF is a therapeutic target in aggressive thyroid carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 12:1623–1629
- Savage DG, Antman KH (2002) Imatinib mesylate– a new oral targeted therapy. N Engl J Med 346:683–693
- Scagliotti GV, von Pawel J, Reck M, Cupit L, Cihon F, DiMatteo S et al (2008) Sorafenib plus

carboplatin/paclitaxel in chemonaive patients with stage IIIb-IV non–small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): interim analysis (IA) results from the phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, escape (evaluation of sorafenib, carboplatin, and paclitaxel efficacy in NSCLC) trial. J Thorac Oncol 3:1–106

- Sebolt-Leopold JS, Herrera R (2004) Targeting the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade to treat cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 4:937–947
- Sharma A, Trivedi NR, Zimmerman MA, Tuveson DA, Smith CD, Robertson GP (2005) Mutant V599EB-Raf regulates growth and vascular development of malignant melanoma tumors. Cancer Res 65:2412–2421
- Smalley KS, Xiao M, Villanueva J, Nguyen TK, Flaherty KT, Letrero R et al (2009) CRAF inhibition induces apoptosis in melanoma cells with non-V600E BRAF mutations. Oncogene 28:85–94
- Steinbild S, Mross K, Frost A, Morant R, Gillessen S, Dittrich C et al (2007) A clinical phase II study with sorafenib in patients with progressive hormone-refractory prostate cancer: a study of the CESAR Central European Society for Anticancer Drug Research-EWIV. Br J Cancer 97:1480–1485
- Stirewalt DL, Radich JP (2003) The role of FLT3 in haematopoietic malignancies. Nat Rev Cancer 3:650–665
- Strumberg D, Richly H, Hilger RA, Schleucher N, Korfee S, Tewes M et al (2005) Phase I clinical and pharmacokinetic study of the Novel Raf kinase and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor inhibitor BAY 43–9006 in patients with advanced refractory solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 23:965–972

- Strumberg D, Voliotis D, Moeller JG, Hilger RA, Richly H, Kredtke S et al (2002) Results of phase I pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies of the Raf kinase inhibitor BAY 43–9006 in patients with solid tumors. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 40:580–581
- Valcamonico F, Ferrari V, Amoroso V, Rangoni G, Simoncini E, Marpicati P et al (2009) Longlasting successful cerebral response with sorafenib in advanced renal cell carcinoma. J Neurooncol 91:47–50
- Wang Z, Zhou J, Fan J, Qiu SJ, Yu Y, Huang XW et al (2008) Effect of rapamycin alone and in combination with sorafenib in an orthotopic model of human hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 14:5124–5130
- Wilhelm S, Carter C, Lynch M, Lowinger T, Dumas J, Smith RA et al (2006) Discovery and development of sorafenib: a multikinase inhibitor for treating cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5:835–844
- Wilhelm SM, Carter C, Tang L, Wilkie D, McNabola A, Rong H et al (2004) BAY 43–9006 exhibits broad spectrum oral antitumor activity and targets the RAF/MEK/ERK pathway and receptor tyrosine kinases involved in tumor progression and angiogenesis. Cancer Res 64:7099–7109
- Wishart DS, Knox C, Guo AC, Cheng D, Shrivastava S, Tzur D et al (2008) DrugBank: a knowledgebase for drugs, drug actions and drug targets. Nucleic Acids Res 36:D901–D906
- Zhang W, Konopleva M, Shi YX, McQueen T, Harris D, Ling X et al (2008) Mutant FLT3: a direct target of sorafenib in acute myelogenous leukemia. J Natl Cancer Inst 100:184–198

Abstract Sunitinib is an oral multikinase inhibitor that blocks the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR), platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) alpha and beta, c-kit, and other receptors. These attributes have proven to be efficacious in the treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma (RCC) and unresectable gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST). Most side effects, including hypertension, hand-foot syndrome, and diarrhea are generally well manageable. Clinical trials are underway to determine the efficacy of sunitinib in other tumor types including metastatic breast, colorectal, and lung cancers. This chapter will detail the preclinical data leading to the results of the pivotal phase III clinical trials that have led to the widespread use of sunitinib in metastatic RCC and advanced GIST.

C. Kollmannsberger (🖂)

BC Cancer Agency, 600 West 10th Avenue, Vancouver, British Columbia, V5Z 4E6, Canada e-mail: ckollmannsberger@bccancer.bc.ca

6.1 Introduction

Drugs that target the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and c-kit pathways have revolutionized the treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma (RCC) and gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST). Sunitinib is an oral tyrosine kinase inhibitor that blocks the VEGF receptor (VEGFR), PDGF receptor (PDGFR) alpha and beta, and c-kit, amongst other targets (Christensen 2007). By interfering with these pathways, sunitinib is able to inhibit the downstream cellular signaling cascades that otherwise would have driven angiogenesis and cellular proliferation. This chapter will detail the development of sunitinib leading to the results of pivotal phase III clinical trials that have made it a standard of care in the treatment of metastatic RCC and advanced GIST.

6.2 Sunitinib

Sunitinib is an oral multikinase inhibitor that blocks VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 (IC_{50} 4 nM), VEGFR-3, PDGFR alpha (IC_{50} 69 nM) and beta (IC_{50} 39 nM), c-kit (IC_{50} 1–10 nM), FLT-3 (IC_{50}



Fig. 6.1 Molecular structure of sunitinib malate

250 nM), RET (IC₅₀ 50 nM), fibroblast growth factor receptor-1 (FGFR-1) (IC₅₀ 880 nM), and colony stimulating factor 1 (CSF-1) (IC₅₀ 50–100 nM) (Christensen 2007; Mendel et al. 2003; Chow and Eckhardt 2007). Note that IC₅₀ values must be interpreted with caution, as there is a great variation among the laboratories using different cell lines, and in vitro activity may not reflect the same magnitude as in vivo activity. The molecular formula of sunitinib is $C_{22}H_{27}FN_4O_{2}$, and its structure is represented in Fig. 6.1 (Sun et al. 2003).

Sunitinib attaches to the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) binding pocket of these receptor tyrosine kinases. By acting as a competitive inhibitor of ATP, sunitinib prevents its activation and downstream cellular signaling (Christensen 2007). Receptor tyrosine kinases play an integral role in the signaling cascade of VEGF and PDGF. Each receptor has an extracellular domain that binds its respective ligand. The transmembrane region spans the membrane into the cytoplasm, and the intracellular domain holds the tyrosine kinase responsible for downstream signal activation. Upon ligand binding, the receptor tyrosine kinases dimerize or multimerize to induce a conformational change that allows ATP binding, resulting in autophosphorylation and transphosphorylation. These phosphorylated tyrosine domains are then able to activate downstream signal transduction by phosphorylation of various other proteins.

Mouse xenograft studies have demonstrated that sunitinib can cause tumor regression, growth arrest, and reduced tumor growth in a dosedependent manner. Videomicroscopy has shown evidence of tumor vessel density reduction when compared with controls (Laird et al. 2000). These studies suggest that sunitinib has antiangiogenic properties that may explain, at least in part, its antitumor activity.

Phase I dose-finding studies were performed in healthy individuals and those with solid malignancies. A single dose of 50 mg of sunitinib given to healthy individuals was shown to be well tolerated and safe. The time to maximal concentration was 8 h, and the estimated half-life was 60 h (Houk et al. 2005).

Phase I repeat-dosing studies (Houk et al. 2005; Faivre et al. 2006) have been performed investigating the daily or every 2-day schedule of sunitinib administered in 3-week cycles (2 weeks on, 1 week off), 4-week cycles (2 weeks on, 2 weeks off), and 6-week cycles (4 weeks on, 2 weeks off). Daily dosing of 50 mg of sunitinib produced target plasma concentrations above the 50 ng/mL required to inhibit PDGFR and VEGFR. Plasma concentrations declined to predose levels during the 14-day rest period. Dose-limiting toxicities of fatigue, asthenia, and thrombocytopenia were observed, and thus, the final dose of 50 mg, 4 weeks on, and 2 weeks off was adopted as the standard for future clinical trials.

6.3 Renal Cell Carcinoma

6.3.1 Targets for Renal Cell Carcinoma

Metastatic RCC portends a poor prognosis and is estimated to have caused 13,010 deaths in the United States in 2008 (Jemal et al. 2008). Previously, immunotherapy agents, such as interleukin-2 and interferon (IFN) alpha, were the only treatments available that demonstrated low response rates of approximately 15% (McDermott et al. 2005; Yang et al. 2003; Negrier et al. 1998, 2007; Coppin et al. 2005, 2008). Based on the increasing knowledge of the biology underlying RCC, agents targeting relevant biologic pathways have been investigated (Cohen and McGovern 2005). This initially developed from the understanding of patients with von Hippel Lindau (VHL) syndrome, which is an inherited, autosomal dominant genetic disorder that commonly manifests by the development of clear cell RCC in most of the affected patients.

Clear cell RCCs, which account for 85% of all RCCs, commonly demonstrate aberrations of the VHL gene (Kovacs et al. 1997; Rini and Small 2005) in both hereditary and nonhereditary forms. A single VHL allele deletion occurs in approximately 78.4–98% of sporadic tumors (Banks et al. 2006; Gnarra et al. 1994; Shuin et al. 1994; Kondo et al. 2002; Brauch et al. 2000; Kenck et al. 1996). For the remaining allele, VHL gene mutations are seen in 34–57%, while gene inactivation via hypermethylation of CpG-rich DNA islands occurs in about 5–20.4% of clear cell RCC (Banks et al. 2006; Kondo et al. 2002; Brauch et al. 2000; Clifford et al. 1998; Foster et al. 1994). Thus, it is clear that in both hereditary and sporadic cases of clear cell RCC, VHL abnormalities are a key factor in pathogenesis.

When the VHL gene is mutated or inactivated, the VHL gene product can no longer regulate the degradation of the hypoxia inducible factor (HIF) alpha, which is a transcription factor (Fig. 6.2). Normally, low oxygen conditions cause HIF alpha



Fig. 6.2 Normal function of von Hippel Lindau (VHL) in the normoxic state when compared with the aberrant VHL state. Under normal conditions, VHL binds to HIF α and polyubiquinates it to mark it for destruction in the cellular proteosome. When

VHL function is lost, HIF α binds to HIF β and then translocates into the nucleus to activate HIF responsive elements (HRE). This results in transcriptional activation of genes important in angiogenesis and endothelial stabilization to accumulate and bind to HIF beta, thereby creating a complex that transcriptionally activates genes related to glucose metabolism, apoptosis, angiogenesis, and endothelial stabilization. In patients with aberrant VHL, HIF alpha is not destroyed and thus, is left to freely accumulate without degradation even under normal oxygen conditions. There are over 100 HIF-responsive genes, including growth factors and their receptors, such as VEGF and PDGF (Cohen and McGovern 2005; Rini and Small 2005). These pathways are targeted by sunitinib and have been studied in phase II/III studies to determine the drug's efficacy.

6.3.2 Phase II/III Studies in Metastatic RCC

Two multicenter phase II trials treated cytokinerefractory metastatic clear cell RCC patients with sunitinib (Motzer et al. 2006a, b). They demonstrated that 34–40% of the patients receiving oral sunitinib at 50 mg daily for 4 weeks out of a 6-week cycle achieved a partial response, while 27–29% maintained stable disease according to the response evaluation criteria in solid tumors (RECIST) guidelines. The median time to progression in the combined analysis of these two studies was 8.2 months. These data led the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to provisionally approve sunitinib in the treatment of advanced RCC pending confirmation in a randomized controlled trial.

The resulting pivotal phase III trial (Motzer et al. 2007) enrolled 750 patients to compare first-line sunitinib with first-line interferon. This demonstrated a statistically significant difference in progression-free survival (PFS) (11 vs. 5 months) with a hazard ratio of 0.42 (p < 0.001). The overall survival data for sunitinib was presented recently showing an impressive difference when compared with interferon (26.4 vs. 21.8 months) (Figlin et al. 2008). Owing to the crossover of patients from the interferon group to sunitinib or another VEGF-

targeted agent after preliminary results were presented, a dilution of the overall survival benefit may have occurred. It is important to note that this is the first randomized study in which the median overall survival of patients with metastatic RCC exceeded 2 years. Based on this data, this agent has become a standard of care for the first-line treatment of metastatic RCC.

D. Y. C. Heng and C. Kollmannsberger

It is important to note that the vast majority of patients enrolled in this trial (94%) had favorable or intermediate risk Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center (MSKCC) prognostic criteria (Motzer et al. 2002), and only patients with clear cell histology were enrolled. Thus, the generalizability of this data to patients with poor prognostic profiles or nonclear cell histologies is uncertain. Retrospective studies and population-based experiences have demonstrated that sunitinib does indeed have activity in poor risk groups and nonclear cell histologies, although response rates and overall survival were shorter in these subgroups when compared with other patients with mRCC (Heng et al. 2009; Choueiri et al. 2008). As papillary (10-15%), chromophobe (5-10%), and collecting duct (<1%) histologies account for a minority of metastatic RCCs, clinical trials investigating sunitinib have excluded these patients with nonclear cell histologies (Heng and Bukowski 2007). A retrospective analysis of 20 patients with nonclear cell mRCC treated with sunitinib demonstrated a response rate of 16% and a PFS of 11.9 months (Choueiri et al. 2008). In an expanded access trial of sunitinib (Gore et al. 2007), 2341 patients were enrolled, among whom 87.8% had clear cell histology, 11.8% had nonclear cell histology, and 0.4% had missing data about their subtype. Of the 276 patients with nonclear cell histology, the overall response rate was 5.4, 41.6% had stable disease, and the PFS for this subgroup was 6.7 months. This was compared with the entire cohort of 2341 patients, in whom the overall response rate was 9.3, 43% had stable disease, and the PFS for the entire cohort was 8.9 months. Although the quality of data obtained from the expanded access trials may not

be as precise or accurate as randomized controlled trials, this study demonstrates that patients with nonclear cell histology appear to have a clinically meaningful response to sunitinib.

6.4 Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors

6.4.1 Targets for Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors

GIST are the most common mesenchymal malignancies of the gastrointestinal tract. GISTs are thought to arise from the interstitial cells of Cajal, or a common precursor, and are most commonly found in the stomach and small intestine, with metastases most commonly to the liver and peritoneum (Nowain et al. 2005). Although surgery remains the mainstay curative treatment for GIST, half of all the patients already have metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis. Additionally, 45-90% of the patients will relapse following even a complete resection (Dematteo et al. 2008). Approximately 85% of GISTs manifest a mutation in the KIT receptor tyrosine kinase: 67% in the intracellular domain in exon 11, 18% in the extramembrane domain in exon 9, and a smaller proportion in exons 13 and 17 (Corless et al. 2004; Heinrich et al. 2003a). The constitutive activation of this receptor affects the downstream cellular signaling cascades that promote cellular proliferation and prevent apoptosis. An additional 5-7% of patients with GIST have an activating mutation of PDGFR alpha (Corless et al. 2004; Heinrich et al. 2003a). Largely because of these two types of mutations, imatinib mesylate, which is both a c-kit and PDGFR alpha inhibitor, has become the first-line standard of care in patients with metastatic GIST, as demonstrated in a series of randomized trials (Verweij et al. 2004; Demetri et al. 2002; Blanke et al. 2008).

Imatinib was the first targeted therapy used in the treatment of metastatic GIST and one of the first to be used in any solid tumor. However, 12–14% of patients with GIST have primary resistance to imatinib, and 40% of patients who had initial responses to imatinib develop secondary resistance to the drug after a median of 18–26 months (Verweij et al. 2004). Secondary resistance may develop as a result of secondary mutations in the KIT or PDGFR-alpha kinases, gene amplification, or loss of target expression (Weisberg and Griffin 2003; Van Glabbeke et al. 2005). Thus, second-line therapy for metastatic GIST was greatly needed, and sunitinib has taken up this role.

6.4.2 GIST Clinical Trials

The efficacy and safety of sunitinib was initially evaluated in an open-label phase I/II study, where the optimum dosing was determined to be 50 mg daily for 4 weeks, followed by a 2-week break (6-week cycle). A total of 97 imatinibresistant or intolerant patients were enrolled in this trial. Of these, 7% had RECIST-defined partial responses and 27% had stable disease for 6 months or longer. The time to tumor progression (TTP) was 34 weeks (Maki et al. 2005).

Subsequently, a phase III double-blinded randomized placebo-controlled trial was performed with a 2:1 randomization scheme. Three hundred and twelve patients with imatinibrefractory or resistant unresectable GIST were accrued (Demetri et al. 2006a). Eight percent of the patients exhibited a partial response in the sunitinib group vs. 0% in the placebo group. The median TTP was 27.3 weeks in those treated with sunitinib vs. 6.4 weeks in those treated with placebo (HR 0.33, p < 0.0001). The hazard ratio for the overall survival was 0.49 in favor of the sunitinib group (p > 0.007), though the median survivals had not yet been reached for this analysis. This pivotal study formed the basis for the FDA to approve sunitinib in patients with unresectable GIST with disease

progression or intolerance to imatinib (Goodman et al. 2007).

Upon the presentation of these results, patients in the trial were unblinded, so that all could receive open-label sunitinib (Demetri et al. 2006b). Despite this crossover, improvements in TTP were maintained (28.4 vs. 8.2 weeks, p < 0.0001). The crossover also allowed for a comparison of overall survival in patients who were treated immediately with sunitinib vs. those who were initially treated with placebo and then crossed over to sunitinib (delayed administration). The overall survival of the delayed (24.3 weeks) vs. the immediate (28.9 weeks) administration groups was comparable. Although this result is interesting, one must be cautious in its interpretation because the delayed administration group is selected from among those patients who survived long enough to eventually cross over.

Response to sunitinib appears to be affected by pre-imatinib tumor genotypes. It appears that those patients with wild-type genotypes or a primary KIT exon 9 mutation have a significantly longer PFS and overall survival than those with exon 11 mutations (Heinrich et al. 2008). This is contrary to the pattern seen with imatinib, wherein exon 11 mutations are associated with greater response rates and improved survival when compared with wild-type or exon 9-mutated KIT (Heinrich et al. 2003b).

Investigations into the appropriate dosing schedule of sunitinib were made after anecdotal experience demonstrated tumor growth while on the 2-week sunitinib break (George et al. 2008). A phase II open-label, multicenter trial randomized 60 imatinib-refractory patients to either morning or evening sunitinib dosing at 37.5 mg daily continuously without the 2-week break. Twelve percent of the patients had a partial response and the median PFS was 32 weeks. Although cross-trial comparisons should be interpreted with caution, these outcomes appeared comparable with those seen in the aforementioned phase III trial of sunitinib dosed at 50 mg daily for 4 weeks, followed by a 2-week break (Demetri et al. 2006a). The continuous dosing trial included the analysis of VEGF, soluble (s) VEGFR-2, sVEGFR-3, and sKIT concentrations in these patients, which confirmed the persistent pharmacologic effect of sunitinib with continuous dosing. There was no rebound in these concentrations which are otherwise observed during off-treatment periods with continuous dosing. Finally, a decrease in the plasma sKIT after the first 3 cycles, and particularly after cycle 5 (p > 0.007), was associated with a longer overall survival when compared with those without a decrease in plasma sKIT (George et al. 2008). These preliminary results will require further prospective evaluation as to whether continuous dosing is just as efficacious as intermittent dosing, and whether biomarkers such as sKIT can be used to predict prognosis or response.

6.4.3 Side Effects

Most of the side effects increase in intensity as the cycle progresses, but then begin to resolve during the 2-week break. Side effects can be managed with preventative and symptomatic measures, dose reductions, or delays. Patients usually start at a dose of 50 mg orally for 4 weeks and take a 2-week break. If toxicities become an issue, sunitinib can be dose-reduced to 37.5 mg for 4 weeks followed by a 2-week break. If another dose reduction is required, 25 mg for 4 weeks followed by a 2-week break can be considered. Recently published data suggest that a dose-response relationship exists for sunitinib, particularly in RCC (Houk et al. 2007). Therefore, grade 1/2 toxicities should be managed while dose reductions should be reserved for those patients with otherwise intolerable side effects.

The most common side effects of sunitinib include generalized fatigue and anorexia. It is important to rule out other underlying causes of these symptoms. More characteristic side effects include hand–foot syndrome, diarrhea,

Precautions	Common and major side effects
Caution in preexisting uncontrolled hypertension, left ventricular dysfunction, or arrhythmias	Fatigue Hand–foot syndrome Diarrhea
Avoid pregnancy and breastfeeding	Hypertension Mucositis/stomatitis Hypothyroidism Yellow discoloration of skin (not jaundice) Cardiotoxicity

Table 6.1 Precautions and side effects of sunitinib

hypertension, mucositis, and stomatitis (Table 6.1) (Kollmannsberger et al. 2007b).

The hand-foot syndrome is a blistering and potentially ulcerating condition of pressure points that can be quite painful. Patients should use moisturizing lotions for their hands and feet and avoid injuries or overuse which may exacerbate the pressure points. Handguards, tight jewelry and shoes, shaving of the blisters, and exposure to extremes of temperature should be avoided, as these may exacerbate the symptoms.

Diarrhea can be managed with agents, such as loperamide and diphenoxylate, and patients should refrain from taking laxatives. The diarrhea usually resolves once the 2-week break commences. Hypertension should be regularly monitored and treated with standard antihypertensives; however, those drugs that interact with CYP3A4 (see Drug Interactions) should be avoided. Mucositis and stomatitis can be treated with good oral hygiene, nonalcoholic mouthwashes (e.g., with baking soda), viscous lidocaine, nonperoxide toothpastes, and lip creams or balms.

Skin and hair manifestations are also common. A generalized yellow discoloration of the skin due to sunitinib and its active metabolite and can often be confused for jaundice. Occasionally, a maculopapular or seborrheic dermatitis-like rash can appear with sunitinib therapy. Additionally, depigmentation of the hair can occur 5–6 weeks into treatment. All these manifestations are reversible upon discontinuation of the drug.

Sunitinib-induced hypothyroidism is a phenomenon with greater incidence upon progressive cycles of sunitinib. Although the mechanism is not completely understood, there may be some similarities to propylthiouracil in the way it inhibits thyroid peroxidase (Wong et al. 2007). In preclinical models, thyroid capillary regression and an increase in thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) have been demonstrated. Patients on sunitinib therapy should have their TSH measured on days 1 and 28 of the first 4 cycles, and if found normal, it should be monitored every 2-3 months (Wolter et al. 2008). When patients develop hypothyroidism, hormone replacement should be initiated to treat the associated symptoms and to achieve biochemical normalization (Rini et al. 2007).

Cardiotoxicity was documented in 10% of the patients receiving sunitinib in the phase III study (Motzer et al. 2007). The majority of these patients were asymptomatic and it appears that the left ventricular dysfunction is reversible upon stopping the drug. In a retrospective analysis from a single institution, 48 patients treated with sunitinib were assessable (Witteles et al. 2008). Eighty-five percent had a diagnosis of RCC. Seven (14.6%) patients experienced symptomatic Grade 3/4 left ventricular dysfunction, 22-435 days after initiation of sunitinib. Three out of five patients with subsequent cardiac evaluations had persistent left ventricular dysfunction after discontinuation of sunitinib and initiation of standard heart failure therapy. The mean age of patients experiencing cardiotoxicity was 67 years. A history of congestive heart failure (p > 0.002), coronary artery disease (p>0.05), and lower body mass index $(p \ge 0.03)$ were factors associated with increased risk. As more evidence is emerging on cardiotoxicity, clinicians should consider performing baseline cardiac imaging and monitor for symptoms of congestive heart failure in patients with predisposing risk factors or a prior history of heart disease.

Macrocytosis has also been documented in patients receiving sunitinib. In a retrospective analysis, macrocytosis was observed to resolve when the drug was stopped for other reasons. In the limited number of bone marrow examinations in these patients, no evidence of metastases was found. Although the long-term clinical implications are unknown, macrocytosis does not appear to cause any deleterious effects (Rini et al. 2008). Other well-recognized hematologic side effects include thrombocytopenia and neutropenia, which occur in approximately 20% of patients, requiring dose delays or reductions (Motzer et al. 2006a, b; 2007).

6.4.4 Drug Interactions

It is important to note that the active metabolite of sunitinib, SU012662, is produced by the cytochrome P450-3A4 system (CYP3A4). Drugs that are inhibitors of the CYP3A4 system such as ketoconazole, aprepitant, diltiazem, fluoxetine, glyburide, grapefruit juice, propranolol, and verapamil could reduce the amount of active metabolite produced. CPY3A4 inducer drugs such as rifampin, carbamazepine, phenytoin, St.John's wort, and troglitazone could potentially increase the active metabolite and associated side effects. Thus, concurrent administration of sunitinib with these drugs, especially those requiring a narrow therapeutic window, should be avoided (Kollmannsberger et al. 2007b). When given together, close observation of toxicity and response with appropriate dose adjustments is mandatory.

6.4.5 Activity in Other Tumor Sites and Ongoing Research

Preliminary evidence has suggested promising activity of sunitinib in other tumor groups. Dosefinding studies of sunitinib, in addition to standard chemotherapy and preliminary efficacy analyses, have also been reported in prostate. bladder, testicular, and colorectal cancers amongst other solid malignancies. Interim results of a phase II study of sunitinib in previously treated patients with recurrent ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal carcinomas have exhibited two partial responses and 10 patients with stable disease out of the 17 patients enrolled (Biagi et al. 2008). In a phase II trial of 64 patients with refractory, metastatic breast cancer, sunitinib treatment resulted in an 11% objective response rate, mostly seen in patients with triple negative (ER-, PR-, HER2-) breast cancers or HER2 positive cancers previously treated with trastuzumab (Burstein et al. 2008). These results have led to the opening of a phase III trial comparing sunitinib with the standard of care in patients with advanced triple negative breast cancers. In patients with stage IIIB/IV non small cell lung cancer previously treated with 1-2 chemotherapy regimens, 47 patients were treated on a 37.5 mg/day continuous dosing schedule. One patient (2%) had a confirmed partial response, and 8 (17%) had stable disease lasting longer than 3 months, with an overall median PFS of 12.1 weeks (Brahmer et al. 2007).

Currently, large phase III randomized trials are underway comparing sunitinib with standard of care therapy in metastatic breast, lung, and colorectal cancers (SUN trials). In two separate trials for advanced breast cancer, the addition of sunitinib to either docetaxel or capecitabine is being compared with docetaxel or capecitabine alone, respectively. The combination of sunitinib with paclitaxel is being compared with bevacizumab (another VEGF inhibitor) plus paclitaxel in patients with metastatic breast cancer. The interim results of some of these trials will be available in 2010. In advanced lung cancer, a second-line standard of care, erlotinib, is being compared with erlotinib plus sunitinib. In metastatic colorectal cancer, the standard of care FOLFOX

(5-FU, leucovorin, oxaliplatin) plus bevacizumab is being compared with FOLFOX plus sunitinib.

In RCC, sunitinib is being investigated in the adjuvant setting where high-risk localized disease has been resected. The Adjuvant Sorafenib or Sunitinib for Unfavorable Renal Carcinoma intergroup trial randomizes high-risk nephrectomized patients to 1 year of sorafenib, sunitinib, or placebo.

Studies combining the targeted therapies are being performed with the known caveat that combination therapies are associated with high financial cost and possibly increased toxicity. A phase I trial of bevacizumab and sunitinib in a variety of solid tumors led by the Cleveland Clinic reported one unconfirmed partial response in a patient with papillary RCC out of nine evaluable patients (Cooney et al. 2007). Another phase I trial of this combination given exclusively to patients with metastatic RCC reported 4/13 patients with partial responses (Feldman et al. 2007). Using a different combination, a randomized phase II trial studying bevacizumab and erlotinib (an inhibitor of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) pathway) vs. bevacizumab and placebo revealed no benefit to the combination in terms of overall response rate or PFS (Bukowski et al. 2007). Currently, combinations of targeted therapy still remain experimental, and they should only be employed in the context of a clinical trial.

6.5 Conclusion

Sunitinib and other VEGF-targeted therapies have revolutionized the treatment of advanced RCC and unresectable GIST. Through the identification of relevant pathways associated with tumor growth and angiogenesis, we now have effective tools to treat these patients more effectively. Sunitinib has become a first-line standard of care for patients with metastatic RCC and it is a standard of care for patients with GIST after progressing on or being intolerant to imatinib. Research is underway to determine if sunitinib will have efficacy in other tumor types.

References

- Banks RE, Tirukonda P, Taylor C et al (2006) Genetic and epigenetic analysis of von hippel-lindau (VHL) gene alterations and relationship with clinical variables in sporadic renal cancer. Cancer Res 66:2000–2011
- Biagi JJ, Oza AM, Grimshaw R et al (2008) A phase II study of sunitinib (SU11248) in patients (pts) with recurrent epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube or primary peritoneal carcinoma – NCIC CTG IND 185. J Clin Oncol 26:5522
- Blanke CD, Rankin C, Demetri GD et al (2008) Phase III randomized, intergroup trial assessing imatinib mesylate at two dose levels in patients with unresectable or metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumors expressing the kit receptor tyrosine kinase: S0033. J Clin Oncol 26:626–632
- Brahmer JR, Govindan R, Novello S et al (2007) Efficacy and safety of continuous daily sunitinib dosing in previously treated advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): results from a phase II study. J Clin Oncol 25:7542
- Brauch H, Weirich G, Brieger J et al (2000) VHL alterations in human clear cell renal cell carcinoma: association with advanced tumor stage and a novel hot spot mutation. Cancer Res 60: 1942–1948
- Bukowski RM, Kabbinavar FF, Figlin RA et al (2007) Randomized phase II study of erlotinib combined with bevacizumab compared with bevacizumab alone in metastatic renal cell cancer. J Clin Oncol 25:4536–4541
- Burstein HJ, Elias AD, Rugo HS et al (2008) Phase II study of sunitinib malate, an oral multitargeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in patients with metastatic breast cancer previously treated with an anthracycline and a taxane. J Clin Oncol 26: 1810–1816
- Coppin C, Le L, Porzsolt F, et al (2008) Targeted therapy for advanced renal cell carcinoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (2):CD006017

- Coppin C, Porzsolt F, Awa A, et al (2005) Immunotherapy for advanced renal cell cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (1):CD001425
- Choueiri TK, Plantade A, Elson P et al (2008) Efficacy of sunitinib and sorafenib in metastatic papillary and chromophobe renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 26:127–131
- Chow LQ, Eckhardt SG (2007) Sunitinib: from rational design to clinical efficacy. J Clin Oncol 25:884–896
- Christensen JG (2007) A preclinical review of sunitinib, a multitargeted receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor with anti-angiogenic and antitumour activities. Ann Oncol 18(Suppl 10):x3-x10
- Clifford SC, Prowse AH, Affara NA et al (1998) Inactivation of the von hippel-lindau (VHL) tumour suppressor gene and allelic losses at chromosome arm 3p in primary renal cell carcinoma: evidence for a VHL-independent pathway in clear cell renal tumourigenesis. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 22:200–209
- Cohen HT, McGovern FJ (2005) Renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 353:2477–2490
- Cooney MM, Garcia J, Brell J et al (2007) A phase I study of bevacizumab in combination with sunitinib in advanced solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 25:15532
- Corless CL, Fletcher JA, Heinrich MC (2004) Biology of gastrointestinal stromal tumors. J Clin Oncol 22:3813–3825
- Dematteo RP, Gold JS, Saran L et al (2008) Tumor mitotic rate, size, and location independently predict recurrence after resection of primary gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST). Cancer 112: 608–615
- Demetri GD, van Oosterom AT, Garrett CR et al (2006) Efficacy and safety of sunitinib in patients with advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumour after failure of imatinib: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 368:1329–1338
- Demetri GD, von Mehren M, Blanke CD et al (2002) Efficacy and safety of imatinib mesylate in advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumors. N Engl J Med 347:472–480
- Faivre S, Delbaldo C, Vera K et al (2006) Safety, pharmacokinetic, and antitumor activity of SU11248, a novel oral multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 24:25–35
- Feldman DR, Kondagunta GV, Ronnen EA et al (2007) Phase I trial of bevacizumab plus sunitinib in patients (pts) with metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC). J Clin Oncol 25:5099

- Figlin RA, Hutson TE, Tomczak P et al (2008) Overall survival with sunitinib versus interferon (IFN)-alfa as first-line treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC). J Clin Oncol 26: 5024
- Foster K, Prowse A, van den Berg A et al (1994) Somatic mutations of the von hippel-lindau disease tumour suppressor gene in non-familial clear cell renal carcinoma. Hum Mol Genet 3: 2169–2173
- George S, Blay JY, Casali PG et al (2008) Continuous daily dosing (CDD) of sunitinib (SU) in pts with advanced GIST: updated efficacy, safety, PK and pharmacodynamic analysis. J Clin Oncol 26: 10554
- Gnarra JR, Tory K, Weng Y et al (1994) Mutations of the VHL tumour suppressor gene in renal carcinoma. Nat Genet 7:85–90
- Goodman VL, Rock EP, Dagher R et al (2007) Approval summary: sunitinib for the treatment of imatinib refractory or intolerant gastrointestinal stromal tumors and advanced renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 13:1367–1373
- Gore ME, Porta C, Oudard S et al (2007) Sunitinib in metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC): preliminary assessment of toxicity in an expanded access trial with subpopulation analysis. J Clin Oncol 25:5010
- Heinrich MC, Corless CL, Demetri GD et al (2003) Kinase mutations and imatinib response in patients with metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumor. J Clin Oncol 21:4342–4349
- Heinrich MC, Maki RG, Corless CL et al (2008) Primary and secondary kinase genotypes correlate with the biological and clinical activity of sunitinib in imatinib-resistant gastrointestinal stromal tumor. J Clin Oncol 26:5352–5359
- Heng DY, Bukowski RM (2007) Renal cell carcinoma: Evolving approaches to advanced nonclear cell carcinoma. Oncol Rev 1:170–176
- Heng DY, Chi KN, Murray N et al (2009) A population-based study evaluating the impact of sunitinib on overall survival in the treatment of patients with metastatic renal cell cancer. Cancer 115:776–783
- Houk BE, Bello CL, Michaelson MD et al (2007) Exposure-response of sunitinib in metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC): a population pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic (PKPD) approach. J Clin Oncol 25:5027
- Houk B, Garrett M, Bello C (2005) Population pharmacokinetics of SU011248 and its primary

metabolite SU12662 in oncology patients and healthy volunteers. Presented at the EORTC/ AACR/NCI Molecular Targets Meeting. Philadelphia, PA, November 14–18

- Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E et al (2008) Cancer statistics, 2008. CA Cancer J Clin 58:71–96
- Kenck C, Wilhelm M, Bugert P et al (1996) Mutation of the VHL gene is associated exclusively with the development of non-papillary renal cell carcinomas. J Pathol 179:157–161
- Kollmannsberger C, Heng DY, Murray N et al (2007a) A population-based study evaluating metastatic renal cell cancer (mRCC) patients treated with interferon (IFN) alone, first-line IFN then second-line sunitinib, or sunitinib alone. J Clin Oncol 25:15572
- Kollmannsberger C, Soulieres D, Wong R et al (2007b) Sunitinib therapy for metastatic renal cell carcinoma: recommendations for management of side effects. Can Urol Assoc J 1:S41–S54
- Kondo K, Yao M, Yoshida M et al (2002) Comprehensive mutational analysis of the VHL gene in sporadic renal cell carcinoma: relationship to clinicopathological parameters. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 34:58–68
- Kovacs G, Akhtar M, Beckwith BJ et al (1997) The heidelberg classification of renal cell tumours. J Pathol 183:131–133
- Laird AD, Vajkoczy P, Shawver LK et al (2000) SU6668 is a potent antiangiogenic and antitumor agent that induces regression of established tumors. Cancer Res 60:4152–4160
- Maki RG, Fletcher JA, Heinrich MC et al (2005) Results from a continuation trial of SU11248 in patients (pts) with imatinib (IM)-resistant gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST). J Clin Oncol 23:9011
- McDermott DF, Regan MM, Clark JI et al (2005) Randomized phase III trial of high-dose interleukin-2 versus subcutaneous interleukin-2 and interferon in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 23:133–141
- Mendel DB, Laird AD, Xin X et al (2003) In vivo antitumor activity of SU11248, a novel tyrosine kinase inhibitor targeting vascular endothelial growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor receptors: determination of a pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic relationship. Clin Cancer Res 9:327–337
- Motzer RJ, Bacik J, Murphy BA et al (2002) Interferon-alfa as a comparative treatment for

clinical trials of new therapies against advanced renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 20: 289–296

- Motzer RJ, Hutson TE, Tomczak P et al (2007) Sunitinib versus interferon alfa in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 356:115–124
- Motzer RJ, Michaelson MD, Redman BG et al (2006a) Activity of SU11248, a multitargeted inhibitor of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor and platelet-derived growth factor receptor, in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 24:16–24
- Motzer RJ, Rini BI, Bukowski RM et al (2006b) Sunitinib in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. JAMA 295:2516–2524
- Negrier S, Escudier B, Lasset C et al (1998) Recombinant human interleukin-2, recombinant human interferon alfa-2a, or both in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. Groupe francais d'immunotherapie. N Engl J Med 338: 1272–1278
- Negrier S, Perol D, Ravaud A et al (2007) Medroxyprogesterone, interferon alfa-2a, interleukin 2, or combination of both cytokines in patients with metastatic renal carcinoma of intermediate prognosis: results of a randomized controlled trial. Cancer 110:2468–2477
- Nowain A, Bhakta H, Pais S et al (2005) Gastrointestinal stromal tumors: clinical profile, pathogenesis, treatment strategies and prognosis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 20:818–824
- Rini BI, Choueiri TK, Elson P et al (2008) Sunitinib-induced macrocytosis in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer 113: 1309–1314
- Rini BI, Small EJ (2005) Biology and clinical development of vascular endothelial growth factortargeted therapy in renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 23:1028–1043
- Rini BI, Tamaskar I, Shaheen P et al (2007) Hypothyroidism in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma treated with sunitinib. J Natl Cancer Inst 99:81–83
- Shuin T, Kondo K, Torigoe S et al (1994) Frequent somatic mutations and loss of heterozygosity of the von hippel-lindau tumor suppressor gene in primary human renal cell carcinomas. Cancer Res 54:2852–2855
- Sun L, Liang C, Shirazian S et al (2003) Discovery of 5-[5-fluoro-2-oxo-1, 2- dihydroindol-(3Z)-ylidenemethyl]-2, 4- dimethyl-1H-pyrrole-3-carboxylic acid (2-diethylaminoethyl)amide, a novel tyrosine kinase inhibitor targeting vascular endothelial and

platelet-derived growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase. J Med Chem 46: 1116–1119

- Van Glabbeke M, Verweij J, Casali PG et al (2005) Initial and late resistance to imatinib in advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumors are predicted by different prognostic factors: a European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer-Italian Sarcoma Group-Australasian Gastrointestinal Trials Group study. J Clin Oncol 23:5795–5804
- Verweij J, Casali PG, Zalcberg J et al (2004) Progression-free survival in gastrointestinal stromal tumours with high-dose imatinib: randomised trial. Lancet 364:1127–1134
- Weisberg E, Griffin JD (2003) Resistance to imatinib (glivec): update on clinical mechanisms. Drug Resist Updat 6:231–238

- Witteles RM, Telli ML, Fisher GA et al (2008) Cardiotoxicity associated with the cancer therapeutic agent sunitinib malate. J Clin Oncol 26: 9597
- Wolter P, Stefan C, Decallonne B et al (2008) The clinical implications of sunitinib-induced hypothyroidism: a prospective evaluation. Br J Cancer 99:448–454
- Wong E, Rosen LS, Mulay M et al (2007) Sunitinib induces hypothyroidism in advanced cancer patients and may inhibit thyroid peroxidase activity. Thyroid 17:351–355
- Yang JC, Sherry RM, Steinberg SM et al (2003) Randomized study of high-dose and low-dose interleukin-2 in patients with metastatic renal cancer. J Clin Oncol 21:3127–3132

Markus Lindauer and Andreas Hochhaus

Abstract Dasatinib, (former BMS 354825), is an orally available small-molecule multikinase inhibitor. It potently inhibits BCR-ABL and SRC-family kinases (SRC, LCK, YES, FYN), but also c-KIT, PDGFR- α and β , and ephrin receptor kinase.

Dasatinib is about 300 times more potent than imatinib in cells expressing unmutated BCR-ABL in vitro. The drug has demonstrated activity against clinically relevant mutations, including those associated with poor prognosis during ongoing imatinib therapy.

Dasatinib is approved for the treatment of patients with BCR-ABL-positive chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), resistant or intolerant to imatinib in chronic, accelerated, and blast phase. It also is approved for the treatment of Philadelphia Chromosome positive (Ph⁺) acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) resistant or intolerant to imatinib.

A single daily dose of 100 mg in chronic phase CML results in high hematologic and molecular remission rates and prolongation of survival. In accelerated and blastic phase as well as in ALL, 70 mg twice daily is recommended. Complete hematologic and cytogenetic remissions (CR) frequently occur even in this patient group with poor prognosis. Remissions however are very short.

Side effects of dasatinib are frequent but mostly moderate and manageable and include cytopenias and pleural effusions. The role of dasatinib in other diseases, including solid tumors, has to be identified.

7.1 Introduction

CML is a clonal disease of the hematopoietic stem cell. It has been considered as a model for other cancers based on its multistep evolution with three stages, its association with a defined cytogenetic translocation t(9;22)(q34; q11), the elucidation of molecular pathogenesis, and the successful development of a molecular therapy.

The Philadelphia chromosome (Ph) was recognized as the first constitutive chromosomal abnormality in cancer in CML in 1960 (Nowell and Hungerford 1960). Subsequent studies revealed that Ph originates from a t(9;22)(q34;q11) translocation. The translocation involves the ABLtyrosine kinase on chromosome 9 and a gene on chromosome 22 named breakpoint cluster region (BCR). Transcription of the fusion gene results in

M. Lindauer (🖂)

Medizinische Klinik III, SLK-Kliniken Heilbronn GmbH, Am Gesundbrunnen 20 – 26, Heilbronn 74078, Germany e-mail: markus.lindauer@slk-kliniken.de

the chimeric protein BCR-ABL, which is a constitutively active form of the c-ABL tyrosine kinase.

BCR-ABL plays a key role in the pathogenesis of CML and in the 15–30% of acute lymphoblastic leukemias (ALL), which are Ph⁺ (Faderl et al. 2000). The pathogenetic relevance of BCR-ABL has been proven by its capacity to transform hematologic cells in vitro and in vivo (Daley and van Etten 1990; Druker et al. 1996). However, expression of BCR-ABL is not sufficient to produce CML in humans, and additional changes are necessary. This is supported by the observations of clonal Ph-negative precursors of CML (Copland et al. 2006); moreover, with very sensitive PCR-methods, BCR-ABL can be found in about 30% of healthy adults (Bose et al. 1998).

The estimated incidence of CML is approximately one case per year in 100,000 people. The clinical course of the disease is characterized by a chronic phase, which eventually develops into an accelerated phase and subsequently into fatal blast crisis. Median survival of untreated patients is approximately 3–5 years (Hochhaus 2007).

Treatment was palliative during the first century of CML, and included splenic irradiation, oral cytotoxic drugs busulfan and hydroxyurea, and interferon alpha (IFNa). Allografting, introduced in the 1970s, despite its risks for mortality and morbidity has been the initial treatment of choice for younger patients, as it is the only proven, potentially curative treatment. However, because of donor and demographic characteristics, it is an option only for about 40% of the patients (Gratwohl et al. 1998). IFN induces major cytogenetic responses (MCyR) in 6-19% of patients with chronic phase CML (Hehlmann et al. 1994). This rate increases with the addition of cytarabine (Guilhot et al. 1997), and complete cytogenetic responders have longer remission duration and survival compared with nonresponders (The Italian Cooperative Study Group on ChronicMyeloid Leukemia 1998).

With the introduction of the first ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitor, imatinib (formerly STI571), in

2001, the therapy of CML has changed dramatically. Response rates in imatinib treated patients are high in chronic phase disease with complete cytogenetic response rates (CCyR) of up to 87% as reported by the International Randomized Study of Interferon and STI571 (IRIS) (Druker et al. 2006). In accelerated or blast phase, however, only 21 and 7% achieved MCyR, respectively, and the responses were only transient (Giles et al. 2008).

Relapse occurs annually in about 4% of the patients in chronic phase treated with imatinib and is more frequent in advanced phases of the disease. Criteria for suboptimal response and failure to imatinib have been defined, depending on treatment duration (Baccarani et al. 2006).

In the pivotal IRIS reporting imatinib treatment of CML with a follow-up of 5 years, failure to achieve a CCyR at 12 months was 31%, and at 5 years was 13% (Druker et al. 2006). Unsatisfactory therapeutic effect was the most common reason to discontinue treatment in this study. In accelerated phase and blast crisis, rates of resistance to imatinib and disease relapse were even higher (Giles et al. 2008).

Mechanisms of resistance to imatinib can be divided into BCR-ABL-dependent and BCR-ABLindependent mechanisms (Ritchie and Nichols 2006). Most common are kinase domain mutations in the BCR-ABL gene that either impair the ability of the kinase to adopt the inactive conformation to which imatinib binds, or directly interfere with imatinib-binding to the BCR-ABL protein, which account for 50–90% of all cases.

More than 60 different BCR-ABL mutations have been identified, conferring clinical resistance to imatinib. Occasionally, resistance is caused by overexpression of BCR-ABL due to BCR-ABL-gene amplification (Shah 2005; Apperley 2007).

BCR-ABL-independent mechanisms include clonal evolution and activation of alternative signaling pathways, like the SRC-pathway. Rarely, resistance to imatinib may occur if the intracellular concentration of the drug is too low. Reasons could be an increased efflux of the drug, mediated by multi drug resistance gene 1 (MDR1), but also diminished influx caused by interactions with the organic cation transporter 1 (hOCT1) (Hochhaus et al. 2007a).

Strategies to overcome Imatinib failure include application of higher doses of the drug, but also the administration of structurally different BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as Dasatinib (Sprycel[™]) or Nilotinib (Tasigna[™]). Other tyrosine kinase inhibitors in earlier stages of clinical development include Bosutinib (SKI-606), a SRC-ABL, but not PDGFR or c-KIT inhibitor and INNO-406, a LYN-ABL inhibitor (Jabbour et al. 2007).

Dasatinib is approved for patients with all phases of CML and also patients with Ph⁺ ALL, who are intolerant or resistant to Imatinib. It induces marked remissions even in pretreated patients.

Dasatinib is a thiazole-carboxamide compound that is structurally unrelated to Imatinib. As an ATP-competitive small-molecule multikinase inhibitor, it inhibits BCR-ABL, but also other kinases including the SRC family of kinases (SFK). When compared with imatinib, dasatinib exhibits increased potency to inhibit BCR-ABL, but with reduced selectivity. Dasatinib binds to both active and inactive conformations of BCR-ABL with less stringent conformational requirements than Imatinib.

The drug has demonstrated activity against clinically relevant mutations, including those associated with poor prognosis during ongoing imatinib therapy. However, it is not active against the T315IBCR-ABL mutation. Inhibition of the SFK allows dasatinib to overcome resistance conferred by SFK activation.

Inhibition of SRC is an attractive target in oncology, as elevated levels and activities of Src and SFK have been shown in numerous human cancer cell lines and tumor tissues. Dasatinib as an inhibitor of SRC has been shown to inhibit growth, migration, cell adhesion, and induces cell cycle arrest in many different cell lines. There are clinical studies ongoing on the effect of dasatinib in solid tumors and Ph-negative myeloproliferative disorders.

7.2 Structure and Mechanism of Action

Dasatinib, (former BMS 354825), or N-(2chloro-6-methyl-phenyl)-2-(6-(4-(2hydroxyethyl)-piperazin-1-yl)-2-methylpyrimidin-4-ylamino)thiazole-5-carboxamide monohydrate $(C_{22}H_{24}ClN_{7}O_{2}S)$ is an orally available small-molecule multitargeted kinase inhibitor (Fig. 7.1). It potently inhibits BCR-ABL and SRC-family kinases (SRC, LCK, YES, FYN), as well as c-KIT, PDGFR- α and β , and ephrin receptor kinase at nanomolar concentrations (Lombardo et al. 2004; Huang et al. 2007). In addition, it has activity against most imatinib resistant isoforms of BCR-ABL. Dasatinib has been shown to block G1/S transition and inhibit cell growth in normal and neoplastic cells (Fabarius et al. 2008).



Fig. 7.1 Dasatinib

86

Dasatinib was designed as an ATP-competitive inhibitor of SRC and ABL. Abelson kinase (ABL) is the constitutively active tyrosine-kinase of the BCR-ABL fusion protein. It is a cytoplasmic nonreceptor tyrosine kinase. Human c-ABL has a number of structural domains critical for its activity. The major isoform of c-ABL has three SRC-homology (SH) domains. SH1 domain contains the tyrosine kinase activity, while SH2 and SH3 domains allow interaction with other proteins. Under normal conditions, the activity of the ABL tyrosine kinase is tightly regulated.

Like many tyrosine kinases, ABL regulates its catalytic activity *via* conformational changes, switching between active and inactive forms by opening and closing an activation loop. The sequence available for binding in the inactive conformation varies dramatically between different kinases and provides a potential for binding specificity. As demonstrated by X-ray crystallography, Dasatinib binds the active conformation of the kinase. The compound has been shown to bind the ATP-binding site of the SH domain 1 of ABL (Lombardo et al. 2004; Tokarski et al. 2006). In addition, molecular docking studies (Gambacorti-Passerini et al. 2005) showed that dasatinib is likely to bind to the inactive form of ABL as well, requiring a lower conformational stringency than imatinib, which selectively targets only an inactive conformation of the ABLkinase domain (Fig. 7.2).

Dasatinib has been shown to be 325-fold more potent than Imatinib for inhibiting unmutated BCR-ABL. The concentration required for 50% inhibition $[IC_{50}]$ is 0.6 nmol/L for dasatinib and 280 nmol/L for imatinib (O'Hare et al. 2005). It is suggested that the stronger binding activity of dasatinib over imatinib is at least partially due to its ability to bind to active and inactive conformations of the ABL protein.

Owing to the different structural requirements for binding of dasatinib when compared

Fig. 7.2 Binding of dasatinib (*pink*) and imatinib (*cyan*) to the ATP-binding site of the ABL kinase domain of BCR-ABL (*green*). On the *left*, the inactive conformation is shown with the activation loop (*red*) in the closed position with the experimentally determined orientation of imatinib (*cyan*) and the docked orientation of dasatinib. On the *right*, the

active conformation is shown with the docked orientations of imatinib and dasatinib together with the experimentally determined orientation of PD173955, a further inhibitor of ABL. The *arrow* indicates the moiety of imatinib failing to interact with the protein in the active conformation (adapted from Gambacorti-Passerini et al. 2005, with kind permission)



with imatinib, the drug inhibits various imatinib-resistant BCR-ABL mutations, except the T315I type (O'Hare et al. 2005; Shah et al. 2004). This is the basis for the activity of the drug in imatinib resistant disease, caused by mutated BCR-ABL.

7.2.2 Inhibition of SRC

SRC is a member of a nine-gene family that includes YES, FYN, LYN, LCK, HCK, FGR, BLK, and YRK. SRC family kinases (SFK) consist of a unique NH2-terminal region, two SRC homology domains (SH2 and SH3), a highly conserved kinase domain, and a COOHterminal tail containing a negative regulatory tyrosine residue. SRC and SFK cooperate in several cellular processes including migration, adhesion, invasion, angiogenesis, proliferation, differentiation, and immune function. They play a major role in the development, growth, progression, and metastasis of a wide variety of human cancers (Kopetz et al. 2007).

Elevated levels of SRC kinase activity and/ or protein expression levels have been found in a variety of human epithelial cancers, including colon, breast, pancreatic and lung carcinomas, brain tumors, as well as in osteosarcomas and Ewing sarcomas. The levels of expression or activation generally correlate with disease progression.

Dasatinib inhibits SRC with an IC_{50} of 0.5 nmol/L (Lombardo et al. 2004). Inhibition of SRC activation by dasatinib can suppress tumor growth in human breast cancer cell lines, human prostate cancer cells, head and neck, lung cancer, and osteosarcoma cell lines (Johnson et al. 2005; Finn et al. 2007; Shor et al. 2007). However, preclinical studies suggest that dasatinib induces apoptosis in only a small subset of cell lines. Inhibition of migration, invasion, and cell adhesion by dasatinib is reported more frequently (Johnson et al. 2005; Nam et al. 2005;

Serrels et al. 2006). In a nude mouse model of prostate cancer, tumor growth and the development of lymph node metastasis were inhibited by dasatinib (Park et al. 2008).

Therefore, from in vitro and animal data, as single agent, dasatinib can be predicted to have only modest effect in most tumors. Recent phase I and phase II trials on dasatinib in several solid tumors confirm this prediction (Johnson et al. 2007; Evans et al. 2005; Yu et al. 2008).

7.2.3 Inhibition of c-KIT

KIT (CD117) is a receptor tyrosine kinase. Normally, KIT is activated when bound to its ligand, the stem cell factor (SCF). Gain of function mutations of c-KIT plays a crucial role in several malignancies, including gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST) (Hirota et al. 1998), systemic mastocytosis (SM), acute myeloid leukemia (AML), lymphomas, and germ cell tumors (Schittenhelm et al. 2006). Imatinib, which is a potent inhibitor of c-KIT has become the treatment of choice for advanced GIST. Comparable with its binding properties to ABL, imatinib only binds to the inactive conformation of c-KIT.

Imatinib-resistant c-KIT mutants are frequent and often occur in the activation loop of c-KIT, resulting in a constitutive active conformation of c-KIT, to which imatinib cannot bind.

These mutations have relevance in mast cell disorders, seminoma, and AML, and are always resistant to imatinib. Dasatinib inhibits c-KIT 10–20-fold stronger than imatinib with an IC_{50} for inhibition of autophosphorylation and cellular proliferation of 5–10 nmol/L (Schittenhelm et al. 2006). In addition, dasatinib is a potent inhibitor of many clinically relevant mutated forms of c-KIT, including imatinib-resistant KIT activation loop mutations in vitro (Shah et al. 2006). Despite these promising in vitro data, dasatinib failed to induce significant remission rates in a phase II study in patients with SM (Verstovsek et al. 2008).

PDGFR- α and β are receptor tyrosine kinases. They are activated by binding of plateletderived growth factor (PDGF). PDGF-signaling has a significant role in the formation of connective tissue and is also important during wound healing in the adults. PDGFR- α and β are expressed mainly on fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells (Heldin and Westermark 1999).

PDGFR- α tyrosine kinase activating mutations have been described in the pathogenesis of some GIST tumors (Heinrich et al. 2003). Fusion proteins consisting of the fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 (FGFR1) and PDGFR- α and β receptor tyrosine kinases have constitutive transforming activity. They are found in a subgroup of myeloproliferative disorders associated with eosinophilia (Cross and Reiter 2008).

In addition, PDGFR- β is involved in the formation of restenosis following coronar angioplastie, and, in combination with ABL, in the pathogenesis of dermal fibrosis. Dasatinib, which inhibits PDGFR- β with an IC₅₀ of 28 nmol/L, is active in in vitro models for these diseases (Chen et al. 2006; Akhmetshina et al. 2008).

7.2.5 Inhibition of Ephrin Receptor Tyrosine Kinases

The Ephrin family of receptor tyrosine kinases constitutes the largest subfamily of receptor tyrosine kinases. They are divided into two subclasses (Ephrin A and Ephrin B) based on sequence similarity and their preferential binding to ligands, which are tethered to the cell surface either by a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchor (Ephrin A) or by a single transmembrane domain (Ephrin B) (Kullander and Klein 2002). Eph receptor tyrosine kinases have important functions in development and diseases. In tumorigenesis, they have been implicated in cellular transformation, metastasis, and angiogenesis. EphA2 is frequently overexpressed and functionally altered in many invasive cancers including metastatic melanoma, as well as cancers of the mammary gland, cervix, ovary, prostate, colon, lung, kidney, esophagus, and pancreas.

Dasatinib was shown to be a potent inhibitor of ephrin A2 receptor kinase with an IC_{50} of 17 nmol/L in various cell lines (Huang et al. 2007; Chang et al. 2008).

7.2.6 Additional Effects

It has been demonstrated that dasatinib induces defects in spindle generation, cell cycle arrest, and centrosome alterations in leukemic cells, tumor cell lines, as well as normal cells. These effects are not attributable to the inhibition of a single kinase; rather it is the expression of non specific effects on multiple kinases (Fabarius et al. 2008).

7.3 Clinical Data

7.3.1 Pharmacokinetic Profile

Dasatinib is administered orally. The drug is rapidly absorbed, and peak plasma concentrations occur 0.5–3 h after administration. The intake of food is not relevant for pharmacokinetics of dasatinib. In a dose range of 25–120 mg twice daily, the area under the plasma concentration-time curve (AUC) increased proportionally. The drug is extensively metabolized in the liver, predominantly by cytochrome P 450 (CYP) 3A4, only 30% remain unchanged. The metabolites of the compound are unlikely to play a

7

pharmacologic role. There are linear elimination characteristics over the abovementioned dose range with a terminal elimination half life of 5-6 h.

Elimination occurs mostly in the feces (85%) and only little in urine (4%). Dasatinib is excreted as metabolites, only 19% of a dose was recovered as unchanged drug in the feces (Bristol-Myers Squibb 2007).

Dasatinib is a substrate and an inhibitor of CYP3A4. Therefore, there is a potential for interaction with other concomitantly administered drugs that are metabolized primarily by or modulate the activity of CYP3A4.

Systemic exposure to dasatinib is increased if it is co-administered with drugs that are inhibitors of CYP3A4 (e.g., clarythromycin, erythromycin, itraconazole, ketoconazole).

If co-administered with drugs that induce CYP3A4 (e.g., dexamethasone, phenytoin, carbamazepine, rifampicin, Phenobarbital or *Hypericum perforatum*, also known as St. John's Wort), dasatinib AUC is reduced. It was reduced by 82% when co-administered with rifampicin.

Dasatinib AUC was reduced when co-administered with H2-blockers/proton-pump inhibitors or antacids. Concomitant administration of famotidin reduced dasatinib AUC by 61%, while co-administration of aluminium hydroxide reduced dasatinib AUC by 55% (Bristol-Myers Squibb 2007).

7.3.2 Clinical Studies with Dasatinib in CML and Other Diseases

Most clinical data have been reported on the treatment of patients with all phases of CML and Ph⁺ ALL. There are few reports on the properties of the drug outside CML, in Ph-negative myeloproliferative disorders, in GIST-tumors, in hormone refractory prostate cancer, and in various other solid tumors.

7.3.3 CML and Ph⁺ ALL – Overview

The clinical efficacy of dasatinib in CML patients resistant or intolerant to imatinib was assessed in a phase I trial (Talpaz et al. 2006). Five phase II trials, termed START (SRC-ABL Tyrosine kinase inhibition Activity Research Trials), were consecutively performed in all phases of CML in patients resistant or intolerant to imatinib (Kantarjian et al. 2007; Hochhaus et al. 2007 b; Ottmann et al. 2007; Guilhot et al. 2007a; Guilhot et al. 2007b; Cortes et al. 2007). Dose optimization Phase III trails have been performed in chronic phase CML (Shah et al. 2008) and in advanced phases of the disease (Pasquini et al. 2007). First-line treatment of CML patients with dasatinib has been assessed in an ongoing Phase II trial (Quintas-Cardama et al. 2007b; Borthakur et al. 2008).

7.3.3.1 Phase I Dose Escalation Study

Patients with chronic-phase CML, acceleratedand blast-phase CML, and also patients with Ph+ ALL were enrolled in this study (CA180002). The study population consisted of 84 patients, 72 of them resistant to imatinib. They were treated with dasatinib, ranging from 15 to 240 mg/day. The drug was administered with different treatment schedules, from once daily in a weekly schedule for 5 days on, 2 days off, up to continuous administration of the drug twice daily (Talpaz et al. 2006). Hematologic remissions (HR) and cytogenetic remissions (CR) were seen in all phases of CML and in patients with Ph⁺ ALL. Remissions were also seen with all BCR-ABL mutations, except T315I. On the basis of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic results, a twice-daily dosing schedule was chosen for subsequent dasatinib clinical trials.

7.3.3.2 Phase II: Chronic Phase CML (START C)

The START C trial (CA 180013), an international multicenter trial, investigated the efficacy and safety of dasatinib in chronic phase CML with imatinib resistance or intolerance. A median follow-up of 8.3 months has been published for 186 patients (Hochhaus et al. 2007b); this review includes all 387 patients with a follow-up of 15.2 months (Hochhaus et al. 2008a).

Median time from diagnosis was 61 months. Previous treatment included IFN (65%), stem cell transplantation (10%), prior imatinib of >600 mg/ day (55%), and /or imatinib for >3 years (53%). BCR-ABL mutations were present at baseline in 40% of the patients. Of the 387 patients treated, 91% achieved or maintained a complete hematologic remission (CHR). Major and complete cytogenetic responses were observed in 59 and 49% of the treated patients. Response rates were higher in patients intolerant to imatinib when compared with those with imatinib resistance. Cytogenetic response rates were achieved irrespective of the presence of BCR-ABL mutations. Median progression-free survival and overall survival were not reached (Table 7.1).

Grade 3/4 cytopenias were observed mostly in the initial phase of therapy, and included leukocytopenia (27%), neutropenia (49%), and thrombocytopenia (48%). Nonhematological toxicities were generally mild to moderate. Grade 3 pleural effusions occurred in 6% of patients.

7.3.3.3 Accelerated Phase CML (START A)

Patients with accelerated phase CML, resistant or intolerant to imatinib were enrolled into a multicenter study (START A, CA 180005). Results of 107 patients with a minimum follow-up of 8 months have been published (Guilhot et al. 2007a); this review focuses on data with a median follow-up of 14.1 months for the full cohort of

174 patients (Guilhot et al. 2007b). The median time from diagnosis was 82 months, previous treatment consisted of IFN (72%), stem cell transplantation (13%), imatinib of >600 mg/day (52%), and/or imatinib for >3 years (59%). Durable hematological and CR were observed in a high proportion of patients. Response rates were achieved irrespective of prior allogeneic hematologic stem cell transplantation and presence of BCR-ABL mutations at baseline. Estimated 2-year progression-free survival was 46% and estimated 2-year overall survival was 72% (Table 7.1). Grade 3/4 cytopenias were common (leukocytopenia 58%, neutropenia 75%, thrombocytopenia 81%). Grade 3/4 pleural effusions occurred in 5% of patients.

7.3.3.4

Myeloid Blast Phase CML (START B) and Lymphatic Blast Phase CML (START L)

The START B and START L studies were multicenter single arm phase II trials with identical designs, enrolling patients with myeloid blast crisis (START-B) and patients with lymphoid blast crisis (START L) resistant or intolerant to imatinib (Cortes et al. 2007; Cortes et al. 2008; Gambacorti et al. 2007). The majority of patients (90%) were imatinib resistant. Median time from diagnosis of CML was 44 months.

In the START B trial (CA 180006), 109 patients were treated with a follow-up extending 20 months. Previous treatment included stem cell transplantation (14%), imatinib of >600 mg/day (50%), and/or imatinib for >3 years (41%). A complete hematologic response was achieved in 27% of patients; MCyR occurred in 34%, with a complete cytogenetic response in 26%, irrespective of baseline BCR-ABL mutation status (Table 7.1). Median duration of CHR and MCyR had not been reached. Median progression-free survival was 6.7 months and overall survival was 11.8 months. Grade 3/4 toxicities were again common, mainly

Trial	Disease/phase		Follow up (months)	Mutated BCR-ABL	Response (% of patients)				Survival (% of patients)	
				% of patients	MHR	CHR	MCyR	CCyR	2 year PFS	2 year OS
Start C	Chronic phase	387	15.2	40	I	91	59	49	80	94
							Iml 80 ImR 52	Iml 75 ImR 40		
Start A	Accelerated phase	174	14.1		85	45	40	33	46	72
Start B	Myeloid blast phase	109	>12	42	34	27	34	26	20	38
Start L	Lymphoid blast phase	49	>12	65	35	29	52	46	5	26
Start L	$Ph^+ ALL$	46	>12	78	41	35	57	54	12	31

and metamyelocytes in peripheral blood, normal basophil count, no extramedullary involvement

Advanced diseases: MHR major hematologic response: CHR or neutrophil count between 500 and 1,000/µL, and/or platelets between 20,000 and 100,000/µL

MCyR Major cytogenetic response: ≤35% Ph⁺-cells in metaphase in bone marrow

CCyR complete cytogenetic response: 0% Ph+-cells in metaphase in bone marrow

PFS progression free survival; OS overall survival; ImI imatinib intolerant patients

ImR Imatinib resistant patients

hematologic (leukocytopenia 61%, neutropenia 80%, thrombocytopenia 89%, anemia 75%). Pleural effusions CTC grade 3/4 occurred in 15% of patients (Cortes et al. 2008).

The START L study (CA 180015) included 48 patients with lymphoid blast phase CML. Previous treatment included stem cell transplantation (31%), imatinib of >600 mg/day (52%), and/or imatinib for >3 years (23%). After a 20-month extended follow-up, 29% of patients had a CHR and 52% had a MCyR (Table 7.1). Remissions were short with a median duration of 4.9 months for HR and 5.6 months for MCvR. Higher response rates were attained in patients with unmutated BCR-ABL (50% CCyR) when compared with those with any mutation (27% CCyR). Median progression-free survival was 3.0 months and overall survival was 5.3 months. Grade 3/4 hematologic toxicities were frequent (leukocytopenia 71%, neutropenia 81%, thrombocytopenia 88%, anemia 50%). Pleural effusions occurred in 6% of patients (Cortes et al. 2008).

7.3.3.5 Philadelphia Chromosome Positive Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL)

In the START-L trial (CA 180015), a cohort of 46 adult patients with ph^+ ALL were treated with dasatinib. Follow-up data at 8 months in 36 patients have been published (Ottmann et al. 2007), an abstract is available with follow-up data of 12 months in the full cohort of 46 patients (Porkka et al. 2007). Prior treatment included stem cell transplantation (37%), imatinib of >600 mg/day (46%), or imatinib for >12 months (52%). Median time from diagnosis of Ph⁺ ALL was 18 months. BCR-ABL mutations were reported in 78% of patients.

Complete hematologic responses occurred in 35% of patients. A MCyR and CCyR was achieved in 57 and 54% of the patients, respectively (Table 7.1). Responses were similar in patients irrespective of baseline BCR-ABL mutation status. The median duration of CCyR was 6.9 months. A median overall survival was 8 months.

Most common was hematologic toxicity with grade 3/4 cytopenias occurring in 78% of the patients. Grade 3/4 diarrhea was reported in 9% of patients, pleural effusion in 7%, and pyrexia in 2%. Dasatinib dose had to be reduced in 30% of patients; treatment was interrupted in 43% of patients, primarily attributable to nonhematologic toxicities.

7.3.3.6 Central Nervous System Disease of Ph⁺ Blast Phase CML or Ph⁺ ALL

A recent report has shown substantial activity of dasatinib in patients with Ph⁺ ALL or blast phase CML and central nervous system (CNS) involvement. Eleven adult and pediatric patients were treated with dasatinib as first-line treatment for CNS leukemia, whereas three patients experienced a CNS relapse while on dasatinib therapy for other reasons. All of the 11 patients responded, with seven complete responders, four after dasatinib monotherapy. Three patients achieved a partial response. Responses were generally durable, and response durations of more than 26 months have been reported (Porkka et al. 2008).

7.3.3.7

Randomized Comparison of Dasatinib vs. High-Dose Imatinib (START R)

An international, randomized, open-label, phase II trial (START R) investigated the efficacy and safety of dasatinib of 70 mg b.i.d. (n>101) vs. high-dose imatinib of 800 mg (n>49) in patients with imatinib-resistant chronic-phase CML (Kantarjian et al. 2007). Cross over was permitted after 3 months of therapy. Data at a median follow-up of 15 months are available in 150 patients.

Median time from diagnosis of CML was 59 months. All patients had been treated with imatinib, 67% of patients had been treated with doses of>400 mg/day, and 40% of patients had received the drug for 3 years or longer. Further pretreatment included hydroxyurea (95%), IFN (71%), and stem cell transplantation (6%). At baseline, BCR-ABL mutations were present in 45% of patients randomized to receive dasatinib, and in 22% of those in the high-dose imatinib arm.

After 12 weeks, a cytogenetic evaluation was performed and patients either continued therapy or crossed over if there was progression, lack of MCyR, or intolerance to the randomized therapy. After 12 weeks, a higher proportion of patients on dasatinib had already achieved a CHR (93 vs. 82%, p=0.034), MCyR (36 vs. 29%, p > 0.4), and CCyR (22 vs. 8%, p=0.041). At a median follow-up of 15 months, major (52 vs. 33%, p < 0.023) and complete (40 vs. 16%, p < 0.004) cytogenetic responses were significantly better with dasatinib, when compared to high-dose imatinib (Kantarjian et al. 2007). In addition, in all the subgroups of prognostic interest, namely, prior treatment with 600 mg of imatinib daily, no prior CyR with imatinib, and mutated BCR-ABL, MCyRs and CCyRs were consistently higher with respect to dasatinib (Table 7.2).

Dasatinib was superior to high-dose imatinib in terms of progression-free survival (p < 0.001). Grade 3/4 cytopenias were frequent and more common in the dasatinib treatment group (neutropenia 61 vs. 39%, thrombocytopenia 56 vs. 14%) Pleural effusions were reported only with dasatinib (16 vs. 0%).

7.3.3.8 Dasatinib in Previously Untreated Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia Patients

Patients with previously untreated chronicphase CML were randomized in an ongoing phase II trial to either dasatinib of 100 mg once daily or 50 mg twice daily (Quintas-Cardama et al. 2007b; Borthakur et al. 2008). Out of the 40 patients enrolled, 21 patients were randomized to receive dasatinib once daily, and 19 to the twice daily arm. Dose escalations to 140 or 180 mg/day for poor response, and dose reductions to 80 or 40 mg/day for toxicity were allowed. After 12 months, all evaluable patients (100%) had achieved a CCyR (26 out of 26) and eight of the 25 evaluable patients (32%) had a major molecular response. According to the study investigators, these data are significantly better than historical data from a similar group of patients treated in studies at the MD Anderson Cancer Center with imatinib of 400 or 800 mg/day.

Transient Grade 3–4 thrombocytopenia was reported in 10%, neutropenia in 5%, and anemia in 3% of patients. The most common nonhematological adverse events of Grade 3/4 included fatigue (5%), headache (3%), and rash (3%). Pleural effusions, all Grade 1/2, occurred in five patients (13%). Treatment interruption and dose reduction was required in 18 patients (46%).

7.3.3.9 Dose Optimization Trial in Chronic Phase CML

Randomized dose optimization phase III noninferiority trials were performed comparing once daily vs. twice daily administration of dasatinib. Patients with chronic-phase CML, resistant or intolerant to imatinib were enrolled into an open label phase III trial (CA 180034) (Shah et al. 2008). A total of 670 patients were randomized 1:1:1:1 to receive dasatinib of 100 or 140 mg once daily, and 50 or 70 mg twice daily. Approximately 41% of the patients had received imatinib for >3 years, 34% had received high-dose imatinib of >600 mg/day, 30% had mutated BCR-ABL, 74% were considered imatinib resistant, and 26% imatinib intolerant. After a median duration of treatment of 8 months, response rates were similar across groups (CHR 86-92%, MCyR 55-59%, CCyR 41-45%). The

	Dasatinib (<i>n</i> =101)	High-dose imatinib $(n=49)$
Mutated BCR-ABL (% patients)	45	22
Response after 15 months (% patients)		
CHR ^a	93	82
MCyR ^a	52	33
CCyR ^a	40	16
TTF (months)	n.r.	3.5
Treatment characteristics		
Median duration (months)	13.7	3.1
Discontinued (% of patients)		
Reason for discontinuation	28	81
No response	5	61
Intolerance	16	18

Table 7.2 Comparison of dasatinib with high-dose imatinib: results of a randomized phase II trial

Patients with disease progression, lack of major cytogenetic response at 12 weeks of treatment or intolerance (\geq Grade 3 nonhematological toxicity) or hematologic toxicity requiring multiple dose reductions were permitted to cross over to the other treatment.

TTF time to treatment failure; *n.r.* not reached

 $^{a}p < 0.05$

100 mg once-daily arm was associated with a reduced incidence of Grade 3/4 thrombocytopenia and pleural effusions, when compared with the other three arms combined. In addition, there were fewer interruptions or reductions, and fewer patients discontinued treatment due to drugrelated toxicity in the 100 mg, once-daily arm. The results from this study were the basis for the new starting dose regimen of 100 mg once daily in patients with chronic-phase CML resistant or intolerant to prior therapy including imatinib. The advantage of a once-daily schedule is most probably based on a reduction of off-target inhibition associated with the short half-life of dasat-inib in vivo.

7.3.3.10 Dose Optimization Phase III Trial in Advanced Phase CML

In a second, open label, prospective trial (CA 180035), patients with advanced phase CML or Ph⁺ ALL resistant or intolerant to imatinib were

randomized to receive dasatinib of 140 mg once daily vs. 70 mg twice daily (Pasquini et al. 2007). Dose escalation was allowed for inadequate response, and dose reductions for toxicity. In total, 611 patients were treated and had a median follow-up of roughly 6 months. More than one-third of these patients had previously received imatinib therapy for more than 3 years, 43% had received high-dose imatinib, and 78% were imatinib resistant. Response rates were similar between the once-daily and twice-daily schedules. In the accelerated phase and myeloid blast phase subgroups, the duration of response was similar between the dosing schedules, whereas in the lymphoid blast phase and Ph⁺ ALL subgroups, the duration of response was improved in the 70 mg twice-daily arm. With once-daily dasatinib administration, the duration of major hematological response was 10.2 months, whereas with twice-daily administration, it was 12.2 months. Similarly, progressionfree survival was improved in the twice-daily group (7.9 vs. 11.7 months), and twice as many

patients in the once-daily schedule relapsed after achieving a hematological response as in the twice-daily regimen (30 vs. 16%). There was a trend for improved tolerability with the 140 mg of once-daily schedule. The recommended starting dose for advanced phase CML or Ph⁺ ALL remains 70 mg twice daily.

7.3.4 Dasatinib and Other Diseases

Up to now, there is no approved indication for dasatinib outside Ph⁺ CML and Ph⁺ ALL. There are ongoing studies in several different tumors and leukemias.

7.3.4.1 Phase I Study in GIST

A phase I clinical trial assessed the effect of dasatinib in GIST and in other solid tumors (Evans et al. 2005). The study included 14 patients, nine with treatment-resistant GIST and five with other refractory solid tumors. Dasatinib was administered at dose levels of 35, 50, and 70 mg twice daily, 5 days on, 2 day off in a weekly schedule. Toxicity included one CTC Grade 3 lymphopenia, one CTC Grade 3 anorexia, and elevation of alkaline phosphatase Grade 3. Of note, no clinical significant hematologic toxicity was reported. CT scans were performed every 8 weeks, and no objective response was reported in CT scans. The complete resolution of ascites in one patient with GIST was reported, with some mixed responses in FDG PET-CT.

7.3.4.2 Phase I Study in Solid Tumors

This study enrolled 26 patients, 14 with epithelial tumors, 12 with other solid tumors. Patients were treated with dasatinib for 7 days per week at three dose levels: 90 mg twice daily, 140 mg once daily, and 180 mg once daily. Six patients had stable disease with continued treatment for 2–10 months. Toxicity included pleural effusions in the 180 mg cohort (Johnson et al. 2007).

7.3.4.3

Phase II Study of Dasatinib in Philadelphia Chromosome Negative Acute and Chronic Myeloid Diseases, Including Systemic Mastocytosis

The study included a total number of 67 patients, with various hematologic disorders including 33 patients with SM, nine patients with AML, six patients with myelodysplastic syndromes, five patients with hypereosinophilic syndrome (HES), three patients with chronic eosinophilic leukemia (CEL), and 11 patients with primary myelofibrosis (PMF) (Verstovsek et al. 2008).

Most patients with SM presented with the D816V c-KIT mutation, which confers imatinib resistance. As dasatinib has been shown to be active against the c-KIT D816V mutation in vitro, activity of the drug in SM was expected. The D816V was present in 28 of the 33 patients with SM. Patients were treated with dasatinib with different doses and schedules. In SM patients, an overall response rate of 33% was reported, mostly symptomatic improvements including two complete responses, none of them with the D816V.

Complete remissions were also reported for a patient with HES, and one patient with AML. The patient with HES had a complex karyotype with an aberrant signaling *via* PDGFR- β . The patient with AML was c-KIT-positive.

The authors concluded that it is questionable, whether the use of dasatinib provides any advantage over other treatment options in SM and that dasatinib therapy does not seem to have significant activity in patients with AML, MDS, PMF, and HES/CEL.

7.3.4.4 Phase II Study with Dasatinib in Patients with Hormone Refractory Progressive Prostate Cancer

A recent phase II study enrolled 46 patients with metastatic hormone refractory prostate cancer and no prior chemotherapy. The starting dose of dasatinib was changed from 100 mg twice daily to 70 mg twice daily after the first 25 patients for improved tolerability. A composite endpoint of PSA, bone scan, and disease control by RECIST was applied.

An improved PSA doubling time was seen in 29 of 36 patients (80.1%). One patient had a PSA decrease from 19.3 to 3.3 ng/mL. Bone scans were stable in 16 of 27 patients, and one was improved. Only 15 patients were evaluable for RECIST, and 10 of them (67%) had stable disease.

Pleural effusions were reported in 17 of the 46 patients, and mostly Grade 1–2, Grade 3 leucopoenia occurred in 2% of patients (Yu et al. 2008).

7.3.5 Safety and Tolerability

Nearly all patients treated with dasatinib experience adverse reactions at some time. Most reactions are mild to moderate. The tolerability of the compound has been investigated in the abovementioned phase I, II, and III studies in patients with CML. Data of 2,182 patients enrolled in these studies have been reported in the prescribing information of dasatinib (Bristol-Myers Squibb 2007). Of the 2,182 patients treated, 25% were \geq 65 years of age, while 5% were \geq 75 years of age. The median duration of the therapy was 11 months (range 0.03–31 months). Owing to adverse reactions, dasatinib had to be discontinued in 11% of patients in chronic phase, and in 8–15% in advanced disease. Most patients with imatinib intolerance in chronic phase-CML tolerated treatment with dasatinib well. In the Phase II single-arm study in chronic-phase CML, three of the 99 imatinibintolerant patients had the same Grade 3/4 nonhematological toxicity with dasatinib, similar to the prior imatinib; all the three patients continued dasatinib treatment after dose reduction.

The most frequently reported adverse reactions were fluid retention (including pleural effusion), diarrhea, headache, nausea, skin rash, dyspnea, hemorrhage, fatigue, musculoskeletal pain, infection, vomiting, cough, abdominal pain, and pyrexia (Table 7.3).

7.3.5.1 Hematological Toxicity

Myelosuppression is the most common toxicity occurring under treatment with dasatinib. Hematological toxicity is dependent on the disease phase, as it is more severe in advanced phase disease. It is generally reversible and managed by withholding treatment or dose reduction.

7.3.5.2 Fluid Retention

Dasatinib is frequently associated with fluid retention. In all clinical studies, fluid retention occurred in 20–30% of the patients. Severe fluid retention was reported in 9% of patients, including severe pleural (6%) and pericardial effusion (1%). Severe ascites and generalized edema were each reported in <1% of patients. Severe noncardiogenic pulmonary edema was reported in 1% of patients.

In a smaller series, pleural effusions occurred with higher frequency in patients treated for advanced CML (Quintas-Cardama et al. 2007a). Up to 36% of treated patients experienced
	All grades	Grades 3/4
Gastrointestinal disorders		
Diarrhea	32	4
Nausea	22	1
Vomiting	13	1
Abdominal pain	10	1
Gastrointestinal bleeding	8	4
Mucosal inflammation (including mucositis/stomatitis)	7	<1
Dyspepsia	5	0
Abdominal distension	5	0
Respiratory, thoracic, and mediastinal disorders		
Pleural effusion	25	6
Dyspnoea	21	4
Cough	10	<1
Nervous system disorders		
Headache	25	1
Neuropathy (including peripheral neuropathy)	6	<1
Skin and subcutaneous tissue disorders		
Skin rash	22	1
Pruritus	7	<1
General disorders and administration site conditions		
Superficial edema	21	<1
Fatigue	21	2
Pyrexia	13	1
Pain	7	<1
Asthenia	9	1
Chest pain	5	1
Vascular disorders		
Hemorrhage	15	2
Musculoskeletal and connective tissue disorders		
Musculoskeletal pain	14	1
Arthralgia	8	1
Myalgia	8	<1
Infections and infestations		
Infection (including bacterial, viral, fungal, nonspecific)	10	3
Metabolism and nutrition disorders		
Anorexia	9	<1
Blood and lymphatic system disorders		
Febrile neutropenia	5	5

Table 7.3	Adverse drug reactions	reported $\geq 5\%$ in cl	inical trials $(n \ge 2.182)$	percent (%) of Patients
-----------	------------------------	---------------------------	-------------------------------	-------------------------

pleural effusion, with Grade 3/4 in approximately 15% (Cortes et al. 2008).

The pathomechanism for edema, pleural effusion, and other fluid-retention adverse events under dasatinib treatment is conflicting. It can be speculated whether this might be related to the off-target effect on PDGFR- β kinase. Mice deficient in PDGFR- β develop edema (Lindahl and Johannsson 1997), and a clinical trial assessing a humanized pegylated PDGFR- β blocking FAB-fragment in patients with ovarian and colorectal cancer resulted in significant edema and pleural effusion (Jayson et al. 2005; Quintas-Cardama et al. 2007a).

Treatment of patients in chronic phase with once-daily application of dasatinib had a significant lower incidence of pleural effusions when compared to twice-daily administration (Shah et al. 2008).

Management of edema, pleural effusion, and fluid retention often requires stopping of dasatinib treatment. About 25% of patients require therapeutic thoracocentesis. After lung manifestations have resolved, the drug can be reintroduced cautiously. Corticosteroids may assist in management, diuretics are also recommended, however, with only limited success (Quintas-Cardama et al. 2007a).

7.3.5.3 Bleeding

Despite the high rate of thrombocytopenia, bleeding episodes were rare. Severe CNS hemorrhage occurred in <1% of patients. Eight cases were fatal and five of them were associated with CTC Grade 4 thrombocytopenia.

Severe gastrointestinal hemorrhage occurred in 4% of patients and generally required drug interruptions and transfusions. Other severe hemorrhage occurred in 2% of patients. Most bleeding-related events were typically associated with severe thrombocytopenia.

7.3.5.4 QT-Prolongation

Of the 2,182 patients who received dasatinib in Phase II/III clinical trials, 18 had QTc prolongation reported as an adverse event. Seventeen patients (<1%) experienced a QTcF of >500 ms.

Dasatinib should be administered with caution to patients who have or may develop prolongation of QTc. These include patients with hypokalemia or hypomagnesemia, patients with congenital long QT syndrome, patients taking antiarrhythmic medication or other drugs which lead to QT prolongation, and cumulative highdose anthracycline therapy.

Hypokalemia or hypomagnesemia should be corrected prior to dasatinib administration.

7.4 Conclusion and Further Perspectives

Dasatinib is approved for the treatment of patients with Ph⁺ CML or Ph⁺ ALL, intolerant or resistant to imatinib. Clinical studies have shown activity in patients with most imatinib-resistant mutations of BCR-ABL, except the T315I mutation. High rates of hematologic and cytogentic remissions, together with the prolongation of survival have been demonstrated. Starting dose in chronic phase is 100 mg daily, while in advanced phases, 70 mg twice daily is recommended. Most patients experience side effects, which are mostly mild to moderate and manageable.

Dasatinib, like imatinib, does not have the potential to eradicate the quiescent fraction of stem cells, despite the fact that it targets earlier BCR-ABL-positive stem cells than imatinib (Copland et al. 2006). Therefore, it is unlikely that treatment with dasatinib and other tyrosine kinase inhibitors will cure CML, and rather treatment has to continue lifelong. Since there are no real long-term data till date for tyrosine

kinase inhibitors, even mild toxicity has to be of concern. Kinase inhibition occurs in all cells, and it is not clear whether there will be some kind of late toxicity.

In addition, emergence of resistance and relapse poses a further concern, and indicates that adaptation plays a role in the complex interaction between ABL tyrosine kinase inhibition and CML progression, a challenge that cannot be solved solely by the development of new BCR-ABL inhibitors.

The outlook for long-term treatment is likely to involve combination therapies with cytotoxic agents, agents that target multiple sites within the BCR-ABL signal transduction pathway, or even the reintroduction of IFN as immunotherapy. It has been shown in a small cohort of patients that, after remission induction in CML patients with imatinib, IFN can safely be administered as maintenance treatment (Hochhaus et al. 2008b).

Dasatinib outside CML and Ph⁺ ALL is still under investigation. Treatment of patients with Ph-negative myeloproliferative disorders with dasatinib generally induced only minimal improvements, however, there were individual patients experiencing very good remissions (Verstovsek et al. 2008).

In solid tumors, preclinical studies in numerous tumor cell lines with dasatinib showed growth retardation or cell cycle arrest rather than induction of apoptosis and cell death. Therefore, the preliminary results of clinical phase I and II studies in solid tumors with 'stable disease' as best results were to be expected.

Better responses to dasatinib in vitro have been reported in selected cell lines or under certain circumstances. For example, triple negative breast cancer cell lines responded better to dasatinib when compared to other types of breast cancer (Finn et al. 2007); in lung cancer cell lines, dasatinib activity was dependent on the epithelial growth factor status (Song et al. 2006), and dasatinib induced apoptosis in SRC-dependent osteosarcoma cell lines (Shor et al. 2007). Hence, identification of predictive markers for treatment response to dasatinib in solid tumors will be of great importance. The results of preclinical and clinical studies till date provide hope that dasatinib in biologically relevant combination with other anticancer agents will find a place in the treatment for at least some tumors.

References

- Akhmetshina A, Dees C, Pileckyte M et al (2008) Dual inhibition of c-abl and PDGF receptor signaling by dasatinib and nilotinib for the treatment of dermal fibrosis. FASEB J 22: 2214–2222
- Apperley (2007) Part I: mechanisms of resistance to imatinib in chronic myeloid leukaemia. Lancet Oncol 8:1018–1029
- Baccarani M, Saglio G, Goldman J et al (2006) Evolving concepts in the management of chronic myeloid leukemia: recommendations from an expert panel on behalf of the European LeukemiaNet. Blood 108:1809–1820
- Borthakur G, Kantarjian HM, O'Brien S, et al (2008) Efficacy of dasatinib in patients (pts) with previously untreated chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) in early chronic phase (CML-CP). J Clin Oncol 26:15S:abstr. 7013
- Bose S, Deininger M, Gora-Tybor J et al (1998) The presence of typical and atypical BCR-ABL fusion genes in leukocytes of normal individuals: biologic significance and implications for the assessment of minimal residual disease. Blood 92:3362–3367
- Bristol-Myers Squibb (2007) Dasatinib (Sprycel) Summary of product characteristics and prescribing information
- Chang Q, Jorgensen C, Pawson T et al (2008) Effects of dasatinib on EphA2 receptor tyrosine kinase activity and downstream signalling in pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer 99:1074–1082
- Chen Z, Lee FY, Bhalla KN et al (2006) Potent inhibition of platelet-derived growth factor-induced responses in vascular smooth muscle cells by BMS-354825 (Dasatinib). Mol Pharmacol 69: 1527–1533
- Copland M, Hamilton A, Elrick LJ et al (2006) Dasatinib (BMS-354825) targets an earlier progenitor

population than imatinib in primary CML but does not eliminate the quiescent fraction. Blood 107:4532–4539

- Cortes J, Rousselot P, Kim DW et al (2007) Dasatinib induces complete hematologic and cytogenetic responses in patients with imatinib-resistant or -intolerant chronic myeloid leukemia in blast crisis. Blood 109:3207–3213
- Cortes J, Kim DW, Raffoux E et al (2008) Efficacy and safety of dasatinib in imatinib-resistant or -intolerant patients with chronic myeloid leukemia in blast phase. Leukemia 2008:1–8
- Cross NCP, Reiter A (2008) Fibroblast growth factor receptor and platelet-derived growth factor receptor abnormalities in eosinophilic myeloproliferative disorders. Acta Haematol 119:199–206
- Daley GQ, Van Etten RA (1990) Induction of chronic myelogenous leukaemia in mice by the P210bcr/abl gene of the Philadelphia chromosome. Science 247:824
- Druker BJ, Tamura S, Buchdunger E et al (1996) Effects of a selective inhibitor of the Abl tyrosine kinase on the growth of Bcr-Abl positive cells. Nat Med 2:561–566
- Druker BJ, Guilhot F, O'Brien S et al (2006) Fiveyear follow-up of patients receiving imatinib for chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 355: 2408–2417
- Evans TRJ, Morgan JA, Van den Abbeele AD, et al (2005) Phase I dose-escalation study of the SRC and multi-kinase inhibitor BMS-354825 in patients (pts) with GIST and other solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 23:16S:abstr. 3034
- Fabarius A, Giehl M, Rebacz B et al (2008) Centrosome aberrations and G1 phase arrest after in vitro and in vivo treatment with the SRC/ABL inhibitor dasatinib. Haematologica 93: 1145–1154
- Faderl S, Kantarjian HM, Thomas DA et al (2000) Outcome of Philadelphia chromosome-positive adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma 36:263–273
- Finn RS, Dering J, Ginther C et al (2007) Dasatinib, an orally active small molecule inhibitor of both the src and abl kinases, selectively inhibits growth of basal-type/ "triple-negative" breast cancer cell lines growing in vitro. Breast Cancer Res Treat 105:319–326
- Gambacorti-Passerini C, Gasser M, Ahmed S et al (2005) Abl inhibitor BMS354825 binding mode in Abelson kinase revealed by molecular docking studies. Leukemia 19:1267–1269

- Gambacorti C, Cortes J, Kim DW, et al (2007) Efficacy and safety of dasatinib in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia in blast phase whose disease is resistant or intolerant to imatinib: 2-year follow-up data from the START program. Blood 110:abstr. 472
- Giles FJ, DeAngelo DJ, Baccarani M et al (2008) Optimizing outcomes for patients with advanced disease in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Semin Oncol 35(Suppl 1):S1–S17
- Gratwohl A, Hermans J, Goldman JM et al (1998) Risk assessment for patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia before allogeneic blood or marrow transplantation. Lancet 352:1087–1092
- Guilhot F, Chastang C, Michallet M et al (1997) Interferon α -2b combined with cytarabine versus interferon alone in chronic myelogenous leukemia. N Engl J Med 337:223–229
- Guilhot F, Apperley J, Kim DW et al (2007a) Dasatinib induces significant hematologic and cytogenetic responses in patients with imatinibresistant or -intolerant chronic myeloid leukemia in accelerated phase. Blood 109:4143–4150
- Guilhot F, Apperley JF, Kim DW, et al (2007b) Efficacy of dasatinib in patients with. accelerated-phase chronic myelogenous leukemia with resistance or intolerance to imatinib: 2-year follow-up data from START-A (CA180-005). Blood 110:abstr. 470
- Hehlmann R, Heimpel H, Hasford J et al (1994) Randomized comparison of interferon-a with busulfan and hydroxyurea in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Blood 84:4064–4077
- Heinrich MC, Corless CL, Duensing A et al (2003) PDGFRA activating mutations in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Science 299:708–710
- Heldin CH, Westermark B (1999) Mechanism of action and in vivo role of platelet-derived growth factor. Physiol Rev 79:1283–1316
- Hirota S, Isozaki K, Moriyama Y et al (1998) Gainof-function mutations of c-kit in human gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Science 279:577–580
- Hochhaus A (2007) Advances in the treatment of haematological malignancies: optimal sequence of CML treatment. Ann Oncol 18(Suppl 9): ix58–ix63
- Hochhaus A, Erben P, Ernst T et al (2007a) Resistance to targeted therapy in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Semin Hematol 44:15–24
- Hochhaus A, Kantarjian HM, Baccarani M et al (2007b) Dasatinib induces notable hematologic and cytogenetic responses in chronic phase

chronic myeloid leukemia after failure of imatinib therapy. Blood 109:2303–2309

- Hochhaus A, Baccarani M, Deininger M et al (2008a) Dasatinib induces durable cytogenetic responses in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia in chronic phase with resistance or intolerance to imatinib. Leukemia 22:1200–1206
- Hochhaus A, Neubauer A, Mueller MC, et al (2008b) Imatinib discontinuation after imatinib/interferon alpha combination therapy is associated with continuous responses in the majority of patients. Haematologica 93:abstr. 0927
- Huang F, Reeves K, Han X et al (2007) Identification of candidate molecular markers predicting sensitivity in solid tumors to dasatinib: rationale for patient selection. Cancer Res 67:2226–2238
- Jabbour E, Cortes J, O'Brien S et al (2007) New targeted therapies for chronic myelogenous leukemia: opportunities to overcome imatinib resistance Semin Hematol 44:25–31
- Jayson GC, Parker GJM, Mullamitha S et al (2005) Blockade of platelet-derived growth factor receptor-beta by CDP860, a humanized, PEGylated di-Fab', leads to fluid accumulation and is associated with increased tumor vascularized volume. J Clin Oncol 23:973–981
- Johnson FM, Saigal B, Talpaz M et al (2005) Dasatinib (BMS-354825) tyrosine kinase inhibitor suppresses invasion and induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and non-small cell lung cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res 11:6924–6932
- Johnson FM, Chiappori A, Burris H, et al (2007) A phase I study (CA180021-segment 2) of dasatinib in patients (pts) with advanced solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 25:18S:abstr. 14042
- Kantarjian H, Pasquini R, Hammerschlak N et al (2007) Dasatinib or high-dose imatinib study for chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia after failure of first-line imatinib: a randomized phase-II trial. Blood 109:5143–5150
- Kopetz S, Shah AN, Gallick GE (2007) Src continues aging: current and future clinical directions. Clin Cancer Res 13(24):7232–7236
- Kullander K, Klein R (2002) Mechanisms and functions of Eph and ephrin signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 3:475–486
- Lindahl P, Johannsson BR (1997) Pericyte loss and microaneurysm formation in PDGF-B-deficient mice. Science 277:242–246

- Lombardo LJ, Lee FY, Chen P et al (2004) Discovery of N-(2-chloro-6-methyl-phenyl)-2-(6-(4-(2hydroxyethyl)-piperazin-1-yl)-2-methylpyrimidin-4-ylamino)thiazole-5-carboxamide (BMS-354825), a dual Src/Abl kinase inhibitor with potent antitumor activity in preclinical assays. J Med Chem 47: 6658–6661
- Nam S, Kim D, Cheng JQ et al (2005) Action of the Src family kinase inhibitor, dasatinib (BMS-354825), on human prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 65:9185–9189
- Nowell P, Hungerford DA (1960) A minute chromosome in human granulocytic leukemia. Science 132:1497
- O'Hare T, Walters DK, Stoffregen EP et al (2005) In vitro activity of Bcr-Abl inhibitors AMN107 and BMS-354825 against clinically relevant imatinib-resistant Abl kinase domain mutants. Cancer Res 65:4500–4505
- Ottmann O, Dombret H, Martinelli G et al (2007) Dasatinib induces rapid hematologic and cytogenetic responses in adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia with resistance or intolerance to imatinib: interim results of a phase II study. Blood 110: 2309–2315
- Park SI, Zhang JZ, Phillips KA et al (2008) Targeting Src family kinases inhibits growth and lymph node metastases of prostate cancer in an orthotopic nude mouse model. Cancer Res 68: 3323–3333
- Pasquini R, Ottmann OG, Goh YT, et al (2007) Dasatinib 140 mg QD compared to 70 mg BID in advanced-phase CML or Ph (+) ALL resistant or intolerant to imatinib: one-year results of CA180–035. J Clin Oncol 25:18S:abstr. 7025
- Porkka K, Simonsson B, Dombret H, et al (2007) Efficacy of dasatinib in patients with Philadelphiachromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia who are resistant or intolerant to imatinib: 2-year follow-up data from START-L (CA180-015). Blood 110:abstr. 2810
- Porkka K, Koskenvesa P, Lundan T et al (2008) Dasatinib crosses the blood-brain barrier and is an efficient therapy for central nervous system Philadelphia chromosome–positive leukaemia. Blood 112:1005–1012
- Quintas-Cardama A, Kantarjian H, O'Brien S et al (2007a) Pleural effusion in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia treated with dasatinib after imatinib failure. J Clin Oncol 25:3908–3914

- Quintas-Cardama A, Kantarjian H, O'Brien S, et al (2007b) Dasatinib is safe and effective in patients with previously untreated chronic myelogenous leukaemia. Haematologica 92(Suppl 1):abstr. 0359
- Schittenhelm MM, Shiraga S, Schroeder A et al (2006) Dasatinib (BMS-354825), a dual SRC/ ABL kinase inhibitor, inhibits the kinase activity of wild-type, juxtamembrane, and activation loop mutant KIT isoforms associated with human malignancies. Cancer Res 66:473–481
- Serrels A, Macpherson IRJ, Evans TRJ et al (2006) Identification of potential biomarkers for measuring inhibition of Src kinase activity in colon cancer cells following treatment with dasatinib. Mol Cancer Ther 5:3014–3022
- Shah NP (2005) Loss of response to imatinib: mechanisms and management. The American society of hematology education program book. pp 183–187
- Shah NP, Tran C, Lee FY et al (2004) Overriding imatinib resistance with a novel ABL kinase inhibitor. Science 305:399–401
- Shah NP, Lee FY, Luo R et al (2006) Dasatinib (BMS-354825) inhibits KITD816V, an imatinibresistant activating mutation that triggers neoplastic growth in most patients with systemic mastocytosis. Blood 108(1):286–291
- Shah NP, Kantarjian HM, Kim DM et al (2008) Intermittent target inhibition with dasatinib 100 mg once daily preserves efficacy and improves tolerability in imatinib-resistant and -intolerant chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol 26:3204–3212

- Shor AC, Keschman EA, Lee FY et al (2007) Dasatinib inhibits migration and invasion in diverse human sarcoma cell lines and induces apoptosis in bone sarcoma cells dependent on Src kinase for survival. Cancer Res 67:2800–2808
- Song L, Morris M, Bagui T et al (2006) Dasatinib (BMS-354825) selectively induces apoptosis in lung cancer cells dependent on epidermal growth factor receptor signaling for survival. Cancer Res 66:5542–5548
- The Italian Cooperative Study Group on ChronicMyeloid Leukemia (1998) Long-term follow-up of the Italian trial of interferon-α versus conventional chemotherapy in chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 92:1541–1548
- Talpaz M, Shah NP, Kantarjian H et al (2006) dasatinib in imatinib-resistant philadelphia chromosome– positive leukemias. N Engl J Med 354: 2531–2541
- Tokarski JS, Newitt JA, Chang CYJ et al (2006) The structure of dasatinib (BMS-354825) bound to activated ABL kinase domain elucidates its inhibitory activity against imatinib-resistant ABL mutants. Cancer Res 66:5790–5797
- Verstovsek S, Tefferi A, Cortes J et al (2008) Phase II study of dasatinib in philadelphia chromosome-negative acute and chronic myeloid diseases, including systemic mastocytosis. Clin Cancer Res 14:3907–3915
- Yu EY, Wilding G, Posadas E, et al (2008) Dasatinib in patients with hormone refractory progressive prostate cancer: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol 26:15S:abstr. 5165

Nilotinib

Alfonso Quintás-Cardama, Theo Daniel Kim, Vince Cataldo, and Philipp le Coutre

Abstract Therapy with imatinib mesylate is a standard of care for most patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive chronic myeloid leukemia (CML). However, resistance or intolerance to imatinib develops in a considerable number of patients leading to relapse or discontinuation of treatment. Nilotinib is a rationally designed second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) with improved affinity and specificity against the BCR-ABL kinase, when compared with imatinib. Considerable efficacy after imatinib failure has been demonstrated in clinical trials leading to nilotinib's current approval as second-line therapy for CML in chronic and accelerated phase (AP). The role of nilotinib as first-line treatment for CML, in combinatorial strategies and in the context of specific BCR-ABL mutations, requires future studies.

8.1 Background

Targeted therapy has revolutionized the treatment of Philadelphia chromosome-positive (Ph-positive) chronic myeloid leukemia (CML). Imatinib mesylate (formerly STI571 or CGP 5148B) was specifically developed to inhibit the oncogenic activity of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase, the molecular correlate of the Philadelphia chromosome (Druker et al. 1996). Significant activity in clinical trials led to the rapid approval of imatinib for Ph-positive CML in chronic phase (CP), accelerated phase (AP), and blast phase (BP) (summarized in reference (Cohen et al. 2005)). Based on the phase III IRIS study (International Randomized Study of IFN and STI571) which showed a 5-year estimated overall survival (OS) rate of 89%, imatinib at a daily dose of 400 mg is the standard first-line treatment of CML in CP (Druker et al. 2006).

Despite its considerable activity, a substantial portion of patients will develop acquired or secondary resistance to imatinib with prolonged treatment. The overall failure rate was 17%, and more than 30% in the IRIS study had discontinued imatinib for various reasons after 5 years (Druker et al. 2006). Several mechanisms of resistance have been identified (Apperley 2007), but point mutations within the kinase domain of

P. le Coutre (🖂)

Campus Virchow-Klinikum, Medizinische Klinik m.S. Hämatologie und Onkologie, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Augustenburger Platz 1, 13353 Berlin, Germany e-mail: Philipp.lecoutre@charite.de

BCR-ABL are probably the most prevalent (Gorre et al. 2001; O'Hare et al. 2007). Nearly 100 different mutations that confer varving degrees of resistance to imatinib have been described in vitro and in vivo (Hughes et al. 2006; Shah et al. 2002). Recurrence of disease is common with discontinuation of imatinib therapy (Cortes et al. 2004: Rousselot et al. 2007), indicating that real cure is not achieved by imatinib. Likewise, identification of residual BCR-ABL positive cells by molecular analysis during imatinib treatment is frequently observed (Hughes et al. 2003). Moreover, some patients treated with imatinib will have a suboptimal response as defined by failure to fulfill certain response criteria at specified timepoints (Baccarani et al. 2006). In patients in accelerated (AP) and BP, the activity of imatinib is considerably lower than in patients in CP (Sawyers et al. 2002; Talpaz et al. 2002). Furthermore, even in responding patients, adverse effects can impair the quality of life and result in treatment discontinuation in approximately 10% of patients undergoing imatinib therapy (Deininger et al. 2003).

The need for treatment options after imatinib failure led to the development of second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), of which nilotinib (Tasigna[®]) and dasatinib (Sprycel[®]) are currently approved for the treatment of patients with CML resistant or intolerant to imatinib therapy.

8.2 Preclinical and Pharmacokinetic Data

8.2.1 Pharmacological Design

Nilotinib (formerly AMN107) was rationally designed on the basis of crystallographic studies on the interaction between imatinib and the ABL kinase domain (Manley et al. 2004). Nilotinib is an orally active, high-affinity aminopyrimidine-based ATP- competitive inhibitor of the ABL kinase domain. Reducing the number of hydrogen bonds with the ABL kinase domain from six to four led to higher specificity and approximately 20–30-fold higher inhibitory potency against unmutated BCR-ABL kinase, as well as most imatinib-resistant point mutations. Nilotinib binds to an inactive conformation of the ABL kinase domain and prevents the enzyme to adopt a catalytically active conformation.

8.2.2 Drug Targets

Like imatinib, nilotinib is a selective TKI and inhibits the tyrosine kinases BCR-ABL, KIT, and PDGFR (platelet-derived growth factor receptor) with an IC50 of 25, 160, and 57 nmol/L, respectively (Weisberg et al. 2005). The modifications leading to nilotinib's structure did not largely affect the affinities for KIT or PDGFR. Recently, a chemical proteomics approach has identified novel nilotinib targets including the receptor tyrosine kinase DDR1 (discoidin domain receptor 1) and the nonkinase target NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase NQO2 (or quinone reductase QR2), against which nilotinib is highly active (Rix et al. 2007). The role of the inhibition of these novel targets on the clinical activity of nilotinib in patients with CML is currently unknown.

8.2.3 Preclinical Activity

In vitro, nilotinib showed considerably higher antiproliferative activity and inhibition of BCR-ABL autophosphorylation of murine and human cell lines, when compared with imatinib (Weisberg et al. 2005; Golemovic et al. 2005). In vivo, tumor burden was reduced and survival was prolonged after challenge with Ph-positive cells (Weisberg et al. 2005; Golemovic et al. 2005). Nilotinib's higher activity against wild-type BCR-ABL was

Sensitivity	IC ₅₀ (nM)	BCR-ABL mutations
High	100	M237I, M244V, K247N, G250A, G250E ^a , G250V, Q252H, E255D, E255R, L273F, E275K, D276G ^a , E281K, E285N, K285N, V289L, E292K ^a , N297T, F311L, F317C, F317L ^a , F317V ^a , D325N, S348L, M351T, E355A, E355G, H375P, V379I, L387F, M388L, L387F, L387M, H396P, H396R, T406I, W430L, E431G
Medium	200	L248V ^a , G250E ^a , Y253F, E255K ^a , D276G ^a , E282K, E292K ^a , F311V, F317L ^a , F359V, A380S, F486S
Low	1,000	L248V ^a , Y253C, Y253H ^a , E255K ^a , E255V, K285N, F317V, ^a F359C
None	>2,000	T315I

Of note, the extent of sensitivity depends not only on the position of the mutation but also the specific substitution

^aDenotes mutations that fall into two different categories, based on different values reported. Values are from references (O'Hare et al. 2005; Weisberg et al. 2006; Bradeen et al. 2006; Ray et al. 2007; von Bubnoff et al. 2006)

preserved in 16 (O'Hare et al. 2005) and 32 (Weisberg et al. 2006) of the most common kinase domain mutants conferring imatinib-resistance with the notable exception of the T315I mutation (Table 8.1). This resistance conferred by the T315I mutant against all currently approved TKIs stems from the fact that this residue governs the access to a hydrophobic pocket located in the ABL kinase within which most TKIs used in the clinic are required to bind.

8.2.4 Pharmacokinetics and Metabolism

Pharmacokinetic analyses in healthy volunteers (Kagan et al. 2005; Tanaka et al. 2006) and patients from the phase I study (Kantarjian et al. 2006) (see below) showed a dose-dependent increase in steady-state levels and higher steady-state levels, with 400 mg twice daily than with a single daily dose of 800 mg and further increase with twice-daily 600 mg dosing. Steady-state serum levels were achieved by day 8, and peak serum concentrations were observed 3–4 h after administration with a terminal elimination half-life of about 16 h. With administration of

400 mg twice daily, peak-trough plasma levels were 3.6 and 1.7 µM, respectively, with the trough level exceeding the 50% inhibitory concentration (IC $_{50}$) of cellular phosphorylation of wild-type (20-57 nM) and 32 of 33 kinase domain mutants (19-709 nM) of BCR-ABL. Bioavailability was increased by 82% when administered with a high-fat meal when compared to fasting. Nilotinib appeared to be a weak inhibitor of CYP3A4, whereas CYP3A4 inhibition increased systemic nilotinib exposure (Tanaka et al. 2006). Complete recovery (4.4% in urine and 93.5% in feces) of mostly unchanged nilotinib within 7 days of administration indicated the absence of retention of the drug or its metabolites with chronic treatment and incomplete oral absorption (Kagan et al. 2005).

8.3 Clinical Efficacy

Phase I and II studies in patients with CML resistant or intolerant to imatinib led to the accelerated approval of nilotinib for CML in CP or AP after imatinib failure. In addition to three ongoing phase II studies, a three-armed randomized open-label multicenter phase III study comparing nilotinib with imatinib as a first-line treatment in CML in CP (ENESTnd) already completed recruitment.

8.3.1 Nilotinib Phase I Study

One-hundred and nineteen patients with imatinib-resistant CML in CP, AP or BP, and Ph-positive ALL were assigned to receive nilotinib in a dose-escalating phase I study (Kantarjian et al. 2006). Dose-limiting toxic effects were reported in 18 patients at doses higher than 600 mg daily, and a dose of nilotinib of 600 mg twice-daily was established as the maximum tolerated dose due to dose-related and dose-limiting myelosuppression. The similar response rate with a better safety profile established nilotinib at 400 mg twice-daily for phase II studies, with the possibility of dose escalation to 600 mg twice-daily in patients with an inadequate response. Among patients with CML in CP, AP, or BP (whose disease was resistant to a median dose of 800 mg of imatinib), hematological and cytogenetic response rates were 92/53, 72/48, and 39/27%, respectively.

8.3.2 Nilotinib After Imatinib Failure

An open-label multicenter phase II study was conducted in patients with CML in CP, AP, or BC with imatinib resistance or intolerance to assess efficacy (Table 8.2).

Study design, inclusion criteria, and the results of an interim analysis of the first 280 patients with CML in CP have been described in detail (Kantarjian et al. 2007). The last update included 321 patients with at least 19 months of follow-up (Kantarjian et al. 2008a). Median age was 58 years (range 21–85 years) with a median CML duration of 58 months (range 5-275 months), and a median duration of imatinib therapy of 32 months (0.3-94 months). Seventy percent had imatinib resistance and 30% were imatinib intolerant. The median dose intensity of 790 mg/day (151-1,110) indicates excellent tolerability. Overall, a complete hematologic response (CHR) was attained by 76% of patients who did not have a CHR at baseline. A major cytogenetic response (MCyR), the primary endpoint of the study which was chosen because of its correlation with longterm survival and clinical benefit, was achieved in 59% of patients with comparable rates in imatinib-resistant and -intolerant patients. A complete cytogenetic response (CCyR) was seen in 44% of patients. The median time to CHR and MCyR was 1 and 2.8 months, respectively. Responses were durable, and after 24 months. 78% were still in MCyR. Progression-free (PFS) and estimated OS after 24 months were 64 and 88%, respectively. Currently, 59% of patients have discontinued nilotinib therapy, mainly due to disease progression (27%) and drug-related adverse events (15%).

The activity of nilotinib therapy in patients with CML CP who failed prior imatinib and dasatinib therapy has been recently reported. Patients have been followed for at least 4 months, at which point 56% of patients remained on nilotinib therapy. Patients had discontinued imatinib due to resistance in 85% of cases and dasatinib due to intolerance in 67% of cases. Overall, 79% of patients achieved a CHR and 43% a MCyR (24% CCyR), with an OS of 86% at 18 months. The main reasons for discontinuation were disease progression in 28% and drug-related adverse events in only 10% of patients, further emphasizing the tolerability of nilotinib even in heavily pretreated patients (Giles et al. 2008a).

An interim analysis of the first 119 patients with CML in AP with at least 6 months of follow-up has been described in detail (le Coutre et al. 2008a). In a recent update, a total of 137 patients have been included (le Coutre et al. 2008b). Median age was

	CP (<i>n</i> >321)	AP (<i>n</i> >137)	BC (<i>n</i> >136)
Overall HR (%) (CHR+MR/NEL+RTC)	—	56	20-24
CHR (%)	76	31	12–13
MR/NEL (%)	-	12	<1
RTC (%)	-	13	7–10
MCyR (CCyR+PCyR) (%)	59	32	38-50
CCyR (%)	44	20	28–33
PCyR (%)	15	12	9–17
Continous HR (%)	-	74 (12 m)	-
Continous MCyR (%)	84 (18 m)	74 (18 m)	-
Progression-free survival (%)	73 (18 m)	56 (12 m)	-
Overall survival (%)	91 (18 m)	82 (12 m)	42 (12 m)

Table 8.2 Efficacy of nilotinib in chronic phase (CP), accelerated phase (AP) and blast-crisis (BC) of Ph-positive CML (chronic myeloid leukemia) with imatinib-resistance or -intolerance

Numbers are based on references (Giles et al. 2008b; Kantarjian et al. 2008b; le Coutre et al. 2008d). *HR* hematologic response; *CHR* complete hematologic response; *MR/NEL* marrow response/no evidence of leukemia; *RTC* return to chronic phase; *MCyR* major cytogenetic response; *CCyR* complete cytogenetic response; *PCyR* partial cytogenetic response; *m* months; – not reported/applicable

57 years (range 22-82) with a median CML duration of 71 months (range 2-298 months) and a median duration of imatinib therapy of 28 months. Eighty percent had imatinib resistance and 20% had imatinib intolerance. The median exposure of nilotinib was 272 days (2-910 days) with a median dose intensity of 775 mg/day (150-1,149). The overall rate of hematologic response (HR), the primary endpoint of the study, was 56% with a CHR rate of 31% and similar rates in imatinib-resistant and -intolerant patients. The median time to first HR was 1 month. MCyR was seen in 32% of patients and CCyR in 20% of patients. The median time to MCyR was 2.8 months. Of 77 patients achieving a HR, 54% continued to maintain a HR at 24 months. Seventy percent of the 44 patients who achieved a MCyR maintained this response at 24 months, and the estimated OS at 24 months was 67%. At the time of analysis, 75% had discontinued treatment, mostly for disease progression (38%), drug-related (9%), and nondrug-related adverse events (7%). Grade 3-4 adverse events were rare, with the most common being serum lipase elevation in 18% of patients receiving nilotinib.

Results from 136 patients with CML in BP have been presented (Giles et al. 2008b). Median age was 54 years (range 18-79 years) with 21% in lymphoid and 78% in myeloid BP. Median duration of imatinib therapy was 16 months (0-107 months). Eighty-two percent had imatinib resistance and 18% were imatinib intolerant. The median duration of nilotinib therapy was 84 days (3-666 days), with a median dose intensity of 800 mg/day (3.7-1,113 mg). The rate of best-confirmed HR was 24% for myeloid and 20% for lymphoid BP. CHR, the primary endpoint of the trial, was attained by 12 and 13%, respectively. The rate of best cytogenetic response was 38% for myeloid and 50% for lymphoid BP, with 28 and 33% CCyR, respectively. OS was 42% after 12 months. At the time of analysis, 93% of all patients had discontinued treatment, mainly for disease progression (54%).

In conclusion, nilotinib has shown significant activity in a series of phase II studies in patients with CML after failure or intolerance of imatinib therapy, particularly, in those in CP or AP. These studies provided the bases for the approval of nilotinib in those settings. The evidence which led to the approval of nilotinib for CML in CP and AP after imatinib failure has recently been reviewed elsewhere (Hazarika et al. 2008).

8.3.3 Nilotinib First-Line Therapy

Given the outstanding results obtained with nilotinib in the post-imatinib setting, the next question to be answered is whether this activity might translate into similar results when this TKI is used in the frontline setting. Three independent phase II studies are currently evaluating this question in patients with Ph-positive CML CP. Preliminary results from two of these studies are already available (Cortes et al. 2008a; Rosti et al. 2008). Results from an M.D. Anderson Cancer Center study (Cortes et al. 2008b) involving 49 patients who received a median nilotinib dose intensity of 800 mg/day (range, 200-800) have been recently reported. Overall, 46 (96%) of 48 evaluable patients achieved a CCyR, with 93, 100, 96, and 91% of patients being in CCyR by 3, 6, 12, and 24 months of therapy, respectively, which compares favorably with CCyR rates reported for historical controls treated with imatinib 400 or 800 mg daily. A major molecular response (MMR), the primary endpoint of the study, was achieved by 45% at 6 months and in 52% of patients at 12 months, respectively. In a similar study, 73 patients with CML CP have been enrolled in an open-label multicenter phase II study from the Gruppo Italiano Malattie Ematologiche dell'Adulto (GIMEMA) investigating 400 mg nilotinib twicedaily dosing and the rate of CCyR at 1 year (Rosti et al. 2008). With a short follow-up, a CCyR was achieved in 97% of patients, and a MMR was reported in 75% at 6 months.

It is worth noting that although the studies described above suggest an important activity of nilotinib in newly diagnosed patients with CML CP, none of them are randomized trials and all comparisons are made with historical controls, and therefore, subject to multiple biases. However, a randomized open-label multicenter phase III study comparing nilotinib with imatinib including 771 newly diagnosed Ph-positive patients with CML CP has recently finished accrual (ENESTnd; Evaluating nilotinib efficacy and safety in clinical trials in newly diagnosed Ph⁺ CML in CP). In this three-armed trial, nilotinib of 400 mg twice-daily or nilotinib of 300 mg twice-daily are compared with imatinib 400 mg once-daily. The primary endpoints are the rate and duration of major molecular remission (defined as \geq 3 log reduction of BCR-ABL transcript levels). The lower dose of nilotinib was chosen to minimize toxicity while maintaining trough levels necessary for efficacy, assuming that the untreated population has a much lower rate of mutations. An extension study protocol permits patients to switch treatment arms. Preliminary results are awaited in 2009.

In conclusion, preliminary results from clinical trials with nilotinib as first-line therapy for CML in CP show a high rate of cytogenetic responses that compares favorably with the historical controls with high-dose imatinib. Responses are generally achieved faster than with imatinib. Results from the ongoing phase III randomized study will certainly help to better define the role of nilotinib in comparison with imatinib in this setting, as well as the clinical importance of more rapid achievement of responses observed with nilotinib.

8.3.4 Nilotinib After Dasatinib Failure

A subgroup of patients in the phase II registration study received nilotinib because of resistance or intolerance to both imatinib and dasatinib, under the assumption that the differing target spectrum will be reflected in the clinical efficacy and the occurrence of adverse events (Hantschel et al. 2008).

The outcome of 78 patients has been reported (Giles et al. 2008a; Abruzzese et al. 2008). Primary endpoints were the rate of MCyR in CP and the rate of confirmed HR in AP and BC. Eighty-five evaluable patients were analyzed. Thirty-nine patients were in CP, 20 in AP, and 28 in BP. The median time since diagnosis of CML was 89, 80, and 31 months, respectively, and the median duration of dasatinib treatment was 6.5, 7.7, and 3.7 months, respectively. Whereas the majority of patients with CML in CP discontinued dasatinib therapy because of an adverse event (67%), most patients in AP or BC discontinued due to disease progression (60 and 75%, respectively). The median duration of nilotinib exposure for all patients was at least 4 months. Among patients in CP, CHR, MCyR, and CCyR rates were 79, 43, and 24%, respectively. In AP, overall HRs were seen in 39 patients, and 6% of patients achieved a CHR. A MCyR was attained by 11% of patients with a median time to first MCyR of 2.3 months and a median duration of MCyR of 2.1 months. In BP. 8% had evidence of HR and 4% attained a MCyR. OS in CP and AP at 12 months was 97 and 63%, respectively. Hematologic and nonhematologic adverse events were comparable with patients who had not received dasatinib before.

Patients receiving nilotinib on a compassionate use program after failure of imatinib alone or both imatinib and dasatinib were analyzed for the occurrence of pleural or pericardial effusions, the two adverse events reported with the use of dasatinib. Results from 621 patients have been reported (le Coutre et al. 2008c). At the last follow-up, 725 CML patients from 66 countries were evaluated. Fifty-nine percent of the patients were in CP; 24% were in AP, and 17% were in BP. Five hundred and seventy-seven patients had failed imatinib, with the majority (67%) being resistant and 148 had failed imatinib and dasatinib with the majority (57%) being intolerant. Effusions were rare in patients who failed to respond to imatinib alone. However, effusions, mostly pleural, were reported in 33% of patients who failed to respond to imatinib and dasatinib, and pleural effusions were the primary reason for treatment discontinuation in 16 of 38 patients treated with dasatinib who developed pleural effusion. Pleural or pericardial effusions occurred at all dose levels of dasatinib, including doses <140 mg, and the development of pleural effusions were independent of the phase of CML. Of note, none of the patients treated with nilotinib in CP developed pleural or pericardial effusion.

In conclusion, nilotinib has significant clinical activity in patients with CML in CP, AP, and BP after previous failure of a second-generation TKI, such as dasatinib, representing a valuable option in this heavily pretreated patient population with limited therapeutic options. Of note, common adverse events after dasatinib failure were rarely seen with nilotinib and were not dose-limiting.

8.3.5

Toxicity

The high dose-intensity that was generally achieved, the low occurrence of Grade 3 or 4 adverse events leading to discontinuation of treatment, and the overall adverse events reported from the phase I and II studies confirm that nilotinib is endowed with a very favorable toxicity profile (Table 8.3) (Kantarjian et al. 2006, 2007, 2008b; le Coutre et al. 2008a; Giles et al. 2008b; le Coutre et al. 2008d).

The most frequently reported nonhematologic adverse events of any grade possibly related to nilotinib were rash, pruritus, nausea, fatigue, headache, diarrhea, vomiting, and constipation. Grade 3 or 4 toxicities were uncommon and observed in $\leq 2\%$ of patients. Of note, drug-related fluid retention syndromes (e.g., pleural effusion, pericardial effusion, pulmonary edema) and bleeding events were uncommon with Grade 3–4 events being extremely rare.

Myelosuppression was common, and the most-frequent Grade 3–4 hematologic abnormalities were neutropenia and thrombocytopenia. 8

110

	Nilotinib ($n > 321$)		Imatinib (<i>n</i> >532)	
	All grades (%)	Grades 3–4 (%)	All grades (%)	Grades 3–4 (%)
Hematologic toxicity	ũ ()	· · · ·	C ()	~ /
Anemia	53	10	-	7
Neutropenia	54	31	-	35
Thrombocytopenia	58	31	-	20
Nonhematologic toxicity				
Rash	31	2	47	<1
Pruritus	26	<1	9	0.4
Nausea	25	<1	63	3
Fatigue	20	1	48	<1
Headache	18	2	36	<1
Diarrhea	12	2	48	3
Vomiting	13	<1	36	3
Constipation	13	<1	-	-
Weight gain	_	_	32	-
Muscle cramps	_	_	62	<1
Myalgia	8	1	20	0.2
Arthralgia	_	_	40	<1
Abdominal pain	_	_	32	2
Dyspepsia	_	_	17	0
Musculoskeletal pain	5	<1	38	2
Cough	_	_	_	_
Dyspnea	_	_	_	_
Pyrexia	_	_	_	_
Asthenia	_	_	_	_
Anorexia	_	_	_	_
Peripheral edema	6	0	67	1
Pericardial effusion	0.6	0.3	_	_
Pleural effusion	1.2	0.6	_	_
Pulmonary edema	0.3	0.3	_	_
Hemorrhages	_	_	30	5
CNS bleeding	0.3	0.3	_	_
GI bleeding	0.9	0.3	_	_
Biochemical abnormalitie	s			
Lipase elevation	46	17	_	_
Hypophosphatemia	54	16	_	_
Hyperglycemia	70	12	_	_
Bilirubin (total)	71	8	_	0.6
ALT	68	4	_	3
AST	55	2	_	3
Hypocalcemia	50	1	_	_
Creatinine	24	2	_	0.2
Hypomagnesemia	17	<1	_	_

Table 8.3 Adverse events with nilotinib (400 mg twice daily) and imatinib as reported from patients with CML in CP treated in phase II trials (Kantarjian et al. 2002, 2007, 2008b; Hochhaus et al. 2008)

ALT alanine aminotransferase; AST aspartate aminotransferase

Their incidence was related to the stage of CML with Grade 3–4 neutropenia of 30% in CP, 40% in AP, and 66% in BC, and Grade 3–4 thrombocy-topenia in 28, 40, and 60%, respectively. The median time to onset of anemia, neutropenia, and thrombocytopenia were 57, 55, and 42 days, respectively. The median duration of Grade 3–4 myelosuppression was 9, 15, and 23 days, respectively. Myelosuppression was generally easily manageable with few dose interruptions, rare dose reductions, or occasional support with hematopoietic growth factors or platelet transfusions.

Hyperbilirubinemia was the most common adverse event observed (71% in CML CP), but was usually short-lived and asymptomatic. Evidence that a polymorphism in the promoter of the UGT1A1 is associated with nilotinibinduced hyperbilirubinemia underlines the benign character of this adverse event (Singer et al. 2007). Common Grade 3 or 4 biochemical laboratory abnormalities observed with nilotinib were lipase elevations, hypophosphatemia, and hyperglycemia. Elevations in biochemical parameters were generally self-limited and frequently resolved spontaneously. There were four cases of pancreatitis in the phase II study resulting in one of these patients discontinuing therapy. Grade 3-4 elevations of transaminases were rare and did not lead to discontinuation of treatment. No patients discontinued nilotinib due to increased bilirubin or transaminase.

Preclinical data indicated that nilotinib prolongs cardiac ventricular repolarization. Nilotinib appeared to increase the corrected QT interval by Fridericia's formula (QTcF) in a dose-dependent manner, but less than 1% of treated patients showed an absolute QTcF interval exceeding 500 ms. No episodes of Torsades de Pointes tachycardia have been reported so far. A possible causal relationship of rare sudden cardiac deaths (0.6%) with nilotinib could not be excluded. Therefore, this risk is described in a boxed warning in the labeling. Electrolyte abnormalities should be corrected before instituting nilotinib therapy, and close electrocardiographic monitoring is mandatory. Caution is warranted when used with other drugs interfering with CYP3A4 metabolism. Nilotinib should be taken on an empty stomach to avoid high plasma peak levels.

Cross-intolerance between imatinib and nilotinib, defined as the occurrence of the same grade 3-4 toxicity, regardless of causality, that led to discontinuation of imatinib, was assessed in 122 patients in CP (n > 95) or AP (n > 27) to evaluate the safety of nilotinib (Jabbour et al. 2008a). Most patients had discontinued imatinib because of Grade 3-4 events. 76 and 78% of those in CP or AP, respectively. Cross-intolerance of nonhematologic adverse events between nilotinib and imatinib was rare, and never led to dose reduction or the discontinuation of nilotinib. Crossintolerance of hematologic adverse events was infrequent with fewer events observed during nilotinib therapy. Thrombocytopenia was the only event that led to discontinuation of nilotinib in a minority of patients, being Grade 3-4 or persistent Grade 2 in 17%, which led to nilotinib discontinuation in 7% of patients with CML CP. Overall, cross-intolerance was minimal in imatinib-intolerant patients. However, as this subgroup analysis only included imatinib-intolerant patients, data obtained in an imatinib-resistant population is needed.

To obtain additional information and evaluate the safety of nilotinib and expand access prior to regulatory approval, an open-label multicenter study was performed in patients with imatinibresistant or -intolerant CML in CP, AP, and BP (Expanding Nilotinib Access in Clinical Trials, ENACT). Dosing was 400 mg twice daily with no dose escalation allowed. More than 2,100 patients have been enrolled in 42 countries at 375 centers. Results for the first 1,056 patients have been presented recently (Nicolini et al. 2008). Results from this and other studies (Rosti et al. 2008; Abruzzese et al. 2008; Cortes et al. 2008c) confirm the tolerability and the favorable safety profile in all phases of CML after imatinib failure or intolerance, even in heavily pretreated patients.

8.3.6 Resistance to Nilotinib

The detailed analysis and prediction of resistance to nilotinib is of increasing importance and may guide treatment decisions with other TKIs to choose from in the future.

In vitro screening assays were applied to predict potential resistance mechanisms against nilotinib (Bradeen et al. 2006; Ray et al. 2007; von Bubnoff et al. 2006). Nilotinib expectedly produced fewer resistant clones and a reduced spectrum of mutations when compared with imatinib in a cell-based assay (Table 8.1) (von Bubnoff et al. 2006). In a mutagenesis screen with imatinib, nilotinib, and dasatinib at various concentrations, resistance was almost exclusively confined to mutations mapping to the P-loop of BCR-ABL kinase, with a small subset of partly overlapping spectrum of mutants for each TKI (Bradeen et al. 2006). This is in agreement with the clinical observation of nilotinib's substantial efficacy after failure of imatinib and dasatinib (Abruzzese et al. 2008).

The mutational status of BCR-ABL before and during treatment with nilotinib, and its influence on the clinical outcome was assessed in a substantial portion of the patients included in the phase II study in CML in CP (Kantarjian et al. 2007; Radich et al. 2008). At the last follow-up, 281 of 321 patients had baseline mutational data available. Forty-one percent had a BCR-ABL mutation at baseline with a higher prevalence in imatinib-resistant patients (55%) than in imatinib-intolerant patients (10%). Patients with secondary resistance had a slightly higher incidence of baseline mutations than patients with primary resistance (58 vs. 46%, respectively). Most of the baseline mutations in imatinibresistant patients had a high sensitivity with an IC₅₀ ≤150 nM. Mutations with a medium sensitivity and an IC₅₀ >150 nM (Y253H, E255K/V, and F359C/V) were detected in 17% of imatinibresistant patients. The T315I mutation with complete resistance and an IC₅₀ >10,000 nM

occurred in 3% of patients. Overall, response and progression rates were similar in patients with or without baseline mutations, but responses were less frequent in patients with Y253H, E255K/V, or F359C/V, and most patients with E255K/V and F359C/V progressed. During nilotinib therapy, newly detectable mutations were found in 17% of all patients with a higher incidence in patients with (29%) than without (9%) baseline mutations. Most mutations belonged to the group with medium (Y253H, E255K/V, F359C/V) or no (T315I) sensitivity. At progression, most patients with baseline mutations also had either the same baseline or newly detectable mutations, whereas most patients with no baseline mutation did not have newly detectable mutations, suggesting the presence of alternative mechanisms of resistance.

The T315I mutation is resistant against all currently approved TKIs, including nilotinib and dasatinib, and was consistently selected in all in vitro screens (Bradeen et al. 2006; Ray et al. 2007; von Bubnoff et al. 2006). Although the T315I mutation is not invariably selected during progression (Willis et al. 2005) and prognosis is mostly dependent on stage of disease (Jabbour et al. 2008b), its complete resistance against the available targeted therapy leads to increased effort to develop inhibitors that are specifically effective against this mutation (Quintas-Cardama et al. 2007). The F317L mutation is relatively resistant to imatinib and seems to be selected after dasatinib failure (Deguchi et al. 2008; Jabbour et al. 2008c). Patients with this mutation did not seem to have a higher rate of progression with nilotinib therapy (Radich et al. 2008) and may, therefore, be preferentially treated with nilotinib.

In cases of CML in AP, where BCR-ABL mutational status was available for evaluation, response rates seemed to be comparable in patients with either unmutated or mutated BCR-ABL, but also depended on the type of mutation (le Coutre et al. 2008a; Saglio et al. 2007). An alternative mechanism of resistance against nilotinib may be the relative insensitivity of CML stem cells to nilotinib (Jorgensen et al. 2007; Konig et al. 2008) similar to what has been observed with imatinib (Bhatia et al. 2003; Graham et al. 2002; Holtz et al. 2002), therefore suggesting that nilotinib may not be a definite cure for the disease.

In conclusion, comparable hematologic and cytogenetic responses to nilotinib are observed both in patients with and without BCR-ABL mutations. However, while some mutations with reduced sensitivity in vitro may be associated with lower response rates and higher rates of progression (Y253H, E255K/V, F359C/V), some that are selected with other TKIs (e.g., V299L and F317L with dasatinib) are responsive to nilotinib. The T315I mutation is completely resistant to all available TKIs, and therefore, patients with this mutation should be referred to alternative treatment options, such as allogeneic stem cell transplantation or investigational agents. For the few BCR-ABL mutations where detailed knowledge about sensitivity is available, this information should be incorporated into treatment decisions.

8.4 Outlook

Nilotinib has proven to be efficacious and safe in patients with CML after imatinib failure (Kim et al. 2008). However, with the increasing number of available effective treatments and improved knowledge about mechanisms of resistance to TKIs, therapeutic decisions are already becoming increasingly complex and will have to be more individualized. Currently, there are no guidelines or recommendations to guide treatment with second-generation TKIs similar to those established for imatinib (Baccarani et al. 2006). Recently, data from a single institution suggests that failure to achieve early cytogenetic response after 3–6 months with a second-generation TKI may identify those patients who should be started on alternative agents (Tam et al. 2008).

Similarly, the role of second-generation TKIs as first-line therapies in CML is scarce. Several phase II studies are currently addressing this question, including one phase III randomized study comparing the activity of nilotinib with that of nilotinib in that setting. Early use of more potent second-generation TKIs may potentially induce faster responses and reduce the selection of resistant clones. To this end, second-generation TKIs, nilotinib and dasatinib, have been approved for the treatment of CML after imatinib failure. Evidence to favor one over the other is lacking. In addition, switching therapy from dasatinib to nilotinib and from nilotinib to dasatinib has been shown to be clinically effective, with minimal cross-reactivity with imatinib. A major player in deciding which second-generation TKI to choose after imatinib failure may be the presence of BCR-ABL mutations selected for by specific TKIs, but amenable to inhibition by others. For instance, whilst the Y253H, E255K/V, and F359C/V mutations confer important degrees of resistance to nilotinib, they remain sensitive to dasatinib, and the contrary is the case with the V299L and F317L mutations. Unfortunately, the T315 mutation remains completely resistant to all approved TKIs and requires alternative forms of treatment. Thus, the presence and type of BCR-ABL mutations as well as clinical judgment to balance patients' comorbidities against specific TKIs' toxicity profiles are elements that ultimately will guide the type of TKI to use in particular scenarios.

Finally, longer follow-up of patients treated with TKIs is warranted to determine whether TKI therapy can be safely stopped. Current evidence indicates that while long-lasting molecular remissions may occur after discontinuation of imatinib (Rousselot et al. 2007), relapse ensues in a high proportion of patients (Cortes et al. 2004; Rousselot et al. 2007).

8.5 Conclusion

Nilotinib is a second-generation TKI with enhanced specificity for BCR-ABL kinase when compared with imatinib. In clinical trials, nilotinib has shown considerable activity in Ph-positive CML, which has led to its approval for patients with CML CP or AP after failure of previous treatments including imatinib. Adverse events are generally mild to moderate with nilotinib, and cross-intolerance with imatinib is rare. Specific BCR-ABL mutations may result in decreased activity (e.g., P-loop mutations) or complete insensitivity to nilotinib (i.e., T315I) and should be taken into consideration when selecting nilotinib for the treatment of CML after imatinib failure. Ongoing studies will determine whether nilotinib therapy improves the results obtained with imatinib as frontline therapy for CML.

References

- Abruzzese E, Alimena G, le Coutre P, et al (2008) Nilotinib in chronic myelogenous leukemia patients who failed prior imatinib and dasatinib therapy: Updated results of an open-label phase II study. J Clin Oncol 26:abstr. 7055
- Apperley JF (2007) Part I: mechanisms of resistance to imatinib in chronic myeloid leukaemia. Lancet Oncol 8:1018–1029
- Baccarani M, Saglio G, Goldman J et al (2006) Evolving concepts in the management of chronic myeloid leukemia: recommendations from an expert panel on behalf of the European LeukemiaNet. Blood 108:1809–1820
- Bhatia R, Holtz M, Niu N et al (2003) Persistence of malignant hematopoietic progenitors in chronic myelogenous leukemia patients in complete cytogenetic remission following imatinib mesylate treatment. Blood 101:4701–4707
- Bradeen HA, Eide CA, O'Hare T et al (2006) Comparison of imatinib mesylate, dasatinib (BMS-354825), and nilotinib (AMN107) in an

N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (ENU)-based mutagenesis screen: high efficacy of drug combinations. Blood 108:2332–2338

- Cohen MH, Johnson JR, Pazdur R (2005) U.S. Food and Drug Administration Drug Approval Summary: conversion of imatinib mesylate (STI571; Gleevec) tablets from accelerated approval to full approval. Clin Cancer Res 11:12–19
- Cortes JC, Jones DJ, O'Brien SOB, et al (2008) Efficacy of nilotinib in patients (pts) with newly diagnosed, previously untreated Philadelphia chromomsome (Ph)-positive chronic myelogenous leukemia in early chronic phase (CML-CP). Haematologica 93:abstr. 0121
- Cortes JE, O'Brien SM, Ferrajoli A, et al (2008) Efficacy of nilotinib (AMN107) in patients (Pts) with newly diagnosed, previously untreated philadelphia chromosome (Ph)- positive chronic myelogenous leukemia in early chronic phase (CML-CP). J Clin Oncol 26:abstr. 7016
- Cortes J, O'Brien S, Jones D et al (2008b) Efficacy of nilotinib (formerly AMN107) in patients (Pts) with newly diagnosed, previously untreated Philadelphia chromosome (Ph)-positive chronic myelogenous leukemia in early chronic phase (CML-CP). ASH Annu Meet Abstr 112:446
- Cortes J, O'Brien S, Kantarjian H (2004) Discontinuation of imatinib therapy after achieving a molecular response. Blood 104:2204–2205
- Deguchi Y, Kimura S, Ashihara E et al (2008) Comparison of imatinib, dasatinib, nilotinib and INNO-406 in imatinib-resistant cell lines. Leuk Res 32:980–983
- Deininger MW, O'Brien SG, Ford JM, Druker BJ (2003) Practical management of patients with chronic myeloid leukemia receiving imatinib. J Clin Oncol 21:1637–1647
- Druker BJ, Guilhot F, O'Brien SG et al (2006) Fiveyear follow-up of patients receiving imatinib for chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 355: 2408–2417
- Druker BJ, Tamura S, Buchdunger E et al (1996) Effects of a selective inhibitor of the Abl tyrosine kinase on the growth of Bcr-Abl positive cells. Nat Med 2:561–566
- Giles FJ, Larson RA, Kantarjian HM, et al (2008) Nilotinib in chronic myelogenous leukemia in blast crisis (CML-BC) patients with imatinibresistance or -intolerance: updated phase 2 results. Haematologica 93:abstr. 0117

- Giles F, le Coutre PD, Bhalla KN et al (2008a) Efficacy and tolerability of nilotinib in chronic myeloid leukemia patients in chronic phase (CML-CP) who failed prior imatinib and dasatinib therapy: updated results of a phase 2 study. ASH Annu Meet Abstr 112:3234
- Golemovic M, Verstovsek S, Giles F et al (2005) AMN107, a novel aminopyrimidine inhibitor of Bcr-Abl, has in vitro activity against imatinibresistant chronic myeloid leukemia. Clin Cancer Res 11:4941–4947
- Gorre ME, Mohammed M, Ellwood K et al (2001) Clinical resistance to STI-571 cancer therapy caused by BCR-ABL gene mutation or amplification. Science 293:876–880
- Graham SM, Jorgensen HG, Allan E et al (2002) Primitive, quiescent, Philadelphia-positive stem cells from patients with chronic myeloid leukemia are insensitive to STI571 in vitro. Blood 99:319–325
- Hantschel O, Rix U, Superti-Furga G (2008) Target spectrum of the BCR-ABL inhibitors imatinib, nilotinib and dasatinib. Leuk Lymphoma 49: 615–619
- Hazarika M, Jiang X, Liu Q et al (2008) Tasigna for chronic and accelerated phase Philadelphia chromosome–positive chronic myelogenous leukemia resistant to or intolerant of imatinib. Clin Cancer Res 14:5325–5331
- Hochhaus A, Druker B, Sawyers C et al (2008) Favorable long-term follow-up results over 6 years for response, survival, and safety with imatinib mesylate therapy in chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia after failure of interferonalpha treatment. Blood 111:1039–1043
- Holtz MS, Slovak ML, Zhang F, Sawyers CL, Forman SJ, Bhatia R (2002) Imatinib mesylate (STI571) inhibits growth of primitive malignant progenitors in chronic myelogenous leukemia through reversal of abnormally increased proliferation. Blood 99:3792–3800
- Hughes T, Deininger M, Hochhaus A et al (2006) Monitoring CML patients responding to treatment with tyrosine kinase inhibitors: review and recommendations for harmonizing current methodology for detecting BCR-ABL transcripts and kinase domain mutations and for expressing results. Blood 108:28–37
- Hughes TP, Kaeda J, Branford S et al (2003) Frequency of major molecular responses to imatinib or interferon alfa plus cytarabine in newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 349:1423–1432

- Jabbour E, Kantarjian HM, Baccarani M et al (2008a) Minimal cross-intolerance between nilotinib and imatinib in patients with imatinib-intolerant chronic myeloid leukemia in chronic phase (CML-CP) or accelerated phase (CML-AP). ASH Annu Meet Abstr 112:3215
- Jabbour E, Kantarjian H, Jones D et al (2008b) Characteristics and outcomes of patients with chronic myeloid leukemia and T315I mutation following failure of imatinib mesylate therapy. Blood 112:53–55
- Jabbour E, Kantarjian HM, Jones D et al (2008c) Characteristics and outcome of patients with F317L BCR-ABL kinase domain mutation after therapy with tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Blood 112:4839–4842
- Jorgensen HG, Allan EK, Jordanides NE, Mountford JC, Holyoake TL (2007) Nilotinib exerts equipotent antiproliferative effects to imatinib and does not induce apoptosis in CD34+ CML cells. Blood 109:4016–4019
- Kagan M, Tran P, Fischer V, et al (2005) Safety, pharmacokinetics (PK), metabolism, and mass balance of [14C]-AMN107, a novel aminopyrimidine inhibitor of Bcr-Abl tyrosine kinase, in healthy subjects. Blood 106:abstr. 4887
- Kantarjian HM, Giles F, Bhalla KN et al (2008a) Nilotinib in chronic myeloid leukemia patients in chronic phase (CMLCP) with imatinib resistance or intolerance: 2-year follow-up results of a phase 2 study. ASH Annu Meet Abstr 112: 3238
- Kantarjian HM, Giles FJ, Bhalla KN, et al (2008) Nilotinib in chronic myelogenous leukemia in chronic phase (CML-CP) patients with imatinibresistance or -intolerance: updated phase 2 results. Haematologica 93:abstr. 0883
- Kantarjian HM, Giles F, Gattermann N et al (2007) Nilotinib (formerly AMN107), a highly selective BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitor, is effective in patients with Philadelphia chromosomepositive chronic myelogenous leukemia in chronic phase following imatinib resistance and intolerance. Blood 110:3540–3546
- Kantarjian H, Giles F, Wunderle L et al (2006) Nilotinib in imatinib-resistant CML and Philadelphia chromosome-positive ALL. N Engl J Med 354:2542–2551
- Kantarjian H, Sawyers C, Hochhaus A et al (2002) Hematologic and cytogenetic responses to imatinib mesylate in chronic myelogenous leukemia. N Engl J Med 346:645–652

- Kim TD, Dörken B, le Coutre P (2008) Nilotinib for the treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia. Expert Rev Hematol 1:29–39
- Konig H, Holtz M, Modi H et al (2008) Enhanced BCR-ABL kinase inhibition does not result in increased inhibition of downstream signaling pathways or increased growth suppression in CML progenitors. Leukemia 22:748–755
- le Coutre PD, Giles F, Hochhaus A et al (2008b) Nilotinib in chronic myeloid leukemia patients in accelerated phase (CML-AP) with imatinib resistance or intolerance: 2-year follow-up results of a phase 2 study. ASH Annu Meet Abstr 112:3229
- le Coutre P, Giles FJ, Hochhaus A, et al (2008) Nilotinib in imatinib-resistant or -intolerant patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia in accelerated phase (CML-AP): update of a phase 2 study. Haematologica 93:abstr. 0118
- le Coutre P, O'Dwyer M, Mendes W, Woodman R (2008) The occurence of pleural/pericardial effusions in Ph+ CMl patients failing prior tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) before starting nilotinib – analysis of data from compassionate use program. Haematologica 93:abstr. 0557
- le Coutre P, Ottmann OG, Giles F et al (2008a) Nilotinib (formerly AMN107), a highly selective BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitor, is active in patients with imatinib-resistant or -intolerant accelerated-phase chronic myelogenous leukemia. Blood 111:1834–1839
- Manley PW, Breitenstein W, Bruggen J et al (2004) Urea derivatives of STI571 as inhibitors of Bcr-Abl and PDGFR kinases. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 14:5793–5797
- Nicolini F, Alimena G, Shen Z, et al (2008) Expanding nilotinib access in clinical trials (enact) study in adult patients with imatinib-resistant or intolerant chronic myeloid leukemia (CML): updated safety analysis. Haematologica 93:abstr. 0134
- O'Hare T, Eide CA, Deininger MW (2007) Bcr-Abl kinase domain mutations, drug resistance, and the road to a cure for chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 110:2242–2249
- O'Hare T, Walters DK, Stoffregen EP et al (2005) In vitro activity of Bcr-Abl inhibitors AMN107 and BMS-354825 against clinically relevant imatinib-resistant Abl kinase domain mutants. Cancer Res 65:4500–4505
- Quintas-Cardama A, Kantarjian H, Cortes J (2007) Flying under the radar: the new wave of BCR-ABL inhibitors. Nat Rev Drug Discov 6: 834–848

- Radich J, Kim DW, Martinelli G, et al (2008) Response to nilotinib in chronic myelogenous leukemia patients in chronic phase (CML-CP) according to bcr-abl mutations at baseline. Haematologica 93:abstr. 0137
- Ray A, Cowan-Jacob SW, Manley PW, Mestan J, Griffin JD (2007) Identification of BCR-ABL point mutations conferring resistance to the Abl kinase inhibitor AMN107 (nilotinib) by a random mutagenesis study. Blood 109:5011–5015
- Rix U, Hantschel O, Durnberger G et al (2007) Chemical proteomic profiles of the BCR-ABL inhibitors imatinib, nilotinib, and dasatinib reveal novel kinase and nonkinase targets. Blood 110:4055–4063
- Rosti G, Castagnetti F, Palandri F, et al (2008) Nilotinib 800 mg daily as first line treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia in early chronic phase: results of a phase 2 trial of the GIMEMA CML working party. Haematologica 93:abstr. 0404
- Rousselot P, Huguet F, Rea D et al (2007) Imatinib mesylate discontinuation in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia in complete molecular remission for more than 2 years. Blood 109: 58–60
- Saglio G, Kim D-W, Hochhaus A et al (2007) Correlation of clinical response to nilotinib with BCR-ABL mutation status in advanced phase chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML-AP) patients with imatinib-resistance or intolerance. ASH Annu Meet Abstr 110:1940
- Sawyers CL, Hochhaus A, Feldman E et al (2002) Imatinib induces hematologic and cytogenetic responses in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia in myeloid blast crisis: results of a phase II study. Blood 99:3530–3539
- Shah NP, Nicoll JM, Nagar B et al (2002) Multiple BCR-ABL kinase domain mutations confer polyclonal resistance to the tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib (STI571) in chronic phase and blast crisis chronic myeloid leukemia. Cancer Cell 2:117–125
- Singer JB, Shou Y, Giles F et al (2007) UGT1A1 promoter polymorphism increases risk of nilotinib-induced hyperbilirubinemia. Leukemia 21: 2311–2315
- Talpaz M, Silver RT, Druker BJ et al (2002) Imatinib induces durable hematologic and cytogenetic responses in patients with accelerated phase chronic myeloid leukemia: results of a phase 2 study. Blood 99:1928–1937

- Tam CS, Kantarjian H, Garcia-Manero G et al (2008) Failure to achieve a major cytogenetic response by twelve months defines inadequate response in patients receiving nilotinib or dasatinib as second or subsequent line therapy for chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood. 112: 516–518
- Tanaka T, Smith T, Kantarjian H, et al (2006) Clinical pharmacokinetics (PK) of AMN107, a novel inhibitor of Bcr-Abl, in healthy subjects and patients with imatinib resistant or intolerant chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) or relapsed/refractory Ph+ acute lymphocytic leukemia (Ph+ ALL). J Clin Oncol 24:abstr. 3095
- von Bubnoff N, Manley PW, Mestan J, Sanger J, Peschel C, Duyster J (2006) Bcr-Abl resistance

screening predicts a limited spectrum of point mutations to be associated with clinical resistance to the Abl kinase inhibitor nilotinib (AMN107). Blood 108:1328–1333

- Weisberg E, Manley PW, Breitenstein W et al (2005) Characterization of AMN107, a selective inhibitor of native and mutant Bcr-Abl. Cancer Cell 7: 129–141
- Weisberg E, Manley P, Mestan J, Cowan-Jacob S, Ray A, Griffin JD (2006) AMN107 (nilotinib): a novel and selective inhibitor of BCR-ABL. Br J Cancer 94:1765–1769
- Willis SG, Lange T, Demehri S et al (2005) Highsensitivity detection of BCR-ABL kinase domain mutations in imatinib-naive patients: correlation with clonal cytogenetic evolution but not response to therapy. Blood 106:2128–2137

Bosutinib

Gunhild Keller, Philippe Schafhausen, and Tim H. Brümmendorf

Abstract Bosutinib (SKI-606) is a 7-alkoxy-3quinolinecarbonitrile, which functions as a dual inhibitor of Src and Abl kinases. In biochemical and proliferation assays, the compound was shown to be active against src family kinases and Bcr-Abl at IC50s of 100 and 90 nM, respectively. The bcrabl fusion gene product, a consecutively activated tyrosine kinase, which is crucial for the development of chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML), is highly sensitive to bosutinib. Interestingly, distinctly lower concentrations of the dual src/abl inhibitor are required to ablate Bcr-Abl phosphorylation when compared to first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib (IM). Bosutinib is a potent inhibitor of CML cell proliferation in vitro and in vivo experiments and has demonstrated promising harbouring results in CML patients resistance or intolerance to IM in ongoing phase I/II clinical trials. Remarkably, bosutinib has been found to be capable of overcoming the majority of IM-resistant bcr-abl mutations. A randomised open label phase III clinical study to compare the efficacy of bosutinib and IM in firstline therapy of Ph⁺ chronic phase (CP) CML has recently been initiated. In a phase I/II clinical study with subjects suffering from advanced stages of solid tumours, long-term responses have also been reported. In conclusion, Bosutinib is a promising novel small molecule inhibitor for targeted therapy of CML and solid tumours.

9.1 Chemical Structure

Bosutinib (SKI-606), 4-[(2, 4-dichloro-5-methoxyphenyl)amino]-6-methoxy-7-[3-(4-methyl-1-piperazinyl)propoxy]-3-quinolinecarbonitrile monohydrate, is a competitive inhibitor of both Src and Abl tyrosine kinases. It was originally synthesised as an inhibitor of the src kinase family and its preparation started with methyl vanillate. The small molecule inhibitor is of low weight (548.46 kDa) and is orally bioavailable (Boschelli et al. 2001).

9.2 Mechanism of Action

Bosutinib is a potent inhibitor of the Src and Abl tyrosine kinases with distinct lower activity

T. H. Brümmendorf (🖂)

Dept. of Hematology and Oncology, University Hospital Aachen, Pauwelsstraße 30, 52074 Aachen, Germany

University Cancer Center Hamburg (UCCH), University Hospital Eppendorf, Martinistraße 52, 20246 Hamburg, Germany

e-mail: t.bruemmendorf@uke.uni-hamburg.de

against few other serine-threonine/tyrosine kinases (Puttini et al. 2006).

9.2.1 SRC Kinase Inhibition

The tyrosine kinase Src is a member of a family of related kinases known as the SFKs (Src familv kinases) that share a common structural organisation and function as key regulators of signal transduction pathways triggered by a wide variety of surface receptors, including receptor tyrosine kinases, integrins, G-proteincoupled receptors and antigen receptors (Thomas and Brugge 1997). Various studies and clinical observations point to a key role of Src kinases in malignant cell transformation, tumour progression and metastatic spread as a consequence of changes in protein expression and/or kinase activity (Summy and Gallick 2003; Johnson and Gallick 2007; Li 2008). Indeed, overexpression of src kinases has been detected in several human malignancies, including carcinomas of the breast, lung, colon, oesophagus, skin, pancreas, cervix as well as gastric tissues (Mazurenko et al. 1992; Ottenhoff-Kalff et al. 1992; Verbeek et al. 1996; Lutz et al. 1998; Jallal et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2007). Bosutinib is capable of inhibiting Src kinase at nanomolar concentrations. Thus, an IC50 of 1.2 nM has been reported in the src enzymatic assay inhibition of Src-dependent protein tyrosine phosphorylation can be detected at comparable or lower concentrations. In addition, bosutinib successfully inhibited growth of Srctransformed fibroblasts and src overexpressing HT29 colon tumours subcutaneously transplanted into athymic nu/nu mice (Compound 31a) (Boschelli et al. 2001).

9.2.2 Abl and bcr-abl Inhibition

c-Abl belongs to an evolutionary conserved family and encodes a ubiquitously expressed non-receptor protein tyrosine kinase localised in the cytoplasm and the nucleus (Laneuville 1995; Pendergast 1996). Oncogenic transformation mediated by different genomic alterations of the c-abl protooncogene results in abnormal cellular development and a suppression of apoptosis (Chung et al. 1996). Bosutinib inhibits bacterially expressed Abl kinase with an IC50 of 1 nM and growth of Abl-MLVtransformed fibroblasts at an IC50 of 90 nM. which is in the range of the IC50 obtained for tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib (IM). Tyrosine phosphorylation is by bosutinib in whole cell extracts of Abl-MLV-transformed fibroblasts in a manner consistent with the attained anti-proliferative activity. In addition, incubation of Abl-MLV-transformed Rat 2 fibroblasts with comparable concentrations of bosutinib and IM results in quantitatively similar reductions of tyrosine phosphorylation of cellular proteins (Golas et al. 2003).

In chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML) and Philadelphia chromosome positive (Ph⁺) acute lymphocytic leukaemia (ALL), a reciprocal translocation of the proto-oncogene c-ABL from chromosome 9 to the breakpoint cluster region (BCR) of chromosome 22 results in activation of the c-ABL oncogene. This hybrid BCR-ABL fusion gene encodes a consecutively activated tyrosine kinase, which phosphorylates a broad range of substrates, many of which are crucial in cellular signal transduction (Sattler and Griffin 2003). In BCR-ABL positive CML cells, Bosutinib shows a similar pattern of phosphorylation inhibition like IM. However, while the efficacy between IM and bosutinib as inhibitors of v-abl phosphorylation is within the same range distinct lower concentrations of the dual src/abl inhibitor are required to ablate bcr-abl phosphorylation. In addition, bosutinib virtually abolishes tyrosine phosphorylation of bcr-abl at concentrations between 25 and 50 nM, whereas v-Abl phosphorylation in the immunoprecipitates does not decrease to this extent until a concentration of 200 nM. This indicates that tyrosine phosphorylation of v-Abl is less sensitive to bosutinib than bcr-abl (Golas et al. 2003).

9.3 Bosutinib in Chronic Myeloid Leukaemia (CML)

9.3.1 Preclinical Data

The anti-proliferative activity of bosutinib has been demonstrated in different bcr-abl expressing leukaemia cell lines. In fact, efficacy of bosutinib has been found to be superior to IM with IC50 values ranging from 1 to 20 nM when compared to IM with 51-221 nM, respectively (Golas et al. 2003; Puttini et al. 2006). In addition, bosutinib successfully inhibits growth of IM-resistant human cell lines, such as Lama84R, KCL22R and K562R. In line with these findings, inhibition of proliferation of murine pro-B Ba/F3 cells stably transformed by p210 Bcr-Abl WT or four imatinib-resistant point mutants (D276G, Y253F, E255K and T315I) is more pronounced under bosutinib treatment than under IM therapy. Thus, WT, D276G and Y253F transfectants are inhibited in the low nanomolar range of the dual src/ abl kinase inhibitor. However, the T315I bcr-abl mutant requires one to two order higher concentrations of bosutinib when compared with wt bcrabl cells (Puttini et al. 2006), suggesting inactivity against this mutation since these levels are unlikely to be achieved in patients. In in vivo experiments, bosutinib administered at 75 mg/kg twice daily or 150 mg/kg once daily results in a complete regression of human K562 xenografts for up to 40 days (Golas et al. 2003). Remarkably, while IM is unable to eradicate KU812 human tumour xenografts with a relapse rate of 30% at experimental day 8, bosutinib treatment initiated at day 8 and 15 after leukemic cell injection leads to a complete eradication of disease with all animals remaining tumour-free for up to experimental day 210 (Puttini et al. 2006). In mice injected s.c. with Ba/F3 Bcr-Abl+xenografts containing WT or mutant Bcr-Abl (E255K, Y253F and D276G) and treated with bosutinib 1 day after tumour cell injection, the dual src/abl kinase inhibitor induces a statistically significant decrease of tumour growth and a prolonged event-free survival. However, in animals with a delayed initiation of bosutinib therapy, relapse of disease is found in the majority of mice. Furthermore, bosutinib does not influence proliferation of highly IM-resistant T315I xenografts (Puttini et al. 2006).

9.3.2 Clinical Trials

A phase I/II clinical trial in Philadelphia chromosome positive leukaemia is currently being carried out (3160A4-200-WW, www.clinicaltrials.gov). The phase I part of this trial has identified a treatment dose of 500 mg daily, for which clinical efficacy has been demonstrated while a dose-limiting toxicity has been found at 600 mg daily. The phase II part of the study investigating the efficacy and safety of bosutinib in CML patients (pts) with chronic phase (CP), accelerated phase (AP) or blast crisis (BC) or PH⁺ ALL who have failed IM therapy is currently ongoing.

9.3.2.1 CML Chronic Phase (CP CML)

Preliminary data of IM-resistant or -intolerant CML CP pts treated with bosutinib 500 mg daily have recently been presented at the 2008 annual meeting of the American society of clinical oncology (ASCO) in Chicago (Bruemmendorf et al. 2008). The study population includes IM-resistant or -intolerant patients: IM resistance has been defined by no complete haematologic response (CHR) after 3 months, no cytogenetic response after 6 months and/or no major cytogenetic response (MCR) after 12 months of therapy with an IM dose of ³600 mg daily. Individuals have been considered to be intolerant to IM if toxicities ³grade 3 or persistent grade 2 not

Characteristics	CP CML (<i>n</i> >257)
Median age: years (range)	54 (18–91)
Median time from	52 (0-264)
diagnosis: months	
(range)	
Mutations ^a	44 (42)
Prior therapy (other than IM)	
Interferon	86 (33)
Dasatinib	60 (23)
Nilotinib	7 (3)
SCT	13 (5)

 Table 9.1
 Patient characteristics of chronic phase

 (CP) CML patients

^a104 patients tested for mutations

responding to adequate management and/or dose adjustments appear. Patients' characteristics are listed in Table 9.1. In total, at the time of this analysis, 278 patients have been included in the study with 65% sharing resistance and 28% intolerance to IM. In addition to prior treatment with IM, a subset of patients received interferon (86 pts), dasatinib (60 pts), or nilotinib (7 pts). Thirteen patients had undergone stem cell transplantation. At the point of presentation, median duration of bosutinib treatment was 5.3 months (range 0.23-26.4). Haematologic, cytogenetic and molecular responses were evaluated for 59. 77 and 57 IM-resistant patients, respectively. Eighty percent (47 pts) had a CHR, 40% (31 pts) achieved an MCR with a complete cytogenetic response (CCR) in 26% (20 pts). In addition, in 35%, a major molecular response (MMR) was observed of which 18% were complete. Remarkably, in patients with dasatinib resistance, a 100% (11/11) overall haematologic response was found. Response in IM-intolerant patients with no prior exposure to other TKIs than IM revealed a CHR in 80% (20/25), an MCR in 60% (12/20) with a CCR in 45% and MCR in 28% (7/25) with 20% CMR (5/25) of the patients. In 104 individuals, mutation status was assessed before initiation of bosutinib therapy and 18 different mutations were identified. Response analysis by individual mutations revealed haematologic and cytogenetic responses over a broad spectrum of mutations including both P-loop and non-P-loop mutations.

The most common non-haematologic adverse events included diarrhoea, nausea, rash, abdominal pain and vomiting. Diarrhoea was of low grade in the majority of the cases, restricted to the first 2 weeks and typically self-limiting. Fluid retention was observed in only 10% of the patients. The events of haematologic toxicity were moderate with grade 3/4 neutropenia, thrombocytopenia and anaemia in 10, 19 and 6%, respectively.

9.3.2.2 Accelerated Phase (AP CML), Blast Phase (BP CML) and Ph⁺ ALL

An update of data of an ongoing phase II trial with an open label continuous daily dosing schedule (bosutinib 500 mg/day) in patients with AP (n > 41)and BP CML (n > 35) and Ph⁺ ALL (n > 21) was presented at the 2008 ASCO Annual Meeting (Gambacorti-Passerini et al. 2008). All patients included were previously treated with IM plus/ minus other TKIs and exhibited IM resistance or intolerance. Patients characteristics are summarised in Table 9.2. Haematologic, cytogenetic and molecular response data are shown in Table 9.3. Fifty-seven patients were evaluated for mutational status before bosutinib therapy; 14 different mutations were detected with 18% of the patients harbouring P-Loop mutations and 37% harbouring non-P-Loop mutations. In addition, 14% of the individuals had the highly IM-resistant T315I-mutation while 46% did not have a utation prior to bosutinib therapy. Remarkably, bosutinib has been found to be capable to overcome the majority of mutations except the mutation T315I (see Table 9.4). In accordance to the other clinical trials with bosutinib, most common treatment emerging adverse events included diarrhoea, vomiting, nausea, pyrexia, rash and abdominal pain. Fluid retention occurred in 19% of all patients

Characteristics		AP (<i>n</i> =41)	BC (<i>n</i> =35)	$Ph^+ ALL (n=21)$	Total (<i>n</i> =98)
Sex: <i>n</i> (%)	Male	25 (61)	21 (60)	10 (48)	57 (58)
	Female	16 (39)	14 (40)	11 (52)	41 (42)
Median age: years (range)		53 (18-83)	49 (22-80)	58 (24-81)	51 (18-84)
Median time from diagnosis months, (range)	:	71 (0–202)	49 (4–173)	12.5 (2–92)	48 (0–202)
Prior therapy: (other than					
IM) n (%)					
Interferon		21 (51)	12 (34)	0 (0)	33 (34)
Dasatinib		19 (46)	13 (37)	5 (24)	37 (38)
Nilotinib		8 (20)	5 (14)	1 (5)	14 (14)
SCT		3 (7)	3 (9)	4 (19)	10 (10)

Table 9.2 Patient characteristics of CML patients in accelerated phase (AP) or blast crisis (BC) and patients suffering from Philadelphia positive (Ph⁺) ALL

Table 9.3 Response to bosutinb treatment in AP/BC CML and Ph⁺ ALL

Response	Patients exposed to imatinib only <i>n</i> (%)	Patients exposed to IM andother TKIs <i>n</i> (%)
Haematologic response		
Evaluable	25	13
Overall	12 (48)	4 (31)
Complete	12 (48)	3 (23)
Cytogenetic response		
Evaluable	21	19
Major	15 (71)	7 (37)
Complete	9 (43)	3 (16)
Molecular response		
Evaluable	25	20
Major	10 (40)	3 (15)
Complete	4 (16)	1 (5)

Table 9.4 Response by mutation status in AP/BP CML and Ph⁺ ALL

Mutation type	Response, <i>n</i> /evaluable (%)			
	OHR	CHR	MCR	
P-Loop	1/3 (33)	1/3 (33)	2/4 (50)	
Non-P-Loop	2/6 (67)	1/6 (17)	3/8 (38)	
No mutation	6/15 (40)	6/15 (40)	8/16 (50)	

OHR overall haematological response

with 3% being of grade 3 and 4. Two of latter patients suffered from pleural effusion. Haematologic toxicity was detected in the majority of patients and grade 3/4 anaemia was reported in 38%, thrombocytopenia in 70% and neutropenia in 49% of the treated individuals.

9

A worldwide clinical phase III randomised open label trial to compare the rate of CCRs 1 year after treatment initiation with bosutinib or IM in individuals with newly diagnosed CP Ph⁺ CML has started recruitment (3160A4-3000-WW, www.clinicaltrials.gov).

9.4 Bosutinib in Solid Tumours

9.4.1 Preclinical Data

9.4.1.1 Breast Cancer

Bosutinib causes a decrease in cell proliferation, migration and invasion of breast cancer cell lines accompanied by an increase of cell-tocell adhesions and a membrane localisation of beta-catenin, a phosphoprotein that functions as both, a structural component of the cell adhesion/actin cytoskeleton network and a signalling molecule when localised in the nucleus. Analysis of downstream effectors of Src reveals an inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and Akt phosphorylation as well as a reduced phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK), proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 (Pyk2) and Crk-associated substrate (p130Cas). Thus, bosutinib inhibits signalling pathways involved in cell proliferation and malignant transformation as well as tumour cell motility and invasion (Jallal et al. 2007; Vultur et al. 2008). Proliferation of MDA-MB-231 cells inoculated into the mammary fat pads of female BALB/c nu/nu mice is significantly suppressed secondary to bosutinib therapy when compared with control animals receiving only the vehicle solution. In addition, analysis of lungs, liver and spleen have shown a significant reduction of metastatic spread in animals treated with the small molecule inhibitor at a well-tolerated dose.

9.4.1.2 Colorectal Cancer

Bosutinib decreases tumour growths of subcutaneous colorectal cancer xenograft models generated with different tumour cell lines (HT29, Colo205, HCT116 and DLD1) and causes substantial reduction of Src autophosphorylation at Tyr418 (Golas et al. 2005). In addition, it prevents Src-dependent activation of beta-catenin. While, however, protein levels of beta-catenin remain substantially unchanged by bosutinib, a cytosolic/membranous retention of beta-catenin is promoted instead. The bosutinib mediated relocalisation of beta-catenin increases its binding affinity to E-cadherin and adhesion of colorectal cancer cells resulting in a reduced cell motility (Coluccia et al. 2006). A decreased cell motion as well as the ability of bosutinib to reduce VEGF-mediated vascular permeability and tumour cell extravasation combined with the effect of Src inhibition in stromal cells may be responsible for the superior activity of bosutinib in vivo when compared with the attained effects in cell culture experiments.

9.4.1.3 Non-Small Cell Lung Cell Cancer (NSCLC)

Immunohistochemical analyses of NSCLC biopsy samples reveal an upregulation of src kinase in 33% of the tumours. In NSCLC cell lines with elevated src kinase activity, treatment with bosutinib induces apoptosis and causes a cleavage of caspase-3 and PARP (Zhang et al. 2007).

9.4.2 Clinical Trials

At the annual ASCO meeting in 2007, Messersmith et al. presented preliminary results of a phase I study (3160A1-100-US) carried out in patients with advanced solid tumours to assess tolerability, safety, pharmacokinetics as well as preliminary anti-tumour activity of bosutinib. The compound was generally well tolerated with predominant gastrointestinal adverse events (see also above). Six patients with breast, colorectal or non-small cell lung cancer were reported to have a stable disease for more than 15 weeks while one subject suffering from pancreatic cancer did not experience profession on disease for more than 52 weeks (Messersmith et al. 2007). Bosutinib is currently evaluated in Phase II clinical trials for the treatment of solid tumours (metastatic breast cancer; Protocol 3160A2-201-WW).

9.5 Conclusion and Future Directions

In conclusion, bosutinib is a novel dual src/abl kinase inhibitor with high activity against IM-resistant CML as well as solid tumours overexpressing src kinase. Its profile of activity is specific with an only limited number of targets outside the abl and src kinase family. Therefore, a reduced number of off-target effects potentially resulting in a decreased toxicity profile can be expected when compared with other second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors and maybe also compared with IM (Fig. 9.1). Indeed, presumably



Fig. 9.1 Activity profile of imatinib and secondgeneration tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Bosutinib selectively targets bcr-abl and src kinase with no activity against PDGFR or c-KIT. This new inhibi-

tion profile with very limited target effects has been held responsible for the decreased number of side effects observed under bosutinib therapy PDGFR and/or KIT-mediated side effects such as oedema, muscle cramps, skin rash and inhibition of normal haematopoiesis typically observed under the TKIs used in bcr-abl-positive leukemias may possibly occur less frequent in patients treated with bosutinib. Decreasing toxicity at maintained efficacy is of particular interest once second-generation TKIs make their way into frontline therapy of CP CML.

The reciprocal translocation of chromosome 9 and 22 resulting in the BCR-ABL fusion gene is a key event in the malignant transformation of CML. However, different studies point to an important role of SFKs in disease progression. Thus, overexpression and/or activation of Hck and Lyn has been observed during CML progression (Donato et al. 2003). In addition, the transition of CP CML to lymphoid blast crisis (BC) in mice requires the presence of Lyn, Hck and Fgr (Hu et al. 2006). Remarkably, downregulation of Lyn expression by siRNA induces apoptosis in bcr-abl positive blasts, in particular when lymphoid in nature (Ptasznik et al. 2004). With respect to these findings, the dual inhibition of BCR-ABL and SFK seems a promising strategy, which may delay or even potentially avoid the transition of CP CML to (lymphoid) BC. Additional clinical studies will have to be carried out to further clarify role of bosutinib in treatment of CP and advanced CML as well as in solid tumours in the future.

References

- Boschelli DH, Ye F et al (2001) Optimization of 4-phenylamino-3-quinolinecarbonitriles as potent inhibitors of Src kinase activity. J Med Chem 44(23):3965–3977
- Bruemmendorf TH, Cervantes F, et al (2008) Bosutinib is safe and active in patients (pts) with chronic phase (CP) chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) with resistance or intolerance to imatinib and other tyrosine kinase inhibitors. J Clin Oncol 26(Suppl):abstr. 7001

- Chung SW, Daniel R et al (1996) The ABL genes in normal and abnormal cell development. Crit Rev Oncog 7(1–2):33–48
- Coluccia AM, Benati D et al (2006) SKI-606 decreases growth and motility of colorectal cancer cells by preventing pp 60(c-Src)-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of beta-catenin and its nuclear signaling. Cancer Res 66(4): 2279–2286
- Donato NJ, Wu JY et al (2003) BCR-ABL independence and LYN kinase overexpression in chronic myelogenous leukemia cells selected for resistance to STI571. Blood 101(2):690–698
- Gambacorti-Passerini C, Kantarjian HM, et al (2008) Activity and tolerance of bosutinib in patients with AP and BP CML and Ph+ ALL. J Clin Oncol 26 May 20 (Suppl):abstr. 7049
- Golas JM, Arndt K et al (2003) SKI-606, a 4-anilino-3-quinolinecarbonitrile dual inhibitor of Src and Abl kinases, is a potent antiproliferative agent against chronic myelogenous leukemia cells in culture and causes regression of K562 xenografts in nude mice. Cancer Res 63(2):375–381
- Golas JM, Lucas J et al (2005) SKI-606, a Src/Abl inhibitor with in vivo activity in colon tumor xenograft models. Cancer Res 65(12):5358–5364
- Hu Y, Swerdlow S et al (2006) Targeting multiple kinase pathways in leukemic progenitors and stem cells is essential for improved treatment of Ph+ leukemia in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(45):16870–16875
- Jallal H, Valentino ML et al (2007) A Src/Abl kinase inhibitor, SKI-606, blocks breast cancer invasion, growth, and metastasis in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Res 67(4):1580–1588
- Johnson FM, Gallick GE (2007) SRC family nonreceptor tyrosine kinases as molecular targets for cancer therapy. Anticancer Agents Med Chem 7(6):651–659
- Laneuville P (1995) Abl tyrosine protein kinase. Semin Immunol 7(4):255–266
- Li S (2008) Src-family kinases in the development and therapy of Philadelphia chromosomepositive chronic myeloid leukemia and acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma 49(1): 19–26
- Lutz MP, Esser IB et al (1998) Overexpression and activation of the tyrosine kinase Src in human pancreatic carcinoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 243(2):503–508

- Mazurenko NN, Kogan EA et al (1992) Expression of pp 60c-src in human small cell and non-small cell lung carcinomas. Eur J Cancer 28(2–3): 372–377
- Messersmith WA, Krishnamurthi S, Hewes BA, Zacharchuk CM, Abbas R, Martins P, Dowling E, Volkert A, Martin E, Daud AI (2007) Bosutinib (SKI-606), a dual Src/Abl tyrosine kinase inhibitor: preliminary results from a phase 1 study in patients with advanced malignant solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 25:abstr. 3552
- Ottenhoff-Kalff AE, Rijksen G et al (1992) Characterization of protein tyrosine kinases from human breast cancer: involvement of the c-src oncogene product. Cancer Res 52(17):4773–4778
- Pendergast AM (1996) Nuclear tyrosine kinases: from Abl to WEE1. Curr Opin Cell Biol 8(2): 174–181
- Ptasznik A, Nakata Y et al (2004) Short interfering RNA (siRNA) targeting the Lyn kinase induces apoptosis in primary, and drug-resistant, BCR-ABL1(+) leukemia cells. Nat Med 10(11): 1187–1189
- Puttini M, Coluccia AM et al (2006) In vitro and in vivo activity of SKI-606, a novel Src-Abl inhibitor,

against imatinib-resistant Bcr-Abl+ neoplastic cells. Cancer Res 66(23): 11314–11322

- Sattler M, Griffin JD (2003) Molecular mechanisms of transformation by the BCR-ABL oncogene. Semin Hematol 40(2 Suppl 2):4–10
- Summy JM, Gallick GE (2003) Src family kinases in tumor progression and metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 22(4):337–358
- Thomas SM, Brugge JS (1997) Cellular functions regulated by Src family kinases. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 13:513–609
- Verbeek BS, Vroom TM et al (1996) c-Src protein expression is increased in human breast cancer. An immunohistochemical and biochemical analysis. J Pathol 180(4):383–388
- Vultur A, Buettner R et al (2008) SKI-606 (bosutinib), a novel Src kinase inhibitor, suppresses migration and invasion of human breast cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther 7(5):1185–1194
- Zhang J, Kalyankrishna S et al (2007) SRC-family kinases are activated in non-small cell lung cancer and promote the survival of epidermal growth factor receptor-dependent cell lines. Am J Pathol 170(1):366–376

Part II

Epigenetic Modifiers

Decitabine

10

Michael Daskalakis, Nadja Blagitko-Dorfs, and Björn Hackanson

Abstract The pyrimidine analogs, 5-azacytidine (azacitidine, Vidaza[®]) and its deoxy derivative, 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine, Dacogen[®]), are the most widely used inhibitors of DNA methylation which trigger demethylation leading to a consecutive reactivation of epigenetically silenced tumor suppressor genes in vitro and in vivo.

Although the antileukemic capacity of decitabine has been known for almost 40 years, its therapeutic potential in hematologic malignancies is still under intensive investigation. Multiple clinical trials have shown the promising activity of low-dose decitabine in AML, MDS, CML, and hemoglobinopathies, whereas its efficacy in solid tumors is rather limited.

Clinical responses appear to be induced by both epigenetic alterations and the induction of cell-cycle arrest and/or apoptosis. Recent clinical trials have been investigating new dosing schedules, routes of administration, and combination of decitabine with other agents, including histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors.

Division of Hematology and Oncology Freiburg University Medical Center Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany e-mail: michael.daskalakis@uniklinik-freiburg.de

10.1 Introduction

Epigenetic changes play an important role in the development and progression of malignant diseases (Baylin et al. 1998; Baylin 2002; Toyota and Issa 2005). Epigenetic deregulation is defined as changes in gene expression mediated through mechanisms other than alterations in the DNA sequence itself. This includes modifications of core histone proteins, alterations in the methylation status of DNA, and RNA interference (Bhalla 2005).

DNA methylation refers to the addition of a methyl group to a CpG site (Jones and Baylin 2007). These sites cluster together in areas known as CpG islands and are frequently localized in the gene promoter regions. Physiologic and aberrant DNA methylation of gene promoter regions can result in gene silencing. Hypermethylation-induced gene silencing of tumor suppressor and other cancer-related genes is one of the essential mechanisms in tumorigenesis (Esteller 2007, 2008). At present, two hypomethylating agents are widely used: 5-azacytidine (azacitidine, Vidaza®) and 5-aza-2'-deoxycitidine (decitabine, Dacogen®). The rationale for the application of DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) inhibitors is their ability to revert hypermethylation-induced gene silencing and to restore proliferation control and apoptosis sensitivity in the malignant clone (Mund et al. 2006).

M. Daskalakis (🖂)

132

In vitro studies using cell lines have shown a time- and dose-dependent inhibition of proliferation by decitabine. At high concentrations, there is a cytotoxic effect, which may be related, in part, to the synthesis of alkali-labile DNA strands (D'Incalci et al. 1985). At lower concentrations, decitabine acts as a weak inducer of differentiation in myeloid leukemic cell lines (Creusot et al. 1982; Momparler et al. 1985a). Primary leukemic myeloid cells were shown by Pinto et al. (1984) to have a propensity for in vitro granulocytic or monocytic differentiation induced by decitabine.

One of the early studies focused on the p15 tumor suppressor gene, which is often hypermethylated in MDS and AML patients, and can be demethylated and reactivated in patients undergoing decitabine therapy (Daskalakis et al. 2002). Several clinical trials investigating different drug dosing schedules have shown significant clinical benefit in the treatment of patients with MDS and AML (Mund et al. 2005; Yang et al. 2006). In 2007, the drug received FDA approval for the treatment of patients with MDS. Studies are ongoing to identify and develop new generations of DNMT inhibitors (Lyko and Brown 2005; Yoo and Jones 2006). However, none of the currently available new compounds has shown comparable potency in demethylating activity (Chuang et al. 2005; Stresemann et al. 2006) and none of them has reached advanced clinical trials yet.

approximately 35 min (Rivard et al. 1981). Recently, the in vitro stability of decitabine in a neutral aqueous solution was determined at different temperatures. The results indicated a considerable chemical stability (half-life time of 7 days at 4°C, of 96 h at 20°C, and of 21 h at 37°C), and even storing the solution at room temperature showed an effective inhibition in cytosine methylation (Stresemann and Lyko 2008).

After cellular uptake by a nucleoside-specific transport mechanism (Groeningen et al. 1986; Hubeek et al. 2005), decitabine is phosphorylated by the deoxycytidine kinase and metabolically converted into the active nucleotide for DNA methylation inhibition, 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine-5'-triphosphate (Momparler and Derse 1979). Following incorporation of decitabine into DNA, newly hypomethylated DNA strands are synthesized (Wilson et al. 1983). Upon incorporation into DNA, decitabine forms a covalent complex with the DNMT Dnmt 1, thereby depleting the cells of its enzymatic activity (Bouchard and Momparler 1983; Santi et al. 1983). Inactivation of the drug occurs through deamination by cytidine deaminase not only in the human liver and spleen, but also in granulocytes, intestinal epithelium, and plasma (Momparler et al. 1997). At equimolar concentrations, decitabine

10.2 Structure and Mechanism of Action

Decitabine was synthesized in 1964 by Sorm and coworkers (Pliml and Sorm 1964) as a classical cytostatic agent. It is a ring analog of the pyrimidine nucleoside 2'-deoxycytidine (Fig. 10.1). The drug is widely considered to be unstable, and has therefore been handled with care. Owing to deamination, the plasma half-life of decitabine is



Fig. 10.1 Chemical structure of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidin (decitabine, Dacogen[™])

is at least twice as potent as azacitidine in inhibiting methylation (Creusot et al. 1982).

In a recent study, the pharmacokinetics of low-dose decitabine (15 mg/m² i.v. over 3 h, every 8 h, on 3 consecutive days, repeated every 6 weeks) was evaluated in sixteen patients with MDS or AML (Cashen et al. 2008). They concluded that the pharmacokinetics of low-dose decitabine remained unchanged from cycle to cycle. Despite repeated dosing, no systemic accumulation of the drug was observed, and the toxicity profile (transient myelosuppression) was predictable and manageable.

Regarding new compounds, Lavelle and colleagues investigated an oral decitabine formular recently (Lavelle et al. 2007), and Yoo and colleagues developed a decitabine-containing dinucleotide S110 to improve plasma stability (Yoo et al. 2007).

Figure 10.2 schematically summarizes the regulation of gene expression by the promoter methylation status and the regulatory mechanism of a demethylating agent.

10.3 Studies of Single-Agent Decitabine in MDS and Acute Leukemias

5-azacytidine (azacitidine) and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) were developed in parallel as antileukemic agents. Antitumor activity of decitabine has been shown in mouse models of acute leukemia (Sorm and Vesely 1968).



Fig. 10.2 Promoter methylation and gene expression. De novo methylation of the promoter region results in inactivation of the expression of a growth regulatory gene. Demethylating agent, 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine, Dacogen[™]),

reactivates the expression of the epigenetically silenced gene by blocking the DNA methyltransferase Dnmt 1. *Open circles* represent unmethylated CpGs, *closed circles* represent methylated CpGs 10

Decitabine was first used as a single agent in a phase-I study in children with relapsed or refractory acute leukemia. The dose schedule of decitabine was 0.75–80 mg/kg (Rivard et al. 1981). The authors reported a significant reduction of circulating blasts. In a continuation of this study, Momparler and colleagues (Momparler et al. 1985b) treated 27 children with acute leukemia (21 acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), 6 AML) with a continuous infusion of decitabine at doses ranging from 37 to 80 mg/kg over 36–60 h. In six patients (22%), a CR was induced, and in four patients (15%), a PR was noted. The overall objective response rate was 37% (33% in ALL patients, and 50% in AML patients).

However, the development of the drug at high doses was later discontinued due to the high degree of hematologic (delayed and prolonged myelosuppression) and nonhematologic toxicities (Lübbert 2000).

Pinto and coworkers (Pinto et al. 1989) published the results of a phase I/II trial with low doses of decitabine in elderly AML/MDS patients (median age, 74 years). This group as well as others had shown that in vitro, decitabine induced moderate differentiation in AML cell lines and primary blasts. Twenty-seven patients were treated with decitabine at 15-30 mg/m² for MDS and 30-90 mg/m² for AML, and the drug was given as a 4-h intravenous infusion 3 times daily for 3 days. After a median of two courses, three (15%) of 20 evaluable patients had a CR, and six patients (30%) achieved a PR, resulting in an overall response rate of 45%. The median response duration was 12 weeks (range: 2-58 weeks). The median survival time of the responding patients was 19 weeks (range: 7-64 weeks). A reduction in peripheral blasts ("antileukemic effect"), together with a gradual increase in the absolute numbers of mature cells in the peripheral blood and the bone marrow, compatible with differentiation, were seen.

Since the early 1990s, Wijermans and coworkers have conducted several large lowdose decitabine studies in elderly high-risk MDS patients. In a phase II study, a schedule of continuous infusion (72 h) with total doses of 125-225 mg/m² was used in 29 patients (Wijermans et al. 1997). An overall response rate of 54% with 28% CRs and 25% PRs and a median response duration of 7.3 months was reported. This was followed by a multicenter phase II trial (n=66), also using a 3-day intravenous administration, but this time given over 4 h, 3 times a day; a total dose of 135 mg/m² achieved comparable results (Wijermans et al. 2000). According to the International Prognostic Scoring System (IPSS) three of five patients (60%) with low-risk MDS, 6 of 30 patients (20%) with intermediate, and 10 of 26 patients (38%) with high-risk MDS showed cytogenetic responses; cytogenetic response was associated with longer survival. Complete remissions were associated with cytogenetic remissions (Lübbert et al. 2001). After 2 cycles of decitabine treatment, an improvement in thrombocytopenia was noted in 63% of the MDS patients (van den Bosch et al. 2004).

In a randomized phase II study at the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center (MDACC), dose intensity and the subcutaneous route of administration were tested in three schedules of low-dose decitabine in patients with higher risk myelodysplastic syndrome and chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (CMMoL) (Kantarjian et al. 2007a). They used total doses of 100 mg/m² repeated every 4 weeks, with the drug given either as 1-h infusions intravenously over 5 days, in 10 daily infusions over 1 h or 5 daily dosing of subcutaneous drug. By a Bayesian adaptive design, one of the three schedules (5 days, 1-h intravenous schedule) was selected as optimal. The arms scored as inferior contained only 14 and 17 patients, respectively. This study has been criticized for its overall statistical design that may have underestimated the efficacy of the two arms it deemed inferior (Giagounidis 2007), and not noted the well-established preferential response of poorrisk cytogenetic patients, which occurred with

the continuous dosing of decitabine (Rüter et al. 2007). At the ASH meeting 2007, Kantarjian and et al. presented an update of the 5-day schedule from MDACC (Kantarjian et al. 2007b).

Recently, a North American phase III trial of low-dose decitabine was published by Kantarjian and coworkers (Kantarjian et al. 2006). Of the 170 patients randomized, 89 patients received DAC in a schedule of 15 mg/m² for a total of 9 doses over 72 h, repeated every 6 weeks, and 81 patients received best supportive care (BSC). The overall response rate in the study group was 30% (9% CR, 8% PR, 13% HI), with a median response duration of 10.3 months when compared with 7% HI in the BSC group. Notably, DAC-treated patients had a prolonged median time to progression to AML or death, when compared with patients receiving BSC, but this was statistically significant only for IPSS high-risk patients (all patients: 12.1 months overall survival (OS) vs. 7.8 months (p > 0.16); patients with IPSS int-2/ high-risk disease: 12.0 months vs. 6.8 months (p>0.03)). Decitabine-treated patients (IPSS "high-risk" subgroup) had a median time to AML or death of 9.3 months when compared with 2.8 months when receiving BSC alone, which is more than a threefold difference $(p \ge 0.01)$. Quality of life measures were performed, demonstrating a statistically superior quality of life during decitabine treatment regarding global health status, fatigue, and dyspnea. Severe adverse events were noted in 69% of decitabine patients when compared with 56% of patients receiving supportive care. Specifically, 87 and 85% of decitabine treated patients had grade 3/4 neutropenia or thrombocytopenia, respectively, when compared with 50 and 43% in the supportive care arm. Cytopenias appeared to diminish in incidence over the first four courses of decitabine, but still remained frequent. Gastrointestinal toxicities were generally mild and infrequent.

In another study, Lübbert and colleagues addressed the question of whether retreatment with decitabine was beneficial in patients with MDS and disease recurrence. Twenty-two patients were retreated with low-dose decitabine after a median of 11 months (range: 3–27 months) from the last course of initial therapy (Lübbert et al. 2004). Decitabine dosing was administered according to the European and North American phase III trials (15 mg/m² i.v. over 4 h, 3 times per day, on 3 consecutive days, repeated every 6 weeks). The overall response rate was 45% (ten patients), including 1 CR, 2 PRs, and 7 HIs. The data also suggested the superiority of prolonged treatment with lowdose decitabine (Rüter et al. 2006).

In MDS patients, even after failure of previous azacitidine treatment, decitabine can still induce responses. Borthakur and colleagues treated 14 patients with low-dose decitabine (20 mg/m² i.v. per day over 5 days) after the failure of previously administered azacitidine therapy. The overall response rate was 28% (four patients), including a CR in three patients (21%) and an HI in one patient (7%) (according to the IWG criteria). The median duration of remission was 5.3 months, and the median survival time was 6 months (Borthakur et al. 2008).

Table 10.1 summarizes the clinical phase-I and -II trials of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) in acute leukemia and chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML), and Table 10.2 depicts the clinical phase-II and -III trials of decitabine in patients with MDS.

10.4 Combination Treatment in AML, MDS, and Other Diseases

Two epigenetic processes, DNA methylation and histone deacetylation, are linked dynamically together and result in the silencing of genes in cancer (Cameron et al. 1999). Thus, the combination of DNMT inhibitors and histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors in AML, MDS, and other malignancies, might result in enhanced antitumor activity.
fable 10.1 Phase-I and -II triz	als of 5-aza-2'-deoxy	cytidine (decitabine) in a	cute leukemia and chronic myeloge	nous leukemia	10
Patients		Age (range) years	Drug schedule	% ORR (%CR)	Reference
AML, ALL (relapsed/ refractory)	22 (7, 15)	9 (2–15)	DAC 0.75–80 mg/kg (12–44 h c.i.v.)	14 (9)	Rivard et al. 1981
AML, ALL (relapsed/ refractory)	27 (6, 21)	NA (1–20)	DAC 37–80 mg/kg (36–60 h c.i.v.)	37 (22)	Momparler et al. 1985b
AML, ALL (relapsed/ refractory), CML (myeloid blast crisis)	26 (21, 2, 3)	55 (24–74)	DAC 300–500 mg/m² (24–120 h c.i.v.)	26 (4)	Debusscher et al. 1990
De novo AML, AML from MDS, CML (not previously treated)	22 (12, 8, 2)	74 (62–83)	DAC 45-180 mg/m²/day×3i.v. (>15-60 mg/m²/4 h t.i.d.)	68 (11)	Zagonel et al. 1990
AML (not previously treated)	12	64 (47–77)	DAC 270-360 mg/m²/day×3 i.v.(>90-120 mg/m²/4 h t.i.d.)	40 (30)	Petti et al. 1993
AML (relapsed/refractory)	5	26 (22–48)	DAC 250–500 mg/m ² b.i.d. \times 6–12	20 (0)	Richel et al. 1991
AML (relapsed/refractory)	11	51 (20–63)	$DAC \ 125-250 \ mg/m^2 \ b.i.d. \times 12,$ amsacrine 120 mg/m²/ day $\times 2$	82 (73)	Richel et al. 1991
AML (relapsed/refractory)	49	52 (18–65)	$DAC 125-250 mg/m^2 b.i.d. \times 12,$ amsacrine 120 mg/m ² / day $\times 2$	41 (41)	Willemze et al. 1993,1997
AML (relapsed/refractory)	36	57 (NA)	DAC 125–250 mg/m^2 b.i.d. × 12, idarubicin 12 $mg/m^2/day \times 3$	44(44)	Willemze et al. 1993,1997
De novo AML (not previously treated)	×	44 (30–59)	DAC 90 mg/m²/day × 5, daunorubicin 50 mg/m²/ day × 3	100 (100)	Schwartsmann et al. 1997
CML (myeloid blast crisis)	31	52 (23–78)	DAC $50-100 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ b.i.d.} \times 10$	84 (10)	Kantarjian et al. 1997a, 1997b; Sacchi et al. 1998, 1999

CML (accelerated phase)	17	NA	DAC 50–100 mg/m ² b.i.d. \times 10	53 (0)	Kantarjian et al. 1997a, 1997b
CML (Ph-positive) blastic phase (BP), acceler. phase (AP), chronic phase (CP)	123	55 (16–78)	DAC 50–100 mg/m² b.i.d.×10	BP: 28 (10) AP: 55 (23) CP: 63 (13)	Kantarjian et al. 2003
De novo AML, AML from MDS	27	69 (61–87)	DAC 20 mg/m ² day \times 5 i.v.	67(26)	Cashen et al. 2006
ALL acute lymphoblastic let	ikemia; AML acute n	nyeloid leukemia; <i>b.i.d.</i> t	wice daily; c.i.v. continuous intrav	enous infusion; CML c	hronic myeloid leukemia;

CR complete remission; DAC decitabine; i.v. intravenous; MDS myelodysplastic syndrome; NA not available; i.i.d. 3 times daily

Table 10.2 Phase-II and -I	II trials of 5-aza-2'-d	leoxycyt.	idine (decitabine	:) in patients with MDS			
Reference	Phase		Age (range) years	Schedule	% responses (% CR/PR/HI)	RD (mo)	OS (mo)
Zagonel et al. 1993	П	10	68	DAC 45 mg/m ² /day×3 (i.v.) (>15 mg/ m ² /4 h t.i.d.); DAC 50 mg/m ² /day×3 (c.i.v.)	50 (40/10/0)	Ξ	NA
Wijermans et al. 1997	Π	29	72 (58–82)	DAC $40-75 \text{ mg/m}^2/\text{day} \times 3 \text{ (c.i.v.)}$	54 (28/18/7)	7.3	10.5
Wijermans et al. 2000	II	66	68 (38–84)	DAC 45 mg/m ² /day × 3 (i.v.) (> 15 mg/m ² /4 h t.i.d.)	49 (20/5/24)	7	15
Wijermans et al. 2002	II	169	70 (38–89)	$45-50 \text{ mg/m}^2/\text{day} \times 3 \text{ (i.v.) every 6 wk}$	49	40 wk	15
Rüter et al. 2006	II (retreatment)	22	71 (51–81)	DAC 45 mg/m ² /day × 3 (i.v.) (> 15 mg/m ² /4 h t.i.d.)	14 (4/9/32)	4	27, 5+
Kantarjian et al 2007a	П	95	66 (39–90)	20 mg/m ² /day i.v. q 5d every 4 wk; 20 mg/m ² /day s.c. q 5d every 4 wk; 10 mg/m ² /day i.v. q 10d every 4 wk q 5d every 4 wk; 10 mg/m ² /day i.v. q 10d every 4 wk	73 (34/1/28)	AA	19
Kantarjian et al. 2006	III	89ª	70 (65–76)	$15 \text{ mg/m}^{2/3}$ h t.i.d. q 3d every 6 wk	17 (9/8/13)	10.3	14
Wijermans et al. 2008	III	133	70 (60–90)	DAC 45 mg/m ² /day × 3 (i.v.) (> 15 mg/m ² /4 h t.i.d.)	34 (13/6/15)	8, 6	10
Table notes:							

n number of patients; CR complete response; PR partial response; HI hematologic improvement; RD median response duration; OS overall survival; mo months; wk weeks; DAC decitabine; i.v. intravenous infusion; c.i.v. continuous intravenous infusion; q for; t.i.d. three times daily; NA not available; +OS calculated from start of initial decitabine treatment apatients randomized to receive decitabine

138

10

In a multicenter phase II study, 51 AML patients (median age, 72 years) received lowdose decitabine treatment (135 mg/m² c.i.v. over 72 h) repeated every 6 weeks for up to four courses. Decitabine-sensitive patients received an additional treatment of all-trans retinoic acid during course two of decitabine (at a dose of 45 mg/m²/day for 28 days) (Lübbert et al. 2005). Additionally, maintenance therapy of decitabine (at a dose of 20 mg/m² i.v. over 1 h for 3 days every 8 weeks) was offered to patients completing all four decitabine courses. Four patients (14%) received a CR, and five patients (17%) received a PR (out of 29 evaluable patients). The median survival time was 7.5 months, and the 1-year survival rate was 24%.

Several preclinical studies support the view that pharmacologic targeting of both DNMT and HDAC may result in synergistic anticancer activity (Cameron et al. 1999; Boivin et al. 2002; Garcia-Manero and Issa 2005). As a single agent, valproic acid (VPA) has shown HDAC inhibitory activity in lower risk MDS (Kuendgen et al. 2004). Recently, several phase I/II studies using decitabine or 5-azacytidine, in combination with HDAC inhibitors, have reported encouraging results (Garcia-Manero et al. 2006; Gore et al. 2006; Maslak et al. 2006; Soriano et al. 2007; Blum et al. 2007). Garcia-Manero and et al. (2006) treated 54 patients (AML or high-risk MDS) with low-dose decitabine (15 mg/m², i.v., daily for 10 days) administered concomitantly with escalating doses of VPA (50 mg/kg/day, orally, 10 days). The overall response rate (CR and PR) was 22% (12 pts), including 10 (19%) CRs, and 2 (3%) CRs with incomplete platelet recovery. The median duration of remission was 7.2 months, and responding patients showed a median survival time of 15.3 months. Six out of eight responding patients also showed a cytogenetic response. It is notable that responses were achieved after a median of only one cycle of treatment, which is earlier than was expected with decitabine monotherapy.

A smaller phase I study (Blum et al. 2007) of decitabine plus VPA in 25 AML patients could not verify this beneficial effect of VPA, although responses appeared to occur earlier with the combination treatment vs. single agent decitabine, as well. In this trial, 14 patients received decitabine alone to determine the optimal biologic dose, which was 20 mg/m²/day (d1–10). Only 11 patients received the combination with dose-escalating VPA (d5–21). Dose-limiting encephalopathy occurred in two patients at 25 mg/kg/day. The responses included 2 CRs, 2 CRis, and 2 PRs (ORR 54%), but the authors concluded that VPA might be associated with too much toxicity in this elderly patient population.

In all combination studies, the acetylation status of histone H3 and/or H4 was assessed and increased in response to treatment, but this was not associated with clinical remission. The induction of DNA hypomethylation and global histone (H3 and H4) acetylation was associated with p15 demethylation and gene reactivation. Global DNA methylation was not associated with response (Garcia-Manero et al. 2005, 2006). Gore and et al. (2006) described reversed methylation of the p15 promoter in responding patients, and Garcia-Manero and coworkers found lower pretreatment levels of p15 methylation associated with response.

Recently, the very potent HDAC inhibitor, vorinostat (suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid, SAHA) has been approved by the FDA for treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (Duvic et al. 2007); clinical studies investigating the combination treatments of this drug with potent DNMT inhibitors like decitabine are still awaited.

Steele and colleagues (2009) investigated the combination of decitabine with a clinically relevant HDAC inhibitor belinostat (PXD 101) in a cisplatin-resistant human ovarian cell line A2780/cp70. This cell line has the hMLH1 and MAGE-A1 genes methylated, and is resistant to cisplatin in vitro and in a xenograft in mice. When compared with decitabine alone, the combined treatment resulted in a higher expression of hMLH1 and MAGE-A1 in vitro and in vivo, as well as in better cisplatin sensitivity of the xenografts.

Fiskus and colleagues (2009) demonstrated that the combination treatment of decitabine with the pan-HDAC-inhibitor panobinostat (LBH589) targeted multiple epigenetic mechanisms resulting in antileukemic activity in AML cells in vitro.

One obstacle for the curative potential of decitabine is its rapid in vivo inactivation by the enzyme cytidine deaminase, the key enzyme in catabolism of cytosine nucleoside analogs. Besides azacytidine and decitabine, the therapeutic activity of a third cytosine nucleoside analog, pyrimidin-2-one β-ribofuranoside (zebularine, Zeb) has been investigated (Driscoll et al. 1991; Zhou et al. 2002; Marquez et al. 2005: Stresemann et al. 2006: Flotho et al. 2009). Zebularine demonstrated antitumor (Cheng et al. 2003, 2004) and antileukemic activity (Herranz et al. 2006; Scott et al. 2007), and is also a competitive inhibitor of the enzyme cvtidine deaminase (Laliberté et al. 1992). It has been shown in murine and human leukemic cell lines, that the inhibition of cytidine deaminase by zebularine enhanced the antineoplastic activity of decitabine (Lemaire et al. 2005, 2009).

Further clinical studies exploring the combinations of decitabine with different HDAC inhibitors or Zebularine are needed to achieve higher antitumor efficacy, find optimal dose schedules, and overcome acquired drug resistance due to DNA methylation and gene silencing.

10.5 Decitabine as a Preparative Agent in Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation

Giralt and colleagues at the M.D. Anderson Cancer Center conducted two studies to determine the safety and efficacy of decitabine, as a single agent or as part of a combination preparative regi-

men, prior to allogeneic peripheral-blood progenitor cell (PBPC) transplantation. The phase I/II study protocol of single-agent decitabine prior to allogeneic PBPC retransfusion included patients with early relapse after a first allogeneic bonemarrow transplantation for AML (nine patients), CML (three patients), and ALL (two patients), respectively (Giralt et al. 1997, 1998a; Ravandi et al. 2001). Median age was 35 years (range: 22-50 years), the median time from previous transplant was 177 days (range: 49-540 days), and all but two patients had active disease at the time of decitabine administration. Median time to relapse from initial transplantation was 6 months (range: 2-31 months). Eight patients received a total dose of 1,000 mg/m2 decitabine (administered over 5 days), three patients received 1,250 mg/ m^2 , and three a total dose of 1,500 mg/m². In the first three patients, donor cell transfusion was performed 2 days after the end of decitabine infusion. Eight of 14 patients achieved either a complete remission or a remission with partial hematologic recovery. Median time to neutrophil recovery was 13 days from donor cell transfusion (range: 10-30 days). Two of the first three patients treated required additional donor cell transfusions at day 21, because of lack of neutrophil recovery. In subsequent patients, donor stem cells were given 5 days after the last decitabine infusion, and no delayed engraftment has been observed in the responding patients. Four patients developed acute graft-vs.-host disease (GVHD)≥grade 2. Two patients developed grade 2 hepatic toxicity, one in association with GVHD.

Seven of eight patients achieving a response relapsed. Median survival of all patients was 190 days (range: 11-1,245 + days). In patients achieving a response, the median disease-free survival was 60 days (range: 29-368 + days). Overall, five patients were alive 176-1,245 + days after transplantation, with two of them in remission. Six patients died from progressive disease, two patients from infection, and one patient from GVHD and associated infections. Thus, salvage therapy with decitabine followed by allogeneic progenitor cell support is feasible, well-tolerated, and induces CRs or hematologic responses in the majority of patients. Combinations with other treatment modalities, such as donor-lymphocyte infusions or cytokine administrations, are necessary to prolong these remissions.

The other phase I/II study protocol included 23 leukemia patients prior to first allogeneic transplantation (Giralt et al. 1998b; de Lima et al. 2003), 12 patients with high-risk AML, one patient with CMMoL, one with ALL, and nine patients with CML. At the time of study enrollment, 20 patients had advanced phases of their disease, only two patients with AML were in first remission and one patient had a late chronic phase CML. The conditioning regimen contained decitabine intravenously (3 dose levels: 400 mg/m² (ten patients), 600 mg/m² (eight patients) and 800 mg/m² (five patients)), in combination with cyclophosphamide (100 mg/kg (four patients) or 120 mg/kg (19 patients)) and busulfan (12 mg/kg, orally). In four patients transplanted according to this protocol (one with AML, three with CML in accelerated phase), the median time from leukemia diagnosis to transplantation was 5 months (range: 4-25 months). The patients' median age was 36 years (range: 18-53 years). The first four patients achieved decitabine on days 7 and 8, but because of delayed neutrophil recovery beyond day 21 in three of them, the drug was given on days 11 and 10 for the subsequent patients. Two of the three patients who had graft failure needed additional donor stem cell transfusions at days 28 and 21, and recovered on days 31 and 37, respectively. Twenty-one patients achieved disease remission (CR or remission with partial hematologic recovery). Six of the 23 patients (26%) were alive at a median of 3.3 years from transplantation. The median survival was 17.2 months, and the disease-free survival 8.9 months. Treatment-related mortality rate at 3 years was 35%, nine patients died of disease recurrence,

four patients of chronic GVHD, three patients of infections, and one patient of acute GVHD. No decitabine dose-limiting toxicity was documented, and no dose-response correlation of the three decitabine dose levels was observed.

Recently, a study group from the MD Anderson Cancer Center in Houston (De Padua Silva et al. 2009) and a group from the University Hospital of Freiburg, Dept. of Hematology and Oncology, (Lübbert et al. 2009) again demonstrated the feasibility of an allogeneic transplantation after a hypomethylating therapy with low-dose decitabine in MDS and AML patients. The outcome of 17 MDS patients with a median age of 55.5 years (range: 36-66 years) and a study group of 15 patients with MDS (n=10) or AML (n=5) with a median age of 69 years (range: 60-75 years) were reported, respectively. All the patients received a Fludarabin-containing conditioning regimen. The group from MD Anderson treated eight patients with a myeloablative regimen, and nine patients with a reduced-intensity conditioning regimen, whereas all patients at the University Hospital of Freiburg received a reduced-intensity conditioning FBM regimen containing fludarabine, BCNU and melphalan. At the MD Anderson Cancer Center, after a median follow-up of 12 months (range: 3-35 months), 11 patients were alive (eight in CR and 2 in PD) and six patients have died (four due to disease progression, one from acute GVHD and one from sepsis). Successful engraftment was achieved in 14/15 patients at the University Hospital of Freiburg. All 14 patients received a CR, with a median duration of 5 months (range: 1-51+ months). Six of these 14 patients are alive, four patients died from relapse, and four from treatment-related complications while in CR. No increased toxicity due to the low-dose decitabine treatment has been described in neither group. Both groups suggested that decitabine may be a valid alternative to standard chemotherapy, especially in elderly MDS/AML patients, and that this drug might improve the outcome of allogeneic transplant in MDS and AML.

10

10.6 Immunomodulation with Decitabine

By adopting different strategies, cancer cells are able to evade the host's immune surveillance. Epigenetic changes play an important role in the down-regulation of different antigens (i.e., tumor antigens, HLA class I antigens, co-stimulatory molecules), which are involved in the immunological recognition of neoplastic cells. Among the different groups of cancer-associated antigens, cancer testis antigens (CTA) are attracting growing interest as immunotherapeutic targets. CTAs represent a family of immunogenic proteins (i.e., MAGE, BAGE, GAGE, LAGE, and NY-ESO-1) expressed in various neoplastically transformed cells, and are absent in normal tissues, except testis and placenta. CTAs are recognized by autologous, cytotoxic CD8(+) T-lymphocytes (CTL) (Knuth et al. 2000; Bodey 2002). The critical factor for regulating CTA expression in cancer cells is the promoter methylation status, suggesting epigenetic drugs as therapeutic modulators for CTA expression in neoplastic cells (De Smet et al. 1999; Sigalotti et al. 2002). Several studies have shown that decitabine was consistently able to induce or up-regulate CTA expression in solid tumors and hematologic malignancies, resulting in their efficient immunological recognition and lysis by CTA-specific CTLs (Weber et al. 1994; Coral et al. 2002; Gattei et al 2005; Sigalotti et al. 2004, 2005; Natsume et al. 2008).

Regarding combination therapy, in vitro studies with the sequential application of decitabine and the HDACi depsipeptide showed a modest increase of CTA-expression, but no significant enhancement of cancer cell recognition by CTA-specific CTLs, when compared with decitabine treatment alone (Weiser et al 2001a, 2001b). Recently, Oi and colleagues demonstrated that the anticonvulsant VPA, also acting as an HDACi, enhanced the expression of NY-ESO-1 in synergy with decitabine. They observed a significant DNA demethylation, histone H3 Lys9 demethylation, and acetylation (Oi et al. 2009).

Besides regulation of CTA expression, decitabine has been shown to increase expression of HLA class I antigens and other co-stimulatory molecules, and to restore antigen-specific CTL response in vitro and in vivo (Coral et al. 1999, 2006; Calabro et al. 2005; Guo et al. 2006).

Schrump and colleagues (2006) designed a phase I study to investigate the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) of decitabine in patients with thoracic malignancies. No objective responses were observed, but re-expression of CTAs (NY-ESO-I, MAGE-A3, p16) was seen and antibodies to NY-ESO-I were detected post treatment in three patients exhibiting expression of NY-ESO-I in their tumor tissues. The MTD of decitabine in this investigation was 60–75 mg/m².

The observation that decitabine induces or up-regulates expression of different CTAs and might be able to generate anti-CTA-antibodies gave impact for investigations of combined chemo immunotherapeutic regimens. Gollob and colleagues (2006) conducted a phase I trial in patients with melanoma or renal cell carcinoma to investigate the efficacy of a decitabine pretreatment followed by a high-dose IL2 immunotherapy. Decitabine was administered subcutaneously (daily for 5 days on weeks 1 and 2 of a 12-week cycle, escalating dosage from 0.1 to 0.25 mg/kg) before high-dose intravenous bolus IL-2. Major responses were observed in 3 of 13 melanoma patients (23%; one complete response and two partial responses). Regarding decitabine immunomodulation, up-regulation as well as down-regulation of genes which may favor the IL2 immunotherapy was observed.

Cotreatment of decitabine with gefitinib in two breast cancer cell lines (CAMA 1 and MB453) resulted in re-expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and showed a significant effect on the induction of apoptosis in these cell lines (Montero et al. 2006).

After HLA-matched stem cell transplantation (SCT), a graft-vs.-tumor effect is observed to

lead to regression of metastatic solid tumors, but is often associated with GVHD. GVHD is directed mainly against the multiple mismatched minor histocompatibility antigens (mHags). HA-1 is currently the best characterized mHag and particularly attractive for immunotherapy because of its restricted expression on hematopoietic cells and on some solid tumors, but not on cells involved during GVHD (Hambach et al. 2008). Decitabine treatment of HA-1 negative tumor cells induced HA-1 expression and sensitized them for recognition by HA-1-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (Hambach et al. 2009).

Thus, epigenetic drugs are gaining increasing attention on account of their immunomodulatory activity. The decitabine-induced expression of epigenetically silenced CTAs or mHags in hematopoietic malignancies and solid tumors presents a new strategy for a tumor immunochemotherapy or as an immunotherapeutic target after allogeneic SCT.

10.7 Decitabine Treatment in Other Diseases

10.7.1

Activity of Decitabine in Patients with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

The prognosis of refractory ALL after allogeneic hematopoietic SCT is very poor and novel therapeutic agents are warranted to change this situation. Hypermethylation of multiple promoter-associated CpG islands has been frequently identified in ALL patients (Garcia-Manero et al. 2002a, b, 2003; Roman-Gomez et al. 2004, 2007a; Hoshino et al. 2007). Moreover, aberrant methylation is associated with poor prognosis in childhood and adult ALL (Shen et al. 2003; Roman-Gomez et al. 2007b; Kuang et al. 2008; Garcia-Manero et al. 2009).

Treatment of ALL-derived cell lines with decitabine results in hypomethylation and

re-expression of putative tumor suppressor genes (Yang et al. 2005).

Residual DNA methylation at the time of morphologic remission of ALL might predict for worse prognosis. Based on this hypothesis, Yang and colleagues (2009) analyzed the methylation levels of p73, p15, and p57(KIP2) at the time of initial remission in 199 patients with ALL (Philadelphia chromosome-negative and MLL-negative). In 123 patients, pretreatment samples were available and were compared with the remission ones. The presence of residual p73 methylation was associated with a significantly lower disease-free survival and OS.

Recently, Yanez and colleagues (2009) reported a successful induction therapy with decitabine in a 10-year-old girl with refractory common B-cell ALL. At diagnosis, the leukemic blast immunophenotyping revealed no additional expression of T-cell or myeloid markers. The ALL was negative for BCR-ABL and TEL-AML1 translocations, as well as for MLL rearrangements in molecular studies. The ALL was classified into standard risk and treated with the Spanish protocol for ALL (SHOP-99). One year after the end of treatment, the first relapse occurred and the girl was treated with the same induction and consolidation therapy followed by an autologous peripheral blood SCT (PBSCT) in second CR. The second relapse was again treated with the same drugs in low doses, followed by an allogeneic haploidentical PBSCT from her mother in third CR. The patient never developed a GVHD. Upon third relapse, the decision was made to treat the girl with decitabine (15 mg/m², 3 h continuous infusion, 3 times per day for 3 days) combined with dexamethasone (20 mg/m² i.v. days 1-4, 10 mg/m² i.v. day 5, 5 mg/m² i.v. day 6, and 2.5 mg/m² i.v. day 7). Again, a CR was achieved and the girl underwent a second allogeneic PBSCT from her mother. Cyclosporine alone was used for GVHD prophylaxis, and the girl developed an extensive chronic GVHD and remained in CR 8 months after PBSCT.

Based on these data, further results of additional phase I and II trials investigating the activity of decitabine in patients with recurrent or refractory ALL are pending.

10.7.2

Activity of Decitabine in Patients with Chronic Myeloid Leukemia

Prognosis is very poor once CML accelerates and progresses from the chronic phase to blast crisis. If myeloid blast crisis develops, however, remission rates with standard AML-induction chemotherapy regimens are below 20% (Kantarjian et al. 1993).

From 1986 to 1997, at the M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, decitabine (500-1,000 mg/m² administered over 5 days) was used in the treatment of 31 patients with CML in myeloid blast crisis (Sacchi et al. 1998) and 17 patients with CML in accelerated phase (Kantarjian et al. 1997a, b). Objective responses were observed in 26% of the patients in blast crisis, with a median survival of 29 weeks. One of the patients with a complete response had suppression of the Philadelphia chromosome (Ph) to 25% of metaphases. Of the 17 patients with accelerated phase of CML, nine (53%) responded to highdose decitabine, with six patients achieving a second chronic phase of CML, and two showing Ph suppression. Prolonged myelosuppression was the major side effect, but no severe nonhematological toxicity was observed. During these studies, the initial decitabine dose of 1,000 mg/m² was, therefore, subsequently lowered to 750 mg/m² and 500 mg/m² in order to ameliorate the prolonged myelosuppression.

During the same period, a total of 162 adult patients with the diagnosis of CML in nonlymphoid blastic phase (BP) were treated at the MD Anderson Cancer Center either with intensive chemotherapy (n=90), with other single agents (n=41), or with decitabine (n=31), as described earlier. Decitabine showed similar objective response rates when compared with intensive chemotherapy (26 vs. 28%), whereas other single agents showed objective response rates of 7%. The median survival times were 29 weeks with decitabine, 21 weeks with intensive chemotherapy, and 22 weeks with other agents. In elderly patients, survival was significantly better with decitabine when compared with the other treatment options. Decitabine treatment revealed as an independent significant prognostic factor for survival (Sacchi et al. 1999).

Another study investigated the toxicity and activity of decitabine in all different phases of CML (Kantarjian et al. 2003). One hundred and twenty-three patients with Ph-positive CML (64 blastic, 51 accelerated, 8 chronic) and seven patients with Ph-negative CML were treated. In the first 13 patients, decitabine was given at 100 mg/m² over 6 h c.i.v. every 12 h for 5 days (1,000 mg/ m² per course). Owing to severe prolonged myelosuppression, the dose of decitabine was reduced to 75 mg/m² in the next 33 patients and to 50 mg/m² in the remaining 84 patients. Objective response rates were 28% (n=18) in patients with BP (six patients achieved a complete hematologic response (CHR), two achieved a partial hematologic response (PHR), seven achieved a hematologic improvement (HI), and three returned to a second chronic phase (second CP)), 55% (n=28) in patients with accelerated phase (12 CHR, 10 PHR, 3 HI, and 3 s CP), and 63% (n=5) in the chronic-phase patients. Four of the seven patients with Ph-negative CML had objective responses (57%). The estimated 3-year survival rate was less than 5% for patients with BP and 27% for patients in accelerated phase. The only significant toxicity was severe and prolonged myelosuppression; febrile episodes have been described in 37% of the patients and documented infections in 34%.

In a phase II study, 35 patients with imatinibresistant CML (12 pts in chronic phase, 17 pts in accelerated phase, and 6 pts in BP) received low-dose decitabine treatment (15 mg/m² i.v. over 1 h daily) for a total of 10 doses (Issa et al. 2005). Thirty-four of the patients achieved a CHR and 20% of the patients a PHR, resulting in an overall response rate of 54%. Complete cytogenetic responses were seen in six patients.

In another phase II trial, the combination of low-dose decitabine and imatinib was investigated (Oki et al. 2007). Low-dose decitabine (15 mg/m² i.v. for 1 h daily over 5 days a week for 2 weeks) and imatinib (600 mg/day, orally) were given in combination to 28 patients with CML (25 of whom had already known imatinib resistance). Nine patients (32%) achieved CHR, one patient (4%) achieved PHR, and two patients (7%) had HI. Five patients (18%) achieved major cytogenetic responses and three patients minor (11%) cytogenetic responses.

Decitabine appears to have significant activity in all CML phases; additional studies should evaluate decitabine dose schedules in Tyrosine-Kinase-Inhibitor (TKI)-resistant CML, as well as combinations of decitabine and TKIs in different CML phases.

10.7.3 Activity of Decitabine in Patients with Idiopathic Myelofibrosis (IMF)

Several investigators have shown that epigenetic changes are implicated in the pathogenesis of IMF (Wang et al. 2002; Jones et al. 2004; Bogani et al. 2008).

In a recently published small phase II study, Odenike and coworkers (2006) demonstrated the activity of decitabine given subcutaneously (0.3 mg/kg/day on days 1–5 and days 8–12; cycles were repeated every 6 weeks) in seven patients with myelofibrosis. One patient achieved a hematological CR; a second patient showed a HI in platelet counts and a decrease in peripheral circulating blasts.

Shi and colleagues (2007) investigated the treatment of peripheral blood CD34+ cells from patients with IMF with a sequential therapy of decitabine followed by a HDAC inhibitor,

trichostatin A. Exposure to this combination therapy resulted in a reduction in the number of circulating malignant hematopoietic progenitor cells (HPCs). The proportion of JAK2V617Fpositive HPCs was reduced in 83% of the IMF patients. In two JAK2V617F-negative IMF patients, the sequential treatment led to a dramatic reduction in the number of HPCs that contained chromosomal abnormalities. Treatment of CD34+ cells of IMF patients resulted in the up-regulation of CXCR4 expression restoring the migration of these CD34+ cells in response to SDF-1alpha.

Recently, Danilov and colleagues (2009) reported on the successful decitabine treatment in a 65-year-old white male with symptomatic transfusion-dependent IMF. Despite treatment with hydroxycarbamide and lenalidomide, the patient's transfusion requirement increased further. The peripheral blood smear and a repeat bone marrow biopsy showed a disease progression, whereas the cytogenetic studies showed no evidence for t(9;22) and for the JAK2V617Fmutation. After 6 cycles of decitabine treatment $(20 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ for 5 days every 4 weeks})$, the patient's splenomegaly as well as his transfusion requirement decreased markedly. He tolerated the decitabine treatment well, and there was a significant increase up to 90% of his performance status.

10.7.4 Clinical Effects of Decitabine in Severe β-Thalassemia and Sickle Cell Disease

The regulation of globin gene expression in β -thalassemia and sickle cell disease (SCD) has been investigated during the past decades. Epigenetic mechanisms, such as DNA methylation and histone modifications, play an essential role in globin gene expression (Lavelle 2004; Fathallah and Atweh 2006; Saunthararajah 2007; Fathallah 2008). Increasing, the γ -globin chain synthesis leads to a lower globin chain imbalance in β -thalassemia. In SCD, the reactivation of HbF expression interferes with the

polymerization of the sickle hemoglobin. In phase I/II studies in patients with hemoglobin disorders, decitabine has shown a clinically significant increase in total and fetal hemoglobin, as well as reduced red cell adhesion and endothelial damage (Koshy et al. 2000; DeSimone et al. 2002; Saunthararajah et al. 2003, 2008). The main toxicity was transient neutropenia.

Clinical studies investigating the efficacy of hypomethylating agents in children with SCD are still lacking (Trompeter and Roberts 2009). Therefore, larger and longer term studies in adults are needed to confirm the short-term promising results and safety aspects of decitabine, as well as to investigate new drug formulations, like an oral formulation of decitabine, which has been tested in animal models recently (Lavelle et al. 2007).

Saunthararajah and colleagues (2008) described an additional benefit by adding erythropoietin to the decitabine treatment in four adult SCD patients. Choi and colleagues (2007) showed in vitro (HL-60 and T24 cancer cell lines) that hydroxycarbamide inhibits the hypomethylating activity of decitabine when given in combination, suggesting that these drugs should be used sequentially rather than concurrently.

Phase III studies are awaited to further evaluate the activity of decitabine in patients with SCD and to investigate different drug combinations modifying this severe chronic anemia (Wang 2008).

10.7.5 Efficacy of Decitabine in Patients with Solid Tumors

Antitumor activity of decitabine has also been explored in phase I/II trials of patients with previously treated and metastasized solid tumors.

In the first phase I study of decitabine, Rivard and coworkers (1981) also included three children with metastasized solid tumors. Patients received decitabine by continuous infusion; however, even at doses achieving antileukemic effects, only very limited antitumor effects were seen.

A phase I study of 21 adult patients with advanced solid tumors was performed by Pinedo and colleagues using three 1-h infusions of decitabine over 24 h repeated every 3-6 weeks, with doses ranging between 50 mg/m² and 300 mg/m² per course (Groeningen et al. 1986). The doselimiting toxicity was myelosuppression. A partial response at the highest dose level was noted in one patient with metastasized, undifferentiated carcinoma of the ethmoidal sinus, with complete regression of the local recurrence and marked decrease in the size of a single abdominal lymph node. No disease recurrence was observed in a 15-month follow-up after resection of the metastasis and continuation of decitabine treatment. The remaining 20 patients had either shortlasting stabilization or progression of disease.

Using three 1-h infusions of 75 mg/m² over 24 h, repeated every 5 weeks, the EORTC Early Clinical Trials Cooperative Group conducted a total of seven phase II trials with 153 patients with solid tumors. Tumor types included malignant melanoma (20), head and neck cancer (29), colorectal carcinoma (43), testicular cancer (15), renal cell carcinoma (16), non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (8), ovarian cancer (27), and cervical cancer (17). Evaluable responses were seen in 133 patients. Of these, only two patients showed a PR; one of the 17 patients with malignant melanoma and one of the eight patients with NSCLC (Dodion et al. 1990). The same schedule was also used in a phase II study in cervical cancer by Vermorken and coworkers (1991).

Two studies have revised the concept of activity of DNA methylation inhibitors in solid tumors. Momparler et al. (1997) performed a phase I/II study of decitabine in patients with metastatic NSCLC. Fifteen patients were treated with a single 8-h intravenous infusion of 200–660 mg/m² of decitabine. The major side effect was hematopoietic toxicity, necessitating a 5–6-week recovery period before the next treatment course. Steady-state plasma concentrations of decitabine were measured in some of the patients and were in the same

range as those resulting in in vitro demethylation of a gene hypermethylated in lung cancer cell lines. The median survival of these patients was 6.7 months, and three patients survived beyond 15 months, which suggests some clinical activity of relatively high doses of decitabine with an 8-h infusion schedule against metastatic lung cancer.

The second study was performed in 14 patients with progressive metastatic prostate cancer that was refractory to standard treatment (Thibault et al. 1998). The 1-h infusion schedule of 75 mg/m² i.v. 3 times daily, which had also been used in the EORTC studies in solid tumors, was applied. Treatment courses were repeated every 5–8 weeks to allow full recovery from myelotoxicity. Stable disease, with time to progression of over 10 weeks, was noted in two of 12 patients with evaluable responses, both of them of African descent.

Regarding combination treatment of decitabine plus chemotherapy in solid tumor patients, Schwartsmann and colleagues (2000) conducted a phase I trial (n=21) with four dose-escalations of decitabine (45, 67, 90-120 mg/m², respectively) and a fixed dose of cisplatin (33 mg/m^2). Both agents were given on days 1-3, and the cycle was repeated every 3 weeks. The recommended doses for phase II trials in good and poor-risk patients were 90 and 67 mg/m², respectively. Decitabine was given as a 2-h intravenous infusion, followed immediately by intravenous cisplatin after the end of decitabine infusion. One patient with cervical cancer showed a shortlasting partial response, and two minor regressions were described in a patient with NSCLC and cervical cancer, respectively. Based on these data, 14 patients with inoperable NSCLC were included in a phase II trial using the decitabine dose of 67 mg/m² and cisplatin with 33 mg/m². Only three minor responses could be described, and the median survival of the patients was 15 weeks (range: 4-38 weeks).

The same combination regimen was used in another phase II trial in patients with advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix. Twentyone of the 25 patients selected were evaluable for tumor response, and eight patients (38.1%) achieved a partial response, whereas stable disease was documented in five patients (23.8%). In nonirradiated metastatic tumor sites, the objective response rate was more frequent. The median progression-free survival was 16 weeks, and the median OS was 19 weeks (Pohlmann et al. 2002).

Samlowski and colleagues (2005) evaluated a 7-day continuous intravenous infusion of decitabine in ten patients with refractory solid tumors. Decitabine was administered at 2 mg/m² as a continuous infusion for 168 h. Transient grade III/IV neutropenia and grade II thrombocytopenia were the only toxicities that have been observed. By measuring the promoter-specific and global DNA methylation in peripheral-blood cells before and after treatment, they were able to show significant MAGE-1 promoter hypomethylation and significant genomic DNA hypomethylation just 14 days after the start of the treatment. Genomic DNA methylation reverted to baseline levels by 28-35 days after the start of the treatment. Regarding the clinical effects, no objective responses were seen and seven patients progressed after two cycles of decitabine treatment. One woman with metastatic ovarian cancer received four cycles of decitabine and had stable disease for 4 months before progression, and one man with renal carcinoma had stable disease for 6 months before progression.

Venturelli and colleagues (2007) investigated the monotherapy of decitabine or vorinostat (suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid, SAHA), and the combination treatment of both the drugs in human hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)-derived cell lines and in primary human hepatocytes (PHH). They examined the cell lines for cellular damage, proliferation, histone acetylation pattern, and DNA methylation, and investigated in vivo activities in a xenograft hepatoma model. The combined treatment showed more enhanced antiproliferative effects in HCC-derived cells,

In a recent phase I and pharmacodynamic trial, Appleton and colleagues demonstrated the feasibility of combining decitabine with carboplatin at a dose and at a schedule that was able to cause epigenetic changes in peripheral blood cells, buccal cells, and tumor biopsies (Appleton et al. 2007). They used two separate dose escalations of decitabine, the first with carboplatin fixed at area under the concentration time curve (AUC) 5, and the second with carboplatin at AUC 6. Thirty patients were assessable for response, and one patient with melanoma showed a partial response and three other patients had stable disease. The comparison of methylation status showed significantly less hypomethylation in tumor tissue after decitabine treatment, when compared with the buccal cells and peripheral blood mononuclear cells. There was only a 3% decrease of methylation in the tumor biopsies. which was below the threshold for resensitization to chemotherapy in other preclinical studies (Plumb et al. 2000). Finally, they recommended a phase II dosing of decitabine of 90 mg/m² administered on day 1 followed by carboplatin AUC 6 on day 8 of a 28-day cycle. A phase II trial investigating the combination of decitabine and carboplatin in ovarian cancer is ongoing.

Recent in vitro studies have shown a significant increase in susceptibility of transitional cell carcinoma cell lines to cisplatin with the addition of decitabine (Shang et al. 2008).

In summary, most of the trials investigating the activity of decitabine alone or in combination with chemotherapeutics in solid tumors have shown rather disappointing response rates. However, one should keep in mind that in MDS and AML, lowdose, multiday, and multicycle decitabine treatment schedules are achieving promising response rates, whereas many of the solid tumor studies used dose and schedule combinations which were till recently being recognized as suboptimal treatment. Future studies in solid tumors should investigate low-dose schedules of decitabine, by keeping toxicity low and allowing a longer exposure to the drug (several days, several cycles). This might lead to immunomodulatory effects, making the solid tumor cells more sensitive to regular chemotherapeutics.

10.8 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Epigenetic drugs represent a major improvement in our treatment modalities against hematologic malignancies. As one of the most widely used demethylating single agents, decitabine has shown significant activity in MDS and AML at lower dose schedules in many clinical trials. To improve this activity in MDS and AML, further clinical studies investigating combination regimens with other agents, such as HDAC inhibitors, growth factors, cytarabine, and other chemotherapeutic agents, are needed. While DNMT inhibitors are already an integral part of the treatment, especially, in high-risk disease, HDAC inhibitors, particularly the newer substances, have until now mainly been tested in phase I trials.

Further investigation of decitabine in CML after treatment failure of TKI, as well as the use in ALL and other hematologic diseases should be undertaken.

For all epigenetic drugs, the optimal treatment schedules still have to be determined in monotherapy, and also in combination regimens. Further analysis is needed to determine which patients, e.g., cytogenetic subgroups, benefit most from the different approaches.

The development of new compounds with more potent hypomethylating activity is of clinical importance. And hopefully, these new compounds and drug combinations will translate into longer OS. Acknowledgment We thank Prof. Michael Lübbert for his invaluable support, stimulating suggestions, and encouragement which helped us to write the manuscript.

References

- Appleton K, Mackay HJ, Judson I, Plumb JA, McCormick C, Strathdee G, Lee C, Barrett S, Reade S, Jadayel D, Tang A, Bellenger K, Mackay L, Setanoians A, Schätzlein A, Twelves C, Kaye SB, Brown R (2007) Phase I and pharmacodynamic trial of the DNA methyltransferase inhibitor decitabine and carboplatin in solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 25:4603–4609
- Baylin SB, Herman JG, Vertino PM, Issa JP (1998) Alterations in DNA methylation: a fundamental aspect of neoplasia. Cancer Res 72:141–196
- Baylin SB (2002) Mechanisms underlying epigenetically mediated gene silencing in cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 12:331–337
- Bhalla KN (2005) Epigenetic and chromatin modifiers as targeted therapy of hematologic malignancies. J Clin Oncol 23:3971–3993
- Blum W, Klisovic RB, Hackanson B, Liu Z, Liu S, Devine H, Vukosavljevic T, Huynh L, Lozanski G, Kefauver C, Plass C, Devine SM, Heerema NA, Murgo A, Chan KK, Grever MR, Byrd JC, Marcucci G (2007) Phase I study of decitabine alone or in combination with valproic acid in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol 25:3884–3891
- Bodey B (2002) Cancer-testis antigens: promising targets for antigen directed antineoplastic immunotherapy. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2:577–584
- Bogani C, Ponziani V, Guglielmelli P, Desterke C, Rosti V, Bosi A, Le Bousse-Kerdiles MC, Barosi G, Vannucchi AM; Myeloproliferative Disorders Research Consortium (2008) Hypermethylation of CXCR4 promoter in CD34+ cells from patients with primary myelofibrosis. Stem Cells 26: 1920–1930
- Boivin AJ, Momparler LF, Hurtubise A, Momparler RL (2002) Antineoplastic action of 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine and phenylbutyrate on human lung carcinoma cells. Anticancer Drugs 13:869–874
- Borthakur G, Ahdab SE, Ravandi F, Faderl S, Ferrajoli A, Newman B, Issa JP, Katarjian H (2008) Activity of decitabine in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome previously treated with azacitidine. Leuk Lymphoma 49:690–695

- Bouchard J, Momparler RL (1983) Incorporation of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine 5'-triphosphate into DNA. Interactions with mammalian DNA polymerase and DNA methylase. Mol Pharmacol 24:109–114
- Calabro L, Fonsatti E, Altomonte M, Pezzani L, Colizzi F, Nanni P, Gattei V, Sigalotti L, Maio M (2005) Methylation-regulated expression of cancer testis antigens in primary effusion lymphoma: immunotherapeutic implications. J Cell Physiol 202:474–477
- Cameron EE, Bachman KE, Myohanen S, Herman JG, Baylin SB (1999) Synergy of demethylation and histone deacetylase inhibition in the re-expression of genes silenced in cancer. Nat Genet 21:103–107
- Cashen A, Schiller GJ, Larsen JS, Cullen MT, DiPersio JF (2006) Phase II study of low-dose decitabine for the front-line treatment of older patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Blood 108:abstr. 1984
- Cashen AF, Shah AK, Todt L, Fisher N, DiPersio J (2008) Pharmacokinetics of decitabine administered as a 3-h infusion to patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) or myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS). Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 61:759–766
- Cheng JC, Matsen CB, Gonzales FA, Ye W, Greer S, Marquez VE, Jones PA, Selker EU (2003) Inhibition of DNA methylation and reactivation of silenced genes by zebularine. J Natl Cancer Inst 95:399–409
- Cheng JC, Weisenberger DJ, Gonzales FA, Liang G, Xu GL, Hu YG, Marquez VE, Jones PA (2004) Continuous zebularine treatment effectively sustains demethylation in human bladder cancer cells. Mol Cell Biol 24:1270–1278
- Choi SH, Byun HM, Kwan JM, Issa JP, Yang AS (2007) Hydroxycarbamide in combination with azacitidine or decitabine is antagonistic on DNA methylation inhibition. Br J Haematol 138: 616–623
- Chuang JC, Yoo CB, Kwan JM, Li TW, Liang G, Yang AS, Jones PA (2005) Comparison of biological effects of non-nucleoside DNA methylation inhibitors versus 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. Mol Cancer Ther 4:1515–1520
- Coral S, Sigalotti L, Gasparollo A, Cattarossi I, Visintin A, Cattelan A, Altomonte M, Maio M (1999) Prolonged upregulation of the expression of HLA class I antigens and costimulatory

molecules on melanoma cells treated with 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-AZA-CdR). J Immunother 22: 16–24

- Coral S, Sigalotti L, Altomonte M, Engelsberg A, Colizzi F, Cattarossi I, Maraskovsky E, Jager E, Seliger B, Maio M (2002) 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine-induced expression of functional cancer testis antigens in human renal cell carcinoma: immunotherapeutic implications. Cancer Res 8: 2690–2695
- Coral S, Sigalotti L, Colizzi F, Spessotto A, Nardi G, Cortini E, Pezzani L, Fratta E, Fonsatti E, Di Giacomo AM, Nicotra MR, Natali PG, Altomonte M, Maio M (2006) Phenotypic and functional changes of human melanoma xenografts induced by DNA hypomethylation: immunotherapeutic implications. J Cell Physiol 207: 58–66
- Creusot F, Acs G, Christman JK (1982) Inhibition of DNA methyltransferase and induction of Friend erythroleukemia cell differentation by 5-azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. J Biol Chem 257:2041–2048
- Danilov AV, Relias V, Feeney DM, Miller KB (2009) Decitabine is an effective treatment of idiopathic myelofibrosis (correspondence). Brit J Haematol 145:131–132
- Daskalakis M, Nguyen TT, Nguyen C, Guldberg P, Kohler G, Wijermans P, Jones PA, Lübbert M (2002) Demethylation of a hypermethylated P15/INK4B gene in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome by 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) treatment. Blood 100:2957–2964
- Debusscher L, Marie JP, Dodion P, Blanc GM, Arrigo C, Zittoun R, Stryckmans P (1990) Phase-I-II trial of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine in adult patients with acute leukemia. In: Momparler RL, de Vos D (eds) 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine: preclinical and clinical studies. PCH, Haarlem, The Netherlands, pp 131–142
- De Lima M, Ravandi F, Shahjahan M, Andersson B, Couriel D, Donato M, Khouri I, Gajewski J, van Besien K, Champlin R, Giralt S, Kantarjian H (2003) Long-term follow up of a phase I study of high-dose decitabine, busulfan, and cyclophosphamide plus allogeneic transplantation for the treatment of patients with leukemias. Cancer 97:1242–1247
- De Padua Silva L, de Lima M, Kantarjian H, Faderl S, Kebriaei P, Giralt S, Davisson, J, Garcia-Manero G, Champlin R, Issa J-P,

Ravandi F (2009) Feasibility of allo-SCT after hypomethylating therapy with decitabine for myelodysplastic syndrome. Bone Marrow Transplant 43:839–843

- DeSimone J, Koshy M, Dorn L, Lavelle D, Bressler L, Molokie R, Talischy N (2002) Maintenance of elevated fetal hemoglobin levels by decitabine during dose interval treatment of sickle cell anemia. Blood 99:3905–3908
- De Smet C, Lurquin C, Lethe B, Martelange V, Boon T (1999) DNA methylation is the primary silencing mechanism for a set of germ line- and tumorspecific genes with a CpG-rich promoter. Mol Cell Biol 19:7327–7335
- D'Incalci M, Covey JM, Zaharko DS, Kohn KW (1985) DNA alkali-labile sites induced by incorporation of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine into DNA of mouse leukemia L1210 cells. Cancer Res 45: 3197–3202
- Dodion PF, Clavel M, Ten Bokkel Huinink W, Robinson E, Renard JF (1990) Phase-II trials with 2'-deoxy-5-azacytidine conducted by the early clinical trials group of the EORTC. In: Momparler RL, de Vos D (eds) 5-Aza-2'deoxycytidine: preclinical and clinical studies. PCH, Haarlem, pp 117–124
- Driscoll JS, Marquez VE, Plowman J, Liu PS, Kelley JA, Barchi JJ Jr (1991) Antitumor properties of 2(1H)-pyrimidinone riboside (zebularine) and its fluorinated analogues. J Med Chem 34:3280–3284
- Duvic M, Talpur R, Ni X, Zhang C, Hazarika P, Kelly C, Chiao JH, Reilly JF, Ricker JL, Richon VM, Frankel SR (2007) Phase II trial of oral vorinostat (suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid, SAHA) for refractory cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL). Blood 109:31–39
- Esteller M (2007) Cancer epigenomics: DNA methylomes and histone-modification maps. Nat Rev Genet 8(4):286–298
- Esteller M (2008) Epigenetics in cancer. N Engl J Med 358:1148–1159
- Fathallah H, Atweh GF (2006) DNA hypomethylation therapy for hemoglobin disorders: molecular mechanisms and clinical application. Blood Rev 20:227–234
- Fathallah H (2008) DNA hypomethylation therapies and hemoglobin disorders. [An interview with Hassana Fathallah by H&O]. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol 6:806–808

- Fiskus W, Buckley K, Rao R, Mandawat A, Yang Y, Joshi R, Wang Y, Balusu R, Chen J, Koul S, Joshi A, Upadhyay S, Atadja P, Bhalla KN (2009) Panobinostat treatment depletes EZH2 and DNMT1 levels and enhances decitabine mediated de-repression of JunB and loss of survival of human acute leukemia cells. Cancer Biol Ther 8(10):939–950
- Flotho C, Claus R, Batz C, Schneider M, Sandrock I, Ihde S, Plass C, Niemeyer CM, Lübbert M (2009) The DNA methyltransferase inhibitors azacitidine, decitabine and zebularine exert differential effects on cancer gene expression in acute myeloid leukemia cells. Leukemia 23(6): 1019–1028
- Garcia-Manero G, Daniel J, Smith TL, Kornblau SM, Lee MS, Kantarjian HM, Issa JP (2002a) DNA methylation of multiple promoter-associated CpG islands in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. Clin Cancer Res 8:2217–2224
- Garcia-Manero G, Bueso-Ramos C, Daniel J, Williamson J, Kantarjian HM, Issa JP (2002b) DNA methylation patterns at relapse in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. Clin Cancer Res 8: 1897–1903
- Garcia-Manero G, Jeha S, Daniel J, Williamson J, Albitar M, Kantarjian HM, Issa JP (2003) Aberrant DNA methylation in pediatric patients with acute lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer 3:695–702
- Garcia-Manero G, Issa JP (2005) Histone deacetylase inhibitors: a review of their clinical status as antineoplastic agents. Cancer Invest 23: 635–642
- Garcia-Manero G, Yang H, Sanchez-Gonzalez B, Verstovsek S, Ferrajoli A, Keating M, Andreeff M, O'Brien S, Cortes J, Wierda W, Faderl S, Koller C, Davis J, Morris G, Issa JP, Frankel SR, Richon V, Fine B, Kantarjian H (2005) Final results of a phase I study of the histone deacetylase inhibitor vorinostat (suberoyanilide hydroxamic acid, SAHA), in patients with leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome. Blood 106:abstr. 2801
- Garcia-Manero G, Kantarjian HM, Sanchez-Gonzalez B, Yang H, Rosner G, Verstovsek S, Rytting M, Wierda WG, Ravandi F, Koller C, Xiao L, Faderl S, Estrov Z, Cortes J, O'brien S, Estey E, Bueso-Ramos C, Fiorentino J, Jabbour E, Issa JP (2006) Phase 1/2 study of the combination of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine with valproic acid in patients with leukemia. Blood 108:3271–3279
- Garcia-Manero G, Yang H, Kuang SQ, O'Brien S, Thomas D, Kantarjian H (2009) Epigenetics of

acute lymphocytic leukemia. Semin Hematol 46: 24–32

- Gattei V, Fonsatti E, Sigalotti L, Degan M, Di Giacomo AM, Altomonte M, Calabro L, Maio M (2005) Epigenetic immunomodulation of hematopoietic malignancies. Semin Oncol 32: 503–510
- Giagounidis AA (2007) Decitabine dosage in myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood 110:1082–1083
- Giralt S, Davis M, O'Brien S, Van Besien K, Champlin R, De Vos D, Kantarjian H (1997) Studies of decitabine with allogeneic progenitor cell transplantation. Leukemia 11(Suppl 1):32–34
- Giralt S, Cohen A, Davis M, O'Brien S, Andersson B, Gajewski J, Khouri I, Körbling M, Champlin R, De Vos D, Kantarjian H (1998a) Phase-I/II study of decitabine with allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation for treatment of relapse after allogeneic progenitor cell transplantation. Symposium on methyltransferase inhibitors in hematologic malignancies, Miami, FL, December 1998 (abstract)
- Giralt S, Cohen A, Davis M, O'Brien S, Andersson B, Gajewski J, Khouri I, Körbling M, Champlin R, De Vos D, Kantarjian H (1998b) Phase-I/II trial combining decitabine with busulfan/cyclophosphamide as a conditioning regimen for allogeneic progenitor cell transplantation. Symposium on methyltransferase inhibitors in hematologic malignancies, Miami, December 1998 (abstract)
- Gollob JA, Sclambi CJ, Peterson BL, Richmond T, Thoreson M, Moran K, Dressmann HK, Jelinek J, Issa JP (2006) Phase I trial of sequential lowdose 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine plus high-dose intravenous bolus interleukin-2 in patients with melanoma or renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 12:4619–4627
- Gore SD, Baylin S, Sugar E, Carraway H, Miller CB, Carducci M, Grever M, Galm O, Dauses T, Karp JE, Rudek MA, Zhao M, Smith BD, Manning J, Jiemjit A, Dover G, Mays A, Zwiebel J, Murgo A, Weng LJ, Herman JG (2006) Combined DNA methyltransferase and histone deacetylase inhibition in the treatment of myeloid neoplasms. Cancer Res 66:6361–6369
- Groeningen CJ, Leyva A, O'Brien Ann MP, Gall HE, Pinedo HM (1986) Phase-I and pharmacokinetic study of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (NSC 127716) in cancer patients. Cancer Res 46:4831–4836
- Guo ZS, Hong JA, Irvine KR, Chen GA, Spiess PJ, Liu Y, Zeng G, Wunderlich JR, Nguyen DM,

Restifo NP, Schrump DS (2006) De novo induction of a cancer/testis antigen by 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine augments adoptive immunotherapy in a murine tumor model. Cancer Res 66:1105–1113

- Hambach L, Vermeij M, Buser A, Aghai Z, van der Kwast T, Goulmy E (2008) Targeting a single mismatched minor histocompatibility antigen with tumor-restricted expression eradicates human solid tumors. Blood 112:1844–1852
- Hambach L, Ling KW, Pool J, Aghai Z, Blokland E, Tanke HJ, Bruijn JA, Halfwerk H, van Boven H, Wieles B, Goulmy E (2009) Hypomethylation drugs convert HA-1-negative solid tumors into targets for stem cell-based immunotherapy. Blood 113:2715–2722
- Herranz M, Martin-Caballero J, Fraga MF, Ruiz-Cabello J, Flores JM, Desco M, Marquez VE, Esteller M (2006) The novel DNA methylation inhibitor zebularine is effective against the development of T-cell lymphoma. Blood 107:1174–1177
- Hoshino K, Quintás-Cardama A, Yang H, Sanchez-Gonzalez B, Garcia-Manero G (2007) Aberrant DNA methylation of the Src kinase Hck, but not of Lyn, in Philadelphia chromosome negative acute lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia 21:906–911
- Hubeek I, Stam RW, Peters GJ, Broekhuizen R, Meijerink JP, van Wering ER, Gibson BE, Creutzig U, Zwaan CM, Cloos J, Kuik DJ, Pieters R, Kaspers GJ (2005) The human equilibrative nucleoside transporter 1 mediates in vitro cytarabine sensitivity in childhood acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Cancer 93:1388–1394
- Issa JP, Gharibyan V, Cortes J, Jelinek J, Morris G, Verstovsek S, Talpaz M, Garcia-Manero G, Kantarjian HM (2005) Phase II study of low dose decitabine in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia resistant to imatinib mesylate. J Clin Oncol 23:3948–3956
- Jones LC, Tefferi A, Idos GE, Kumagai T, Hofmann WK, Koeffler HP (2004) RARbeta2 is a candidate tumor suppressor gene in myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia. Oncogene 23: 7846–7853
- Jones PA, Baylin SB (2007) The epigenomics of cancer. Cell 128:683–692
- Kantarjian HM, Deisseroth A, Kurzrock R, Estrov Z, Talpaz M (1993) Chronic myelogenous leukemia: a concise update. Blood 82:691–703
- Kantarjian HM, O'Brien SM, Estey E, Giralt S, Beran M, Rios MB, Keating M, De Vos D, Talpaz M (1997a) Decitabine studies in chronic

and acute myelogenous leukemia. Leukemia 11(Suppl 1):35-36

- Kantarjian HM, O'Brien SM, Keating M, Beran M, Estey E, Giralt S, Kornblau S, Rios MB, De Vos D, Talpaz M (1997b) Results of decitabine therapy in the accelerated and blastic phases of chronic myelogenous leukemia. Leukemia 11:1617–1620
- Kantarjian HM, O'Brien S, Cortes J, Giles FJ, Faderl S, Issa JP, Garcia-Manero G, Rios MB, Shan J, Andreeff M, Keating M, Talpaz M (2003) Results of decitabine (5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine) therapy in 130 patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia. Cancer 98:522–528
- Kantarjian HM, Issa JP, Rosenfeld CS, Bennett JM, Albitar M, DiPersio J, Klimek V, Slack J, de Castro C, Ravandi F, Helmer R 3rd, Shen L, Nimer SD, Leavitt R, Raza A, Saba H (2006) Decitabine improves patient outcomes in myelodysplastic syndromes: results of a phase III randomized study. Cancer 106:1794–1803
- Kantarjian HM, Oki Y, Garcia-Manero G, Huang X, O'Brien S, Cortes J, Faderl S, Bueso-Ramos C, Ravandi F, Estrov Z, Ferrajoli A, Wierda W, Shan J, Davis J, Giles F, Saba HI, Issa JP (2007a) Results of a randomized study of 3 schedules of low-dose decitabine in higher-risk myelodysplastic syndrome and chronic myelomonocytic leukemia. Blood 109:52–57
- Kantarjian H, Garcia-Manero G, O'Brien S, Estrov Z, Ravandi F, Cortes J, Shan J, Davisson J, Issa JP (2007b) Survival and efficacy of decitabine in myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS), analysis of the 5-day iv dosing regimen. Blood 110:42a (abstract 115)
- Knuth A, Jäger D, Jäger E (2000) Cancer immunotherapy in clinical oncology. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 46(Suppl):S46–S51
- Koshy M, Dorn L, Bressler L, Molokie R, Lavelle D, Talischy N, Hoffman R, van Overveld W, DeSimone J (2000) 2-deoxy-5'-azacytidine and fetal hemoglobin induction in sickle cell anemia. Blood 96:2379–2384
- Kuang SQ, Tong WG, Yang H, Lin W, Lee MK, Fang ZH, Wei Y, Jelinek J, Issa JP, Garcia-Manero G (2008) Genome-wide identification of aberrantly methylated promoter associated CpG islands in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia 8: 1529–1538
- Kuendgen A, Strupp C, Aivado M, Bernhardt A, Hildebrandt B, Haas R, Germing U, Gattermann N (2004) Treatment of myelodysplastic syndromes with valproic acid alone or in combination

with all-trans retinoic acid. Blood 104: 1266–1269

- Laliberté J, Marquez VE, Momparler RL (1992) Potent inhibitors for the deamination of cytosine arabinoside and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine by human cytidine deaminase. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 30:7–11
- Lavelle DE (2004) The molecular mechanism of fetal hemoglobin reactivation. Semin Hematol 41:3–10
- Lavelle D, Chin J, Vaitkus K, Redkar S, Phiasivongsa P, Tang C, Will R, Hankewych M, Roxas B, Singh M, Saunthararajah Y, Desimone J (2007) Oral decitabine reactivates expression of the methylated gamma-globin gene in *Papio anubis*. Am J Hematol 82:981–985
- Lemaire M, Momparler LF, Bernstein ML, Marquez VE, Momparler RL (2005) Enhancement of antineoplastic action of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine by zebularine on L1210 leukemia. Anticancer Drugs 16:301–308
- Lemaire M, Momparler LF, Raynal NJM, Bernstein ML, Momparler RL (2009) Inhibition of cytidine deaminase by zebularine enhances the antineoplastic action of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 63:411–416
- Lübbert M (2000) DNA methylation inhibitors in the treatment of leukemias, myelodysplastic syndromes and hemoglobinopathies: clinical results and possible mechanisms of action. Curr Topics Microbiol Immunol 249:135–164
- Lübbert M, Wijermans P, Kunzmann R, Verhoef G, Bosly A, Ravoet C, Andre M, Ferrant A (2001) Cytogenetic responses in high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome following low-dose treatment with DNA methylation inhibitor 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. Br J Haematol 114:349–357
- Lübbert M, Wijermans PW, Rüter BH (2004) Re-treatment with low-dose 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) results in second remissions of previously responsive MDS patients. Blood 104:905a (abstract 406)
- Lübbert M, Rüter B, Schmid M, Sabine Knipp, Ulrich Germing, Christiane Dobbelstein, Hartmut Eimermacher, Barbara Deschler, Rainer Claus, Richard Schlenk, Arnold Ganser, Hartmut Döhner, Claudia Schmoor, and Hartmut Henß (2005) Continued low-dose decitabine (DAC) is an active first line treatment of older AML patients: first results of a multicenter phase II study. Blood 106:1852 (abstract 527)

- Lübbert M, Bertz H, Rüter B, Marks R, Claus R, Wäsch R, Finke J (2009) Non-intensive treatment with low-dose 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (DAC) prior to allogeneic blood SCT of older MDS/ AML-patients. Bone Marrow Transplant 2009, Apr. 13, epub ahead of print
- Lyko F, Brown R (2005) DNA methyltransferase inhibitors and the establishment of epigenetic cancer therapies. J Natl Cancer Inst 97:1498–1506
- Marquez VE, Kelley JA, Agbaria R, Ben-Kasus T, Cheng JC, Yoo CB, Jones PA (2005) Zebularine: a unique molecule for an epigenetically based strategy in cancer chemotherapy. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1058:246–254
- Maslak P, Chanel S, Camacho LH, Soignet S, Pandolfi PP, Guernah I, Warrell R, Nimer S (2006) Pilot study of combination transcriptional modulation therapy with sodium phenylbutyrate and 5-azacytidine in patients with acute myeloid leukemia or myelodysplastic syndrome. Leukemia 2:212–217
- Momparler RL, Derse D (1979) Kinetics of phosphorylation of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine by deoxycytidine kinase. Biochem Pharmacol 28:1443–1444
- Momparler RL, Bouchard J, Samson J (1985a) Induction of differentiation and inhibition of DNA methylation in HL-60 myeloid leukemic cells by 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. Leuk Res 9: 1361–1366
- Momparler RL, Rivard GE, Gyger M (1985b) Clinical trial on 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine in patients with acute leukemia. Pharmacol Ther 30:277–286
- Momparler RL, Bouffard DY, Momparler LF, Dionne J, Belanger K, Ayoub J (1997) Pilot phase-I-II study on 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) in patients with metastatic lung cancer. Anticancer Drugs 8:358–368
- Montero AJ, Diaz-Montero CM, Mao L, Youssef EM, Estecio M, Shen L, Issa JP (2006) Epigenetic inactivation of EGFR by CpG island hypermethylation in cancer. Cancer Biol Ther 5:1494–1501
- Mund C, Hackanson B, Stresemann C, Lubbert M, Lyko F (2005) Characterization of DNA demethylation effects induced by 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome. Cancer Res 65: 7086–7090
- Mund C, Brueckner B, Lyko F (2006) Reactivation of epigenetically silenced genes by DNA methyltransferase inhibitors: basic concepts and clinical applications. Epigenetics 1:7–13
- Natsume A, Wakabayashi T, Tsujimura K, Shimato S, Ito M, Kuzushima K, Kondo Y, Sekido Y, Kawatsura H, Narita Y, Yoshida J (2008) The

DNA demethylating agent 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine activates NY-ESO-1 antigenicity in orthotopic human glioma. Int J Cancer 122:2542–2553

- Odenike OM, Godwin JE, van Besien K, Huo D, Stiff PJ, Sher D, Klekowski N, Green M, Larson RA, Stock W (2006) Phase II study of decitabine in myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia. Blood 108:317b (abstract 4923)
- Oi S, Natsume A, Ito M, Kondo Y, Shimato S, Maeda Y, Saito K, Wakabayashi T (2009) Synergistic induction of NY-ESO-1 antigen expression by a novel histone deacetylase inhibitor, valproic acid, with 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine in glioma cells. J Neurooncol 92:15–22
- Oki Y, Kantarjian H, Gharibyan V, Jones D, O'brien S, Verstovsek S, Cortes J, Morris GM, Garcia-Manero G, Issa JP (2007) Phase II study of lowdose decitabine in combination with imatinib mesylate in patients with accelerated or myeloid blastic phase of chronic myelogenous leukemia. Cancer 109:899–906
- Petti MC, Mandelli F, Zagonel V, De Gregoris C, Merola MC, Latagliata R, Gattei V, Fazi P, Monfardini S, Pino A (1993) Pilot study of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) in the treatment of poor prognosis acute myelogenous leukemia patients: preliminary results. Leukemia 7:36–41
- Pinto A, Attadia V, Fusco A, Ferrara F, Spada OA, Di Fiore PP (1984) 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine induces terminal differentiation of leukemic blasts from patients with acute myeloid leukemias. Blood 64:922–929
- Pinto A, Zagonel V, Attadia V, Bullian PL, Gattei V, Carbone A, Monfardini S, Colombatti A (1989) 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine as a differentiation inducer in acute myeloid leukaemias and myelodysplastic syndromes of the elderly. Bone Marrow Transplant 4(Suppl 3):28–32
- Pliml J, Sorm F (1964) Synthesis of 2'-deoxy-Dribofuranosyl-5-azacytosine. Coll Czeck Chem Commun 29:2576–2577
- Plumb JA, Strathdee G, Sludden J, Kaye SB, Brown R (2000) Reversal of drug resistance in human tumor xenografts by 2'deoxy-5-azacytidineinduced demethylation of the hMLH1 gene promoter. Cancer Res 60:6039–6044
- Pohlmann P, DiLeone LP, Cancella AI, Caldas AP, Dal Lago L, Campos O Jr, Monega E, Rivoire W, Schwartsmann G (2002) Phase II trial of cisplatin plus decitabine, a new hypomethylating agent, in

patients with advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix. Am J Clin Oncol 25:496–501

- Ravandi F, Kantarjian H, Cohen A, Davis M, O'Brien S, Anderlini P, Andersson B, Claxton D, Donato M, Gajewski J, Khouri I, Korbling M, Ueno N, deVos D, Champlin R, Giralt S (2001) Decitabine with allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation in the therapy of leukemia relapse following a prior transplant: results of a phase I study. Bone Marrow Transplant 27: 1221–1225
- Richel DJ, Colly LP, Kluin-Nelemans JC, Willemze R (1991) The antileukemic activity of 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine (Aza-dC) in patients with relapsed and resistant leukemia. Br J Cancer 64:144–148
- Rivard GE, Momparler RL, Demers J, Benoit P, Raymond R, Lin K, Momparler LF (1981) Phase I study on 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine in children with acute leukemia. Leuk Res 5:453–462
- Roman-Gomez J, Jimenez-Velasco A, Castillejo JA, Agirre X, Barrios M, Navarro G, Molina FJ, Calasanz MJ, Prosper F, Heiniger A, Torres A (2004) Promoter hypermethylation of cancerrelated genes: a strong independent prognostic factor in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood 10:2492–2498
- Roman-Gomez J, Cordeu L, Agirre X, Jimenez-Velasco A, San Jose-Eneriz E, Garate L, Calasanz MJ, Heiniger A, Torres A, Prosper F (2007a) Epigenetic regulation of Wnt-signaling pathway in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood 8:3462–3469
- Roman-Gomez J, Jimenez-Velasco A, Barrios M, Prosper F, Heiniger A, Torres A, Agirre X (2007b) Poor prognosis in acute lymphoblastic leukemia may relate to promoter hypermethylation of cancer-related genes. Leuk Lymphoma 48:1269–1282
- Rüter B, Wijermans PW, Lübbert M (2006) Superiority of prolonged low-dose azanucleoside administration ? Results of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine retreatment in high risk myelodysplasia patients. Cancer 106:1744–1750
- Rüter B, Wijermans P, Claus R, Kunzmann R, Lübbert M (2007) Preferential cytogenetic response to continuous intravenous low-dose decitabine (DAC) administration in myelodysplastic syndrome with chromosome 7 abnormalities. Blood 110:1080–1082
- Sacchi S, Talpaz M, O'Brien S, Cortes J, Kantarjian HM (1998) Decitabine, a hypomethylating agent, is

active for the treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) in non-lymphoid blastic phase (BP). Blood 92 (Suppl 1):252a (abstract)

- Sacchi S, Kantarjian HM, O'Brien S, Cortes J, Rios MB, Giles FJ, Beran M, Koller CA, Keating MJ, Talpaz M (1999) Chronic myelogenous leukemia in nonlymphoid blastic phase: analysis of the results of first salvage therapy with three different treatment approaches for 162 patients. Cancer 86:2632–2641
- Samlowski WE, Leachman SA, Wade M, Cassidy P, Porter-Gill P, Busby L, Wheeler R, Boucher K, Fitzpatrick F, Jones DA, Karpf AR (2005) Evaluation of a 7-day continuous intravenous infusion of decitabine: inhibition of promoterspecific and global genomic DNA methylation. J Clin Oncol 23:3897–3905
- Santi DV, Garret CD, Barr PJ (1983) On the mechanism of inhibition of DNA-cytosine methyltransferase by cytidine analogs. Cell 83:83–89
- Saunthararajah Y, Hillery CA, Lavelle D, Molokie R, Dorn L, Bressler L, Gavazova S, Chen YH, Hoffman R, DeSimone J (2003) Effects of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine on fetal hemoglobin levels, red cell adhesion, and hematopoietic differentiation in patients with sickle cell disease. Blood 102:3865–3870
- Saunthararajah Y (2007) Decitabine and sickle cell disease: molecular therapy for a molecular disease. Pediatr Hematol Oncol 24:465–468
- Saunthararajah Y, Molokie R, Saraf S, Sidhwani S, Gowhari M, Vara S, Lavelle D, DeSimone J (2008) Clinical effectiveness of decitabine in severe sickle cell disease. Br J Haematol 141:126–129
- Schrump DS, Fischette MR, Nguyen DM, Zhao M, Li X, Kunst TF, Hancox A, Hong JA, Chen GA, Pishchik V, Figg WD, Murgo AJ, Steinberg SM (2006) Phase I study of decitabine-mediated gene expression in patients with cancers involving the lungs, esophagus, or pleura. Clin Cancer Res 12:5777–5785
- Schwartsmann G, Fernandes MS, Schaan MD, Moschen M, Gerhardt LM, DiLeone L, Loitzembauer B, Kalakun L (1997) Decitabine (5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine; decitabine) plus daunorubicin as a first line treatment in patients with acute myeloid leukemia: preliminary observations. Leukemia 11(Suppl 1):28–31
- Schwartsmann G, Schunemann H, Gorini CN, Filho AF, Garbino C, Sabini G, Muse I, DiLeone L,

Mans DR (2000) A phase I trial of cisplatin plus decitabine, a new DNA-hypomethylating agent, in patients with advanced solid tumors and a follow-up early phase II evaluation in patients with inoperable non-small cell lung cancer. Invest New Drugs 18:83–91

- Scott SA, Lakshimikuttysamma A, Sheridan DP, Sanche SE, Geyer CR, DeCoteau JF (2007) Zebularine inhibits human acute myeloid leukemia cell growth vitro in association with p15INK4B demethylation and reexpression. Exp Hematol 35:263–273
- Shang D, Liu Y, Matsui Y, Ito N, Nishiyama H, Kamoto T, Ogawa O (2008) Demethylating agent 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine enhances susceptibility of bladder transitional cell carcinoma to cisplatin. Urology 71:1220–1225
- Shen L, Toyota M, Kondo Y, Obata T, Daniel S, Pierce S, Imai K, Kantarjian HM, Issa JP, Garcia-Manero G (2003) Aberrant DNA methylation of p57KIP2 identifies a cell cycle regulatory pathway with prognostic impact in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 101:4131–4136
- Shi J, Zhao Y, Ishii T, Hu W, Sozer S, Zhang W, Bruno E, Lindgren V, Xu M, Hoffman R (2007) Effects of chromatin-modifying agents on CD34+ cells from patients with idiopathic myelofibrosis. Cancer Res 67:6417–6424
- Sigalotti L, Coral S, Nardi G, Spessotto A, Cortini E, Cattarossi I, Colizzi F, Altomonte M, Maio M (2002) Promoter methylation controls the expression fo MAGE2, 3 and 4 genes in human cutaneous melanoma. J Immunother 25:16–26
- Sigalotti L, Fratta E, Coral S, Tanzarella S, Danielli R, Colizzi F, Fonsatti E, Traversari C, Altomonte M, Maio M (2004) Intratumor heterogeneity of cancer/testis antigens expression in human cutaneous melanoma is methylation-regulated and functionally reverted by 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. Cancer Res 64:9167–9171
- Sigalotti L, Coral S, Fratta E, Lamaj E, Danielli R, Di Giacomo AM, Altomonte M, Maio M (2005) Epigenetic modulation of solid tumors as a novel approach for cancer immunotherapy. Semin Oncol 32:473–478
- Soriano AO, Yang H, Faderl S, Estrov Z, Giles F, Ravandi F, Cortes J, Wierda WG, Ouzounian S, Quezada A, Pierce S, Estey EH, Issa JP, Kantarjian HM, Garcia-Manero G (2007) Safety

and clinical activity of the combination of 5-azacytidine, valproic acid, and all-trans retinoic acid in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome. Blood 110:2302–2308

- Sorm F, Vesely J (1968) Effect of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine against leukemic and hemopoietic tissues in AKR mice. Neoplasma 15:339–343
- Steele N, Finn P, Brown R, Plumb JA (2009) Combined inhibition of DNA methylation and histone acetylation enhances gene reexpression and drug sensitivity in vivo. Br J Cancer 100: 758–763
- Stresemann C, Brueckner B, Musch T, Stopper H, Lyko F (2006) Functional diversity of DNA methyltransferase inhibitors in human cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 66:2794–2800
- Stresemann C, Lyko F (2008) Modes of action of the DNA methyltransferase inhibitors azacytidine and decitabine. Int J Cancer 123:8–13
- Thibault A, Figg WD, Bergan RC, Lush RM, Myers CE, Tompkins A, Reed E, Samid D (1998) A phase-II study of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) in hormone-independent metastatic (D2) prostate cancer. Tumori 84:87–89
- Toyota M, Issa JP (2005) Epigenetic changes in solid and hematopoietic tumors. Semin Oncol 32:521–530
- Trompeter S, Roberts I (2009) Haemoglobin F modulation in childhood sickle cell disease. Brit J Haematol 144:308–316
- van den Bosch J, Lübbert M, Verhoef G, Wijermans PW (2004) The effects of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) on the platelet count in patients with intermediate and high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome. Leuk Res 28:785–790
- Venturelli S, Armeanu S, Pathil A, Hsieh CJ, Weiss TS, Vonthein R, Wehrmann M, Gregor M, Lauer UM, Bitzer M (2007) Epigenetic combination therapy as a tumor-selective treatment approach for hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer 109: 2132–41
- Vermorken JB, Tumolo S, Roozendaal KJ, Guastalla JP, Splinter Ted AW, Renard J (1991) 5-Aza-2'deoxycytidine in advanced or recurrent cancer of the uterine cervix. Eur J Cancer 27:216–217
- Wang JC, Chen W, Nallusamy S, Chen C, Novetsky AD (2002) Hypermethylation of the P15INK4b and P16INK4a in agnogenic myeloid metaplasia (AMM) and AMM in leukaemic transformation. Brit J Haematol 116:582–586
- Wang WC (2008) The pharmacotherapy of sickle cell disease. Expert Opin Pharmacother 9: 3069–3082

- Weber J, Salgaller M, Samid D, Johnson B, Herlyn M, Lassam N, Treisman J, Rosenberg SA (1994) Expression of the MAGE-I tumor antigen is upregulated by the demethylating agent 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine. Cancer Res 54:1766–1771
- Weiser TS, Guo ZS, Ohnmacht GA, Parkhurst ML, Tong-On P, Marincola FM, Fischette MR, Yu X, Chen GA, Hong JA, Stewart JH, Nguyen DM, Rosenberg SA, Schrump DS (2001a) Sequential 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine-depsipeptide FR901228 treatment induces apoptosis preferentially in cancer cells and facilitates their recognition by cytolytic T lymphocytes specific for NY-ESO-I. J Immunother 24:151–161
- Weiser TS, Ohnmacht GA, Guo ZS, Fischette MR, Chen GA, Hong JA, Nguyen DM, Schrump DS (2001b) Induction of MAGE-3 expression in lung and esophageal cancer cells. Ann Thorac Surg 71:295–301
- Wijermans PW, Krulder JW, Huijgens PC, Neve P (1997) Continuous infusion of low-dose 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine in elderly patients with highrisk myelodysplastic syndrome. Leukemia 11: 19–23
- Wijermans PW, Lübbert M, Verhoef G, Bosly A, Ravoet C, Andre M, Ferrant A (2000) Low-dose 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine, a DNA hypomethylating agent, for the treatment of high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome: a multicenter phase II study in elderly patients. J Clin Oncol 18: 956–962
- Wijermans PW, Lübbert M, Verhoef G (2002) Low dose decitabine for elderly high risk MDS patients: who will respond ? Blood 100:96a (abstract 355)
- Wijermans P, Suciu S, Baila L, Platzbecker U, Giagounidis A, Selleslag D, Labar B, Salih H, Beeldens F, Muus P, de Witte T, Lübbert M (2008) Low dose Decitabine versus best supportive care in elderly patients with intermediate or high risk MDS not eligible for intensive chemotherapy: final results of the randomized phase III study (06011) of the EORTC Leukemia and German MDS Study Group. Blood:112 (abstract 226)
- Willemze R, Archimbaud E, Muus P (1993) Preliminary results with 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine (DAC)-containing chemotherapy in patients with relapsed or refractory acute leukemia. The EORTC leukemia cooperative group. Leukemia 7(Suppl 1):49–50

- Willemze R, Suciu S, Archimbaud E, Muus P, Stryckmans P, Louwagie EA, Berneman Z, Tjean M, Wijermans P, Döhner H, Jehn U, Labar B, Jaksic B, Dardenne M, Zittoun R (1997) A randomized phase-II study on the effects of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine combined with either amsacrine or idarubicin in patients with relapsed acute leukemia: an EORTC leukemia cooperative group phase-II study. Leukemia 11(Suppl 1):24–27
- Wilson VL, Jones PA, Momparler RL (1983) Inhibition of DNA methylation in L1210 leukemia cells by 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine as a possible mechanism of chemotherapeutic action. Cancer Res 43:3493–3496
- Yanez L, Bermudez A, Richard C, Bureo E, Iriondo A (2009) Letter to the editor: Successful induction therapy with decitabine in refractory childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia 23:1342–1343
- Yang AS, Doshi KD, Choi SW, Mason JB, Mannari RK, Gharybian V, Luna R, Rashid A, Shen L, Estecio MR, Kantarjian HM, Garcia-Manero G, Issa JP (2006) DNA methylation changes after 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine therapy in patients with leukemia. Cancer Res 66:5495–5503
- Yang H, Hoshino K, Sanchez-Gonzalez B, Kantarjian H, Garcia-Manero G (2005) Antileukemia activity of the combination of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine with valproic acid. Leuk Res 29:739–748
- Yang H, Kadia T, Xiao L, Bueso-Ramos CE, Hoshino K, Thomas DA, O'Brien S, Jabbour E,

Pierce S, Rosner GL, Kantarjian HM, Garcia-Manero G (2009) Residual DNA methylation at remission is prognostic in adult Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 113:1892–1898

- Yoo CB, Jones PA (2006) Epigenetic therapy of cancer: past, present and future. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5:37–50
- Yoo CB, Jeong S, Egger G, Liang G, Phiasivongsa P, Tang C, Redkar S, Jones PA (2007) Delivery of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine to cells using oligodeoxynucleotides. Cancer Res 67:6400–6408
- Zagonel V, Pinto A, Bullian PL, Sorio R, Gattei V, Curri G, De Rosa L, Attadia V, Monfardini S (1990) 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine as a differentiation inducer in human hemopoietic malignancies: preliminary clinical report. In: Richard L. Momparler, Dick de Vos (eds) 5-Aza-2'deoxycytidine: preclinical and clinical studies. PCH, Haarlem, Netherlands, pp 165–181
- Zagonel V, Lo Re G, Marotta G, Barbare R, Sardeo R, Gattei V, De Angelis V, Montardinni S, Pinto A (1993) 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) induces trilineage response in unfavourable myelodysplastic syndrome. Leukemia (Suppl 1): 30–35
- Zhou L, Cheng X, Connolly BA, Dickman MJ, Hurd PJ, Hornby DP (2002) Zebularine: a novel DNA methylation inhibitor that forms a covalent complex with DNA methyltransferases. J Mol Biol 23:591–599

5-Azacytidine/Azacitidine

Antonia Müller and Mareike Florek

Abstract: 5-Azacytidine is a pyrimidine nucleoside analog that has been discovered more than 40 years ago. Despite remarkable responses in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemias in the 1970s no earlier than 2004 has this agent been approved by the US FDA for the treatment of all subtypes of myelodysplatic syndromes (MDS). For the first time a drug was proven to alter the natural course of MDS, as demonstrated in three clinical trials conducted by the CALG B. Complete remission rates ranged between 10-17%, and more recently, a significant survival benefit for MDS patients treated with 5-Azacytidine could be established. The antineoplastic activity is due to incorporation into RNA with disruption of RNA metabolism, and inhibition of DNA methylation.

Strategies of combining epigenetic manipulation with other 'new' drugs aim at increasing the efficacy of the hypomethylating agents. Particularly histone deacetylase inhibitors have been deemed useful therapeutic partners, and preliminary results are promising.

11.1 Introduction: 5-Azacytidine – Novel or Almost Historic?

5-Azacytidine (Azacitidine, Vidaza®; Pharmion Corporation) and its deoxy derivative 5-Aza-2'-Deoxycitidine are pyrimidine nucleoside analogs that were chemically synthesized and characterized in Czechoslovakia by František Sorm and his fellow investigators in the 1960s (Sorm et al. 1964). Shortly after, 5-Azacytidine was also microbiologically isolated from the fermentation beer of Streptoverticillium ladakanus (Hanka et al. 1966). The new agent was shown to possess a wide range of biological effects, including antimicrobial, abortive, mutagenic, leukopenic, immunosuppressive, cytotoxic, and antineoplastic activity (von Hoff et al. 1976). Particular interest was evoked when the antitumor activity in leukemia cell lines was established (Li et al. 1970a; Sorm and Vesely 1964), and in vivo studies confirmed the cytotoxicity by demonstrating a prolonged survival of mice with L1210 leukemias after administration of 5-Azacytidine (Presant et al. 1975).

In the 1970s, the clinical efficacy of 5-Azacytidine was tested in a wide range of solid tumors and leukemias. While treatment results in solid tumors were generally discouraging, consistent antitumor activity was observed in patients

A. Müller (🖂)

Division of Blood and Marrow Transplantation, Stanford University, School of Medicine, 269, West Campus Drive, CCSR, Stanford, CA 94305, USA e-mail: anmuelle@stanford.edu

11

with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) (von Hoff et al. 1976).

Because of its capability to induce differentiation of erythroleukemic cells in vitro, and thereby alter malignant cell phenotypes (Jones and Taylor 1980), 5-Azacytidine was tested in hemoglobinopathies. Treatment attempts in sickle cell anemia patients demonstrated an increase of fetal hemoglobin (HbF) and a decline of HbS. Overall, this resulted in a slight increase in total hemoglobin concentration and less hemolysis. Patients with β -thalassemia showed increased γ -chain synthesis with significantly improved erythropoiesis, but this was not invariably accompanied by an enhanced hemoglobin concentration (Stamatoyannopoulos 1992).

In 1980, Jones and Taylor discovered that 5-Azacytidine could inhibit DNA methyltransferase activity (Jones and Taylor 1980). Accordingly, when it was recognized that aberrant DNA methylation is critically involved in the development of many neoplasias, including MDS (Aoki et al. 2000; Herman and Baylin 2003; Jones and Baylin 2002), the demethylating agents attracted new attention. Since there was no satisfactory treatment option for the majority of MDS patients, and early studies had shown responses to 5-Azacytidine, MDS offered an appropriate disease entity to study the effects of the drug on DNA methylation, gene transcription, and cell differentiation. In the mid-1980s, trials exploring the usefulness of 5-Azacytidine in MDS were initiated (Silverman 2001; Silverman et al. 1993), and confirmed the clinical efficacy, safety, a reduced risk for transformation into AML, and a beneficial impact on quality of life over best supportive care (Kornblith et al. 2002; Silverman et al. 2002). Thus, in May 2004 5-Azacytidine was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA), and it has been postulated that it should be considered as the first-line therapy for MDS (Kaminskas et al. 2005a, b).

11.2 Agent

11.2.1 Chemical Structure

5-Azacytidine (4-amino-1- β -D-ribofuranosyl1-1,3,5 triazine-2-one or 1- β -D-ribofuranosyl-5-azacy-tosine; C₈H₁₂N₄O₅; molecular weight 244) is a ring analog of the naturally occurring pyrimidine nucleoside cytidine, from which it differs only by a nitrogen in place of the fifth carbon (Bergy and Herr 1966) (Fig. 11.1).

5-Azacytidine is a white to off-white solid that is stable at 25°C, not light sensitive, sparingly soluble in water, and unstable when reconstituted in aqueous solution. Hydrolytic degradation results in a 21–36% loss over 8 h at 25–30°C, and a 2–3% loss at 5°C (Kaminskas et al. 2005a).

11.2.2 Mode of Action

Two main mechanisms of antineoplastic action have been identified for 5-Azacytidine, namely the capacity to [a] incorporate directly into RNA



Fig. 11.1 Molecular structure of 5-Azacytidine



Fig. 11.2 Two main pathways of intracellular 5-Azacytidine metabolism: a) Phosphorylation and incorporation into RNA with disruption of RNA metabolism. b) Phosphorylation and metabolization by ribonucleotide reductase (RNR) with subsequent integration into DNA

with subsequent disruption of RNA metabolism, and [b] to inhibit DNA methylation (Fig. 11.2).

Upon uptake into cells, 5-Azacytidine is phosphorylated by several kinases (uridine cytidine-, pyrimidine monophosphate-, and diphosphatekinases) to 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine di-, and subsequently triphosphate. The ribose structure needs to be metabolized by ribonucleotide reductase (RNR) first to be integrated into DNA. Incorporation of 5-Azacytidine triphosphate into RNA occurs directly, and causes a disruption of nuclear and cytoplasmic RNA metabolism with subsequent inhibition of protein synthesis (Li et al. 1970b).

The second mechanism of action is the inhibition of DNA methylation by trapping DNA methyltransferases It inhibits the enzyme in its progression along the DNA duplex and functionally depletes it from the cell.. In general, DNA methylation refers to the addition of a methyl group to the cytosine residue of a CpG site. So-called CpG islands are genomic regions with a high frequency of CG dinucleotides (the "p" in CpG notation refers to the phosphodiester bond between the cytosine and the guanine), that are typically located in proximity to promoters. The degree of methylation of CpG islands plays a role in the control of gene transcription. Usually, fully methylated sites are associated with suppression of gene expression, while hypo-methylated or unmethylated CpG islands are linked to active transcription. Forming a tight-binding complex 5-Azacytidine irreversibly binds to methyltransferase. It inhibits the enzyme in its progression along the DNA duplex and functionally depletes it from the cell. Consequently, unmethylated DNA can lead to the transcription of previously quiescent genes (Jones and Taylor 1981; Taylor and Jones 1982). Already minor substitution of cytosine residues (~0.3%) suffices to inactivate more than 95% of methyltransferase activity in the cell (Creusot et al. 1982).

DNA (hyper-)methylation is believed to contribute to cancer initiation and progression by silencing tumor suppressor genes and other genes critical for regulation of the cell cycle, cell growth, differentiation, and apoptosis (Bird 1996). In this setting, 5-Azacytidine can restore the expression of potentially important genes by demethylating such pathologically hypermethylated regions (Silverman 2001).

In addition to these modes of action, 5-Azacytidine has been reported to inhibit DNA histone acetylation, another regulatory mechanism in gene silencing (Chiurazzi et al. 1999).

11.3 Pharmacology

11.3.1 Route of Administration and Dosage

Both subcutaneous (s.c.) and intravenous (i.v.) routes have been tested. The bioavailability of s.c. relative to i.v. 5-Azacytidine is approximately 89%.

The recommended starting dose of 5-Azacytidine is 75 mg/m² s.c. or i.v. daily for 7 days, regardless of baseline hematology laboratory values. Cycles should be repeated every 28 days. Dose adjustments for consecutive cycles should be based on nadir counts and bone marrow (BM) cellularity. An increase of the dose to 100 mg/m² can be considered if no beneficial effect is notable after two cycles and the drug is tolerated well. Response may be delayed. Therefore, therapy should be given at least for 4-5 cycles, and may be continued as long as the positive effect persists. The maximal dose tolerated has not been formally determined, however, some early trials used daily i.v. doses of 150-200 mg/m² for 5 days, and even a maximum dose of 500 mg/m² has been given on a weekly basis to patients with solid tumors (von Hoff and Slavik 1977).

11.3.2 Bioavailability, Half-Life, Elimination, Drug–Drug Interactions

5-Azacytidine is rapidly absorbed after s.c. administration with peak plasma concentrations after 30 min and a mean half-life of 41 ± 8 min. Urinary excretion is the primary route of elimination of 5-Azacitidine and its metabolites, but presumably additional extrarenal pathways for elimination, such as deamination in the liver and spleen, exist (Chabot et al. 1983; Stresemann and Lyko 2008). Fecal excretion appears to be minimal (Marcucci et al. 2005).

A formal assessment of drug-drug interactions has not been conducted as of yet, and whether the metabolism of 5-Azacytidine is affected by microsomal enzyme inducers or inhibitors remains to be clarified (Marcucci et al. 2005). Of note, ribonucleotide reductase (RNR), which metabolizes 5-Azacytidine into the active metabolite, is a known target of hydroxyurea. Therefore, concomitant use of both drugs could lead to diminished efficacy of 5-Azacytidine and should be avoided, while sequential administration may be possible (Choi et al. 2007).

11.3.3 Safety, Side Effects, and Contraindications

Dose toxicology studies have identified BM, liver, kidney, and lymphoid tissues as target organs of 5-Azacytidine (Kaminskas et al. 2005a). While treatment-related mortality has been consistently low (<1%), severe adverse side effects have been reported in about 60% of 5-Azacytidine patients, largely consisting of thrombocytopenia, febrile neutropenia, fever, and pneumonia. However, safety evaluations from the MDS trials were somewhat confounded by the pathophysiology of this disease, which overlaps to a great extent with the toxicities of the drug. Other common, less serious side effects included injection site events, arthralgia, cough, dyspnea, headache, weakness, dizziness, and insomnia. Usually, adverse events occurred within the first two therapy cycles, and diminished subsequently. Discontinuation of 5-Azacytidine was mostly related to myelosuppression (Silverman et al. 2002).

11.3.3.1 Hematologic Toxicity/Myelosuppression

Several phase I studies pointed to leukopenia (<1,500/ μ L) as a dose-limiting toxicity. Leukopenia was dose-related, and occurred in approximately 34% of patients, while thrombocytopenia (<100,000/ μ L) has been reported in 17%. Only 4% of patients had greater than 3 g/dL drop in hemoglobin directly attributable to the drug (von Hoff

et al. 1976). In the CALG B trials myelosuppression, either BM hypoplasia or drug-related cytopenias, required dose reduction in a third of patients (Silverman et al. 1993).

11.3.3.2 Gastrointestinal Toxicity

Initially, the usefulness of 5-Azacytidine was hampered by severe nausea and vomiting that accompanied rapid i.v. injection of the instable drug, and constituted a dose-limiting toxicity. Only when it became clear that the half-life of the drug at 25°C in buffered solutions is significantly longer, infusion time could be extended and gastrointestinal toxicity could be reduced (Israili et al. 1976; Vogler et al. 1976). Split doses and s.c. administration decreased side effects slightly, and subsequent continuous infusions (150 mg/m²/day over 120 h with fresh preparations every 4 h) were able to further improve tolerability (Lomen et al. 1975). Newer trials using the current standard dose regimen (75 mg/m²/day over 7 days every 28 days) still revealed mild to moderate nausea and/or vomiting as the most common side effect (63%) (Silverman et al. 1993). Diarrhea occurred in a substantial proportion of patients, but was not dose-limiting (von Hoff et al. 1976).

11.3.3.3 Hepatotoxicity

Liver damage appears to be unrelated to dose, schedule, or route of administration. Liver function abnormalities have been documented in 7-16% of patients receiving 5-Azacytidine, particularly those with preexisting liver cirrhosis (Silverman et al. 2002; von Hoff et al. 1976). Hepatic comas have been reported in context with extensive liver metastasis and low baseline serum albumin levels (0.5%) (Bellet et al. 1973). Therefore, 5-Azacytidine is contraindicated in patients with advanced hepatic malignancies.

11.3.3.4 Nephrotoxicity

Renal dysfunction and failure have been observed in patients receiving combination chemotherapy and/or those with renal impairment (von Hoff et al. 1976), particularly during periods of sepsis and hypotension (Silverman et al. 2002). Since 5-Azacytidine and its metabolites are primarily excreted by the kidneys, dosage needs to be adjusted based on renal function and serum electrolytes, especially in elderly patients and those with renal impairment.

11.3.3.5 Other

Sporadically, in <3% of patients neuromuscular side effects have been documented. The myalgicasthenic syndrome involved generalized muscle tenderness, weakness, and lethargy. Other unspecific symptoms reported were fever (6%), skin rash (2%), stomatitis, phlebitis, and hypotension (von Hoff et al. 1976).

11.3.3.6 Teratogenicity

In animal studies, 5-Azacytidine caused congenital malformations, and was found to be mutagenic, clastogenic, and embryotoxic when females were dosed during gestation. It decreased male fertility, and preconception treatment of male rodents resulted in increased embryofetal loss in mated untreated females. Therefore, women should avoid pregnancy and men should not father a child while receiving treatment with 5-Azacytidine (Kaminskas et al. 2005b).

11.4 Clinical Use of 5-Azacytidine

11.4.1 Early Studies

Clinical trials using 5-Azacytidine were begun in 1967 in Europe, and in the late-1970s in the United States. They investigated the application of the new agent in patients with metastatic cancer and leukemia refractory to conventional chemotherapies. In 1976, von Hoff et al. provided a comprehensive review on all preclinical and clinical data before 1975, encompassing a total of 58 protocols and reviews received at the Investigational Drug Branch of the National Institutes of Health. Eight hundred and twenty one patients who had been treated with 5-Azacytidine, 207 of them within phase I studies were re-evaluated. Promisingly, 5-Azacytidine revealed consistent antitumor activity in patients with AML and achieved an overall response rate of 36% (20% complete remission (CR), 16% partial remission (PR)) in 200 patients with AML refractory to previous treatment. The median duration of remission was between 15 and 19 weeks (von Hoff et al. 1976). Although these remarkable responses verified the activity of 5-Azacytidine as a single agent in AML, it never advanced through the U.S. FDA review process as a leukemia therapy.

Both European and US experiences with 5-Azacytidine for treatment of patients with acute lymphatic leukemia (ALL), chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), and multiple myeloma were disappointing. While only sporadic responses were achieved in ALL, no favorable outcome was denoted in CML or multiple myeloma. Also, unambiguously, clinical results of 5-Azacytidine for treatment of solid tumors were not encouraging at all. Few favorable responses occurred, usually of poor quality, short duration, and associated with significant toxicity (von Hoff et al. 1976).

11.4.2 5-Azacytidine in Myelodysplastic Syndromes (MDS)

MDS comprise a group of several chronic diseases of BM dysfunction characterized by decreased counts of one or more blood cell types and/or an increase in BM blasts. Progression of MDS is often characterized by transformation into AML. Because of their advanced age, most MDS patients are not candidates for aggressive curative therapies, such as high-dose chemotherapy and hematopoietic cell transplantation, and previously had no treatment option superior to best supportive care (Kaminskas et al. 2005a). The discovery of the hypermethylation of the p15^{INK4B} gene in MDS (Christiansen et al. 2003; Uchida et al. 1997) provided the rationale for the effectiveness of 5-Azacytidine in MDS that had been observed already in the early trials of the 1970s and 1980s.

When 5-Azacytidine was the first therapeutic agent approved by the FDA in May 2004 for the treatment of all subtypes of MDS, this decision based on three clinical studies conducted by the Cancer and Leukemia Group B (CALG B). Two of them were single-armed (Silverman 2001; Silverman et al. 1993), the third was a controlled, randomized phase III trial (Silverman et al. 2002). 5-Azacytidine was administered at a starting dose of 75 mg/m²/day for 7 days with 28-day cycles in all three trials.

The first phase II study (protocol 8421) of the CALG B was initiated in 1984, and 49% of 43 patients receiving 5-Azacytidine as a continuous i.v. infusion responded (12% CR, 25% PR, 12% improved). The overall survival was 13.3 months, median duration of remission was 14.7 months, requirement of RBC transfusions was eliminated in 82%, and the agent was tolerated well (Silverman et al. 1993). In the second trial (protocol 8921), 5-Azacytidine given as a s.c. bolus injection to 67 patients with high-risk MDS yielded comparable results with regard to safety and efficacy (overall response rate 53%; CR 12%, PR 15%, 27% improved) (Silverman 2001). "Improved" described a response with less than 50% restoration of normal blood counts and less than 50% decreases in RBC or platelet transfusion requirements.

These promising results prompted the initiation of a randomized, open-label phase III trial (protocol 9221) to compare the clinical efficacy and impact on quality of life of 5-Azacytidine with best supportive care. In 191 patients with MDS, an overall response (CR plus PR) was achieved in about 16% (11.8-18.8%), while there was no response in the control group. This difference between both arms was statistically highly significant. Incidence of transformation to AML decreased, and time to AML or death was considerably longer for the 5-Azacytidine group than for the supportive care group (median 21 vs. 12 months, respectively) (Silverman et al. 2002). Generally, overall response rates were similar in females and males, all age groups, and all MDS subtypes. The most evident benefit of a response was in transfusion-dependent patients. which lost their need for transfusion of RBC and/or platelets during CR or PR. Indicators of response, such as decrease in blast counts or increase in platelets, hemoglobin or WBC were observed by the fifth treatment cycle in more than 90% of patients, and responses were long lasting (Silverman et al. 2006).

As part of the phase III study, quality of life was assessed. In contrast to patients in the supportive care group, those receiving 5-Azacytidine experienced significant improvement in fatigue, dyspnea, physical function, positive effect, and psychological distress, which coupled with greater treatment response and delayed time to transformation to AML or death (Kornblith et al. 2002).

In 2006, Silverman et al. reanalyzed the combined data from all 270 patients treated within the three CALG B trials and confirmed previous results of a CR rate of 10–17%. The median number of cycles to first response was three, and 90% of responses were seen by cycle 6. The overall response rate for patients with the retrospective diagnosis of an AML, according to the new WHO classification system, was encouraging. While the CR rate of 9% was rather moderate (vs. 0% in the observation group), the prolongation in survival time to 19.3 months when compared with 12.9 months without specific treatment was remarkable (Silverman et al. 2006).

The CALG B trials could not establish a survival benefit or delay in progression to AML as a treatment benefit for 5-Azacytidine because crossover of observation arm patients to treatment was permitted, and because the trial was insufficiently powered to detect a survival benefit. Just recently, the large, international, randomized Phase III 5-Azacytidine survival trial (AZA-001) demonstrated a statistically significant superior median overall survival (24.4 months) for 179 higher-risk MDS patients receiving 5-Azacytidine as compared to 179 patients under conventional care regimen (15 months). The 5-Azacytidine group experienced a twofold overall survival advantage of 51 vs. 26% at 2 years, a median time to AML transformation or death of 13 months vs. 7.6 months, and a CR and PR rate of 29 vs. 12% when compared with the conventional care group (Fenaux et al. 2007). Subgroup analysis of the AZA-001 trial revealed a particularly favorable response to 5-Azacytidine in patients with alterations of chromosome 7, while those with del 5g had a poorer response rate than other high-risk MDS and AML patients (Fenaux et al. 2007; Itzykson et al. 2008). 5-Azacytidine was comparably effective in patients who had been enrolled into the trial as FAB RAEB-T, but now meet the WHO criteria for AML (Fenaux et al. 2008). Likewise, the subpopulation of elderly highrisk MDS patients (over 75 years) tolerated the agent well and experienced a significantly prolonged 2-year overall survival and reduced risk of death (Seymour et al. 2008). In all patients who responded to 5-Azacytidine (51% CR, PR,

11

or hematologic improvement), the median number of cycles to first response was 3 (range 1–22), 81, and 90% of patients achieved a first response by cycle 6 and 9, respectively (Silverman et al. 2008a).

Due to the results of the AZA-001 trial, the FDA authorization was extended in August 2008, and 5-Azacytidine became the first drug approved to reflect unprecedented overall survival in patients with higher-risk MDS.

11.4.3 New Therapeutic Approaches

Combination strategies: Aiming at increasing response rates, regimens combining epigenetic manipulation with other conventional therapies are under development. Since alterations in histones, specifically hypoacetylation plus subsequent chromatin remodeling, are also involved in regulating transcription and gene silencing, histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors have been deemed useful combination partners for methyltransferase inhibitors (Griffiths and Gore 2008; Silverman 2001). Indeed, phase I and early phase II trials using 5-Azacytidine and HDAC inhibitors reported overall responses in the range from 20 to 50% in patients with AML and higher-risk MDS. Time to response has been consistently one course (1-3) and appeared to be faster than the four to six courses required with single-agent 5-Azacytidine for primary response (Kuendgen et al. 2004; Soriano et al. 2007). A phase I trial testing 5-Azacytidine plus Vorinostat showed that the synergistic effect is sequence-dependent, requiring exposure to the demethylating agent first followed by the HDAC inhibitor. The combination was well tolerated in repetitive cycles, active in both lower and higher risk MDS/AML patients with a response superior to 5-Azacytidine alone (Silverman et al. 2008b). Studies, such as the combination of 5-Azacytidine plus SNDX-275 (former MS275) or MGCD0103 (both selective HDAC inhibitors with activity in AML and potentially MDS (Beckers et al. 2007)) are ongoing (Garcia-Manero et al. 2008a; Gore and Hermes-DeSantis 2008).

Other therapeutic approaches used the combination of 5-Azacytidine with Thalidomide or Lenalidomide for treatment of MDS and AML, and were able to demonstrate that this combination was effective and well tolerated without additive toxicity (phase I) (Raza et al. 2008; Sekeres et al. 2008).

Of particular interest appears the combination with the anti-CD33 immunotoxin gemtuzumab ozogamicin (Mylotarg[®]), which is active as a single agent in AML (Larson et al. 2002; Sievers et al. 2001). Preliminary results on the combined approach of 5-Azacytidine, gemtuzumab ozogamicin, and hydroxyurea revealed a CR rate of 70% in 20 elderly patients with AML (Nand et al. 2008).

Maintenance therapy: Another conceivable application for hypomethylating agents is the continuous use of low doses as a maintenance strategy in patients with remissions after more intensive types of therapy. The significance of this approach has not been fully determined, since preliminary results from ongoing trials did not have appropriate control groups (Grövdal et al. 2008), or did not provide information on the relapse rate in their cohort of patients with refractory AML/MDS after hematopoietic cell transplantation (De Lima et al. 2008). However, the safety profile of the maintenance regimen was confirmed.

11.5 Future Perspective, Experimental Studies, and Conclusion

Although 5-Azacytidine is not exactly novel anymore, it recently obtained new attention, when its beneficial influence on survival of patients with high-risk MDS became evident. For the first time, an agent was proven to alter the natural course of this disease. Particularly, the combination with other new drugs, such as HDAC inhibitors, raises hope that MDS can ultimately be controlled more successfully.

Next to pathological hypermethylation, also physiologically methylated CpG sites may be targets for methyltransferase inhibitors. Recent data imply that a stable and permanent expression of the human transcription factor forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) in regulatory T cells might be crucial in the prevention of autoimmunity, allergy, and graft-vs.-host disease after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Apparently, DNA methylation patterns in the FOXP3 locus can serve to discriminate FOXP3+ regulatory T cells with suppressive capacity (demethylated promotor region) from activated FOXP3+ conventional T cells that lack this protective function (methylated CpG sites) (Floess et al. 2007; Polansky et al. 2008). Experimental data support the hypothesis that inhibition of methyltransferases stabilizes transcription of FOXP3, which could result in an increase of suppressive FOXP3⁺ regulatory T cells. It is conceivable that in the future demethylating agents might be used as a therapeutic tool for immune modulation (Nagar et al. 2008).

Lately, further potential capabilities of 5-Azacytidine in unexpected off-target fields have been discovered, and are subject of preclinical investigations. 5-Azacytidine appears to inhibit the antiapoptotic transcription factor NF κ B, presumably via decreased phosphorylation of the upstream regulator IKK α/β , which results in apoptosis and cell death (Fabre et al. 2008). Moreover, a significant inhibition of Wnt-signaling by 5-Azacytidine has been proposed. The Wnt-signaling pathway is known to be involved in oncogene expression in AML (Chim et al. 2007; Jawad et al. 2008).

Almost for several decades, 5-Azacytidine remained fairly unobtrusive in the rank of secondline and salvage treatment options for AML and MDS. Just recently, when the significance of epigenetics in tumorigenesis became clear, 5-Azacytidine also attracted great attention. It was the first drug approved for the treatment of all categories of MDS and its survival benefit was confirmed. The combination of hypomethylating agents with other drugs is promising. Moreover, innovative strategies involving off-target sites of 5-Azacytidine hold a broad potential for cancer therapy as well as immune modulation.

References

- Aoki E, Uchida T, Ohashi H, Nagai H, Murase T, Ichikawa A, Yamao K, Hotta T, Kinoshita T, Saito H, Murate T (2000) Methylation status of the p15INK4B gene in hematopoietic progenitors and peripheral blood cells in myelodysplastic syndromes. Leukemia 14:586–593
- Beckers T, Burkhardt C, Wieland H, Gimmnich P, Ciossek T, Maier T, Sanders K (2007) Distinct pharmacological properties of second generation HDAC inhibitors with the benzamide or hydroxamate head group. Int J Cancer 121: 1138–1148
- Bellet RE, Mastrangelo MJ, Engstrom PF, Custer RP (1973) Hepatotoxicity of 5-azacytidine (NSC-102816) (a clinical and pathologic study). Neoplasma 20:303–309
- Bergy ME, Herr RR (1966) Microbiological production of 5-azacytidine. II. Isolation and chemical structure. Antimicrob Agents Chemother (Bethesda) 6:625–630
- Bird AP (1996) The relationship of DNA methylation to cancer. Cancer Surv 28:87–101
- Chabot GG, Bouchard J, Momparler RL (1983) Kinetics of deamination of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine and cytosine arabinoside by human liver cytidine deaminase and its inhibition by 3-deazauridine, thymidine or uracil arabinoside. Biochem Pharmacol 32:1327–1328
- Chim CS, Pang R, Fung TK, Choi CL, Liang R (2007) Epigenetic dysregulation of Wnt signaling pathway in multiple myeloma. Leukemia 21:2527–2536
- Chiurazzi P, Pomponi MG, Pietrobono R, Bakker CE, Neri G, Oostra BA (1999) Synergistic effect of histone hyperacetylation and DNA demethylation in the reactivation of the FMR1 gene. Hum Mol Genet 8:2317–2323

- Choi SH, Byun HM, Kwan JM, Issa JP, Yang AS (2007) Hydroxycarbamide in combination with azacitidine or decitabine is antagonistic on DNA methylation inhibition. Br J Haematol 138: 616–623
- Christiansen DH, Andersen MK, Pedersen-Bjergaard J (2003) Methylation of p15INK4B is common, is associated with deletion of genes on chromosome arm 7q and predicts a poor prognosis in therapy-related myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia 17:1813–1819
- Creusot F, Acs G, Christman JK (1982) Inhibition of DNA methyltransferase and induction of friend erythroleukemia cell differentiation by 5-azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. J Biol Chem 257:2041–2048
- De Lima M, de Padua Silva L, Giralt S, Komanduri K, Andersson BS, Hosing C, Qazilbash M, Shpall E, Thall P, Zhang W, McCormick G, Wang X, Popat U, Soriano A, Alousi A, Champlin R, Garcia-Manero G (2008) Maintenance therapy with low-dose azacitidine (AZA) after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) for relapsed or refractory AML or MDS: a dose and schedule finding study. Blood 112:1134 (abstract)
- Fabre C, Grosjean J, Tailler M, Boehrer S, Ades L, Perfettini JL, de Botton S, Fenaux P, Kroemer G (2008) A novel effect of DNA methyltransferase and histone deacetylase inhibitors: NFkappaB inhibition in malignant myeloblasts. Cell Cycle 7:2139–2145
- Fenaux P, Mufti GJ, Santini V, Finelli C, Giagounidis A, Schoch R, List AF, Gore SD, Seymour JF, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Bennett JM, Byrd JC, Backstrom JT, Zimmerman LS, McKenzie DR, Beach CL, Silverman LR (2007) Azacitidine (AZA) treatment prolongs overall survival (OS) in higher-risk MDS patients compared with conventional care regimens (CCR): results of the AZA-001 phase III study. Blood 110:817 (abstract)
- Fenaux P, Mufti GJ, Hellström-Lindberg E, Santini V, Gattermann N, Sanz G, List AF, Gore SD, Seymour JF, Backstrom J, Zimmerman L, McKenzie D, Beach CL, Silverman LB (2008) Azacitidine prolongs overall survival (OS) and reduces infections and hospitalizations in patients (Pts) with WHO-defined acute myeloid leukemia (AML) compared with conventional care regimens (CCR). Blood 112:3636 (abstract)

- Floess S, Freyer J, Siewert C, Baron U, Olek S, Polansky J, Schlawe K, Chang HD, Bopp T, Schmitt E, Klein-Hessling S, Serfling E, Hamann A, Huehn J (2007) Epigenetic control of the foxp3 locus in regulatory T cells. PLoS Biol 5:e38
- Garcia-Manero G, Assouline S, Cortes J, Estrov Z, Kantarjian H, Yang H, Newsome WM, Miller WH Jr, Rousseau C, Kalita A, Bonfils C, Dubay M, Patterson TA, Li Z, Besterman JM, Reid G, Laille E, Martell RE, Minden M (2008a) Phase 1 study of the oral isotype specific histone deacetylase inhibitor MGCD0103 in leukemia. Blood 112:981–989
- Garcia-Manero G, Stoltz ML, Ward MR, Kantarjian H, Sharma S (2008b) A pilot pharmacokinetic study of oral azacitidine. Leukemia 22: 1680–1684
- Gore SD, Hermes-DeSantis ER (2008) Future directions in myelodysplastic syndrome: newer agents and the role of combination approaches. Cancer Control 15(Suppl):40–49
- Griffiths EA, Gore SD (2008) DNA methyltransferase and histone deacetylase inhibitors in the treatment of myelodysplastic syndromes. Semin Hematol 45:23–30
- Grövdal M, Khan R, Aggerholm A, Antunovic P, Astermark J, Bernell P, Engström LM, Kjeldsen L, Linder O, Nilsson L, Olsson A, Wallvik J, Tangen JM, Öberg G, Jacobsen SE, Porwit A, Hokland P, Hellström-Lindberg E (2008) Maintenance treatment with 5-azacitidine for patients with High Risk myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) or acute myeloid leukemia following MDS (MDS-AML) in complete remission (CR) after induction chemotherapy. Blood 112:223 (abstract)
- Hanka LJ, Evans JS, Mason DJ, Dietz A (1966) Microbiological production of 5-azacytidine. I. Production and biological activity. Antimicrob Agents Chemother (Bethesda) 6:619–624
- Herman JG, Baylin SB (2003) Gene silencing in cancer in association with promoter hypermethylation. N Engl J Med 349:2042–2054
- Israili ZH, Vogler WR, Mingioli ES, Pirkle JL, Smithwick RW, Goldstein JH (1976) The disposition and pharmacokinetics in humans of 5-azacytidine administered intravenously as a bolus or by continuous infusion. Cancer Res 36:1453–1461
- Itzykson R, Thépot S, Fabre C, Dreyfus F, Quesnel B, Wattel E, de Botton S, Pilorge S, Dartigeas C, Stamatoullas A, Prebet T, Ojeda-Uribe M, Cheze S,

11

Tournilhac O, Solary E, Damaj G, Tertian G, Himberlin C, Mbida RM, Beve B, Adès L, Gardin C, Fenaux P (2008) Response to azacytidine (AZA) in MDS or AML with Del 5q: current results of the french ATU program. Blood 112:2682 (abstract)

- Jones PA, Baylin SB (2002) The fundamental role of epigenetic events in cancer. Nat Rev Genet 3:415–428
- Jones PA, Taylor SM (1980) Cellular differentiation, cytidine analogs and DNA methylation. Cell 20:85–93
- Jones PA, Taylor SM (1981) Hemimethylated duplex DNAs prepared from 5-azacytidinetreated cells. Nucleic Acids Res 9:2933–2947
- Kaminskas E, Farrell A, Abraham S, Baird A, Hsieh LS, Lee SL, Leighton JK, Patel H, Rahman A, Sridhara R, Wang YC, Pazdur R (2005a) Approval summary: azacitidine for treatment of myelodysplastic syndrome subtypes. Clin Cancer Res 11:3604–3608
- Kaminskas E, Farrell AT, Wang YC, Sridhara R, Pazdur R (2005b) FDA drug approval summary: azacitidine (5-azacytidine, Vidaza) for injectable suspension. Oncologist 10:176–182
- Kornblith AB, Herndon JE 2nd, Silverman LR, Demakos EP, Odchimar-Reissig R, Holland JF, Powell BL, DeCastro C, Ellerton J, Larson RA, Schiffer CA, Holland JC (2002) Impact of azacytidine on the quality of life of patients with myelodysplastic syndrome treated in a randomized phase III trial: a cancer and leukemia group B study. J Clin Oncol 20:2441–2452
- Kuendgen A, Strupp C, Aivado M, Bernhardt A, Hildebrandt B, Haas R, Germing U, Gattermann N (2004) Treatment of myelodysplastic syndromes with valproic acid alone or in combination with all-trans retinoic acid. Blood 104: 1266–1269
- Larson RA, Boogaerts M, Estey E, Karanes C, Stadtmauer EA, Sievers EL, Mineur P, Bennett JM, Berger MS, Eten CB, Munteanu M, Loken MR, Van Dongen JJ, Bernstein ID, Appelbaum FR (2002) Antibody-targeted chemotherapy of older patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first relapse using Mylotarg (gemtuzumab ozogamicin). Leukemia 16:1627–1636
- Li LH, Olin EJ, Buskirk HH, Reineke LM (1970a) Cytotoxicity and mode of action of 5-azacytidine on L1210 leukemia. Cancer Res 30: 2760–2769

- Li LH, Olin EJ, Fraser TJ, Bhuyan BK (1970b) Phase specificity of 5-azacytidine against mammalian cells in tissue culture. Cancer Res 30: 2770–2775
- Lomen PL, Baker LH, Neil GL, Samson MK (1975) Phase I study of 5-azacytidine (NSC-102816) using 24-hour continuous infusion for 5 days. Cancer Chemother Rep 59:1123–1126
- Marcucci G, Silverman L, Eller M, Lintz L, Beach CL (2005) Bioavailability of azacitidine subcutaneous versus intravenous in patients with the myelodysplastic syndromes. J Clin Pharmacol 45: 597–602
- Jawad M, Russell NH, Pallis M (2008) Azacytidine and gemtuzumab ozogamicin co-operate to inhibit the Wnt pathway and increase cytotoxicity in AML. Blood 112:2991 (abstract)
- Nagar M, Vernitsky H, Cohen Y, Dominissini D, Berkun Y, Rechavi G, Amariglio N, Goldstein I (2008) Epigenetic inheritance of DNA methylation limits activation-induced expression of FOXP3 in conventional human CD25-CD4+ T cells. Int Immunol 20:1041–1055
- Nand S, Godwin J, Smith S, Barton K, Michaelis L, Alkan S, Veerappan R, Rychlik K, Germano E, Stiff P (2008) Hydroxyurea, azacitidine and gemtuzumab ozogamicin therapy in patients with previously untreated non-M3 acute myeloid leukemia and high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes in the elderly: results from a pilot trial. Leuk Lymphoma 49:2141–2147
- Polansky JK, Kretschmer K, Freyer J, Floess S, Garbe A, Baron U, Olek S, Hamann A, von Boehmer H, Huehn J (2008) DNA methylation controls Foxp3 gene expression. Eur J Immunol 38:1654–1663
- Presant CA, Vietti T, Valeriote F (1975) Kinetics of both leukemic and normal cell population reduction following 5-azacytidine. Cancer Res 35: 1926–1930
- Raza A, Reeves JA, Feldman EJ, Dewald GW, Bennett JM, Deeg HJ, Dreisbach L, Schiffer CA, Stone RM, Greenberg PL, Curtin PT, Klimek VM, Shammo JM, Thomas D, Knight RD, Schmidt M, Wride K, Zeldis JB, List AF (2008) Phase 2 study of lenalidomide in transfusion-dependent, low-risk, and intermediate-1 risk myelodysplastic syndromes with karyotypes other than deletion 5q. Blood 111:86–93
- Sekeres MA, Maciejewski JP, Giagounidis AA, Wride K, Knight R, Raza A, List AF (2008)

- Seymour JF, Fenaux P, Silverman LB, Mufti GJ, Hellström-Lindberg E, Santini V, List AF, Gore SD, Backstrom J, McKenzie D, Beach CL (2008) Effects of azacitidine (AZA) vs. conventional care regimens (CCR) in elderly (³75 years) patients (Pts) with myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) from the AZA-001 survival trial. Blood 112:3629 (abstract)
- Sievers EL, Larson RA, Stadtmauer EA, Estey E, Lowenberg B, Dombret H, Karanes C, Theobald M, Bennett JM, Sherman ML, Berger MS, Eten CB, Loken MR, van Dongen JJ, Bernstein ID, Appelbaum FR (2001) Efficacy and safety of gemtuzumab ozogamicin in patients with CD33positive acute myeloid leukemia in first relapse. J Clin Oncol 19:3244–3254
- Silverman LR (2001) Targeting hypomethylation of DNA to achieve cellular differentiation in myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS). Oncologist 6(Suppl 5):8–14
- Silverman LR, Demakos EP, Peterson BL, Kornblith AB, Holland JC, Odchimar-Reissig R, Stone RM, Nelson D, Powell BL, DeCastro CM, Ellerton J, Larson RA, Schiffer CA, Holland JF (2002) Randomized controlled trial of azacitidine in patients with the myelodysplastic syndrome: a study of the cancer and leukemia group B. J Clin Oncol 20:2429–2440
- Silverman LR, Holland JF, Weinberg RS, Alter BP, Davis RB, Ellison RR, Demakos EP, Cornell CJ Jr, Carey RW, Schiffer C et al (1993) Effects of treatment with 5-azacytidine on the in vivo and in vitro hematopoiesis in patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. Leukemia 7(Suppl 1): 21–29
- Silverman LR, McKenzie DR, Peterson BL, Holland JF, Backstrom JT, Beach CL, Larson RA (2006) Further analysis of trials with azacitidine in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome: studies 8421, 8921, and 9221 by the cancer and leukemia group B. J Clin Oncol 24:3895–3903
- Silverman LR, Fenaux P, Mufti GJ, Santini V, Hellström-Lindberg E, Gattermann N, Sanz G, List AF, Gore SD, Seymour JF, Backstrom J, McKenzie D, Beach CL (2008) The effects of continued azacitidine (AZA) treatment cycles on response in higher-

risk patients (Pts) with myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS). Blood 112:227 (abstract)

- Silverman LR, Verma A, Odchimar-Reissig R, LeBlanc A, Najfeld V, Gabrilove J, Isola L, Espinoza-Delgado I, Zwiebel J (2008) A phase I trial of the epigenetic modulators vorinostat, in combination with azacitidine (azaC) in patients with the myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and acute myeloid leukemia (AML): a study of the New York cancer consortium. Blood 112:3656 (abstract)
- Soriano AO, Yang H, Faderl S, Estrov Z, Giles F, Ravandi F, Cortes J, Wierda WG, Ouzounian S, Quezada A, Pierce S, Estey EH, Issa JP, Kantarjian HM, Garcia-Manero G (2007) Safety and clinical activity of the combination of 5-azacytidine, valproic acid, and all-trans retinoic acid in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome. Blood 110:2302–2308
- Sorm F, Piskala A, Cihak A, Vesely J (1964) 5-Azacytidine, a new, highly effective cancerostatic. Experientia 20:202–203
- Sorm F, Vesely J (1964) The activity of a new antimetabolite, 5-azacytidine, against lymphoid leukaemia in Ak mice. Neoplasma 11:123–130
- Stamatoyannopoulos JA (1992) Future prospects for treatment of hemoglobinopathies. West J Med 157:631–636
- Stresemann C, Lyko F (2008) Modes of action of the DNA methyltransferase inhibitors azacytidine and decitabine. Int J Cancer 123:8–13
- Taylor SM, Jones PA (1982) Mechanism of action of eukaryotic DNA methyltransferase. Use of 5-azacytosine-containing DNA. J Mol Biol 162: 679–692
- Uchida T, Kinoshita T, Nagai H, Nakahara Y, Saito H, Hotta T, Murate T (1997) Hypermethylation of the p15INK4B gene in myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood 90:1403–1409
- Vogler WR, Miller DS, Keller JW (1976) 5-Azacytidine (NSC 102816): a new drug for the treatment of myeloblastic leukemia. Blood 48: 331–337
- von Hoff DD, Slavik M (1977) 5-azacytidine–a new anticancer drug with significant activity in acute myeloblastic leukemia. Adv Pharmacol Chemother 14:285–326
- von Hoff DD, Slavik M, Muggia FM (1976) 5-Azacytidine. A new anticancer drug with effectiveness in acute myelogenous leukemia. Ann Intern Med 85:237–245

11

Part III

Cell Cycle Inhibitors

Bortezomib

Hermann Einsele

Abstract The ubiquitin-mediated degradation of proteins in numerous cellular processes, such as turnover and quality control of proteins, cell cycle and apoptosis, transcription and cell signaling, immune response and antigen presentation, and inflammation and development makes the ubiquitin-proteosome systems a very interesting target for various therapeutic interventions.

Proteosome inhibitors were first synthesized as tools to probe the function and specificity of this particle's proteolytic activities. Most synthetic inhibitors rely on a peptide base, which mimics a protein substrate, attached at a COOH terminal "warhead". Notable warheads include boronic acids, such as Bortezomib and epoxyketones, such as carfilzomib. A variety of natural products also inhibit the proteosome that are not peptide-based, most notably lactacystin, that is related to NPI-0052, or salinosporamide A, another inhibitor in clinical trials.

The possibility that proteosome inhibitors could be drug candidates was considered after studies showed that they induced apoptosis in leukemic cell lines. The first proteasome inhibitor in clinical application, Bortezomib showed activity in non small cell lung and androgen-independent prostate carcinoma, as well as MM and mantle cell and follicular Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. It is now lincensed for the treatment of newly diagnosed as well as relapsed/progressive MM and has had a major impact on the improvement in the treatment of MM in the last few years.

12.1 Mode of Action

Intracellular protein degradation occurs predominantly through the proteasome, which is the final common effector for the ubiquitindependent and most of the ubiquitin-independent proteolysis (Ciechanover 2005; Demartino and Gillette 2007). In eukaryotic cells, substrate proteins are subjected to polyubiquitination by the ubiquitin-conjugating system.

Thus, the ubiquitin–proteasome system is the major proteolytic system for nonlysosomal degradation of cellular proteins. In 2004, Aaron Ciechanover, Avram Hershko, and Irvine Rose were awarded the Nobel Prize in Chemistry for their original description of ubiquitin-mediated degradation of proteins. This recognition emphasizes the exceptional biological significance of

H. Einsele

Department of Internal Medicine II, University Hospital Würzburg, Josef-Schneider Straße 2, Würzburg 97080, Germany e-mail: Einsele_h@klinik.uni-wuerzburg.de
ubiquitin-mediated degradation of proteins in numerous cellular processes, such as turnover and quality control of proteins (Goldberg 2003), cell cycle and apoptosis (Jesenberger and Jentsch 2002; Naujokat and Hoffmann 2002), transcription and cell signaling (Fuchs 2002; Muratani and Tansey 2003; Wang 2003; Wojcikiewicz 2004), immune response and antigen presentation (Kloetzel and Ossendorp 2004), and inflammation and development (Bowerman and Kurz 2006; Elliott et al. 2003).

There are two major steps in the ubiquitin– proteasome degradation pathway: proteins are first covalently tagged with polyubiquitin chains and are then degraded by the 26 S proteasome.

The initial step of the degradation pathway, ubiquitination of proteins, involves covalent binding of the ubiquitin molecule to a lysine residue (Lys) of the substrate (Hershko and Ciechanover 1998). Ubiquitination proceeds along a cascade of enzymatic reactions, in which ubiquitin is first activated by the ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1. With the aid of an E2 ubiguitin-conjugating enzyme, ubiquitin is then covalently linked to the substrate by a specific ubiquitin ligase, E3. There is only one E1 enzyme known, several E2s, and multiple classes of E3s (Ciechanover et al. 2000). For polyubiquitination, activated ubiquitin moieties are processively transferred to the Lys 48 residue of the previously conjugated ubiquitin molecule. This process may be facilitated by a polyubiquitination factor, E4 (Koegl et al. 1999).

The second step in the degradation pathway involves proteolysis of ubiquitinated proteins by the 26 S proteasome. The 26 S proteasome is a multicatalytic protease that consists of a 20 S catalytic core and two 19 S regulatory complexes. The 19 S complex is composed of at least 19 different subunits that form a lidand base-like structure. The lid component provides binding sites for polyubiquitinated substrates, and also contains a deubiquitinating activity, which allows recycling of ubiquitin moieties on substrate degradation. The base component consists of six ATPases that form a ring-like structure and interact with the 20 S proteolytic core (Groll et al. 2000). These ATPases have chaperone function and are required for the ATP-dependent unfolding of substrates (Braun et al. 1999; Strickland et al. 2000) and the opening of the narrow entry pore of the 20 S proteasome (Kohler et al. 2001). The unfolded polypeptide chain is then inserted into the catalytic chamber of the 20 S core complex, where it is degraded into peptides of 3-25 amino acids length. Both 20 S proteasomes and their 19 S regulators are localized within the cytoplasm and nucleus of the cell, and also have been co-localized with the membranes of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Brooks et al. 2000).

In addition to the 19 S regulatory complexes, several components of the ubiquitin system such as polyubiquitin-binding proteins – which presumably serve as substrate shuttles, several deubiquitinating enzymes – which are required for the removal and recycling of ubiquitin moieties, and also several E3 ligases, are associated with the 20 S proteasome, which suggests that the two steps, ubiquitination and degradation, are closely coupled and controlled within the cell (Schmidt et al. 2005).

Proteasome inhibitors were first synthesized as tools to probe the function and specificity of this particle's proteolytic activities (Vinitsky et al. 1992, 1994). Most synthetic inhibitors rely on a peptide base, which mimics a protein substrate, attached to a COOH terminal "warhead." Notable warheads include boronic acids (Adams et al. 1998), such as bortezomib (Adams et al. 1999), and epoxyketones (Sin et al. 1999), such as carfilzomib (Kuhn et al. 2007; Demo et al. 2007; Stapnes et al. 2007). A variety of natural products also inhibit the proteasome that are not peptide-based, most notably lactacystin (Fenteany and Schreiber 1998), that is related to NPI-0052, or salinosporamide A, another inhibitor in clinical trials (Feling et al. 2003; Chauhan et al. 2005).

12.2 Antitumor Effects

The possibility that proteasome inhibitors could be drug candidates was considered after studies showed that they induced apoptosis in leukemic cell lines (Imajoh-Ohmi et al. 1995; Shinohara et al. 1996), including chemotherapy-resistant and radiation-resistant chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells (Delic et al. 1998). This was bolstered by findings that proteasome inhibitors induced apoptosis preferentially in transformed cells (Delic et al. 1998: Orlowski et al. 1998) and were active against an in vivo non-Hodgkin's lymphoma model (Orlowski et al. 1998). One of the early mechanisms of action attributed to proteasome inhibitors was that they repressed nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) signaling by stabilizing IkB, which binds NF-kB and prevents its nuclear translocation (Orlowski and Baldwin 2002). Given the role of NF-kB in angiogenesis, cell invasion, oncogenesis, proliferation, and suppression of apoptosis, NF-kB inhibition was already an attractive approach to cancer therapy. Moreover, NF-kB inhibition induced chemosensitization, because many chemotherapeutics activated antiapoptotic NF-kB functions (Wang et al. 1996, 1999; Cusack et al. 2001). An especially strong rationale for targeting NF-kB had been worked out in multiple myeloma (MM). Adhesion of myeloma cells to bone marrow stroma induced NF-kB-dependent production of the antiapoptotic and growth factor interleukin-6 (Chauhan et al. 1996). Later studies documented the efficacy of proteasome inhibition against preclinical models as a single approach (Hideshima et al. 2001) and in chemosensitization and overcoming resistance (Hideshima et al. 2001, 2002; Ma et al. 2003; Mitsiades et al. 2002), with predominantly synergistic effects when bortezomib was combined with other agents.

Proteasome inhibitors are targeted because they are very potent and selective for the proteasome. Owing to their effect on proteolysis of a wide array

of cellular proteins, however, they share characteristics with general cytotoxic agents, such as vinflunine, satraplatin, aurora kinase inhibitors, and epothilones, as discussed in the accompanying reviews and overview (Bennouna et al. 2008; Choy et al. 2008; Gautschi et al. 2008; Lee and Swain 2008; Teicher 2008). In that light, proteasome inhibitors have a number of important mechanisms of action beyond their effects on NF-kB that have been validated preclinically in cell line models (Voorhees et al. 2003; Rajkumar et al. 2005). By interfering with timely degradation of cyclins and other cell cycle regulatory proteins, proteasome inhibitors induce cell cycle arrest. Through their ability to stabilize proapoptotic proteins, such as p53 and Bax, while reducing levels of some antiapoptotic proteins, such as Bcl-2, they induce a proapoptotic state. Bortezomib-mediated programmed cell death is accompanied by c-Jun-NH, terminal kinase induction, generation of reactive oxygen species, transmembrane mitochondrial potential gradient dissipation, release of proapoptotic mitochondrial proteins, such as cytochrome c, and activation of intrinsic, caspase-9-mediated and extrinsic, caspase-8-mediated apoptosis. Other mechanisms include induction of aggresome formation, ER stress, and the unfolded protein response (Hideshima et al. 2005; Nawrocki et al. 2005a, b; Obeng et al. 2006), with the latter possibly having special relevance for MM cells, given their large basal load of immunoglobulin protein substrates. Readers interested in more detailed coverage of the mechanisms of action of proteasome inhibitors are referred to several excellent reviews (Richardson et al. 2006a-e; Nencioni et al. 2007).

Interestingly, the pleiotropic effects of proteasome inhibitors also result in activation of antiapoptotic pathways that may suppress antitumor activity and could be targets for chemosensitization to bortezomib. Heat shock response proteins have been some of the best characterized, including HSP-27 (Hideshima et al. 2004), HSP-70 (Robertson et al. 1999; Voorhees et al. 2007), and HSP-90 (Mitsiades et al. 2006).

Other examples include stress response proteins like mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 (Orlowski et al. 2002a, b; Small et al. 2004; Shi et al. 2006) and protein kinase B/Akt (Hideshima et al. 2006).

12.3 Clinical Application of Proteasome Inhibitors

Building on this solid preclinical rationale, a number of phase I studies have documented that bortezomib can be safely given on a variety of schedules (Aghajanian et al. 2002; Orlowski et al. 2002a, b; Papandreou et al. 2004; Cortes et al. 2004; Blaney et al. 2004; Dy et al. 2005). Early indications of activity were seen in nonsmall cell lung (Aghajanian et al. 2002) and androgen-independent prostate carcinoma (Papandreou et al. 2004), as well as MM and mantle cell and follicular nonhodgkin's lymphoma (Orlowski et al. 2002a, b). The most dramatic findings were in myeloma, in which among nine patients, all showed some clinical benefit, including one durable complete remission. Pharmacodynamic studies showed a dosedependent 20 S proteasome inhibition in peripheral blood mononuclear cells and in limited studies of tumor tissue. However, a correlation between peripheral blood mononuclear cell proteasome inhibition and response could not be established in these small trials, which were not designed with the sample size necessary for such an analysis. Pharmacokinetic studies showed rapid bortezomib plasma clearance and tissue distribution, with an initial $t_{1/2}$ of 0.22–0.46 h followed by a more gradual terminal elimination half-life, with $t_{1/2B}$ of >10 h and a large volume of distribution of >500 L. Activity against MM was confirmed with a phase II trial (Richardson et al. 2003) that showed a 27% overall response rate (partial response+complete remission) in heavily pretreated patients, who received what has become the most common dose and schedule, 1.3 mg/m^2 as an i.v. bolus on days 1, 4, 8, and 11 of every 21-day cycle. Further follow-up (Richardson et al. 2006a-e) determined that the median duration of response was 12.7 months. the median time to progression (TTP) was 7 months, and the median overall survival was 17.0 months. A subsequent phase III randomized trial (Richardson et al. 2005a, b, 2007a, b) comparing dexamethasone with bortezomib showed that the latter induced a better overall response rate (43% for bortezomib vs. 18% for dexamethasone), a better response quality, as well as a longer median TTP (6.22 vs. 3.49 months, respectively) and overall survival (29.3 vs. 23.7 months, respectively). Together, these studies led to the approval of bortezomib for relapsed/refractory myeloma in patients who have progressed after at least one prior regimen.

In nonhodgkin's lymphoma, several phase II studies (O'Connor et al. 2005; Goy et al. 2005; Belch et al. 2007) confirmed the activity in follicular, mantle cell, and marginal zone lymphoma. Most recently, a multicenter pivotal trial (Fisher et al. 2006) determined that the overall response rate in relapsed mantle cell lymphoma was 33%, including 8% complete remission/ unconfirmed complete remission, with a median duration of response of 9.2 months and TTP of 6.2 months, leading to approval of bortezomib for this indication. Activity has also been described in other B-cell processes, including Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (Treon et al. 2007; Chen et al. 2007; Strauss et al. 2006; Dimopoulos et al. 2005) and amyloidosis (Wechalekar et al. 2006).

When bortezomib was being developed as a drug candidate, there was great concern that it could not be inhibited without direct consequences, because of the proteasome's vital role in cellular homeostasis. Fortunately, an acceptable therapeutic index has been documented, but patients do face the risk of some toxicities. During phase I studies, dose-limiting toxicities included diarrhea, fatigue, fluid retention, hypokalemia, hyponatremia, hypotension, malaise, nausea, orthostasis, sensory neuropathy, and thrombocytopenia. In the phase II trial of MM patients, adverse events were reported in at least 10% included anemia, anorexia, constipation, dehydration, diarrhea, dizziness, fatigue, headache, limb pain, nausea, neutropenia, peripheral neuropathy, pyrexia, rash, thrombocytopenia, vomiting, and weakness. Subsequent studies have better characterized thrombocytopenia (Lonial et al. 2005) and neuropathy (Richardson et al. 2006a-e), which probably must limit dosing in the clinic. These have elucidated some of the risk factors involved in these transient, reversible effects, but a better understanding of the underlying mechanisms would be of benefit, as would the identification of biomarkers to predict efficacy or toxicity.

12.4 Bortezomib

Proteasome inhibition is a rational therapeutic approach both by itself and as a means to induce chemosensitization and overcome chemoresistance. As noted earlier, many cytotoxic agents activate the antiapoptotic NF-kB pathway, and blockade of this induction by proteasome inhibition enhanced their antitumor efficacy (Ma et al. 2003; Mitsiades et al. 2003). In addition, several strategies by which tumor cells survive the effects of chemotherapy can be similarly abrogated. Overexpression of Bcl-2 is one such mechanism, but proteasome inhibitors induce Bcl-2 phosphorylation and cleavage into proapoptotic fragments (Ling et al. 2002). Selection of cells overexpressing P-glycoprotein is another mechanism, but because proteasome function is needed for P-glycoprotein maturation when the proteasome is inhibited, inactive P-glycoprotein isoforms accumulate and cannot remove chemotherapeutic agents from cancer cells (Loo and Clarke 1998, 1999).

Using these rationales, bortezomib has been combined with a variety of chemotherapeutics, including carboplatin (Aghajanian et al. 2005). docetaxel (Messersmith et al. 2006), irinotecan (Ryan et al. 2006), melphalan (Berenson et al. 2006), pegylated liposomal doxorubicin (Orlowski et al. 2005a, b), and thalidomide (Barlogie et al. 2004), among others. Bortezomib has also been incorporated into more complex regimens, such as paclitaxel and carboplatin (Ma et al. 2007) and gemcitabine and cisplatin (Voortman et al. 2007). From these studies, it seems possible to conclude that bortezomib has generally been successfully combined with other agents without significantly increased toxicity, and without the need for large dose

adjustments.

Bortezomib (Velcade[®]; Millennium Pharmaceuticals Inc., Cambridge, MA, and Johnson and Johnson Pharmaceuticals, Research and Development, L.L.C., Raritan, NJ), a first-in-class proteasome inhibitor, is approved in the U.S. and European Union for the treatment of MM patients who have received at least one prior therapy. Bortezomib was approved based on the results of the randomized, phase III assessment of proteasome inhibition for extending remissions (APEX) trial (Richardson et al. 2005a, b). Compared with high-dose dexamethasone, single-agent bortezomib showed superiority in terms of response rates (including CR rates), median TTP, and survival, and better quality of life (Richardson et al. 2005a, b; Lee et al. 2005). This study also showed that a high quality of response (100% M-protein reduction) to bortezomib was associated with a longer duration of response (Richardson et al. 2005a, b). In addition, bortezomib was well tolerated and retained its superiority over high-dose dexamethasone in elderly patients and patients with high-risk factors such as advanced disease, more prior lines of therapy, and refractoriness to prior therapy (Richardson et al. 2007a, b). A subgroup analysis suggests that bortezomib may be more beneficial when used earlier in the course of treatment; in the APEX trial, patients with one prior line of therapy

appeared to have a higher response rate, longer TTP, and longer survival following bortezomib treatment compared with patients with more than one prior line (Richardson et al. 2005a, b; Sonneveld et al. 2005). In other studies in the relapsed setting, bortezomib has been shown to be active with a similar toxicity profile in patients with chromosome 13 deletion (Sagaster et al. 2007; Jagannath et al. 2007), and in patients with renal dysfunction or renal failure requiring dialysis (Jagannath et al. 2005; Mohrbacher and Levine 2005; Chanan-Khan et al. 2007).

In addition to single-agent studies in the relapsed setting (Richardson et al. 2005a, b; Jagannath et al. 2004; Richardson et al. 2003), bortezomib is also being investigated in a range of combination regimens with other antimyeloma agents (Richardson et al. 2006a-e), including steroids, melphalan, and immunomodulatory drugs (IMiDs) (Palumbo et al. 2007; Kropff et al. 2005a, b; Orlowski et al. 2005a, b; Berenson et al. 2006; Suvannasankha et al. 2006; Zangari et al. 2005; Friedman et al. 2006; Leoni et al. 2006; Hollmig et al. 2004; Biehn et al. 2007; Orlowski et al. 2006; Reece et al. 2006; Richardson et al. 2006a-e; Davies et al. 2006; Terpos et al. 2006; Chanan-Khan, et al. 2006; Popatetal. 2006; Teohetal. 2006). Encouragingly, despite patients having relapsed or refractory disease, high ORRs (up to 93%) (Teoh et al. 2006) and CR/near complete response (nCR) rates (up to 64%) (Teoh et al. 2006) have been reported.

12.5 Bortezomib-Based Combination Therapy for Multiple Myeloma

Owing to age or concomitant comorbidities at the time of diagnosis, more than half of the patients with MM may not be eligible for transplant; in these patients, melphalan-prednisone (MP) has remained a global standard of care for 40 years (Myeloma Trialists' Collaborative Group 1998; Cavo et al. 2002; Facon et al. 2006). MP typically results in response rates of up to 55%; however, the CR rate is low, typically \leq 5% (Cavo et al. 2002; Hernandez et al. 2004; Facon et al. 2006; Palumbo et al. 2006; San Miguel et al. 2008) and the median OS is only 2–3 years (Myeloma Trialists' Collaborative Group 1998; Bladé et al. 2001; Facon et al. 2006). A large body of evidence has shown that the introduction of novel agents into front-line combination therapies improve clinical outcomes for nontransplant-eligible patients. Long-term followup of several of these studies is needed to fully assess the duration of response and survival benefit in this patient population.

A multicenter, phase I/II study of 60 elderly patients (aged ³65 years) ineligible for HDT-SCT, evaluated the addition of bortezomib to the MP regimen (VMP) (Mateos et al. 2006). Among 53 evaluable patients, VMP produced an ORR of 89%, including a 32% CR rate and an 11% nCR rate. Among patients achieving CR, half of those assessed had no malignant plasma cells detectable by multiparametric flow cytometry (sensitivity level of 10^{-4} – 10^{-5}), representing immunophenotypic minimal residual disease status. These response rates, among the highest reported with conventional therapy, e compare very favorably with those for MP -35-53% ORR, including a 1-9% CR rate (Palumbo et al. 2006; Facon et al. 2006; Hernandez et al. 2004; Cavo et al. 2002). Response to VMP was rapid, with 70% of patients responding by completion of the first cycle. VMP also compares very favourably with MP historical control data in the context of the PFS rate (91 vs. 66%), event-free survival (EFS) rate (83 vs. 51%), and OS rate (90 vs. 62%) at 16 months (Mateos et al. 2006). Notably, in 33 patients for whom cytogenetic data were available, the response rates appeared comparable among patients with and without retinoblastoma gene deletion or immunoglobulin heavy-chain translocations, suggesting that the mechanism of action of bortezomib may overcome the adverse impact

of these factors (Mateos et al. 2006). A median of seven cycles of therapy was administered (>9 months), indicating good tolerability of the VMP regimen in this elderly population (Mateos et al. 2006). Toxicities were comparable with those seen in other major bortezomib trials.

In the large phase 3 VISTA (Velcade® as Initial Standard Therapy in MM) trial, bortezomib-MP (VMP) demonstrated superiority vs. MP across all efficacy endpoints, including ORR by EBMT criteria (71 vs. 35%, p<0.001) and IFx-neg CR rate (30 vs. 4%, p<0.001) (San Miguel et al. 2008). Responses were more rapid and durable when compared with MP (Palumbo et al. 2008). VMP therapy significantly prolonged TTP (HR 0.48, p < 0.001) by approximately 50%, when compared with MP, an improvement similar to that achieved with HDT-SCT vs. conventional chemotherapy (Attal et al. 1996). After a median follow-up of 26 months, VMP offered a substantial survival benefit when compared with MP (HR 0.644, p > 0.0032) (San Miguel et al. 2008). Importantly, VMP was well-tolerated, with patients remaining on therapy for a median of 46 weeks (vs. 39 weeks with MP), even though patients in the bortezomib-containing arm were reported to have a higher rate of adverse events (San Miguel et al. 2008). Based on VISTA data, bortezomib has recently been approved for the treatment of all patients with MM, thus expanding the indication to include newly diagnosed patients.

12.6 Treatment Options for Patients Eligible for Transplant

HDT–SCT is a standard of care in patients aged up to approximately 65–70 years (Kyle and Rajkumar 2004; Gertz et al. 2006). Standard induction therapies prior to HDT–SCT have included VAD (vincristine, doxorubicin, dexamethasone), DVd (VAD but with liposomal doxorubicin), and high-dose dexamethasone. Response rates are typically 40-61% (Alexanian et al. 1990, 1992; Dimopoulos et al. 2003; Rifkin et al. 2006), and as with MP, CR rates are generally low, ranging from 3 to 13%. A number of combinations are under investigation, utilizing conventional agents such as cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin/liposomal doxorubicin, and steroids in combination with bortezomib and an IMiD, or other novel agent. Emerging data show substantial improvements in response when compared with current standard induction regimens. However, long-term follow-up is required to fully assess the duration of response and survival benefit for these novel-agent-based regimens.

Phase 2 studies with bortezomib-dexamethasone led to the design of the IFM 2005-01 phase 3 trial, where a significantly higher postinduction ORR was achieved with bortezomib-dexamethasone vs. VAD (p < 0.0001), which translated into a significantly higher ≥VGPR rate posttransplant (57 vs. 38%, p > 0.0003), with fewer patients requiring a second transplant as a result. CR/nCR rates were (15%) postinduction and (37%) post first-transplant in the bortezomibcontaining arm (Harousseau et al. 2007, 2008). Bortezomib-dexamethasone and VAD toxicity profiles were comparable. After a median followup of 2 years, no OS advantage was noted; however, 2-year PFS was 69 vs. 60% in the VAD arm (p>0.0115) (Harousseau et al. 2008); hence, longer follow-up is needed. A combination with cyclophosphamide (VCD) showed a very good tolerability and high efficacy as an induction regimen prior to ASCT (Knop et al. 2008)

12.7 Next Generation Proteasome Inhibitors

With the validation of the proteasome as a target for cancer therapy, interest has focused on the possibility that other inhibitors could offer some

advantages. Two second-generation agents have entered phase I trials: NPI-0052 (salinosporamide A) and carfilzomib (formerly PR-171). Unlike bortezomib, which binds the proteasome in a slowly reversible manner, NPI-0052 and carfilzomib bind irreversibly, abrogating one mechanism of recovery from proteasome inhibition, namely release of the target by the drug. They both induce depolarization of the transmitochondrial membrane potential and activate caspase-8-mediated apoptosis, whereas carfilzomib also activates caspase-9. Preclinical studies have shown that both (Kuhn et al. 2007; Chauhan et al. 2005) at least partially overcome bortezomib resistance in vitro. Moreover, in a number of models, including MM (Kuhn et al. 2007; Chauhan et al. 2005) and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (Ruiz et al. 2006), these inhibitors have shown enhanced potency when compared with bortezomib, suggesting that they may have a broader spectrum of activity. Early results from phase I studies of carfilzomib indicate that it is well tolerated, even on a dose-intense schedule. and may have less neurotoxicity than bortezomib (Orlowski et al. 2007; Alsina et al. 2007). Evidence of antitumor activity is being seen in MM and Waldenström's macroglobulinemia, including in myeloma patients with previously bortezomib-refractory disease, and phase II studies are being planned. Another interesting target may be the immunoproteasome (Rivett and Hearn 2004), whose expression may be more tissuerestricted than the constitutive proteasome. All of the currently available inhibitors target both the constitutive and immunoproteasome isoforms, but the identification of specific immunoproteasome inhibitors (Orlowski et al. 2005a, b; Ho et al. 2007) may allow for further improvements in the therapeutic index of these drugs. As the immunoproteasome is expressed predominantly in hematopoietic tissues, it is possible that such agents could act without incurring neurotoxicity or gastrointestinal effects, among others, because those tissues express much lower levels of immunoproteasome subunits.

H. Einsele

References

- Adams J, Behnke M, Chen S et al (1998) Potent and selective inhibitors of the proteasome: dipeptidyl boronic acids. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 8: 333–338
- Adams J, Palombella VJ, Sausville EA et al (1999) Proteasome inhibitors: a novel class of potent and effective antitumor agents. Cancer Res 59: 2615–2622
- Aghajanian C, Soignet S, Dizon DS et al (2002) A phase I trial of the novel proteasome inhibitor PS341 in advanced solid tumor malignancies. Clin Cancer Res 8:2505–2511
- Aghajanian C, Dizon DS, Sabbatini P et al (2005) Phase I trial of bortezomib and carboplatin in recurrent ovarian or primary peritoneal cancer. J Clin Oncol 23:5943–5949
- Alexanian R, Dimopoulos MA, Delasalle K, et al (1992) Primary dexamethasone treatment of multiple myeloma. Blood 80(4):887–890
- Alexanian R, Barlogie B, Tucker S (1990) VADbased regimens as primary treatment for multiple myeloma. Am J Hematol 33:86–89
- Alsina M, Trudel S, Vallone M et al (2007) Phase I single agent antitumor activity of twice weeklyconsecutive day dosing of the proteasome inhibitor carfilzomib (PR-171) in hematologic malignancies [abstract 411]. Blood 110:128a
- Attal M, Harousseau JL, Stoppa AM et al (1996) A prospective, randomized trial of autologous bone marrow transplantation and chemotherapy in multiple myeloma. Intergroupe francais du myelome. New Engl J Med 335:91–97
- Barlogie B, Shaughnessy JD, Tricot G et al (2004) Treatment of multiple myeloma. Blood 103: 20–32
- Belch A, Kouroukis CT, Crump M et al (2007) A phase II study of bortezomib in mantle cell lymphoma: the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group trial IND.150. Ann Oncol 18:116–121
- Bennouna J, Delord JP, Campone M, Pinel M-C (2008) Vinflunine: a new microtubule inhibitor agent. Clin Cancer Res 14:1610–1617
- Berenson JR, Yang HH, Sadler K et al (2006) Phase I/II trial assessing bortezomib and melphalan combination therapy for the treatment of patients with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma. J Clin Oncol 24:937–944
- Biehn SE, Moore DT, Voorhees PM et al (2007) Extended follow-up of outcome measures in

multiple myeloma patients treated on a phase I study with bortezomib and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin. Ann Hematol 86:211–216

- Bladé J, San Miguel JF, Fontanillas M et al (2001) Increased conventional chemotherapy does not improve survival in multiple myeloma: longterm results of two PETHEMA trials including 914 patients. Hematol J 2:272–278
- Blaney SM, Bernstein M, Neville K et al (2004) Phase I study of the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib in pediatric patients with refractory solid tumors: a Children's Oncology Group study (ADVL0015). J Clin Oncol 22:4804–4809
- Bowerman B, Kurz T (2006) Degrade to create: developmental requirements for ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis during early C. elegans embryogenesis. Development 133:773–784
- Braun BC, Glickman M, Kraft R, Dahlmann B, Kloetzel PM, Finley D, Schmidt M (1999) The base of the proteasome regulatory particle exhibits chaperone-like activity. Nat Cell Biol 1:221–226
- Brooks P, Fuertes G, Murray RZ, Bose S, Knecht E, Rechsteiner MC, Hendil KB, Tanaka K, Dyson J, Rivett J (2000) Subcellular localization of proteasomes and their regulatory complexes in mammalian cells. Biochem J 346(Pt 1):155–161
- Cavo M, Benni M, Ronconi S et al (2002) Melphalan-prednisone versus alternating combination VAD/MP or VND/MP as primary therapy for multiple myeloma: final analysis of a randomized clinical study. Haematologica 87: 934–942
- Chanan-Khan AA, Padmanabhan S, Miller KC et al (2006) Final results of a phase II study of bortezomib (Velcade) in combination with liposomal doxorubicin (Doxil) and thalidomide (VDT) demonstrate a sustained high response rate in patients (pts) with relapsed (rel) or refractory (ref) multiple myeloma. Updated data presented at the 2006 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 108:1010a
- Chanan-Khan AA, Kaufman JL, Mehta J et al (2007) Activity and safety of bortezomib in multiple myeloma patients with advanced renal failure: a multicenter retrospective study. Blood 109:2604–2606
- Chauhan D, Uchiyama H, Akbarali Y et al (1996) Multiple myeloma cell adhesion-induced interleukin-6 expression in bone marrow stromal cells involves activation of NF-kB. Blood 87: 1104–1112

- Chauhan D, Catley L, Li G et al (2005) A novel orally active proteasome inhibitor induces apoptosis in multiple myeloma cells with mechanisms distinct from bortezomib. Cancer Cell 8: 407–419
- Chen CI, Kouroukis CT, White D et al (2007) Bortezomib is active in patients with untreated or relapsed Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a phase II study of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol 25:1570–1575
- Choy H, Park C, Yao M (2008) Current status and future prospect for satraplatin: an oral platinum analogue. Clin Cancer Res 14:1618–1623
- Ciechanover A (2005) Intracellular protein degradation: from a vague idea thru the lysosome and the ubiquitin-proteasome system and onto human diseases and drug targeting. Cell Death Differ 12:1178–1190
- Ciechanover A, Orian A, Schwartz AL (2000) Ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis: biological regulation via destruction. Bioessays 22:442–451
- Cortes J, Thomas D, Koller C et al (2004) Phase I study of bortezomib in refractory or relapsed acute leukemias. Clin Cancer Res 10: 3371–3376
- Cusack JC Jr, Liu R, Houston M et al (2001) Enhanced chemosensitivity to CPT-11 with proteasome inhibitor PS-341: implications for systemic nuclear factor-*k*B inhibition. Cancer Res 61:3535–3540
- Davies FE, Wu P, Srikanth M et al (2006) The combination of cyclophosphamide, Velcade and dexamethasone (CVD) induces high response rates with minimal toxicity compared to Velcade alone (V) and Velcade plus dexamethasone (VD). Updated data presented at the 2006 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 108:1009a
- Delic J, Masdehors P, Omura S et al (1998) The proteasome inhibitor lactacystin induces apoptosis and sensitizes chemo- and radioresistant human chronic lymphocytic leukaemia lymphocytes to TNF- α -initiated apoptosis. Br J Cancer 77: 1103–1107
- Demartino GN, Gillette TG (2007) Proteasomes: machines for all reasons. Cell 129:659–662
- Demo SD, Kirk CJ, Aujay MA et al (2007) Antitumor activity of PR-171, a novel irreversible inhibitor of the proteasome. Cancer Res 67:6383–6391
- Dimopoulos MA, Pouli A, Zervas K et al (2003) Prospective randomized comparison of vincristine,

doxorubicin and dexamethasone (VAD) administered as intravenous bolus injection and VAD with liposomal doxorubicin as first-line treatment in multiple myeloma. Ann Oncol 14: 1039–1044

- Dimopoulos MA, Anagnostopoulos A, Kyrtsonis MC et al (2005) Treatment of relapsed or refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with bortezomib. Haematologica 90:1655–1658
- Dy GK, Thomas JP, Wilding G et al (2005) A phase I and pharmacologic trial of two schedules of the proteasome inhibitor, PS-341 (bortezomib, velcade), in patients with advanced cancer. Clin Cancer Res 11:3410–3416
- Elliott PJ, Zollner TM, Boehncke WH (2003) Proteasome inhibition: a new anti-inflammatory strategy. J Mol Med 81:235–245
- Facon T, Mary JY, Pegourie B et al (2006) Dexamethasone-based regimens versus melphalan-prednisone for elderly multiple myeloma patients ineligible for high-dose therapy. Blood 107:1292–1298
- Feling RH, Buchanan GO, Mincer TJ et al (2003) Salinosporamide A: a highly cytotoxic proteasome inhibitor from a novel microbial source, a marine bacterium of the new genus salinospora. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 42:355–357
- Fenteany G, Schreiber SL (1998) Lactacystin, proteasome function, and cell fate. J Biol Chem 273:8545–8548
- Fisher RI, Bernstein SH, Kahl BS et al (2006) Multicenter phase II study of bortezomib in patients with relapsed or refractory mantle cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 24:4867–4874
- Friedman J, Al-Zoubi A, Kaminski M et al (2006) A new model predicting at least a very good partial response in patients with multiple myeloma after 2 cycles of Velcade-based therapy. Updated data presented at the 2006 Annual Meeting of the European Hematology Association. Haematologica 91:273
- Fuchs SY (2002) The role of ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in oncogenic signaling. Cancer Biol Ther 1:337–341
- Gautschi O, Heighway J, Mack PC et al (2008) Aurora kinases as anticancer drug targets. Clin Cancer Res 14:1624–1633
- Gertz MA, Lacy MQ, Dispenzieri A et al (2006) Highdose chemotherapy with autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in patients with multiple myeloma. Expet Rev Anticancer Ther 6: 343–360

- Goldberg AL (2003) Protein degradation and protection against misfolded or damaged proteins. Nature 426:895–899
- Goy A, Younes A, McLaughlin P et al (2005) Phase II study of proteasome inhibitor bortezomib in relapsed or refractory B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 23:667–675
- Groll M, Bajorek M, Kohler A, Moroder L, Rubin DM, Huber R, Glickman MH, Finley D (2000) Agated channel into the proteasome core particle. Nat Struct Biol 7:1062–1067
- Harousseau JL, Mathiot C, Attal M et al (2007) VELCADE/dexamethasone (Vel/D) versus VAD as induction treatment prior to autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT) in newly diagnosed multiple myeloma (MM): updated results of the IFM 2005/01 trial. Blood 110:139a
- Harousseau JL, Mathiot C, Attal M et al (2008) Bortezomib/dexamethasone versus VAD as induction prior to autologous stem cell transplantion (ASCT) in previously untreated multiple myeloma (MM): updated data from IFM 2005/01 trial. J Clin Oncol 26:455s
- Hernandez JM, Garcia-Sanz R, Golvano E et al (2004) Randomized comparison of dexamethasone combined with melphalan versus melphalan with prednisone in the treatment of elderly patients with multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol 127:159–164
- Hershko A, Ciechanover A (1998) The ubiquitin system. Annu Rev Biochem 67:425–479
- Hideshima T, Chauhan D, Podar K. et al (2001). Novel therapies targeting the myeloma cell and its bone marrow microenvironment. Semin Oncol.(6):607–612. Review
- Hideshima T, Chauhan D, Richardson P et al (2002) NF- κ B as a therapeutic target in multiple myeloma. J Biol Chem 277:16639–16647
- Hideshima T, Podar K, Chauhan D et al (2004) p38 MAPK inhibition enhances PS-341 (bortezomib)induced cytotoxicity against multiple myeloma cells. Oncogene 23:8766–8776
- Hideshima T, Bradner JE, Wong J et al (2005) Small-molecule inhibition of proteasome and aggresome function induces synergistic antitumor activity in multiple myeloma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8567–8572
- Hideshima T, Catley L, Yasui H et al (2006) Perifosine, an oral bioactive novel alkylphospholipid, inhibits Akt and induces in vitro and in vivo cytotoxicity in human multiple myeloma cells. Blood 107:4053–4062

- Ho YK, Bargagna-Mohan P, Wehenkel M, Mohan R, Kim KB (2007) LMP2-specific inhibitors: chemical genetic tools for proteasome biology. Chem Biol 14:419–430
- Hollmig K, Stover J, Talamo G et al (2004) Bortezomib (Velcade[™]) + Adriamycin[™] + thalidomide + dexamethasone (VATD) as an effective regimen in patients with refractory or relapsed multiple myeloma (MM). Updated data presented at the 2004 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 104: 659a
- Imajoh-Ohmi KT, Sugiyama S, Tanaka K, Omura S, Kikuchi H (1995) Lactacystin, a specific inhibitor of the proteasome, induces apoptosis in human monoblast U937 cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 217:1070–1077
- Jagannath S, Barlogie B, Berenson J et al (2004) A phase 2 study of two doses of bortezomib in relapsed or refractory myeloma. Br J Haematol 127:165–172
- Jagannath S, Barlogie B, Berenson JR et al (2005) Bortezomib in recurrent and/or refractory multiple myeloma. Initial clinical experience in patients with impaired renal function. Cancer 103:1195–1200
- Jagannath S, Richardson PG, Sonneveld P et al (2007) Bortezomib appears to overcome the poor prognosis conferred by chromosome 13 deletion in phase 2 and 3 trials. Leukemia 21:151–157
- Jesenberger V, Jentsch S (2002) Deadly encounter: ubiquitin meets apoptosis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 3:112–1121
- Kloetzel PM, Ossendorp F (2004) Proteasome and peptidase function in MHC-class-I-mediated antigen presentation. Curr Opin Immunol 16: 76–81
- Knop S, Einsele H, Bargou R, et al (2008) Adjusted dose lenalidomide is safe and effective in patients with deletion (5q) myelodysplastic syndrome and severe renal impairment. Leuk Lymphoma. 2008 Feb;49(2):346–349
- Koegl M, Hoppe T, Schlenker S, Ulrich HD, Mayer TU, Jentsch S (1999) A novel ubiquitination factor, E4, is involved in multiubiquitin chain assembly. Cell 96:635–644
- Kohler A, Cascio P, Leggett DS, Woo KM, Goldberg AL, Finley D (2001) The axial channel of the proteasome core particle is gated by the Rpt2 ATPase and controls both substrate entry and product release. Mol Cell 7:1143–1152

- Kropff MH, Bisping G, Wenning D et al (2005a) Bortezomib in combination with dexamethasone for relapsed multiple myeloma. Leuk Res 29: 587–590
- Kropff M, Bisping G, Liebisch P et al (2005b) Bortezomib in combination with high-dose dexamethasone and continuous low-dose oral cyclophosphamide for relapsed multiple myeloma. Updated data presented at the 2005 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 106:716a
- Kuhn DJ, Chen Q, Voorhees PM et al (2007) Potent activity of carfilzomib, a novel, irreversible inhibitor of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, against pre-clinical models of multiple myeloma. Blood 110:3281–3290
- Kyle RA, Rajkumar SV (2004) Multiple myeloma. New Eng J Med 351:1860–1873
- Lee SJ, Richardson PG, Sonneveld P et al (2005) Health-related quality of life (HRQL) associated with bortezomib compared with high-dose dexamethasone in relapsed multiple myeloma (MM): results from APEX study. J Clin Oncol 23:568s
- Lee JL, Swain SM (2008) The epothilones: translating from the laboratory to the clinic. Clin Cancer Res 14:1643–1649
- Leoni F, Casini C, Breschi C et al (2006) Low dose bortezomib, dexamethasone, thalidomide plus liposomal doxorubicin in relapsed and refractory myeloma. Updated data presented at the 2006 Annual Meeting of the European Hematology Association. Haematologica 91:281
- Ling YH, Liebes L, Ng B et al (2002) PS-341, a novel proteasome inhibitor, induces Bcl-2 phosphorylation and cleavage in association with G2-M phase arrest and apoptosis. Mol Cancer Ther 1:841–849
- Lonial S, Waller EK, Richardson PG et al (2005) Risk factors and kinetics of thrombocytopenia associated with bortezomib for relapsed, refractory multiple myeloma. Blood 106: 3777–3784
- Loo TW, Clarke DM (1998) Superfolding of the partially unfolded core-glycosylated intermediate of human P-glycoprotein into the mature enzyme is promoted by substrate-induced transmembrane domain interactions. J Biol Chem 273:14671–14674
- Loo TW, Clarke DM (1999) The human multidrug resistance P-glycoprotein is inactive when its maturation is inhibited: potential for a role in cancer chemotherapy. FASEB J 7:1724–1732

- Ma C, Mandrekar SJ, Alberts SR et al (2007) A phase I and pharmacologic study of sequences of the proteasome inhibitor, bortezomib (PS-341, Velcade), in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin in patients with advanced malignancies. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 59: 207–215
- Ma MH, Yang HH, Parker K et al (2003) The proteasome inhibitor PS-341 markedly enhances sensitivity of multiple myeloma tumor cells to chemotherapeutic agents. Clin Cancer Res. (3): 1136–1144
- Mateos MV, Hernandez JM, Hernandez MT et al (2006) Bortezomib plus melphalan and prednisone in elderly untreated patients with multiple myeloma: results of a multicenter phase 1/2 study. Blood 108:2165–2172
- Mateos MV, Hernandez JM, Hernandez MT et al (2007) Frontline VMP in elderly MM patients: extended follow-up. Haematologica 92:180
- Messersmith WA, Baker SD, Lassiter L et al (2006) Phase I trial of bortezomib in combination with docetaxel in patients with advanced solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res 12:1270–1275
- Mitsiades CS, Mitsiades NS, McMullan CJ et al (2006) Antimyeloma activity of heat shock protein-90 inhibition. Blood 107:1092–1100
- Mitsiades N, Mitsiades CS, Poulaki V et al (2002) Biologic sequelae of nuclear factor-κB blockade in multiple myeloma: therapeutic applications. Blood 99:4079–4086
- Mitsiades N, Mitsiades CS, Richardson PG et al (2003) The proteasome inhibitor PS-341 potentiates sensitivity of multiple myeloma cells to conventional chemotherapeutic agents: therapeutic applications. Blood 101:2377–2380
- Mohrbacher A, Levine AM (2005) Reversal of advanced renal dysfunction on bortezomib treatment in multiple myeloma patients. J Clin Oncol 23:612s
- Muratani M, Tansey WP (2003) How the ubiquitinproteasome system controls transcription. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4:192–201
- Myeloma Trialists' Collaborative Group (1998) Combination chemotherapy versus melphalan plus prednisone as treatment for multiple myeloma: an overview of 6, 633 patients from 27 randomized trials. J Clin Oncol 16:3832–3842
- Naujokat C, Hoffmann S (2002) Role and function of the 26 S proteasome in proliferation and apoptosis. Lab Invest 82:965–980

- Nawrocki ST, Carew JS, Dunner K Jr et al (2005a) Bortezomib inhibits PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum (ER) kinase and induces apoptosis via ER stress in human pancreatic cancer cells. Cancer Res 65:11510–11519
- Nawrocki ST, Carew JS, Pino MS et al (2005b) Bortezomib sensitizes pancreatic cancer cells to endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated apoptosis. Cancer Res 65:11658–11666
- Nencioni A, Grunebach F, Patrone F, Ballestrero A, Brossart P (2007) Proteasome inhibitors: antitumor effects and beyond. Leukemia 21: 30–36
- Obeng EA, Carlson LM, Gutman DM et al (2006) Proteasome inhibitors induce a terminal unfolded protein response in multiple myeloma cells. Blood 107:4907–4916
- O'Connor OA, Wright J, Moskowitz C et al (2005) Phase II clinical experience with the novel proteasome inhibitor bortezomib in patients with indolent non–Hodgkin's lymphoma and mantle cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 23:676–684
- Orlowski RZ, Eswara JR, Lafond-Walker A et al (1998) Tumor growth inhibition induced in a murine model of human Burkitt's lymphoma by a proteasome inhibitor. Cancer Res 58: 4342–4348
- Orlowski RZ, Baldwin AS (2002) NF-kB as a therapeutic target in cancer. Trends Mol Med 8:385–389
- Orlowski RZ, Small GW, Shi YY (2002a) Evidence that inhibition of p44/42 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling is a factor in proteasome inhibitor-mediated apoptosis. J Biol Chem 277:27864–27871
- Orlowski RZ, Stinchcombe TE, Mitchell BS et al (2002b) Phase I trial of the proteasome inhibitor PS-341 in patients with refractory hematologic malignancies. J Clin Oncol 20:4420–4427
- Orlowski RZ, Kuhn DJ, Small GW, Michaud C, Orlowski M (2005a) Identification of novel inhibitors that specifically target the immunoproteasome, and selectively induce apoptosis in multiple myeloma and other immunoproteasome-expressing model systems [abstract 248]. Blood 106:76a
- Orlowski RZ, Voorhees PM, Garcia RA et al (2005b) Phase 1 trial of the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies. Blood 105:3058–3065
- Orlowski RZ, Zhuang SH, Parekh T et al (2006) DOXIL-MMY-3001 Study Investigators. The

combination of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin and bortezomib significantly improves time to progression of patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma compared with bortezomib alone: results from a planned interim analysis of a randomized phase III study. Updated data presented at the 2006 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 108: 124a

- Orlowski RZ, Stewart K, Vallone M et al (2007) Safety and antitumor efficacy of the proteasome inhibitor carfilzomib (PR-171) dosed for five consecutive days in hematologic malignancies: phase I results [abstract 409]. Blood 110:127a
- Palumbo A, Bringhen S, Caravita T et al (2006) Oral melphalan and prednisone chemotherapy plus thalidomide compared with melphalan and prednisone alone in elderly patients with multiple myeloma: randomised controlled trial. Lancet 367:825–831
- Palumbo A, Ambrosini MT, Benevolo G et al (2007) Bortezomib, melphalan, prednisone, and thalidomide for relapsed multiple myeloma. Blood 109:2767–2772
- Palumbo A, Schlag R, Khuageva N et al (2008) Prolonged therapy with bortezomib plus melphalan–prednisone (VMP) results in improved quality and duration of response in the phase III VISTA study in previously untreated multiple myeloma (MM). Haematologica 93:83
- Papandreou CN, Daliani DD, Nix D et al (2004) Phase I trial of the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib in patients with advanced solid tumors with observations in androgen-independent prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol 22:2108–2121
- Popat R, Goff L, Oakervee HE et al (2005) Changes in Mcl-1 and Bim expression with bortezomib and melphalan therapy for multiple myeloma. Blood 106:697a
- Popat R, Williams C, Cook M et al (2006) A phase I/ II trial of bortezomib, low dose intravenous melphalan and dexamethasone for patients with relapsed multiple myeloma. Updated data presented at the 2006 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 108:1011a
- Rajkumar SV, Richardson PG, Hideshima T, Anderson KC (2005) Proteasome inhibition as a novel therapeutic target in human cancer. J Clin Oncol 23:630–639
- Reece DE, Piza G, Trudel S et al (2006) A phase I-II trial of bortezomib plus oral cyclophosphamide

and prednisone for relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Updated data presented at the 2006 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 108:1009a

- Richardson PG, Barlogie B, Berenson J et al (2003) A phase 2 study of bortezomib in relapsed, refractory myeloma. New Engl J Med 348: 2609–2617
- Richardson P, Sonneveld P, Schuster M et al (2005a) Bortezomib continues to demonstrate superior efficacy compared with high-dose dexamethasone in relapsed multiple myeloma: updated results of the APEX trial. Updated data presented at the 2005 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 106:715a
- Richardson PG, Sonneveld P, Schuster MW et al (2005b) Bortezomib or high-dose dexamethasone for relapsed multiple myeloma. New Engl J Med 352:2487–2498
- Richardson PG, Barlogie B, Berenson J et al (2006a) Extended follow-up of a phase II trial in relapsed, refractory multiple myeloma: final time-to-event results from the SUMMIT trial. Cancer 106: 1316–1319
- Richardson PG, Briemberg H, Jagannath S et al (2006b) Frequency, characteristics, and reversibility of peripheral neuropathy during treatment of advanced multiple myeloma with bortezomib. J Clin Oncol 24:3113–3120
- Richardson PG, Jagannath S, Avigan DE et al (2006c) Lenalidomide plus bortezomib (Rev-Vel) in relapsed and/or refractory multiple myeloma (MM): final results of a multicenter phase 1 trial. Updated data presented at the 2006 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 108:124a
- Richardson PG, Mitsiades C, Ghobrial I et al (2006d) Beyond single-agent bortezomib: combination regimens in relapsed multiple myeloma. Curr Opin Oncol 18:598–608
- Richardson PG, Mitsiades C, Hideshima T, Anderson KC (2006e) Bortezomib: proteasome inhibition as an effective anticancer therapy. Annu Rev Med 57:33–47
- Richardson PG, Sonneveld P, Schuster M et al (2007a) Extended follow-up of a phase 3 trial in relapsed multiple myeloma: final time-to-event results of the APEX trial. Blood 110: 3557–3560
- Richardson PG, Sonneveld P, Schuster MW et al (2007b) Safety and efficacy of bortezomib in

high-risk and elderly patients with relapsed multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol 137:429–435

- Rifkin RM, Gregory SA, Mohrbacher A et al (2006) Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin, vincristine, and dexamethasone provide significant reduction in toxicity compared with doxorubicin, vincristine, and dexamethasone in patients with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma: a phase III multicenter randomized trial. Cancer 106:848–858
- Rivett AJ, Hearn AR (2004) Proteasome function in antigen presentation: immunoproteasome complexes, peptide production, and interactions with viral proteins. Curr Protein Pept Sci 5:153–161
- Robertson JD, Datta K, Biswal SS, Kehrer JP (1999) Heat-shock protein 70 antisense oligomers enhance proteasome inhibitor-induced apoptosis. Biochem J 344:477–485
- Ruiz S, Krupnik Y, Keating M et al (2006) The proteasome inhibitor NPI-0052 is a more effective inducer of apoptosis than bortezomib in lymphocytes from patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Mol Cancer Ther 5:1836–1843
- Ryan DP, O'Neil BH, Supko JG et al (2006) A phase I study of bortezomib plus irinotecan in patients with advanced solid tumors. Cancer 107: 2688–2697
- Sagaster V, Ludwig H, Kaufmann H et al (2007) Bortezomib in relapsed multiple myeloma: response rates and duration of response are independent of a chromosome 13q-deletion. Leukemia 21:164–168
- San Miguel JF, Schlag R, Khuageva NK et al (2008) Bortezomib plus melphalan and prednisone for initial treatment of multiple myeloma. New Eng J Med 359:906–917
- Schmidt M, Hanna J, Elsasser S, Finley D (2005) Proteasome-associated proteins: regulation of a proteolytic machine. Biol Chem 386:725–737
- Shi YY, Small GW, Orlowski RZ (2006) Proteasome inhibitors induce a p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-dependent anti-apoptotic program involving MAPK phosphatase-1 and Akt in models of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 100:33–47
- Shinohara K, Tomioka M, Nakano H et al (1996) Apoptosis induction resulting from proteasome inhibition. Biochem J 317:385–388
- Sin N, Kim KB, Elofsson M et al (1999) Total synthesis of the potent proteasome inhibitor epoxomicin: a useful tool for understanding proteasome biology. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 9:2283–2288

- Small GW, Shi YY, Edmund NA et al (2004) Evidence that mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 induction by proteasome inhibitors plays an antiapoptotic role. Mol Pharmacol 66:1478–1490
- Sonneveld P, Richardson PG, Schuster MW et al (2005) Bortezomib at first relapse is superior to high-dose dexamethasone and more effective than when given later in relapsed multiple myeloma. Haematologica 90:146–147
- Stapnes C, Doskeland AP, Hatfield K et al (2007) The proteasome inhibitors bortezomib and PR-171 have antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects on primary human acute myeloid leukaemia cells. Br J Haematol 136:814–828
- Strauss SJ, Maharaj L, Hoare S et al (2006) Bortezomib therapy in patients with relapsed or refractory lymphoma: potential correlation of in vitro sensitivity and tumor necrosis factor α response with clinical activity. J Clin Oncol 24: 2105–2212
- Strickland E, Hakala K, Thomas PJ, DeMartino GN (2000) Recognition of misfolding proteins by PA700, the regulatory subcomplex of the 26 S proteasome. J Biol Chem 275:5565–5572
- Suvannasankha A, Smith GG, Juliar BE et al (2006) Weekly bortezomib/methylprednisolone is effective and well tolerated in relapsed multiple myeloma. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma 7: 131–134
- Teicher BA (2008) Newer cytotoxic agents: attacking cancer broadly. Clin Cancer Res 14: 1650–1657
- Teoh G, Tan D, Hwang W et al (2006) Addition of bortezomib to thalidomide, dexamethasone and zoledronic acid (VTD-Z regimen) significantly improves complete remission rates in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Updated data presented at the 2006 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. J Clin Oncol 24:683s
- Terpos E, Anagnostopoulos A, Heath D et al (2006) The combination of bortezomib, melphalan, dexamethasone and intermittent thalidomide (VMDT) is an effective regimen for relapsed/ refractory myeloma and reduces serum levels of Dickkopf-1, RANKL, MIP-1-alpha and angiogenic cytokines. Updated data presented at the 2006 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 108:1010a–1011a
- Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Matous J et al (2007) Multicenter clinical trial of bortezomib in

relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: results of WMCTG Trial 03–248. Clin Cancer Res 13:3320–3325

- Vinitsky A, Michaud C, Powers JC, Orlowski M (1992) Inhibition of the chymotrypsin-like activity of the pituitary multicatalytic proteinase complex. Biochemistry 31:9421–9428
- Vinitsky A, Cardozo C, Sepp-Lorenzino L, Michaud C, Orlowski M (1994) Inhibition of the proteolytic activity of the multicatalytic proteinase complex (proteasome) by substrate-related peptidyl aldehydes. J Biol Chem 269: 29860–29866
- Voorhees PM, Dees EC, O'Neil B, Orlowski RZ (2003) The proteasome as a target for cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res 9:6316–6325
- Voorhees PM, Chen Q, Kuhn DJ et al (2007) Inhibition of interleukin-6 signaling with CNTO 328 enhances the activity of bortezomib in preclinical models of multiple myeloma. Clin Cancer Res 13:6469–6478
- Voortman J, Smit EF, Honeywell R et al (2007) A parallel dose-escalation study of weekly and twice-weekly bortezomib in combination with gemcitabine and cisplatin in the first-line treatment of patients with advanced solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res 13:3642–3651

- Wang CY, Mayo MW, Baldwin AS Jr (1996) TNFand cancer therapy-induced apoptosis: potentiation by inhibition of NF-kB. Science 274: 784–787
- Wang CY, Cusack JC Jr, Liu R, Baldwin AS Jr (1999) Control of inducible chemoresistance: enhanced anti-tumor therapy through increased apoptosis by inhibition of NF-kB. Nat Med 5:412–417
- Wang T (2003) The 26S proteasome system in the signaling pathways of TGF-beta superfamily. Front Biosci 8:d1109–d1127
- Wechalekar A, Gillmore J, Lachmann H, Offer M, Hawkins P (2006) Efficacy and safety of bortezomib in systemic AL amyloidosis-a preliminary report [abstract 129]. Blood 108:42a
- Wojcikiewicz RJ (2004) Regulated ubiquitination of proteins in GPCR-initiated signaling pathways. Trends Pharmacol Sci 25:35–41
- Zangari M, Barlogie B, Burns MJ et al (2005) Velcade (V)-thalidomide (T)-dexamethasone (D) for advanced and refractory multiple myeloma (MM): long-term follow-up of phase I-II trial UARK 2001–37: superior outcome in patients with normal cytogenetics and no prior T. Updated data presented at the 2005 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Blood 106:717a

Temsirolimus

Christian Stock, Massimo Zaccagnini, Michael Schulze, Dogu Teber, and Jens J. Rassweiler

Abstract Temsirolimus, an ester of sirolimus (rapamycin), selectively inhibits the kinase mammalian target of rapamycin and consequently blocks the translation of cell cycle regulatory proteins and prevents overexpression of angiogenic growth factors.

Patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma (RCC) and a poor prognosis who received a once-weekly intravenous (IV) infusion of temsirolimus 25 mg, experienced significant survival benefits when compared with patients receiving standard interferon- α (IFN α) therapy in a large phase III clinical study. In this study, median overall survival was 10.9 vs. 7.3 months and objective response rates were 8.6% in temsirolimus recipients vs. 4.8% IFN α recipient group.

Temsirolimus monotherapy recipients experienced significantly fewer grade 3 or 4 adverse events and had fewer withdrawals for adverse events than patients receiving IFN α .

e-mail: jens.rassweiler@slk-kliniken.de

13.1 Introduction

Renal cell carcinoma (RCC) accounts for approximately 3% of all adult malignancies and 2% of all cancer-related deaths (Linehan et al. 2001). In USA, RCC accounts for 2–3% of all cancers diagnosed. Nearly 210,000 people worldwide were diagnosed with RCC in 2007 and roughly one-third of these patients presented with metastatic disease, at the time of initial diagnosis, (Jemal et al. 2007) with a median survival time of 10–12 months (Larkin et al. 2007).

RCC may be treated surgically for stage I–III and surgical (laparoscopic or open) resection is the mainstay for tumours that are confined to the kidney.

Most renal cell cancers (85%) are classified histologically as clear cell type. These tumours are typically (>80%) characterised by a loss of expression of a functional von-Hippel–Lindau (VHL) gene. This gene regulates protein stability of hypoxia-inducible transcription factors (HIF) (Alexandrescu and Dasanu 2006; Motzer and Bukowsky 2006). Loss of VHL function prevents the degradation of these factors and leads to their accumulation, with the subsequent increased expression of HIF-regulated proteins such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and other angiogenic and growth-stimulating molecules.

J. J. Rassweiler (🖂)

Department of Urology, SLK-Kliniken Heilbronn GmbH, Medizinsche Klinik III, Am Gesundbrunnen 20–26, 74078 Heilbronn, Germany

Prior to the introduction of targeted cancer therapies, there were limited options for systemic therapy in patients with RCC. Interleukin-2 (IL-2) and Interferon alfa (IFN- α) were, alone or in combination, the main treatments for metastatic renal cancer. Treatment with these agents resulted in a median survival of 12.0–17.5 months (Aass et al. 2005). Cytokine-based immunotherapy with interleukin-2 (IL-2) and interferon- α (IFN α) are associated with modest objective response rates of 10–15% and substantial toxicity (Motzer and Bukowsky 2006; Rosemberg et al. 1985).

A better understanding of the pathogenesis of RCC, particularly the role of tumour angiogenesis, has led to the development of new therapeutic agents, with VEGF or the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) being targetedas their target. (Escudier 2007).

Temsirolimus is a selective inhibitor of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a serine–threonine-kinase involved in multiple tumour-promoting intracellular signalling pathways and controlling many cellular functions such as proliferation, survival, protein synthesis and transcription of HIF- α and it has been the first approved mTOR-targeted agent based on a phase III trial (Alexandrescu and Dasanu 2006; Hudes et al. 2007).

13.2 Development

Temsirolimus is a soluble ester of rapamycin, a natural product that was initially developed as an anti-fungal drug and then as an immunosuppressive agent, with anti-cancer activity noted more than 20-years ago. Rapamycin (sirolimus, rapamune) was isolated from the soil bacteria *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* found on Rapa Nui (commonly known as Easter Island) in the South Pacific in 1975, but its development for cancer therapeutics was not prioritised. The immunosuppressant effects of rapamycin were pursued and it resulted in Food and Drug Administration approval in 1999 for prevention of renal allograft rejection. Laboratory studies of rapamycin starting in the early 1980s showed anti-tumour effects in several solid tumours.

Cell cycle inhibitor-779, now known as Temsirolimus, is a derivative of rapamycin and it was identified in the 1990s and subsequently developed as an anti-cancer agent (Peralba et al. 2003).

13.3 Structure and mechanism of action

Temsirolimus (Fig. 13.1) is a serin/threonin kinase involved in controlling many cellular functions and it inhibits the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR).

The rapamycin-sensitive complex, also called mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) (Guertin and Sabatini 2005; Martin and Hall 2005), exists in cytoplasm in a complex with three peptides: the regulatory-associated protein of mTOR (raptor), mLST8 and GhL. Regulation of mTOR pathway activation is mediated through a series of complex signalling interactions linking growth factor receptor signalling and other cell stimuli, phosphatidylinositol





3-kinase activation and activation of the Akt/ protein kinase B pathway.

mTOR phosphorylates and activates p70 S6 kinase and in this way leads to enhanced translation of certain ribosomal proteins and elongation factors. This process is responsible, among other effects, for the production of hypoxiainducible factor-1a, which regulates the transcription of genes that stimulate cell growth and angiogenesis, including VEGF (Thomas et al. 2006). When activated, mTOR is linked to increased protein synthesis by modulating elements that are important in a number of cellular processes such as stimulating and regulating the synthesis of several proteins at the translation level through its phosphorylation of S6K1 and 4E-BP1; stimulating cell growth through cyclin D1, and being an important component of a cell cycle checkpoint for DNA replication; increasing production of the HIF-1 α protein, a transcriptional regulator of angiogenic growth factors, such as VEGF and PDGF; stimulating an increased expression of glucose and amino acid transporters, allowing the cell to take up additional metabolic fuel and extracellular nutrients. If disregulated, the net result is uncontrolled cell growth (Fig. 13.2).

In cancers, signalling through mTOR is stimulated by defects in one or more of the several pathway components upstream of mTOR (growth factor receptors, PI3-K, Akt, PTEN, TSC1/TSC2) or by stimulation of PI3K by mutant Ras/Raf/ MAPK pathway components. In certain types of renal cell cancer and some neuroendocrine



Fig. 13.2 PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway showing the mTOR protein complexes, mTOR/RAPTOR and mTOR/RICTOR, and the feedback loop involving

IGF-IR. *Arrows* indicate activation; *bars* indicate inhibition (Duran et al. 2006)

tumours, loss of function of VHL eliminates the mechanism for clearance of hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF- 1α), resulting in the transcription of numerous "hypoxia-associated" proteins, which drive angiogenesis and other cellular functions. HIF- 1α translation is controlled by mTOR; inhibiting mTOR may be one approach to overcoming the effects of VHL loss.

Temsirolimus binds to the immuniphilin FK506-binding protein 12 KDa isoform (FKBP12) to form a complex with mTOR (Sabers et al. 1995). When mTOR is bound in this complex, it becomes difficult to phosphorylate protein translation factors, as 4EBP1 and SK6 (also known as p7066 kinase), which are downstream of mTOR in the phosphatidylinsoitol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt/ mTOR pathway.

The net effect of this class of compounds is inhibition of the translation of several key proteins regulating the cell cycle so that cell is blocked in the G1 phase and angiogenesis is inhibited (Hudes et al. 2007).

13.4 Clinical Data

Temsirolimus showed anti-tumour effects across a wide variety of tumour histotypes in preclinical models (Neshat et al. 2001; Podsypanina et al. 2001; Yu et al. 2001). Over the past 10 years, many authors have carried out a series of randomised phase I-III trials to investigate efficacy of Temsirolimus in advanced RCC and in other tumours as endometrial carcinoma, breast cancer, glioblastoma mutltiforme, melanoma, small cell lung carcinoma, neuroendocrine carcinoma, mantle cell lymphoma. The pivotal Phase III study for temsirolimus in advanced RCC as well as in mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) is being conducted worldwide.

In addition, clinical studies for an oral formulation of temsirolimus in oncology (breast and prostate), multiple sclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis indications have been conducted, but oral formulation is currently not being developed in these indications because of insufficient efficacy observed in the trials.

13.5 Safety and Efficacy

One phase I study evaluated toxicity, pharmacology and preliminary activity of Temsirolimus administrated daily for 5 days every 2 weeks at maximum tolerated dose of 15 mg/m²/day to patients with advanced cancer, (HidalgoM et al. 2006) demonstrating well-tolerated and a preliminary evidence of anti-tumour activity in several advanced solid malignancies. Another phase I trial demonstrated the first evidence of anti-tumour activity in patients with RCC (Raymond et al. 2004).

In a randomised phase II study (Atkins et al. 2004), 111 patients with advanced refractory RCC were retrospectively classified in three groups according to Motzer's criteria (good, intermediate and poor prognosis). They were randomly assigned to receive 25, 75, or 250 mg Temsirolimus weekly to evaluate tumour response, time to tumour progression, survival and adverse events. This study brought up an objective tumour response in 7% of patients. In addition, complete response, partial response, minor response, or stable disease ≥ 24 weeks was noted in nearly 50% of the patients. Median time to progression was 6.0 months and median survival 15.0 months, with better survival for patients with intermediate or poor prognosis. These data seem to be encouraging when compared to 2.0 months as time to progression and median survival of 10.0 months in non-responding patients who had received IL-2 and/or IFN-alpha based immunotherapy with no other treatment (Yang et al. 2003). Moreover, results from a phase II trial investigating Temsirolimus in recurrent or metastatic endometrial carcithat noma suggest monotherapy with Temsirolimus could be an option for the treatment of this disease for which no standard of care currently exists (Oza et al. 2005), whereas, treatment of patients with recurrent glioblastoma with 250 mg/week of Temsirolimus does not seem to have good activity as emerging data from phase II trials reveal. (Galanis et al. 2005; Chang et al. 2005).

In a recent phase III, randomised, open label, multi-centre study, 626 patients with metastatic RCC and three or more adverse risk features (indicators of short survival) were randomised in three arms to receive monotherapy with Temsirolimus (25 mg i.v. weekly), monotherapy with IFN-alpha (18 million units 3 times a week) and combination therapy with Temsirolimus (15 mg iv weekly) plus IFN-alpha (6 million units 3 times a week weekly). Overall survival as primary end point was calculated. Patients treated with temsirolimus alone had a statistically longer overall survival than patients in the IFN-alpha monotherapy group (10.9 vs. 7.3 months; p > 0.0069). Secondary efficacy end points were progression-free survival, the objective response rate and clinical benefits rate, defined as the group of patients with stable disease for at least 24 weeks or an objective response. The median progression-free survival was 3.7 months in the patients treated with temsirolimus (alone or in combination) vs. 1.9 months in the arm treated with IFN-alpha alone and objective response rates of 4.8, 8.6 and 8.1% in patients receiving IFN, temsirolimus and combination therapy, respectively, did not differ significantly. In contrast, a better objective response or a bigger proportion of cases with a stable disease for at least 24 weeks was noted in temsirolimus group (32.1%), in the combination therapy group (28.1%) than in IFN group (15.5%) (Hudes et al. 2007).

13.6 Side Effects

In the same study, tolerability of Temsirolimus was evaluated. Frequently (>30% of the patients) asthenia, rash, anaemia, nausea and anorexia occurred in temsirolimus alone group. The most frequently occurring grade 3 adverse events in the temsirolimus arm were asthenia (11%), anaemia (20%) and dyspnoea (9%). Grade 3 or 4 asthenia were reported in 11% of the patients in the temsirolimus group, in 26% in the interferon group (p < 0.001) and in 28% in the combination therapy group (p < 0.001). The proportions of patients who reported dyspnoea, diarrhoea, nausea or vomiting were similar in all three groups. The most frequently occurring temsirolimus-related grade 3 or 4 haematological toxicities included anaemia and thrombocytopenia. Hypercholesterolemia, hyperlipidemia and hyperglycemia were also more common in the temsirolimus arm, reflecting inhibition of mTOR-mediated lipid and glucose metabolism, and generally manageable with dietary or medical management. Immunosuppression is an additional potential toxicity of temsirolimus given the known immunosuppressive effects of sirolimus, but there were not significant differences in the incidence of neutropenia, lymphopenia or infection vs. the IFN control arm.

Temsirolimus demonstrated remarkable antitumour activity in mantle cell lymphoma, a disease driven by cyclin D1 overexpression (Witzig et al. 2005a).

Patients affected by relapse of the Mantle cell lymphoma after conventional therapy or stem cell transplantation have a poor prognosis and are candidates for novel agents. A pathologic hallmark of MCL is the characteristic overexpression of cyclin D1 (CCND1) in the MCL tumour cells. CCND1 is one of the proteins in which translation is under the control of the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase signal transduction

pathway and is downstream of the mammalian target of rapamycin kinase (mTOR).

A Phase II trial in 35 patients with mantle cell lymphoma that had relapsed after chemotherapy and rituximab treatment indicated that temsirolimus treatment resulted in a remarkable overall response rate of 38%, with a 3% rate of complete remission (CR) and a 35% rate of partial remission (PR) with a median duration of responses of 6 months (Witzig et al. 2005b).

In another phase II study with temsirolimus in mantle cell lymphoma on 27 patients, the overall response rate was 41% and the median time to progression was 6 months (Ansell et al. 2008). Results from a phase III study in 161 patients with relapsed or refractory mantle cell lymphoma has been recently carried out and showed at the Thirteenth Congress of the European Haematology Association (EHA) (Verhoef et al. 2008) and at the Forty Forth Annual Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) (Hess G et al. 2008). In this randomised study, two groups of patients, receiving two different doses of temsirolimus (high dose or low dose temsirolimus), were compared with a third group treated with other chemo or biologic therapies (gemcitabine, fludarabine, etc.).

Objective response was 22, 6 and 2% in the high-dose temsirolimus group, in the low-dose temsirolimus group and in the chemo-biologic treated group, respectively. Progression-free survival was 4.8, 3.4 and 1.9 months in the first, second and third arm. There was no significant difference in overall survival among all patients (Verhoef et al. 2008; Hess G et al. 2008).

13.7 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

The mTOR pathway is likely critical across a broad spectrum of tumour types.

Temsirolimus has shown anti-tumour activity, most notably in poor-risk advanced RCC where a demonstration of overall survival benefit has been observed and promising results have been obtained in mantle cell lymphoma and endometrial cancer.

The proof of principle that mTOR inhibitors can improve cancer patient survival has been recently obtained from a large randomised trial testing temsirolimus in patients with advanced poor prognostic RCC. These data led the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to approve temsirolimus for advanced RCC in 2007. Temsirolimus is approved in the US for the treatment of patients with advanced RCC and in Europe for first-line treatment of patients with advanced RCC and at least three of six prognostic risk factors (Table 13.1). The drug has shown a significant overall survival benefit, and is associated with fewer withdrawals for adverse events, compared with standard IFN therapy in this patient population. Other targeted agents are now available for metastatic RCC including combination therapy with bevacizumab with temsirolimus IFN-alpha. and sorafenib (Table13.2) and the results are encouraging.

The lack of significant anti-tumour effect of temsirolimus-mediated mTOR inhibition in some tumours, especially those with predicted sensitivity based on alterations such as PTEN mutation, underline the complex interplay of multiple signalling pathways within a single tumour and recent knowledge on the status of PTEN and PI3K/AKT/mTOR-linked pathways might help in the selection of other tumour types that will respond to mTOR inhibitors.

More potent or complete mTOR inhibition (e.g. through agents that inhibit both mTORC1 and mTORC2), inhibition of multiple signalling pathways simultaneously, and/or more precise molecular phenotyping of tumours to define mTOR pathway reliance are needed to build on the clinical benefits of temsirolimus observed to date.

In the future, it will be important to continue the search for factors predictive of resistance or

	MSKCC stratification	Treatment options			
		First-line		Second-line	
		Standard of care	Alternatives	Standard of care	Alternatives
	Favourable risk	$IFN\alpha + IL + (5FU)$	Bevacizumab+ IFN-alpha		Sunitinib
		Sunitinib			
mRCC			Cytokines (IL-2)	Sorafenib	
	Intermediate risk	Sunitinib	Bevacizumab+ IFN-alpha Sorafenib		mTOR inhibitors
	Poor risk	Temsirolimus	Sunitinib		

Table 13.1 Treatment options in metastatic renal cell carcinoma (RCC) (mRCC)

 Table 13.2
 Comparison of efficacy of targeted agents in the first-line treatment in patients with metastatic RCC

	PFS (months)	OS (months)	<i>p</i> value
Sunitinib (Motzer et al. 2008)	11.0	Not reached	< 0.00001
vs. INF-α	5.1		
$Bevacizumab+INF-\alpha$	10.2	Not reached	< 0.0001
(Escudier et al. 2007)	5.4		
Bevacizumab+INF-α (Rini	8.5	Not reached	< 0.0001
et al. 2008)	5.2		
Temsirolimusa vs. INF-α	5.5	10.9	< 0.001
(Hudes et al. 2007)	3.1	7.3	
Sorafenib (Szczylik et al. 2007)	5.7	Not available	Not available
vs. IFN-α (part 1)	5.6		
Sorafenib (600 mg b.i.d.; part 2)	3.6		
Crossover (IFN- α – Sorafenib 400 mg b.i.d.; part 2)	5.3		

PFS progression-free survival; OS overall survival

^aThree or more of six prognostic risk factors; five risk factors determined by MSKCC (lactate dehydrogenase >1.5 times the upper limit of normal. Haemoglobin <lower limit of normal, correct serum calcium >10 mg/dL, time from diagnosis to first treatment <1 year, Karnofski PS 60–70%) plus the number of metastatic sites

sensitivity to mTOR inhibitors (Temsirolimus and others), and it would be useful to immediately apply existing knowledge that mTOR inhibition can restore sensitivity to some existing chemotherapeutic agents.

References

Linehan WM, Zbar B, Bates SE et al (2001) Cancer of the kidney and ureter. In: DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA (eds) Cancer: principles and practice of oncology. Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA, pp 1362–1396

- Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E et al (2007) Cancer Statistiscs, 2007. CA Cancer J Clin 57:43–66
- Larkin JMG, Chowdhury S, Gore ME (2007) Drug insight: advances in renal cell carcinoma and the role of target therapies. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 4(8):470–479
- Alexandrescu DT, Dasanu CA (2006) Kidney cancer therapy: new perspectivies and avenues. Expert Opin Pharmacother 7(18):2481–2493
- Motzer RJ, Bukowsky RM (2006) Targeted therapy for metastatic renal carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 24(35):5601–5608
- Aass N, De Mulder HM, Mickisch GHJ et al (2005) Randomized phase II/III trial of interferon alfa-2a with and without 13- cis –retinoic acid in patients with progressive metastatic renal cell carcinoma: the European organization for research and treatment of cancer genito-urinary tract cancer group (EOTORC 30951). J Clin Oncol 23:4172–4178
- Rosemberg SA, Lotze MT, Muul ML et al (1985) Observations on the systemic administration of autologus lymphokine-activated killer cells and recombinant interleukin-2 to patients with metastatic cancer. N Engl J Med 313(23):1485–1492
- Escudier B (2007) Advanced renal cell carcinoma: current and emerging management strategies. Drugs 67(9):1257–1264
- Hudes G, Carducci M, Tomczak P et al (2007) Temsirolimus, interferon alfa, or both for advanced renal cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 356:2271–2281
- Peralba JM, DeGraffenried L, Friedrichs W et al (2003) Pharmacodynamic evaluation of CCI-779, an inhibitor of mTOR, in cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res 9:2887–2892
- Guertin DA, Sabatini DM (2005) An expanding role for mTOR in cancer. Trends Mol Med 11: 353–361
- Martin DE, Hall MN (2005) The expandind TOR signaling network. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17: 158–166
- Thomas GV, Tran C, Mellinghoff IK et al (2006) Hypoxia inducible factors determines sensitivity to ihibitors of mTOR in kidney cancer. Nad Med 12:122–127
- Sabers CJ, Matrin MM, Brunn JJ et al (1995) Isolation of a protein target of FKBP 12-rapamycin complex in mammalian cells. J Biol Chem 270(2):815–822

- Neshat MS, Mellinghoff IK, Tran C et al (2001) Enhancedsensitivity of PTEN-deficient tumors to inhibition of FRAP/mTOR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(18):10314–10319
- Podsypanina K, Lee RT, Politis C et al (2001) An inhibitor of mTOR reduces neoplasia and normalizes p70/S6 kinaseactivity in Pten+/- mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci US A 98:10320–10323
- Yu K, Toral-Barza L, Discafani C et al (2001) mTOR, a novel target in breast cancer : the effect of CCI-779, an mTOR inhibitor, in preclinical models of breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 8(3):249–258
- HidalgoM BucknerJC, Erlichman C et al (2006) A phase Iand pharmacokinetic study of temsirolimus (CCI-779)administered intravenously daily for 5 days every 2 weeks to patients with advanced cancer. Clin Cancer Res 12:5755–5763
- Raymond E, Alexandre J, Faivre S et al (2004) Safety and pharmacokinetics of escalated doses of weekly intravenous infusion of CCI-779, a novel mTOR inhibitor, in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 22:2336–2347
- Atkins MB, Hidalgo M, Stadler WM et al (2004) Randomized phase II study of multiple dose levels of CCI-779, a novel mammalian target of rapamycin kinase inhibitor, in patients with advanced refractory renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 22:909–918
- Yang JC, Haworth L, Sherry RM et al (2003) A randomized trial of bevacizumab, an antivascular endothelia growth factor antibody, for metastatic renal cancer. N Engl J Med 349:427–434
- Oza AM et al (2005) A phase II study on temsirolimus (CCI-779) in patients with metastaic and/or recurrent endometrial cancer. Proc. 17th Symp Mol. Targets Cancer Thera. Philadelphia, USA, November, 197 AB269
- Galanis E et al (2005) Phase II trial of tensirolimus (CCI- 779) in recurrent glioblastoma multiforme: a north central cancer treatment group study. J Clin Oncol 23:5294–5304
- Chang SM et al (2005) Phase II study of CCI-779 in patients with recurrent glioblastoma multiforme. Invest New Drugs 23:357–361
- Witzig TE et al (2005a) Phase II trial of single-agent tensirolimus (CCI-779) for relapsed mantle cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 23:5347–5356
- Witzig TE et al (2005b) Phase II trial of single-agent tensirolimus (CCI-779) for relapsed mantle cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 23:5347–5356

- Ansell SM et al (2008) Low-dose, single-agent temsirolimus for relapsed mantle cell lymphoma. A phase 2 trial in the north central cancer treatment group. Cancer 113(3):508–514
- Verhoef G, Hess G et al (2008) Phase III study of patients with relapsed, refractory mantle cel lymphoma treated with temsirolimus compared with investigator's choice therapy. 13th Congress of the European Hematology Association (EHA)
- Hess G, Verhoef G et al (2008) Phase III study of patients with relapsed, refractory mantle cel lymphoma treated with temsirolimus compared with investigator's choice therapy. 44th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO)
- Motzer RJ, Figlin RA, Hutson TE, et al (2008) Overall survival with sunitinib versus interferon (IFN)-alfa as first-line treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC). 44th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO)
- Escudier B, Pluzanska A, Koralewski P, Ravaud A, Bracarda S, Szczylik C, Chevreau C, Filipek M, Melichar B, Bajetta E, Gorbunova V, Bay JO, Bodrogi I, Jagiello-Gruszfeld A, Moore N (2007)

AVOREN trial investigators. Bevacizumab plus interferon alfa-2a for treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a randomised, double-blind phase III trial. Lancet 370(9605):2103–2111

- Rini BI, Halabi S, Rosenberg JE, Stadler WM, Vaena DA, Ou SS, Archer L, Atkins JN, Picus J, Czaykowski P, Dutcher J, Small EJ (2008) Bevacizumab plus interferon alfa compared with interferon alfa monotherapy in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma: CALGB 90206. J Clin Oncol 26:5422–5428
- Szczylik C, Demkow T, Staehler M, Rolland F, Negrier S, Hutson TE, Bukowski RM, Scheuring UJ, Burk K and Escudier B (2007) Randomized phase II trial of first-line treatment with sorafenib versus interferon in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma: final results. J Clin Oncol 25(Suppl):abstr. 5025
- Duran I, Kortmansky J, Singh D, Hirte H, Kocha W, Goss G, Le L, Oza A, Nicklee T, Ho J, Birle D, Pond GR, Arboine D, Dancey J, Aviel-Ronen S, Tsao MS, Hedley D, Siu LL (2006) A phase II clinical and pharmacodynamic study of temsirolimus in advanced neuroendocrine carcinomas. Br J Cancer 95(9):1148–1154

Danusertib (formerly PHA-739358) – A Novel Combined Pan-Aurora Kinases and Third Generation Bcr-Abl Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor

Artur Gontarewicz and Tim H. Brümmendorf

Abstract The Aurora kinases belong to a family of highly conserved serine/threonine protein kinases. They play an essential role as key mitotic regulators, controlling entry into mitosis, centrosome function, chromosome assembly, and segregation. As many other regulators of mitosis, Aurora kinases are frequently found to be aberrantly overexpressed in cancer cells. Therefore, these proteins have become an attractive target for the development of new anticancer therapies. In fact, several small-molecule inhibitors of Aurora kinases have already been developed and some of them have shown promising clinical efficacy in a number of human tumors in Phase I and II clinical trials. Among those, one of the most advanced clinical compound currently is Danusertib (formerly PHA-739358), which exhibits inhibitory activity against all known Aurora kinases as well as other cancer-relevant kinases such as the Bcr-Abl tyrosine kinase, including its multidrug-resistant T315I mutant. This mutation is responsible for up to 25% of all clinically observed resistances in CML patients undergoing Imatinib therapy. However, this particular mutation is predicted to play an even more important clinical role in the future, since in addition to Imatinib, it also confers resistance to second-generation Bcr-Abl inhibitors such as Nilotinib, Dasatinib, and Bosutinib. Therefore, combined Aurora and Bcr-Abl inhibition (the latter including high-grade resistance conferring mutations) with compounds such as Danusertib represents a promising new strategy for treatment of Bcr-Abl positive leukemias, especially those in second and third line of treatment.

14.1 Introduction

The complete cell cycle is a highly ordered multiphase process culminating in cell division, mitosis, by which the duplicated DNA is precisely segregated into two daughter cells. The main effectors of this critical step are the mitotic microtubule spindle and the centrosomes. Because of the importance of this process for the survival of a cell and the integrity of the organism as a whole, mitosis is under tight control through several biochemical gatekeepers, commonly termed checkpoints, which ultimately ensure the progression and fidelity of

T. H. Brümmendorf (🖂)

Dept. of Hematology and Oncology, University Hospital Aachen, Pauwelsstraße 30, 52074 Aachen, Germany

University Cancer Center Hamburg (UCCH), University Hospital Eppendorf, Martinistraße 52, 20246 Hamburg, Germany e-mail: tbruemmendorf@uke.uni-hamburg.de

cell division. Defects in the regulation of these mechanisms can lead to genomic instability, a condition tightly associated with tumorigenesis. In fact, the abnormal function of these regulatory systems is often found in tumor cells (Lengauer et al. 1998). As cancer is a consequence of uncontrolled cell division, great efforts have been made to develop drugs that specifically interfere with the progression of mitosis and therefore stop a cell from dividing. Currently used mitotic inhibitors predominantly impair the normal function of the mitotic microtubule spindle apparatus by targeting tubulins and halting the cell cycle in mitosis. However, in vivo, these compounds exhibit significant side effects, limiting their usage (Jiang et al. 2006). Therefore, it is of particular interest to develop novel chemotherapy agents targeting nonstructural components of the mitotic process (Schmidt and Bastians 2007).

The Aurora kinases have recently become known as key mitotic regulators playing a critical role in many processes during cellular division (Carmena and Earnshaw 2003). This serine/threonine kinase family emerged from a screen for *Drosophila melanogaster* mutants defective in mitotic spindle function and was named Aurora because of the similarity of their disordered mitotic spindles to *aurora borealis*, a phenomenon of the night sky in the polar region (Glover et al. 1995).

In vertebrates, Aurora kinases encompass three known family members, Aurora A, Aurora B, and Aurora C, which are involved in duplication of the centrosome, chromosome condensation, formation of a bipolar mitotic spindle with kinetochore–microtubule interactions, chromosome orientation, and chromatids segregation (Carmena and Earnshaw 2003; Adams et al. 2001a; Nigg 2001). Furthermore, there are clear implications for the involvement of Aurora kinases in tumorigenesis, as they are frequently overexpressed in several human tumors (Adams et al. 2001a, b; Zhou et al. 1998; Katayama et al. 1999; Sorrentino et al. 2004). Based on these data, Aurora kinases have become attractive targets for development of new anticancer drugs. Recently, a new generation of small molecule inhibitors has been developed and importantly, several of them have already entered Phase I and II clinical trials (Warner et al. 2003; Hauf et al. 2003; Ditchfield et al. 2003).

14.2 Structure, Localization, and Functions

The mammalian Aurora paralogues exhibit high sequence homology, particularly within the carboxyterminal catalytic domain, in which human Aurora A and B share 71% identity. The N-terminal domain of the three Auroras differs in the length and sequence, thereby determining selectivity for interactions with different substrates (Carmena and Earnshaw 2003; Bischoff et al. 1998; Giet and Prigent 1999). The evolutionary analysis of Aurora family within vertebrates suggests an early divergence of Aurora A from Aurora B and Aurora C (Cheetam et al. 2000).

In spite of this high level of similarity, the mammalian Aurora kinases show very distinct localizations and functions. Aurora A localizes mainly within the centrosomes from the time of their duplication until mitotic exit. After activation by LIM-Protein Ajuba in the G2 phase of the cell cycle, Aurora A phosphorylates several microtubule-associated proteins and recruits them to the centrosome to promote their maturation. On breakdown of the nuclear envelope, Aurora A is locally activated by its substrate TPX2 and targeted to spindle microtubules at the poles (Carmena and Earnshaw 2003; Bischoff et al. 1998; Fu et al. 2007; Tsai et al. 2003). Aurora A contributes to the process of G2/M transition, though its absence only delays entry into mitosis (Marumoto et al. 2002). This kinase is also involved in cytokinesis, since its overexpression causes aneuploidy exacerbated in cells that lack functional p53 (Meraldi et al. 2002). After exit from mitosis, Aurora A is degraded by the proteasome (Castro et al. 2002a, b).

Aurora B together with three other proteins, inner centromere protein (INCENP), survivin, and borealin, forms the chromosomal passenger complex, which controls the accurate segregation of the chromatids at mitosis, histone modification, and cytokinesis (Vader et al. 2006). This complex localizes to kinetochores until the metaphase-anaphase transition. After chromatid separation, it relocates to the midzone and then remains at the midbody until completion of cytokinesis (Carmena and Earnshaw 2003; Bischoff et al. 1998). Similar to Aurora A, Aurora B is activated by binding to some of its substrates. Activated Aurora B phosphorylates histone H3 at Ser10 and 28, and at Ser7 in the centromere histone variant CENP-A. As these events may be required for chromosome condensation. Aurora B has been linked to chromatin modification (Monier et al. 2007; Hsu et al. 2000; Giet and Glover 2001; Zeitlin et al. 2001). Aurora B phosphorylates also mitotic centromere-associated kinesin (MCAK) and therefore plays a crucial role in the regulation of precise chromatid separation as MCAK is involved in the spindle checkpoint correcting the unproper attachments of microtubules to the kinetochores (Dewar et al. 2004; Ohi et al. 2004). Aurora B has a critical role in a cytokinesis – its downregulation or inhibition of activity results in polyploidy due to the cytokinesis failure (Fu et al. 2007).

Less is known about the third member of the Aurora kinase family. In physiological conditions, Aurora C expression is restricted to the testis (Hu et al. 2000; Bernard et al. 1998). Like other Aurora kinases, Aurora C is activated by its substrates, especially by INCENP, which is also a substrate for Aurora B. Furthermore, Aurora C localizes in a pattern similar to Aurora B, can mimic its function in mitosis, and even rescues Aurora B-depleted cells (Sasai et al. 2004) (Table 14.1).

14.3 Aurora Kinases and Cancer

Human Aurora A is located on chromosome 20q13.2. This region is frequently amplified in many forms of human cancers resulting in protein overexpression (Sen et al. 1997; Bischoff et al. 1998; Zhou et al. 1998; Tanner et al. 2000;

	Putative substrates	Cell localization	Function
Aurora A	BRCA1, p53, NM-23, NDEL-1, Lats2, Eg-5, D-TACC, TPX2, CENP-A, histone H3, Ajuba, PP1, Cdh-1	Duplicated centrosomes; spindle poles; spindle midzone/centrosomes	Centrosome maturation and separation; mitotic entry; bipolar-spindle assembly; cytokinesis
Aurora B	Borealin, Survivin, INCEP, Mad2, GFAP, CENP-A, Myosin II, Desmin, REC-8, GAP1, Vimentin, histone H3, MgcRac/Cyk4, BubR1, MKLP-1	Kinetochores; chromosome arms; spindle midzone/ cleavage furrow	Recruitment of centromeric protein; chromosome alignment and segregation; microtubule dynamics and cytokinesis
Aurora C	Aurora B, INCENP	Spindle poles; chromosome arms	Chromosome segregation; cytokinesis; role in spermatogenesis

Table 14.1 Human Aurora kinases - substrates, subcellular localization, and associated function

Jeng et al. 2004). Aurora A can be detected at various levels in breast, colon, pancreatic, bladder, ovarian, and prostate tumors (Bischoff et al. 1998; Zhou et al. 1998; Tanaka et al. 1999; Han et al. 2002; Sen et al. 2002; Gritsko et al. 2003; Li et al. 2003). The degree of Aurora A amplification and overexpression correlates with chromosomal instability, aneuploidy, and clinical aggressiveness in human bladder cancer (Tanaka et al. 1999; Han et al. 2002). In medulloblastoma, Aurora A overexpression was found to be an independent prognostic factor for overall survival (Neben et al. 2004).

Although activating mutations of Aurora kinase genes seem very rare in human tumors (Greenman et al. 2007), several studies revealed commonly occurring polymorphisms of the Aurora A gene and identified it as a candidate low-penetrance tumor susceptibility gene (Ewart-Toland et al. 2003). These polymorphisms are associated with cancer risk and clinical outcome: e.g., isoleucine for phenylalanine in position 31 is preferentially detected in cases of ovarian carcinoma and is also associated with advanced stages of squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus (DiCioccio et al. 2004; Miao et al. 2004). Another frequent polymorphism of the Aurora A gene isoleucine for valine in position 57 - is linked to an increased risk of breast and esophagus cancer and to the risk of disease progression in gastric tumors (Egan et al. 2004; Kimura et al. 2005; Ju et al. 2006).

In vitro, overexpression of Aurora A transforms NIH-3T3 and Rat1 fibroblasts, which give rise to tumors when injected into nude mice (Zhou et al. 1998; Bischoff et al 1998; Littlepage et al. 2002). Long-term overexpression of Aurora A in mouse mammary epithelium is also sufficient for induction of genetic instability preceding mammary tumor formation (Wang et al. 2006). So far, it is not clear how the inappropriate expression of Aurora A contributes to the transformation of cells. It has been proposed that it could prevent the chromosomes to achieve their normal spindle orientation. In spite of this, the affected cells can exit mitosis because at the same time overexpressed Aurora A inactivates the spindle-assembly checkpoint, leading therefore to cytokinesis failure and tetraploidy. This phenomenon is enhanced in p53-deficient cells, which insufficiently detect hyperploidy and, as a consequence, proceed through subsequent cell cycles and generate aneuploid progeny (Carmena and Earnshaw 2003).

Aurora B has also been implicated in cancer pathogenesis. Its strong overexpression has been detected in thyroid, colorectal, and prostate carcinoma, in the latter two clearly correlating with the degree of tumor malignancy (Wang et al. 2006: Takahashi et al. 2000: Adams et al. 2001b; Chieffi et al. 2006). In contrast to Aurora A, the chromosomal region encompassing Aurora B gene - 17p13.1 - is not amplified to a high level in tumors (Kimura et al. 1998). Nevertheless, low-level copy number increases have been frequently detected in primary nonsmall cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), where the level of Aurora B expression correlates with the degree of genetic instability (Smith et al. 2005). Generally, cells overexpressing Aurora B show defects in chromosome segregation, cytokinesis, and elevated level of phosphorylated histone H3, which, at least in some human colorectal cell lines, correlates with the degree of Aurora B expression (Tatsuka et al. 1998; Ota et al. 2002).

For Aurora C, no defined role in tumorigenesis has been established yet, although it has been found to be expressed in a number of tumors and cancer cell lines (Hu et al. 2000; Kimura et al. 1999).

14.4 Inhibitors

Since the discovery of Aurora kinases, their involvement in the process of mitosis and their implication in tumorigenesis, much effort has been made to identify and develop effective inhibitors. It is estimated that in the last few years, more than 20 drug development programs have been initiated resulting in the identification of many small molecule compounds with an inhibitory activity toward Aurora kinases. Several of them currently undergo preclinical and clinical assessment (Carpinelli and Moll 2007).

MK-0457 (previously VX680; Merck) is a pyrimidine derivative with affinity for all three Aurora kinases at nanomolar concentrations. This compound inhibits also other kinases like Flt-3 and Abl, including the T315I-Abl mutant (Harrington et al. 2004; Young et al. 2006). In its mechanism of action, MK-0457 prevents cytokinesis, disrupts bipolar spindle formation but allows the cells to progress through mitosis, causing accumulation of polyploid cells and eventually massive apoptosis. In preclinical in vivo models, MK-0457 was able to induce regression in tumor xenografts of leukemia (HL60) and colon cancer (HCT116) (Harrington et al. 2004).

In a first Phase I clinical trial, MK-0457 was given to the patients with previously treated solid tumors in a continuous 5-day intravenous infusion every 4 weeks (Rubin et al. 2006). The main doselimiting toxicity (DLT) was grade 3 neutropenia and some nonspecific side effects, as low-grade nausea, skin rash, fatigue, and fluid retention. Stabilization of the disease was observed in patients with NSCLC and pancreatic carcinoma. Phase II single-agent efficacy studies in lung and colorectal cancer have been initiated. Furthermore, studies to determine the activity of this compound in hematological malignancies like relapsed or refractory AML, ALL, myelodysplastic syndromes, and CML have been initiated. Because MK-0457 has activity on the T315I-Abl mutant, patients in accelerated or blast phase CML, including those carrying T315I mutation, were treated in Phase I trial according to the following regimen: continuous 5-day infusions every 2-3 weeks at doses of 8-32 mg/m²/h. All T315I patients responded to the therapy, with one major and four minor hematological as well as with one complete and two partial cytogenetic responses (Hampton 2007).

Clinical responses to MK-0457 therapy were also noted in Ph⁺ ALL patients resistant to treatment with tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Imatinib, Nilotinib, and Dasatinib) (Giles et al. 2007). Based on these results, Merck has started a new Phase II trial enrolling CML patients in chronic, accelerated, and blast phase as well as Ph⁺ ALL patients (Carpinelli and Moll 2007). Regrettably, in November 2007 Merck halted enrollment on trials of MK-0457 due to a reported potential heart safety issue (QTc prolongation) in one patient (Keen and Taylor 2009).

AZD-1152 (AstraZeneca) is a phosphate derivative of a quinazoline, a prodrug, which is converted in the plasma into the active metabolite AZD-1152-HQPA. This compound has higher affinity for Aurora B than Aurora A, being also active on Aurora C. Its effects in cancer cells are similar to those of MK-0457. In the ongoing Phase I trial in advanced, pretreated solid tumors this drug has been administered as a weekly 2-h infusion over the 28-day treatment cycle. The DLT was reported to be grade 3 neutropenia with few non-hematologic toxicities. The initial results showed stable disease in three patients (melanoma, nasopharvngeal carcinoma, and adenoid cystic carcinoma) (Schellens et al. 2006). In follow-up studies, the biweekly and continuous infusions have been introduced based on preclinical data suggesting that prolonged AZD-1152 administration results in markedly increased apoptotic effects of AZD-1152-HQPA (Gautschi et al. 2008).

MLN 8054 (Millenium Pharmaceuticals) was the first orally available Aurora kinase inhibitor with activity selectively on Aurora A. In in vitro studies, this compound causes mitotic spindle defects, accumulation of cells in mitosis, and inhibition of proliferation in several cancer cell lines (Manfredi et al. 2007). Moreover, regression of human tumor xenografts in nude mice was observed after oral administration of welltolerated doses and this effect was sustained even after treatment cessation. In Phase I clinical trial, this compound was orally administered (daily for 7 days, in 21-day intervals) to patients with lymphomas and solid tumors, such as breast, pancreas, bladder, and metastatic colorectal carcinoma, inducing stabilization of the disease in some cases (Galvin et al. 2006; Jones et al. 2007). The principal DLT observed was the reversible grade 3 somnolence. According to the animal studies, this is due to the ability of MLN 8054 to bind to the structure of the benziodiazepine receptor.

The immunohistochemical analysis of skin biopsies taken from patients treated with the MLN 8054 regimen revealed lower accumulation of mitotic cells than expected from in vitro studies suggesting unsufficient target inhibition in vivo. Therefore, a new study with twice-daily dosing over 14 days has been initiated, with the coadministration of methylphenidase (Gautschi et al. 2008). However, it has recently been announced that MLN-8054 will be replaced by a second-generation follow-up compound showing an increased potency of Aurora kinase A inhibition and a decreased benzodiazepine-like effect (Boss et al. 2009).

AT-9283 (Astex Therapeutics Ltd.) is an Aurora A and B inhibitor, which also inhibits JAK2, JAK3, and Abl kinases, including the T315I-Abl mutant. This compound has entered Phase I/IIa clinical trial, being evaluated in refractory hematologic malignancies such as AML, CML, and myelodysplastic syndromes with a 72-h continuous infusion at doses ranging from 3 to 48 mg/m² daily for three consecutive days (Ravandi et al. 2007).

KW-2449 (Kyowa Pharmaceutical, Inc.) is an oral multikinase inhibitor with a potent activity not only against Aurora A kinase but also Flt-3, FGFR1, Abl as well as T315I-mutated Abl kinases. This compound is now evaluated in Phase I clinical trial in patients with relapsed/refractory AML, treatment resistant/intolerant CML, ALL, and myelodysplastic syndromes being administered in a 14- or 28-day schedule, at daily doses ranging from 50 to 500 mg, divided into 12-h dosing. First results show stabilization of the disease achieved in some patients already after one cycle of therapy (Cortes et al. 2007).

XL228 (Exelixis, Inc.) is also a multikinase inhibitor with activity against kinases such as Aurora A, insulin-like growth factor type-1 receptor (IGF1R), Src, Abl, and its T315I mutant. In vitro studies in CML cell line K562 showed strong dephosphorylation of Bcr-Abl and Stat5 on treatment with XL228, resulting in pronounced inhibition of cell proliferation. In BaF3 cells transduced with BCR-ABL-T315I mutant inhibition of Bcr-Abl phosphorylation due to XL228 treatment was even more effective than on MK-0457 treatment. In an ongoing Phase I study, XL228 is evaluated as a weekly 1-h infusion in patients with CML or Ph⁺ B-ALL after failure of Imatinib or Dasatinib therapy (Shah et al. 2007; Zhang 2006).

Recently, several additional Aurora kinase inhibitors have entered clinical studies. *R763/AS-703569* (Rigel/Serono /Aventis-Sanofi) and *CYC-116* (Cyclacel) are in Phase I clinical trials. *R763* is an Aurora B inhibitor, which can be administered orally and i.v. The main compound of Cyclacel – CYC-116 – is an oral Aurora A and B inhibitor with cross-inhibitory activity on VEGFR2.

In 2007, Pfizer introduced a new agent, *PF*-03814735, which is an Aurora A and B inhibitor for oral administration. This compound is being tested now in patients with advanced solid tumors (Carpinelli and Moll 2007).

14.5 Danusertib (formerly PHA-739358)

Danusertib is an Aurora kinase inhibitor, which shows a low-nanomolar activity against all three members of the Aurora kinase family – Aurora A, B, and C – inhibiting them at concentration of 13, 79, and 61 nM, respectively. Danusertib shows also cross-reactivity with other kinases tested, such as Ret, TrkA, FGFR1, and Abl including its T315I mutant. These observed cross-reactivities might have impact on the future role of Danusertib as an anticancer agent since the oncogenic Bcr-Abl tyrosine kinase is responsible for development of CML and *BCR-ABL*-positive ALL (Fig. 14.1).

Expression of TrkA has been reported in thyroid and prostate carcinoma and Ret seems to



Fig. 14.1 Simplified view on three generations of targeted Bcr-Abl inhibitors. The tyrosine kinase inhibitor Imatinib (IM) has become an effective frontline therapy for CP CML. However, primary or acquired resistance to IM, mostly mediated by point mutations in the Abl kinase (shown in gray) although

occurring at low frequency in CP disease, remain a major therapeutic challenge in the CML therapy, particularly in patients suffering from advanced stages of disease. Second-generation Bcr-Abl inhibitors are capable of overcoming the majority of these mutations, except of the T315I mutation

play an important role in thyroid and breast carcinoma (Lugo et al. 1990; Propp and Lizzi 1970; Bongarzone et al. 1998; Dionne et al. 1998; Sjoblom et al. 2006).

In vitro studies using a broad panel of different human cancer cell lines showed strong antiproliferative effects of Danusertib treatment with accumulation of tetraploid cells in G1-like growth arrest or cells with >4 N DNA as a feature of endoreduplication (Carpinelli et al. 2007; Gontarewicz et al. 2008). These different effects of Danusertib may be cell line specific, reflecting different requirements for Aurora kinase activity. Most probably, they depend on the status of p53-dependent mitotic checkpoint as Danusertib treatment of cells with defective p53 resulted frequently in progression through the cell cycle after failed cytokinesis and accumulation of cells with >4 N DNA. In comparison, cells with wildtype p53 underwent a growth arrest with less tetraploidy observed (Carpinelli et al. 2007).

The efficacy of Aurora kinase inhibition can be monitored by evaluation of changes in Aurora A auto-phosphorylation or in phosphorylation of histone H3. During mitosis, the latter protein is phosphorylated by Aurora B at Serine 10, an event that probably helps to drive mitotic chromatin condensation (Zeitlin et al. 2001; Gurley et al. 1978). As expected, cells treated with Danusertib show decreased autophosphorylation of Aurora A and reduced phosphorylation of histone H3-Ser10, suggesting an effective inhibition of both targets (Carpinelli et al. 2007; Gontarewicz et al. 2008) (Fig. 14.2).

In the biochemical assays testing the inhibitory effects of Danusertib on the kinase activity of Ret and Trk-A, both kinases were effectively inhibited at low-micromolar concentrations.





P-CrkL(log FL1)

Fig. 14.2 Danusertib acts in BCR-ABL positive cells via combined inhibition of Aurora and Bcr-Abl kinases. a-b Danusertib reduces phosphorylation of Aurora B target histone H3. K562 cells were exposed to 5 μ M Danusertib for 2 h and flow cytometric analysis of cells double stained with specific phospho-H3(Ser10) antibody and propidium iodide (DNA content) was performed. The gates indicate phospho-H3(Ser10) positive cells in untreated control cells (**a**) or cells exposed to Danusertib (**b**). c-dDanusertib treatment reduces phosphorylation of CrkL, a well-known target of Bcr-Abl kinase. Murine wild-type BaF3-p210 (c) and IM-resistant BaF3-T315I mutant (d) cells were treated with 5μ M of Danusertib for 24 h. The intracellular flow cytometry analysis of CrkL-phosphorylation status revealed that in comparison with untreated control cells (*green lines*) treatment with Danusertib results in strong inhibition of P-CrkL (*yellow lines*), independently of *BCR-ABL* mutational status. "This research was originally published in *Blood*. Gontarewicz et al. 2008. [©]The American Society of Hematology"

14

Furthermore, Danusertib selectively inhibits FGF-dependent activation of MAPK pathway, without having such effects on MAPK activation due to EGF stimulation (Carpinelli et al. 2007). The inhibitory influence of the Danusertib on Bcr-Abl kinase was assessed in CML cell line K562. The treatment with this compound produced distinct inhibition of c-Abl auto-phosphorylation and pronounced inhibition of phosphorylation of CrkL and Stat5, well-known downstream targets of oncogenic Bcr-Abl. Furthermore, strong inhibition of CrkL phosphorylation was observed in murine BaF3 cells transduced with wild-type or mutated Bcr-Abl, including the T315I mutation (Gontarewicz et al. 2008) (Fig.14.2).

In vivo, the antitumor activity of Danusertib was evaluated in several solid human tumor xenograft models, clearly showing tumor growth inhibition, which was sustained after discontinuation of treatment (Gautschi et al. 2008; Carpinelli et al. 2007).

The results of the first two Phase I dose escalation studies have been recently presented (De Jonge 2006; Steeghs et al. in press; Cohen et al. in press). In one of them, a 6-h i.v. infusion on day 1, 8, and 15 in a 4-week cycle were administered to the patients with advanced, pretreated solid tumors. The main DLT observed was grade 3-4 neutropenia. No significant objective tumor regressions were observed but 8 of 40 patients achieved disease stabilization for at least 4 months. Monitoring of target inhibition through analysis of histone H3-Ser10 phosphorylation level in skin biopsies taken before and after therapy revealed expected dephosphorylation in eight of nine cases tested. The second study tested a 24-h infusion in a 2-week cycle. As in the previous one, principal DLT was grade 3-4 neutropenia. Additionally, mild, non-hematologic toxicities like fatigue, pyrexia, and diarrhea were observed. Again, 11 of 40 patients showed disease stabilization with no objective tumor remissions, although it is worth to note that in one case of ovarian cancer approx. thirty percent tumor reduction was observed.

Post-therapy skin biopsies showed decreased level of histone H3-Ser10 phosphorylation in four of five cases tested. The recommended dose for Phase II was established at 500 mg/m² without granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (GCSF) support, whereas further dose escalation regimen with filgastrim coadministration have been tested in a few patients.

As already mentioned, Danusertib has strong inhibitory effects on Abl kinase and several of its mutants, including all second-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors resistant T315I mutant. In vitro studies using CD34+ cells from CML patients at different stages of disease, including those with T315I mutation, revealed time- and dose-dependent inhibition of cell proliferation upon exposure to Danusertib (Fig. 14.3).

Moreover, a significant loss of viability due to apoptosis was observed in Danusertib treated primary CD34+ cells, at least in part caused by inhibition of Bcr-Abl kinase activity as shown by pronounced dephosphorylation of CrkL (Gontarewicz et al. 2008).

The analysis of the crystal structure of T315I-Abl in complex with Danusertib revealed the compound's binding to the active conformation of the mutant kinase in a mode that accommodates the substitution at the "gatekeeper" position 315 (Modugno et al. 2007) (Fig. 14.4).

For the ongoing multicenter Phase II study, seven CML patients at different stages of disease have been enrolled who failed previous therapy with tyrosine kinase inhibitors: one in chronic phase (CP), one in acceleration phase (AP), and five in blast crisis (BC). Among them, six carried the T315I mutation. The compound was administered at two dose levels, 250 or 330 mg/m²/day, as a weekly 6-h infusion for 3 consecutive weeks, every 4 weeks (Paquette et al. 2007). Two patients with T315I mutation achieved a complete hematologic response. The first patient, diagnosed in AP, had also a CCyR durable after >6 months, and a complete molecular response on the 330 mg/m2dose level. The second one was diagnosed in CP and achieved a minor CyR also on the 330 mg/m² dose level.

Fig. 14.3 Exposure to Danusertib leads to growth inhibition of CML progenitor cells with T3151 BCR-ABL mutation. CD34+ cells from a patient diagnosed in IM-resistant CML-BC with a confirmed T315I mutation were exposed to the indicated concentrations of Danusertib (a) or IM (b) for 9 days in SFM supplemented with growth factors. Cell proliferation was assessed at day 3 (black bars), day 6 (gray bars), and

The Cmax at the effective dose of 330 mg/m²/ day was 4–6 μ mol/L/h. All patients tolerated well the Danusertib treatment, with only one who had grade 4 neutropenia and an infusionrelated reaction (Paquette et al. 2007).

Thus, the in vitro and in vivo data clearly show that simultaneous targeting of wild-type or mutant Bcr-Abl and Aurora kinases by Danusertib represents a promising new treatment strategy for patients suffering from relapsed/refractory CML, particularly for those harboring the highly resistant T315I mutation.

14.6 Conclusion

Since their discovery, Aurora kinases have changed from almost unknown enzymes involved in the cell cycle regulation to novel, very promising targets of anticancer therapy. Our understanding of their biological properties

day 9 (*white bars*). Bar graphs represent the mean % of cellular expansion±S.D. in relation to untreated control cells. The antiproliferative effects of Danusertib on CD34+ cells were found to be largely unaffected by the T315I *BCR-ABL* mutation. "This research was originally published in *Blood*. Gontarewicz et al. 2008. [©]The American Society of Hematology"

and functions in normal and neoplastic cells though still incomplete - has provided a basis for development of a new class of targeted anticancer drugs. The ongoing clinical trials are trying to find answers for many questions: inhibition of which member(s) of the Aurora kinase family is required for sustained tumor responses and an optimal therapeutic window? What is the optimal dosing schedule? Which biological marker can predict treatment response? What combination partners are most promising (other molecular targeted agents aiming crucial cellular rescue pathways, conventional antimitotic chemotherapeutic drugs, angiogenesis inhibitors a.o.). Although still a long way to go, choices of combination treatment in the future will hopefully be made based on individualized molecular profiling of tumors leading to the identification of the most promising target(s) to aim for resulting in the choice of the best compounds to combine with on an individual patient-specific basis.







Fig. 14.4 Structure of Abl-T315I-Danusertib complex. (a) Ribbon representation of the structure of T315I-Abl mutant with Danusertib. The mutated gatekeeper residue Ile³¹⁵ and the activation loop with the phosphorylated residue Tyr³⁹³ are highlighted in *green*. (b) Close-up view of the binding site of Danusertib showing the final 2Fo-Fc electron density map, contoured at one, associated

Acknowledgment We thank Jürgen Moll from Nerviano Medical Sciences for critical reading of the manuscript.

References

Adams RR, Carmena M, Earnshaw WC (2001a) Chromosomal passengers and the (Aurora) ABCs of mitosis. Trends Cell Biol 11:49–54 with the ligand. (c) Chemical formula of Danusertib. (d) Comparison of Danusertib complexes with the Aurora A structure. Details of the binding of Danusertib to Abl (*green carbon atoms*) and to Aurora A (*yellow carbon atoms*) showing the residues of the hinge region. Published with permission from the AACR Publications Department: Modugno et al. 2007

- Adams RR, Eckley DM, Vagnarelli P, Wheatley SP, GerloffDL, Mackay AM, Svingen PA, Kaufmann SH, Earnshaw WC (2001b) Human INCENP colocalizes with the Aurora-B/AIRK2 kinase on chromosomes and is overexpressed in tumour cells. Chromosoma 110:65–74
- Bernard M, Sanseau P, Henry C, Couturier A, Prigent C (1998) Cloning of STK13, a third human protein kinase related to Drosophila aurora and budding yeast Ipl1 that maps on chromosome 19q13.3-ter. Genomics 53:406–409

- Bischoff JR, Anderson L, Zhu Y, Mossie K, Ng L, Souza B, Schryver B, Flanagan P, Clairvoyant F, Günther C, Chan CS, Novotny M, Slamon DJ, Plowman GD (1998) A homologue of *Drosophila* aurora kinase is oncogenic and amplified in human colorectal cancers. EMBO J 17: 3052–3065
- Bongarzone I, Vigneri P, Mariani L, Collini P, Pilotti S, Pierotti MA (1998) RET/NTRK1 rearrangements in thyroid gland tumors of the papillary carcinoma family: correlation with clinicopathological features. Clin Cancer Res 4:223–228
- Boss D, Beijnen JH, Schellens JH (2009) Clinical Experience with Aurora Kinase Inhibitors: A Review. Oncologist 14: 780–793
- Carmena M, Earnshaw WC (2003) The cellular geography of aurora kinases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4:842–854
- Carpinelli P, Ceruti R, Giorgini ML, Cappella P, Gianellini L, Croci V, Degrassi A, Texido G, Rocchetti M, Vianello P, Rusconi L, Storici P, Zugnoni P, Arrigoni C, Marsiglio A, Ballinari D, Pesenti E, Fancelli D, Moll J (2007) Danusertib, a potent inhibitor of aurora kinases with a selective target inhibition profile relevant to cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 6:3158–3168
- Carpinelli P, Moll J (2007) Aurora kinases and their inhibitors: more than one target and one drug. Adv Exp Med Biol 610:54–73
- Castro A, Arlot-Bonnemains Y, Vigneron S, Labbe JC, Prigent C, Lorca T (2002a) APC/Fizzy-related targets Aurora A kinase for proteolysis. EMBO Rep 3:457–462
- Castro A, Vigneron S, Bernis C, Labbe JC, Prigent C, Lorca T (2002b) The D-Box-activating domain (DAD) is a new proteolysis signal that stimulates the silent D-Box sequence of Aurora A. EMBO Rep 3:1209–1214
- Cheetam GMT, Knegtel RMA, Coll JT, Renwick SB, Swenson L, Weber P, Lippke JA, Austen DA (2000) Crystal structure of Aurora-2, an oncogenic serine/threonine kinase. J Biol Chem 277: 42419–42422
- Chieffi P, Cozzolino L, Kisslinger A, Libertini S, Staibano S, Mansueto G, De Rosa G, Vilacci A, Vitale M, Linardopoulos S, Portella G, Tramontano D (2006) Aurora B expression directly correlates with prostate cancer malignancy and influences prostate cell proliferation. Prostate 66:326–333
- Cohen RB, Jones SF, Aggarwal C, von Mehren M, Cheng J, Spigel DR, Greco FA, Mariani M, Rocchetti M, Ceruti R, Comis S, Laffranchi B, Moll J, Burris HA (2009) A Phase I Dose-

Escalation Study of Danusertib (PHA-739358) Administered as a 24-hour Infusion With and Without G-CSF in a 14-day Cycle in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors. Clin Cancer Res.; in press

- Cortes J, Roboz GJ, Kantarjian H, Feldman E, Karp J, Pollack A, Sandy K, Rao N, Akinaga S, Levis M (2007) A phase I dose escalation study of KW-2449, an oral multikinase inhibitor against FLT3, ABL, FGFR1, and Aurora in patients with relapsed/ refractory AML, treatment resistant/intolerant CML, ALL, MDS. Blood 110:abstr. 909
- De Jonge M (2006) A phase I dose-escalation study of Danusertib administered as a 6-hour infusion on days 1, 8, and 15 every 4 weeks in patients with advanced/metastatic solid tumors. VIII Congress of the Italian Association of Medical Oncology (IAOM), Milan, Italy
- Dewar H, Tanaka K, Nasmyth K, Tanaka TU (2004) Tension between two kinetochores siffices for their biorientation on the mitotic spindle. Nature 428:93–97
- DiCioccio RA, Song H, Waterfall C, Kimura MT, Nagase H, McGuire V, Hogdall E, Shah MN, Luben RN, Easton DF, Jacobs IJ, Ponder BAJ, Whittemore AS, Gayther SA, Pharoah PDP, Kruger-Kjaer S (2004) STK15 polymorphisms and association with risk of invasive ovarian cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 13: 1589–1594
- Dionne CA, Camoratto AM, Jani JP, Emerson E, Neff N, Vaught JL, Murakata C, Djakiew D, Lamb J, Bova S, George D, Isaacs JT (1998) Cell cycle-independent death of prostate adenocarcinoma is induced by the trk tyrosine kinase inhibitor CEP-751 (KT6587). Clin Cancer Res 4:1887–1898
- Ditchfield C, Johnson VL, Tighe A, Ellston R, Haworth C, Johnson T, Mortlock A, Keen N, Taylor SS (2003) Aurora B couples chromosome alingment with anaphase by targeting BubR1, Mad2, and Cenp-E to kinetochores. J Cell Biol 161:267–280
- Egan KM, Newcomb PA, Ambrosone CB, Trentham-Dietz A, Titus-Ernstoff L, Hampton JM, Kimura MT, Nagase H (2004) STK15 polymorphism and breast cancer risk in a populationbased study. Carcinogenesis 25:2149–2153
- Ewart-Toland A, Briassouli P, de Koning JP, Mao JH, Yuan J, Chan F, MacCarthy-Morrogh L, Ponder BA, Nagase H, Burn J, Ball S, Almeida M, Linardopoulos S, Balmain A (2003) Identification of Stk6/STK15 as a candidate

low-penetrance tumor-susceptibility gene in mouse and human. Nat Genet 34:403–412

- Fu J, Bian M, Jiang Q, Zhang C (2007) Roles of aurora kinases in mitosis and tumorigenesis. Mol Cancer Res 5:1–10
- Galvin KM, Huck J, Burenkova O, Burke K, Bowman D, Shinde V, Stringer B, Zhang M, Manfredi M, Meetze K (2006) Preclinical pharmacodynamic studies of Aurora-A inhibition by MLN8054. J Clin Oncol 24(20 Suppl): 13059
- Gautschi O, Heighway J, Mack PC, Purnell PR, Lara PN, Gandara DR (2008) Aurora Kinases as Anticancer Drug Targets. Clin Cancer Res 14: 1639–1648
- Giet R, Glover DM (2001) Drosophila aurora B kinase is required for histone H3 phosphorylation and condensin recruitment during chromosome condensation and to organize the central spindle during cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 152: 669–682
- Giet R, Prigent C (1999) Aurora/Ipl 1p-related kinases, a new oncogenic family of mitotic serine-threonine kinases. J Cell Sci 112:3591–3601
- Giles FJ, Cortes J, Jones D, Bergstrom D, Kantarjian H, Freedman SJ (2007) MK-0457, a novel kinase inhibitor, is active in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia or acute lymphocytic leukemia with the T315I BCR-ABL mutation. Blood 109: 500–502
- Glover DM, Leibowitz MH, McLean DA, Parry H (1995) Mutations in aurora prevent centrosome separation leading to the formation of monopolar spindles. Cell 81:95–105
- Gontarewicz A, Balabanov S, Keller G, Colombo R, Graziano A, Pesenti E, Benten D, Bokemeyer C, Fiedler W, Moll J, Brümmendorf TH (2008) Simultaneous targeting of Aurora kinases and Bcr-Abl kinase by the small molecule inhibitor Danusertib is effective against imatinib-resistant BCR-ABL mutations including T315I. Blood 111:4355–4364
- Greenman C, Stephens P, Smith R, Dalgliesh GL, Hunter C, Bignell G, Davies H, Teague J, Butler A, Stevens C, Edkins S, O'Meara S, Vastrik I, Schmidt EE, Avis T, Barthorpe S, Bhamra G, Buck G, Choudhury B, Clements J, Cole J, Dicks E, Forbes S, Gray K, Halliday K, Harrison R, Hills K, Hinton J, Jenkinson A, Jones D, Menzies A, Mironenko T, Perry J, Raine K, Richardson D, Shepherd R, Small A, Tofts C, Varian J, Webb T, West S, Widaa S, Yates A, Cahill DP, Louis DN, Goldstraw P, Nicholson AG, Brasseur F, Looijenga L, Weber BL, Chiew YE, DeFazio A, Greaves

MF, Green AR, Campbell P, Birney E, Easton DF, Chenevix-Trench G, Tan MH, Khoo SK, Teh BT, Yuen ST, Leung SY, Wooster R, Futreal PA, Stratton MR (2007) Patterns of somatic mutation in human cancer genomes. Nature 446:153–158

- Gritsko TM, Coppola D, Paciga JE, Yang L, Sun M, Shelley SA, Fiorica JV, Nicosia SV, Cheng JQ (2003) activation and over-expression of centrosome kinase BTAK/Aurora-A in human ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res 9:1420–1426
- Gurley LR, D'Anna JA, Barham SS, Deaven LL, Tobey RA (1978) Histone phosphorylation and chromatin structure during mitosis in Chinese hamster cells. Eur J Biochem 84:1–15
- Hampton T (2007) New blood cancer therapies under study. JAMA 297:457–458
- Han H, Bearss DJ, Browne LW, Calaluce R, Nagle RB, Von Hoff DD (2002) Identification of differentially expressed genes in pancreatic cancer cells using cDNA microarray. Cancer Res 62: 2890–2896
- Harrington EA, Bebbington D, Moore J, Rasmussen RK, Ajose-Adeogun AO, Nakayam T, Graham JA, Demur C, Hercend T, Diu-Hercend A, Su M, Golec JM, Miller KM (2004) VX-680, a potent and selective small-molecule inhibitor of the aurora kinases, suppresses tumor growth in vivo. Nat Med 10:262–267
- Hauf S, Cole RW, LaTerra S, Zimmer C, Schnapp G, Walter R, Heckel A, van Meel J, Rieder CL, Peters JM (2003) The small molecule Hesperadin reveals a role for aurora B in correcting kinetochore-microtubule attachment and in maintaining the spindle assembly checkpoint. J Cell Biol 161:281–294
- Hu HM, Chuang CK, Lee MJ, Tseng TC, Tang TK (2000) Genomic organization, expression, and chromosome localization of a third aurora-related kinase gene, Aie1. DNA Cell Biol 19: 679–688
- Hsu JY, Sun ZW, Li X, Reuben M, Tatchell K, Bishop DK, Grushcow JM, Brame CJ, Caldwell JA, Hunt DF, Lin R, Smith MM, Allis CD (2000) Mitotic phosphorylation of histone H3 is governed by Ipl1/aurora kinase and Glc7/PP1 phosphatase in budding yeast and nematodes. Cell 102:279–291
- Jeng YM, Peng SY, Lin CY, Hsu HC (2004) Overexpression and amplification of Aurora-A in hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 10: 2065–2071
- Jiang N, Wang X, Yang Y, Dai W (2006) Advances in mitotic inhibitors for cancer treatment. Mini Rev Med Chem 6:885–895
- Jones SF, Cohen RB, Dees EC, Lee Y, Papas JA, Cooper MR, Galvin KM, Burris HA (2007) Phase I clinical trial of MLN8054, a selective inhibitor of aurora A kinase. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol Annu Meet 25:3577
- Ju H, Cho H, Kim YS, Kim WH, Ihm C, Noh SM, Kim JB, Hahn DS, Choi BY, Kang C (2006) Functional polymorphism 57 Val>lle of aurora kinase A associated with increased risk of gastric cancer progression. Cancer Lett 242: 273–279
- Katayama H, Ota T, Jisaki F, Ueda Y, Tanaka T, Odashima S, Suzuki F, Terada Y, Tatsuka M (1999) Mitotic kinase expression and colorectal cancer progression. J Natl Cancer Inst 91: 1160–1162
- Keen N, Taylor S (2009) Mitotic drivers-inhibitors of the Aurora B Kinase. Cancer Metastasis Rev 28: 185–195
- Kimura M, Matsuda Y, Yoshioka T, Okano Y (1999) Cell cycle-dependent expression and centrosome localization of a third human aurora/Ipl 1-related protein kinase, AIK3. J Biol Chem 274:7334–7340
- Kimura M, Matsuda Y, Yoshioka T, Sumi N, Okano Y (1998) Identification and characterization of STK12/Aik2: a human gene related to aurora of Drosophila and yeast IPL1. Cytogenet Cell Genet 82:147–152
- Kimura MT, Mori T, Conroy J, Nowak NJ, Satomi S, Tamai K, Nagase H (2005) Two functional coding single nucleotide polymorphisms in STK15 (aurora-A) coordinately increase esophageal cancer risk. Cancer Res 65:3548–3554
- Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B (1998) Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature 396: 643–649
- Li D, Zhu J, Firozi PF, Abbruzzese JL, Evans DB, Cleary K, Friess H, Sen S (2003) Over-expression of oncogenic STK15/BTAK/Aurora A kinase in human pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 9: 991–997
- Littlepage LE, Wu H, Andresson T, Deanehan JK, Amundadottir LT, Ruderman JV (2002) Identification of phosphorylated residues that affect the activity of the mitotic kinase Aurora-A. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:15440–15445
- Lugo TG, Pendergast AM, Muller AJ, Witte ON (1990) Tyrosine kinase activity and transformation potency of bcr-abl oncogene products. Science 247:1079–1082
- Manfredi MG, Ecsedy JA, Meetze KA, Balani SK, Burenkova O, Chen W, Galvin KM, Hoar KM, Huck JJ, Leroy PJ, Ray ET, Sells TB, Stringer B,

Stroud SG, Vos TJ, Weatherhead GS, Wysong DR, Zhang M, Bolen JB, Claiborne CF (2007) Antitumor activity of MLN8054, an orally active small-molecule inhibitor of Aurora-A kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:4106–4111

- Marumoto T, Hirota T, Morisaki T, Kunitoku N, Zhang D, Ichikawa Y, Sasayama T, Kuninaka S, Mimori T, Tamaki N, Kimura M, Okano Y, Saya H (2002) G2 checkpoint in mammalian cells. Genes Cells 7:1173–1182
- Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA (2002) Aurora-A overexpression reveals tetraploidization as a major route to centrosome amplification in p53 -/- cells. EMBO J 21:483–492
- Miao X, Sun T, Wang Y, Zhang X, Tan W, Lin D (2004) Functional STK15 Phe31Ile polymorphism is associated with the occurrence and advanced disease status of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res 64:2680–2683
- Modugno M, Casale E, Soncini C, Rosettani P, Colombo R, Lupi R, Rusconi L, Fancelli D, Carpinelli P, Cameron AD, Isacchi A, Moll J (2007) Crystal structure of the T315I Abl mutant in complex with the aurora kinases inhibitor Danusertib. Cancer Res 67:7987–7990
- Monier K, Mouradian S, Sullivan KF (2007) DNA methylation promotes aurora-B -driven phosphorylation of histone H3 in chromosomal subdomains. J Cell Sci 120:101–114
- Neben K, Korshunov A, Benner A, Wrobel G, Hahn M, Kokocinski F, Golanov A, Joos S, Lichter P (2004) Microarray-based screening for molecular markers in medulloblastoma revealed STK15 as independent predictor for survival. Cancer Res 64:3103–3111
- Nigg EA (2001) Mitotic kinases as regulators of cell division and its checkpoints. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2:21–32
- Ohi R, Sapra T, Howard J, Mitchison TJ (2004) Differentiation of cytoplasmatic and meiotic spindle assembly MCAK functions by Aurora B-dependent phosphorylation. Mol Biol Cell 15: 2895–2906
- Ota T, Suto S, Katayama H, Han ZB, Suzuki F, Maeda M, Tanino M, Terada Y, Tatsuka M (2002) Increased mitotic phosphorylation of histone H3 attributable to AIM-1/Aurora-B overexpression contributes to chromosome number instability. Cancer Res 62:5168–5177
- Paquette R, Shah NP, Sawyers CL, Martinelli G, John N, Chalukya M, Rocchetti M, Fiocchi C,

Comis S, Capolongo L, Laffranchi B (2007) Danusertib , an Aurora kinase inhibitor, induces clinical responses in chronic myeloid leukemia harboring T315I mutations of BCR-ABL. Blood 110:abstr. 1030

- Propp S, Lizzi FA (1970) Philadelphia chromosome in acute lymhocytic leukemia. Blood 36: 353–360
- Ravandi F, Foran J, Verstovsek S, Cortes J, Wierda W, Boone P, Borthakur G, Sweeney T, Kantarjian H (2007) A phase I trial of AT9283, a multitargeted kinase inhibitor, in patients with refractory hematological malignancies. Blood 110:abstr. 904
- Rubin EH, Shapiro GI, Stein MN, Watson P, Bergstrom D, Xiao A, Clark JB, Freedman SJ, Eder JP (2006) A phase I clinical and pharmacokinetic (PK) trial of the aurora kinase (AK) inhibitor MK-0457 in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 24:abstr. 3009
- Sasai K, Katayama H, Stenoien DL, Fujii S, Honda R, Kimura M, Okano Y, Tatsuka M, Suzuki F, Nigg EA, Earnshaw WC, Brinkley WR, Sen S (2004) Aurora C kinase is a novel chromosomal passenger protein that can complement Aurora B kinase function in mitotic cells. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 59:249–263
- Schellens JH, Boss D, Witteveen PO, Zandvliet A, Beijnen JH, Voogel-Fuchs M, Morris C, Wilson D, Voest EE (2006) Phase I and pharmacological study of the novel aurora kinase inhibitor AZD1152. J Clin Oncol 24(20 Suppl):3008
- Schmidt M, Bastians H (2007) Mitotic drug targets and the development of novel anti-mitotic anticancer drugs. Drug Resist Updat 10:162–181
- Sen S, Zhou H, White RA (1997) A putative serine/ threonine kinase encoding gene BTAK on chromosome 20q13 is amplified and overexpressed in human breast cancer cell lines. Oncogene 14: 2195–2200
- Sen S, Zhou H, Zhang RD, Yoon DS, Vakar-Lopez F, Ito S, Jiang F, Johnston D, Grossman HB, Ruifrok AC, Katz RL, Brinkley W, Czerniak B (2002) Amplification/overexpression of a mitotic kinase gene in human bladder cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 94:1320–1329
- Shah NP, Kasap C, Paquette R, Cortes J, Pinilla J, Talpaz M, Bui LA, Clary DO (2007) Targeting drug-resistant CML and Ph+ ALL with the spectrum selective protein kinase inhibitor XL228. Blood 110:abstr. 474
- Sjoblom T, Jones S, Wood LD, Parsons DW, Lin J, Barber TD, Mandelker D, Leary RJ, Ptak J, Silliman N, Szabo S, Buckhaults P, Farell C, Meeh P,

Markowitz SD, Willis J, dawson D, Willson JK, Gazdar AF, Hartigan J, Wu L, Liu C, Parmigiani G, Park BH, Bachman KE, Papadopoulos N, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, Velculescu VE (2006) The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers. Science 314:268–274

- Smith SL, Bowers NL, Betticher DC, Gautschi O, Ratschiller D, Hoban PR, Booton R, Santibanez-Koref MF, Heighway J (2005) Overexpression of aurora B kinase (AURKB) in primary nonsmall cell lung carcinoma is frequent, generally driven from one allele, and correlates with the level of genetic instability. Br J Cancer 93: 719–729
- Sorrentino R, Libertini S, Pallante PL, Troncone G, Palombini L, Bavetsias V, Spalletti-Cernia D, Laccetti P, Linardopoulos S, Chieffi P, Fusco A, Portell G (2004) Aurora B overexpression associates with the thyroid carcinoma undifferentiated phenotype and is required for thyroid carcinoma cell proliferation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:928–935
- Steeghs N, Eskens F, Gelderblom H, Verweij J, Nortier J, Ouwerkerk J, van Noort C, Mariani M, Spinelli R, Carpinelli P, Laffranchi B, de Jonge M (2009) A Phase I Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Study of the Aurora Kinase Inhibitor PHA-739358 in Patients with Advanced or Metastatic Solid Tumors. J Clin Oncol; in press
- Takahashi T, Futamura M, Yoshimi N, Sano J, Katada M, Takagi Y, Kimura M, Yoshioka T, Okano Y, Saji S (2000) Centrosomal kinases, HsAIRK1 and HsAIRK3, are overexpressed in primary colorectal cancers. Jpn J Cancer Res 91: 1007–1014
- Tanaka T, Kimura M, Matsunaga K, Fukada D, Mori H, Okano Y (1999) Centrosomal kinase AIK1 is overexpressed in invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast. Cancer Res 59:2041–2044
- Tanner MM, Grenman S, Koul A, Johannsson O, Meltzer P, Pejovic T, Borg A, Isola JJ (2000) Frequent amplification of chromosomal region 20q12–q13 in ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res 6: 1833–1839
- Tatsuka M, Katayama H, Ota T, Tanaka T, Odashima S, Suzuki F, Terada Y (1998) Multinuclearity and increased ploidy caused by overexpression of the aurora- and lpl1-like midbody-associated protein kinase in human cancer cells. Cancer Res 58:4811–4816

- Tsai MY, Wiese C, Cao K, Martin O, Donovan P, Ruderman J, Prigent C, Zheng Y (2003) A Ran signalling pathway mediated by the mitotic kinase Aurora A in spindle assembly. Nat Cell Biol 5:242–248
 - Vader G, Medema RH, Lens SM (2006) The chromosomal passenger complex: guiding aurora-B through mitosis. J Cell Biol 173:833–837
 - Wang X, Zhou YX, Qiao W, Tominaga Y, Ouchi M, Ouchi T, Deng CX (2006) Overexpression of aurora kinase A in mouse mammary epithelium induces genetic instability preceding mammary tumor formation. Oncogene 25: 7148–7158
 - Warner SL, Bearss DJ, Han H, Von Hoff DD (2003) Targeting Aurora-2 kinase in cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 2:589–595
 - Young MA, Shah NP, Chao LH, Seeliger M, Milanov ZV, Biggs WH III, Treiber DK, Patel

HK, Zarrinkar PP, Lockhart DJ, Sawyers CL, Kuriyan J (2006) Structure of the kinase domain of an imatinib-resistant Abl mutant in complex with the Aurora kinase inhibitor VX-680. Cancer Res 66:1007–1014

- Zeitlin SG, Shelby RD, Sullivan KF (2001) CENP-A is phosphorylated by Aurora B kinase and plays an unexpected role in completion of cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 155:1147–1157
- Zhang W (2006) Inhibition of the drug-resistant T315I mutant of *BCR-ABL*. Eur J Cancer Suppl 4:54
- Zhou H, Kuang J, Zhong L, Kuo WL, Gray JW, Sahin A, Brinkley BR, Sen S (1998) Tumour amplified kinase STK15/BTAK induces centrosome amplification, aneuploidy and transformation. Nat Genet 20:189–193

BI_2536 - Targeting the Mitotic Kinase Polo-Like Kinase 1 (Plk1)

15

R. Wäsch, J. Hasskarl, D. Schnerch, and M. Lübbert

Abstract Human Polo-like kinase 1 (Plk1) is an essential regulator of mitotic progression. Targeted inhibition of this kinase was effective in killing tumor cells in vitro and in vivo. The Plk1 inhibitor BI_2536 was well tolerated and showed antitumor activity in the first clinical trials enrolling patients with advanced solid tumors and refractory or relapsed acute myeloid leukemia.

15.1 Introduction

The cell division cycle is responsible for duplication of the genetic material and equal distribution to the developing daughter cells. Deregulation of the cell division cycle can lead to unrestrained proliferation and accumulation of genetic defects contributing to cancerogenesis. Chromosome duplication and segregation occur in distinct cellcycle phases. In the G1 phase the cell prepares for DNA replication, which takes place in the

R. Wäsch (🖂)

Freiburg University Medical Center Department of Hematology and Oncology, Hugstetterstraße 55 79106 Freiburg, Germany e-mail: ralph.waesch@uniklinik-freiburg.de subsequent S phase. In G2 replication errors can be repaired before the cell enters mitosis, where chromosome separation and cytokinesis takes place. In the following G1 phase the cell can either differentiate or enter a new cell cycle. Checkpoints control accurate DNA replication and chromosome separation. DNA damage can activate a checkpoint in the G1 or G2 phase leading to cell cycle arrest and repair of the damaged DNA. The spindle assembly checkpoint controls the correct attachment of the mitotic spindle to the chromosomes to avoid missegregation and aneuploidy. The cell division cycle is regulated by different kinases with the cyclin-dependentkinases (Cdks) as key enzymes, which are periodically activated by cyclins. The periodic activity is necessary to ensure that Cdks are only active when needed warranting unidirectional cell cycle progression. The periodic cyclin activity is mainly regulated by ordered protein synthesis and degradation. In G1 extracellular signals stimulate cyclin D expression and cyclin D-Cdk complexes phosphorylate the retinoblastoma protein (pRb). This leads to the liberation of E2F transcription factors and expression of other cyclins, such as cyclins E and A and subsequent activation of cyclin B responsible to drive S phase and mitosis. After they have performed their tasks targeted proteolysis of cyclins and other cell cycle regulators by the ubiquitin-proteasome system is required to irreversibly inactivate these



15

216



Fig. 15.1 Polo-like kinase 1 (Plk1) is a central regulator of cell division in human cells. Plk1 is important for accurate timing of mitotic entry. In prophase, Plk1 associates with centrosomes to promote mitotic spindle maturation to guarantee the assembly of bipolar spindles. In prometaphase, Plk1 accumulates at the central spindle suggesting a role in the formation of stable microtubule-kinetochore attachments

proteins, thereby ensuring for example that the DNA is only duplicated once per cell cycle. Other important regulators are the mitotic kinase families Aurora and Polo-like kinases (Plk) (Morgan 2007; Archambault and Glover 2009). The first identified Plk family member was Polo in Drosophila melanogaster(Sunkel and Glover 1988). Subsequently, it has been shown that this mitotic kinase familiy is highly conserved throughout eukaryotes with four family members Plk1-4 in mammalian cells (van de Weerdt and Medema 2006). Plk1 is the best characterized member of the human Plk family. It is a serine/ threonine kinase and controls several steps during the progression of cells through mitosis. It is important for entry into mitosis, centrosome sepato ensure proper sister chromatid separation. In late mitosis, Plk1 is targeted to the spindle midzone to contribute to the formation of the contractile ring mediating the onset of cytokinesis. The small molecule inhibitor BI_2536 interferes with the catalytic action of this multifunctional mitotic kinase by blocking the ATP-binding site leading to cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in malignant cells

ration, and maturation in order to build a bipolar mitotic spindle, metaphase to anaphase transition, mitotic exit, and the onset of cytokinesis (Petronczki et al. 2008). The ordered progression through mitosis is essential to maintain genomic stability and may be deregulated by aberrant Plk1 expression (Engelbert et al. 2008; Garcia-Higuera et al. 2008; Wäsch and Engelbert 2005). Plk1 is transcriptionally regulated in the cell cycle with the highest activity in G2 and M (mitosis) phase (Uchiumi et al. 1997). At the end of mitosis and during G1, Plk1 is inactivated by proteasomal degradation mediated by the E3-ubiquitin-ligase anaphase-promoting complex or cyclosome (APC/C) (Engelbert et al. 2008; Garcia-Higuera et al. 2008). Overexpression of Plk1 can be found in various human cancers and has prognostic value providing a rationale for its inhibition as a novel and promising therapeutic approach (Strebhardt and Ullrich 2006) (Fig. 15.1).

15.2 Structure and Mechanism of Action

The small molecule inhibitor BI 2536 is a dihydropteridinone derivative and inhibits the enzymatic activity of Plk1 by blocking the ATPbinding site. This compound is highly specific and at least 1,000-fold more selective against Plk1 when compared with a large panel of other tyrosine and serine/threonine kinases (Steegmaier et al. 2007). Inhibition of Plk1 with the small molecule BI 2536 leads to a cell cycle arrest in prometaphase often with abnormal mitotic spindles and subsequent apoptosis of several cancer cell lines including colorectal carcinoma, nonsmall cell lung cancer, acute myeloid leukemia (AML), and B cell lymphoma. Moreover, BI 2536 is able to significantly delay growth of various xenografted human tumors in nude mice (Lenart et al. 2007; Steegmaier et al. 2007).

15.3 Clinical Data

In a Phase I dose escalating and pharmacokinetic study, 40 patients with advanced solid tumors were treated with a median number of three treatment courses. Neutropenia was the predominant dose-limiting toxicity (DLT) and the most frequent adverse event (grade 3–4; 56%). Nausea (52%), fatigue (52%), and anorexia (44%) were also common. The maximum tolerated dose (MTD) was 200 mg. One patient with squamous cell head and neck cancer experienced a transient partial response (PR), and 42% of patients had stable disease (SD) as the best response, which lasted in 23% of patients for 3 months or more (Mross et al. 2008).

BI 2536 was also investigated in lung cancer. BI 2536 can effectively inhibit growth of the human NSCLC cell lines NCI-H460, NCI-H520TC, Calu-6, and A549 in vitro and in vivo in a nude mouse model (Baum et al. 2007). A phase I trial used pemetrexed (500 mg/m²) in combination with escalating doses of BI 2536 (given d1 q3 weeks) in a standard 3+3 trial design. The primary objective was to determine the MTD of BI 2536 in combination with pemetrexed (Ellis et al. 2008). The secondary endpoints were response rate (RR), overall safety, and PK. Patients not progressing after 6 cycles of combination therapy were eligible to continue BI 2536 maintenance until progression. MTD was defined at 300 mg BI 2536. Two of 22 patients (6%) achieved PRs (Ellis et al. 2008). Although interpreted as encouraging, this antitumor effect might be attributable to pemetrexed and not BI2356. Another phase II trial in patients with relapsed advanced or metastatic NSCLC has recently been presented at ASCO 2008 (Von Pawel et al. 2008). This trial used two dosing schedules of BI2356 (200 mg d1 or 50 mg/60 mg d1-3). The primary endpoint was objective response; the secondary endpoints were progression-free (PFS) and overall survival (OS). PFS was 58 days (95% CI: 48-85), and OS was 189 days (95% CI: 176-304). Four patients (4.2%) showed an objective response (Von Pawel et al. 2008). One phase II trial (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00412880) evaluated the role of BI2356 in second-line monotherapy in small cell lung cancer. This trial has been completed, and data are awaited to be presented. Taken together, the role of BI2356 in the treatment of lung cancer remains to be determined.

Another multicenter Phase I/IIa dose escalating and pharmacokinetic study investigated BI_2536 in patients over 60 years with refractory or relapsed AML. The drug was well tolerated in these patients with some responses. Stabilization of the disease by BI_2536 in three of the patients

15.4 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Cell cycle regulators including Plk1 are promising drug targets for cancer therapy. The better understanding of the biological function of these regulators in cancer is crucial for a more effective therapeutic targeting. Traditional antimitotic drugs including the vinca alkaloids and the taxanes are microtubule inhibitors and are associated with more severe side effects, such as neurotoxicity, due to tubulin function outside mitosis. The generation of more selective compounds targeting cell proliferation and mitosis may thus lead to less toxic but efficient therapeutics used alone or in combination with other anticancer drugs.

References

- Archambault, V. and Glover, D.M. 2009. Polo-like kinases: conservation and divergence in their functions and regulation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10(4): 265–275.
- Baum A, Garin-Chesa P, Gürtler U, Munzert G, Rudolph D (2007) Efficacy of BI 2536, a potent and selective inhibitor of the mitotic kinase Plk1, in models of human non-small cell lung carcinoma. 12th World Conference on Lung Cancer, Seoul, South Korea. J Thorac Oncol 2(8 Suppl 4):S435–S436
- Ellis PM, Chu QS, Leighl NB, Laurie SA, Trommeshauser D, Hanft G et al (2008) A phase I dose escalation trial of BI 2536, a novel Plk1 inhibitor, with standard dose pemetrexed in previously treated advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). J Clin Oncol (Meeting Abstracts) 26:8115

- Engelbert D, Schnerch D, Baumgarten A, Wäsch R (2008) The ubiquitin ligase APC(Cdh1) is required to maintain genome integrity in primary human cells. Oncogene 27:907–917
- Garcia-Higuera I, Manchado E, Dubus P, Canamero M, Mendez J, Moreno S et al (2008) Genomic stability and tumour suppression by the APC/C cofactor Cdh1. Nat Cell Biol 10:802–811
- Lenart P, Petronczki M, Steegmaier M, Di Fiore B, Lipp JJ, Hoffmann M et al (2007) The smallmolecule inhibitor BI_2536 reveals novel insights into mitotic roles of polo-like kinase 1. Curr Biol 17:304–315
- Morgan DO (2007) The cell cycle: principles of control. New Science, London, United Kingdom
- Mross K, Frost A, Steinbild S, Hedbom S, Rentschler J, Kaiser R et al (2008) Phase I dose escalation and pharmacokinetic study of BI 2536, a novel pololike kinase 1 inhibitor, in patients with advanced solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 26(34): 5511–5517
- Petronczki M, Lenart P, Peters JM (2008) Polo on the rise-from mitotic entry to cytokinesis with Plk1. Dev Cell 14:646–659
- Steegmaier M, Hoffmann M, Baum A, Lenart P, Petronczki M, Krssak M et al (2007) BI 2536, a potent and selective inhibitor of polo-like kinase 1, inhibits tumor growth in vivo. Curr Biol 17: 316–322
- Strebhardt K, Ullrich A (2006) Targeting polo-like kinase 1 for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 6: 321–330
- Sunkel CE, Glover DM (1988) Polo, a mitotic mutant of drosophila displaying abnormal spindle poles. J Cell Sci 89(Pt 1):25–38
- Uchiumi T, Longo DL, Ferris DK (1997) Cell cycle regulation of the human polo-like kinase (PLK) promoter. J Biol Chem 272:9166–9174
- van de Weerdt BC, Medema RH (2006) Polo-like kinases: a team in control of the division. Cell Cycle 5:853–864
- Von Pawel J, Reck M, Digel W, Kortsik C, Thomas M, Frickhofen N et al (2008) Randomized phase II trial of two dosing schedules of BI 2536, a novel Plk-1 inhibitor, in patients with relapsed advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC). J Clin Oncol (Meeting Abstracts) 26:8030
- Wäsch R, Engelbert D (2005) Anaphase-promoting complex-dependent proteolysis of cell cycle regulators and genomic instability of cancer cells. Oncogene 24:1–10

Part IV

Other Novel Agents

Imetelstat (GRN163L) -Telomerase-Based Cancer Therapy

16

Alexander Röth, Calvin B. Harley, and Gabriela M. Baerlocher

Abstract Telomeres and telomerase play essential roles in the regulation of the lifespan of human cells. While normal human somatic cells do not or only transiently express telomerase and therefore shorten their telomeres with each cell division, most human cancer cells typically express high levels of telomerase and show unlimited cell proliferation. High telomerase expression allows cells to proliferate and expand long-term and therefore supports tumor growth. Owing to the high expression and its role, telomerase has become an attractive diagnostic and therapeutic cancer target. Imetelstat (GRN163L) is a potent and specific telomerase inhibitor and so far the only drug of its class in clinical trials. Here, we report on the structure and the mechanism of action of imetelstat as well as about the preclinical and clinical data and future prospects using imetelstat in cancer therapy.

16.1 Introduction

All human cells are equipped with unique DNA/ protein structures at the end of their chromosomes, the so-called telomeres (Moyzis et al. 1988). At birth, telomeres are composed of approximately 12-15 kb of hexameric TTAGGG double-stranded DNA repeats with a single-strand overhang of the 3'-G-rich strand. This singlestrand overhang is, together with several telomere-associated proteins (TRF1, TRF2, POT1 etc), important for the 3-dimensional structure of the chromosome end (Fig. 16.1) (Baumann and Cech 2001; Griffith et al. 1999; Smogorzewska and de Lange 2004). Telomeres exist in either an open or a closed form. For the closed state, the chromosome end folds back into a telomere loop structure in order to protect its single-strand overhang from degradation (Griffith et al. 1999). The function of telomeres is to maintain chromosomal integrity, prevent end-to-end chromosome fusion, degradation, and inappropriate recombination (Blackburn 1991; de Lange 2002).

With each round of cell division, however, telomere repeats would theoretically be lost as a result of an incomplete terminal synthesis of the lagging DNA strand (Olovnikov 1973; Watson 1972). It has now been well documented that such a loss occurs both in vitro and in vivo, and that

A. Röth (🖂)

Department of Hematology, University Hospital Essen, University of Duisburg-Essen, Hufelandstraße 55, 45122 Essen, Germany e-mail: alexander.roeth@uni-due.de

16

Fig. 16.1 Structure of human telomeres. Telomeres are at the end of the linear chromosomes, and consist of repetitive DNA sequences and associated proteins. Most of the telomere is double-stranded DNA, but at the very end, there is a 50–300 base pair of a single-stranded DNA overhang. Telomeres form higher order structures and are folded into a telomere loop structure



other mechanisms can influence the rate of telomere loss with cell aging (Chang and Harley 1995; Harley et al. 1990; Martens et al. 2000; Röth et al. 2003b; Rufer et al. 1998). In order to study telomere dynamics in vivo, a highly sensitive, accurate, and reproducible method to measure telomere length in blood leukocytes was developed (Baerlocher et al. 2002). In addition, this method was combined with immunostaining in order to determine the telomere length in the subsets of leukocytes (Baerlocher and Lansdorp 2003; Baerlocher et al. 2006). The decrease in telomere length in human blood leukocytes over age is not linear, but occurs in different phases with a more pronounced decrease early and late in life (Baerlocher and Mak 2003; Rufer et al. 1998). Based on a study looking at the telomere biology in baboons, it was shown that the telomere length is only maintained for a few weeks after birth before the decrease in telomere length starts to occur (Baerlocher et al. 2003). In addition, the decrease in telomere length with age is not equal for diverse subsets of leukocytes and demonstrates that telomeres in lymphocytes shorten more rapidly over age than in granulocytes. Moreover, telomere length measurements by automated multicolor flow-FISH was able to identify individuals and patients with very short telomeres (telomere length below the first percentile of healthy individuals) in blood leukocytes (Alter et al. 2007). Some of such patients and individuals have a defect in telomere maintenance pathways and are at a high risk to suffer (or potentially going to suffer) from dyskeratosis congenita, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, anemia, cirrhosis, or other disorders of proliferative tissues (Garcia et al. 2007). The prototypic human telomerase genetic disease, dyskeratosis congenita, is a rare condition clinically characterized not only by leukoplakia, nail dystrophy, and hyperpigmentation, but also by many other stem cell and organ dysfunctions as well as a shorter life span (Alter et al. 2007; Röth and Baerlocher 2008). The main cause for such short telomeres is a partial deficiency in telomerase or a dysfunction of telomere-associated proteins.

The human telomerase complex is a ribonucleoprotein polymerase that is able to synthesize terminal T_2AG_3 telomere repeats and extend or maintain telomeres (Fig. 16.2) (Blackburn 1992; Collins and Mitchell 2002; Smogorzewska and de Lange 2004). In humans, most of the somatic cells have only low or undetectable telomerase activity, but telomerase expression is important for maintaining telomere length in germ cells and embryonic stem cells, and for slowing the rate of telomere loss or possibly elongating telomeres periodically in organ stem and progenitor cells as



Fig. 16.2 Structure and function of telomerase. The human telomerase complex consists of a catalytic subunit (hTERT), an RNA component (hTR), dyskerin, NOP2, NHP2, and additional associated proteins.

Here, the de novo synthesis of telomeric repeats by telomerase is illustrated. The template region of hTR is *underlined*. Four additional nucleotides complementary to the 3'-end of imetelstat are also shown

well as for germinal center B- and activated T-cells (Chiu et al. 1996; Lebkowski et al. 2001; Vaziri et al. 1993; Weng et al. 1997). Telomerase activity is suppressed early after birth (Baerlocher et al. 2003) and most likely has evolved as a tumor suppressor mechanism (Verfaillie et al. 2002). The telomerase complex consists of a catalytic subunit with reverse transcriptase activity encoded by the human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) gene, a RNA template encoded by the hTR gene (human telomerase RNA, TERC), and other associated proteins (e.g., dyskerin, NOP10, NHP2) (McEachern et al. 2000; Nakamura et al. 1997; Vulliamy et al. 2008; Walne et al. 2007). Mutations in at least five telomerase components can lead to a reduction in telomerase expression and consequently to very short telomeres in essentially all cells of the body. When chromosome ends become too short, DNA damage signals induce a state of replicative senescence or cell apoptosis (Campisi 2003; d'Adda et al. 2003). As mentioned earlier, telomeres are extremely short in patients with DC (Alter et al. 2007), leading to premature senescence of especially lymphocytes.

In contrast to low or physiologic levels of telomerase, up to 80–90% of human cancer cells pathologically overexpress telomerase, which is a

key element for immortalization (Hahn et al. 1999a). Furthermore, recent studies have suggested that cancer stem or stem-like cells are also telomerase-positive (Armanios and Greider 2005; Ho et al. 2007; Phatak and Burger 2007; Phatak et al. 2007). Overexpression of hTERT leading to high and stable telomerase activity in normal human cells (e.g., fibroblasts, CD4, and CD8 T-cells) proofed the link between telomere elongation and immortalization (Bodnar et al. 1998). However, it also demonstrated that telomeres in T-lymphocytes still get shortened, despite high levels of telomerase activity (Röth et al. 2005). Importantly, telomerase is one of the key components that is needed for the development of a cancer cell capable of long-term growth from a normal human cell (Hahn et al. 1999a). However, how and when telomerase is reactivated in the process of oncogenesis in vivo is not yet clear (Kyo et al. 2008). The difference in telomerase expression and the length of telomeres in healthy and cancer cells makes telomerase a highly attractive diagnostic and therapeutic cancer target, especially as telomerase inhibition could be used in a universal way for most types of human tumors. Telomerase inhibition would mainly affect cancer cells, as these cells in general present high telomerase activity and shorter telomeres.

16.2 Telomerase-Based Approaches of Cancer Treatment

The necessity of maintaining telomeres for replicative immortality and the specificity of high telomerase expression in malignant cells of essentially all types, including the putative cancer stem cells, suggest a universal and critical therapeutic target for specific telomerase-based drugs. Various strategies targeting telomerase-positive tumor cells exist. Today, most of these approaches have proven their principle in animal models, but are still in the preclinical stage of development (Harley 2008). Here, we would like to specifically focus on telomerase inhibitors.

16.3 Telomerase Inhibition

A variety of classes of telomerase inhibitors exist, including small molecules like BIBR1532, antisense oligonucleotides, ribozymes, and dominant-negative constructs (Table 16.1, Fig. 16.3) (Olaussen et al. 2006; Pendino et al. 2006; Rankin et al. 2008). These inhibitors either block the catalytic activity of the enzyme or the access of telomerase to the telomeres (Asai et al. 2003; Mergny et al. 2002; Tauchi et al. 2003). Proof of principle for the therapeutic efficacy of such inhibitors has been demonstrated by in vitro cultures by transfecting dominant-negative hTERT. In various cell types, inhibition of telomerase by dominant-negative hTERT leads to continuous telomere shortening and subsequent cell senescence or apoptosis (Hahn et al. 1999b; Röth et al. 2003a, b; Zhang et al. 1999).

One of the first, initially promising telomerase inhibitors was BIBR1532. BIBR1532 is a non-peptidic, non-nucleosidic, non-competitive inhibitor of the catalytic activity of telomerase, with a drug-binding site distinct from the sites for the deoxyribonucleotide substrates and the DNA primer (Damm et al. 2001; Pascolo et al. 2002). Despite promising inhibitory activity in some model systems, BIBR1532 has not progressed into clinical trials due to unsatisfactory bioavailability (Barma et al. 2003; Pascolo et al. 2002; Ward and Autexier 2005).

16.4 Structure of Imetelstat and Mechanism of Action

One of the newer promising drugs is the short oligonucleotide-based telomerase inhibitor imetelstat (previously named GRN163L). Imetelstat is a novel lipid-based conjugate of the first-generation oligonucleotide GRN163 (Asai et al. 2003), and consists of a 13-mer oligonucleotide N3'–P5' thio-phosphoramidate (NPS oligonucleotide) that is covalently attached to a C16 (palmitoyl) lipid moiety. Owing to the 5' lipid chain and its improved oligonucleotide backbone

AZT Hibozymes and Antisense Oligonucleotides (hTERT mRNA or hTR) Aucccaaucuguu NHP2 hTERT DN-hTERT Jyskerin NOP10 5' hTR Telomerase



Table 16.1 Telomerase inhibitors

Compound	Class	Target and mechanism	References
Antisense oligonucleotides	Antisense molecule	Blocking hTR or hTERT	(Feng et al. 1995; Koga et al. 2001; Kondo et al. 1998; Kushner et al. 2000; Yatabe et al. 2002)
AZT	Enzyme inhibitor	Blocks dNTP incorporation into DNA	(Fletcher et al. 2001; Melana et al. 1998; Strahl and Blackburn 1996)
BIBR1532	Enzyme inhibitor/ small molecule	Specific inhibition of the active site	(Barma et al. 2003; Damm et al. 2001; El Daly et al. 2005; Pascolo et al. 2002; Röth et al. 2007)
DN-hTERT	Dominant-negative construct	Dominant-negative action on telomerase activity	(Hahn et al. 1999b; Misawa et al. 2002; Röth et al. 2003a, b; Tauchi et al. 2002; Zhang et al. 1999)
GRN163(L)	Antisense molecule	hTR template antagonist	(Akiyama et al. 2003; Asai et al. 2003; Dikmen et al. 2005; Djojosubroto et al. 2005; Gellert et al. 2006; Gomez- Millan et al. 2006; Gryaznov et al. 2007; Hashizume et al. 2008; Herbert et al. 2005; Hochreiter et al. 2006; Jackson et al. 2007; Ozawa et al. 2004; Röth et al. 2008)
Ribozymes	Ribozymes	Cleavage of hTR or hTERT-RNA sequence	(Folini et al. 2000, 2002; Ludwig et al. 2001; Nosrati et al. 2004; Saretzki et al. 2001; Yeo et al. 2005; Yokoyama et al. 1998, 2000)

chemistry, imetelstat has very good cellular and tissue penetration even with lower concentrations and a better biodistribution into both normal and malignant cells. Furthermore, the oligonucleotide, as a larger polyanionic compound, is not likely to be a substrate for common mechanisms of multidrug resistance, a property, which is especially relevant for targeting cancer stem cells. Imetelstat does not exhibit antisense activity, but rather directly binds to the RNA component of telomerase (hTR) with very high affinity and specificity to the template region of hTR in the active site of the telomerase enzyme (Dikmen et al. 2005; Gellert et al. 2006; Herbert et al. 2005). The structure and mechanism of action of imetelstat are demonstrated in Fig. 16.4.

16.5 Preclinical and Clinical Data of Imetelstat

The effects of imetelstat have been well characterized in many preclinical studies. Telomerase inhibition has been shown for diverse human tumor cells (including lung (Dikmen et al. 2005; 16



Fig. 16.4 The telomerase inhibitor imetelstat and its action on telomerase. Imetelstat is a 13-mer oligonucleotide N3'-P5' thio-phosphoramidate that is covalently attached to a C16 (palmitoyl) lipid moiety. Imetelstat binds to the telomerase RNA compo-

nent sequence (hTR) in the active site region of telomerase, and hence, is a direct enzymatic inhibitor, a competitive substrate antagonist. Imetelstat blocks the telomere access to telomerase and thereby acts like a conventional pharmaceutical drug

Jackson et al. 2007), breast (Gellert et al. 2006; Gomez-Millan et al. 2006; Hochreiter et al. 2006), prostate (Asai et al. 2003), liver (Djojosubroto et al. 2005), brain (Ozawa et al. 2004), bladder (Dikmen et al. 2008), and hematological malignancies including multiple myeloma and lymphoma (Akiyama et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2004)), in both cell culture systems and mouse xenograft models (Table 16.2). Studies of this agent alone, and in combination with chemotherapeutic agents, indicate the importance of telomerase as a target for the treatment of cancer, and the potential utility of imetelstat in the treatment of patients with hematologic and solid tumor malignancies. Some studies have even shown that imetelstat is additive or synergistic when used in combination with existing cancer drugs or radiation.

Based on in vitro and in vivo efficacy in a series of animal studies, imetelstat has entered six phase I and I/II clinical trials (Table 16.3) for various cancers including hematologic and solid tumors. Three of these trials are single agent studies (chronic lymphoproliferative diseases, multiple myeloma, and solid tumor malignancies), and three are combination

studies (breast cancer in which imetelstat is given in conjunction with paclitaxel and bevacizumab, non-small cell lung cancer in which imetelstat is given in conjunction with paclitaxel and carboplatin, and multiple myeloma in which imetelstat is given in conjunction with velcade±dexamethasone). For all the phase I and I/II trials, the primary outcomes are safety, tolerability, and determination of the maximum tolerated dose (MTD). Dosing is based on 3- or 4-week cycles of once-weekly 2- or 6-h intravenous infusions. Doses are escalated after the first cycle in each cohort until MTD is reached. The once-weekly schedule was based on the pharmacokinetic modeling of the tissue's half-life in animals and humans, and the relatively durable effects of telomerase inhibition for up to 3-7 days were seen in rodent liver or human tumor xenograft tissues in vivo (Dikmen et al. 2005). To determine the relationship between drug exposure and response predictive of antineoplastic activity, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics were included as secondary endpoints. So far, imetelstat has been tolerated and the trials are continuing until an MTD is reached.

Tumor type	Cellular and molecular response	References
Lung cancer	Effective inhibition of telomerase Progressive telomere shortening Reduction of colony formation Prevention of metastasis in xenograft model Altered adhesion with reduced cellular attachment Reduced cell spreading Reduced tumor progression	(Dikmen et al. 2005; Jackson et al. 2007)
Breast cancer	Effective inhibition of telomerase Progressive telomere shortening Reduction of tumor growth, colony formation, tumorgenicity, invasive potential and metastasis Enhanced radiation sensitivity	(Gellert et al. 2006; Gomez- Millan et al. 2006; Hochreiter et al. 2006)
Prostate cancer	Telomere shortening with cellular senescence or apoptosis after lag period correlate with initial telomere length Suppression of tumor growth	(Asai et al. 2003)
Liver cancer	Inhibition of telomerase and tumor cell growth in vitro and in vivo Critical telomere shortening and telomere dysfunction Increased apoptosis Increased sensitivity to doxorubicin	(Djojosubroto et al. 2005)
Brain cancer	Growth delay in tumor size Increased survival times of treated animals	(Ozawa et al. 2004)
Bladder cancer	Telomerase inhibition Morphological changes G_0/G_1 arrest after 2 weeks	(Dikmen et al. 2008)
Multiple myeloma, Lymphoma	Effective inhibition of telomerase Reduction of telomere length Apoptotic cell death after lag period of 2–3 weeks Reduced telomerase levels Rapid telomere shortening Proliferative arrest and apoptosis in cell lines with short but not long telomeres	(Akiyama et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2004)
T-Prolymphocytic leukemia (T-PLL)	Effective inhibition of telomerase Apoptotic cell death without lag period in the situation of short telomeres and high telomerase activity	(Röth et al. 2008)

Table 16.2 GRN163 and imetelstat (GRN163L) in preclinical studies

16

228

studies
clinica
in
Imetelstat
16.3
e

Table 16.3 Imetelstat in clinical studies			
Tumor type	Phase	Trials	Status, references
Chronic lymphoproliferative disease (CLD)	II/I	Safety and dose study of imetelstat in patients with chronic lymphoproliferative disease (CLD)	Recruiting, NCT00124189
Breast cancer	II/I	A study of imetelstat with paclitaxel and bevacizumab to treat patients with locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancer	Recruiting, NCT00732056
Solid tumor malignancies	Ι	Safety and dose study of imetelstat administered to patients with solid tumor malignancies	Recruiting, NCT00310895
Non-small cell lung cancer	Ι	Study of imetelstat with paclitaxel and carboplatin in patients with advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer	Recruiting, NCT00510445
Multiple myeloma	Ι	Safety and dose study of imetelstat administered weekly to treat patients with refractory or relapsed multiple myeloma	Recruiting, NCT00594126
Multiple myeloma	_	Safety and dose study of imetels tat and velcade \pm dexamethas one to treat patients with refractory or relapsed myeloma	Recruiting, NCT00718601

Toxicities observed so far have been largely consistent with those seen with oligonucleotides as a class. Prolongation of the aPTT often occurs at higher doses. This effect on intrinsic coagulation has been transient and without resulting in acute bleeding episodes. Neutropenia and thrombocytopenia has also been observed among heavily pretreated patients (Chanan-Khan et al. 2008; Cotter 1999; Jason et al. 2004).

16.6 Conclusion and Future Prospects

One of the challenges regarding the clinical use of telomerase inhibitors is that the effect of telomerase inhibition might depend on the initial telomere length distribution within and between tumor cells in patients (Harley 2008). Even with complete telomerase inhibition many rounds of cell divisions may be required until telomeres become critically short and induce cell apoptosis (the "phenotypic lag"). Furthermore, cancer stem cells potentially exhibit slow kinetics of cell turnover. Thus, telomerase inhibition strategies may not be immediately effective in killing cancer cells, especially those with longer telomeres. The condition of very short telomeres (in which the shortest telomeres in most cells are near to telomere dysfunction) and high telomerase activity, however, might be the ideal target for telomerase inhibition. Prolymphocytic leukemia (T-PLL), a rare aggressive type of leukemia, would be such an example. In prolymphocytic leukemia, the clonal T-cells are characterized by extremely short telomeres and high telomerase activity. The high telomerase activity seems to be required for the maintenance of those critically short telomeres, as inhibition of telomerase in T-PLL cells induced rapid apoptosis of cells (Röth et al. 2007). These findings suggest that telomerase inhibition could be a useful therapeutic strategy especially for this devastating disease (Ohyashiki et al. 2002; Röth et al. 2003a, 2005, 2007).

In addition, it is possible that telomerase has additional functions independent of immortalization, and certain classes of telomerase inhibitors or agents targeting the telomere might therefore trigger more immediate effects on tumor cells, even if telomeres are long (Blackburn 2000; Oulton and Harrington 2000; Shay and Wright 2002). It has been demonstrated that telomerase inhibition can also sensitize cancer cells to radiation, chemotherapy, as well as targeted therapies. Telomerase inhibitors therefore might be the most useful in combination with other therapeutics, especially for drug-resistant tumors (Gomez-Millan et al. 2006; Misawa et al. 2002; Nakajima et al. 2003; Tauchi et al. 2002; Ward and Autexier 2005; Wong et al. 2000).

Moreover, combination therapies could mobilize cancer stem cells, accelerate their telomere loss, or even uncap telomeres in the presence of telomerase inhibitors, possibly leading to an earlier or more durable response in cancers. Inhibition of telomerase could also be combined with telomerase immunotherapy (Harley 2008).

Telomerase is potentially the safest identified cancer target to date, given the differences in telomerase activity, telomere length, and stem cell kinetics in normal cells when compared with cancer cells. However, further studies need to prove whether and how normal tissues could be affected by telomerase-based therapies.

References

- Akiyama M, Hideshima T, Shammas MA, Hayashi T, Hamasaki M, Tai YT, Richardson P, Gryaznov S, Munshi NC, Anderson KC (2003) Effects of oligonucleotide N3'–P5' thio-phosphoramidate (GRN163) targeting telomerase RNA in human multiple myeloma cells. Cancer Res 63: 6187–6194
- Alter BP, Baerlocher GM, Savage SA, Chanock SJ, Weksler BB, Willner JP, Peters JA, Giri N, Lansdorp PM (2007) Very short telomere length by flow fluorescence in situ hybridization identifies patients with dyskeratosis congenita. Blood 110:1439–1447

- Armanios M, Greider CW (2005) Telomerase and cancer stem cells. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 70:205–208
- Asai A, Oshima Y, Yamamoto Y, Uochi TA, Kusaka H, Akinaga S, Yamashita Y, Pongracz K, Pruzan R, Wunder E, Piatyszek M, Li S, Chin AC, Harley CB, Gryaznov S (2003) A novel telomerase template antagonist (GRN163) as a potential anticancer agent. Cancer Res 63:3931–3939
- Baerlocher GM, Lansdorp PM (2003) Telomere length measurements in leukocyte subsets by automated multicolor flow-FISH. Cytometry 55A:1–6
- Baerlocher GM, Mak J, Röth A, Rice KS, Lansdorp PM (2003) Telomere shortening in leukocyte subpopulations from baboons. J Leukoc Biol 73: 289–296
- Baerlocher GM, Mak J, Tien T, Lansdorp PM (2002) Telomere length measurement by fluorescence in situ hybridization and flow cytometry: tips and pitfalls. Cytometry 47:89–99
- Baerlocher GM, Vulto I, de Jong G, Lansdorp PM (2006) Flow cytometry and FISH to measure the average length of telomeres (flow FISH). Nat Protocols 1:2365–2376
- Barma DK, Elayadi A, Falck JR, Corey DR (2003) Inhibition of telomerase by BIBR 1532 and related analogues. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 13: 1333–1336
- Baumann P, Cech TR (2001) Pot1, the putative telomere end-binding protein in fission yeast and humans. Science 292:1171–1175
- Blackburn EH (1991) Structure and function of telomeres. Nature 350:569–573
- Blackburn EH (1992) Telomerases. Annu Rev Biochem 61:113–129
- Blackburn EH (2000) Telomere states and cell fates. Nature 408:53–56
- Bodnar AG, Ouellette M, Frolkis M, Holt SE, Chiu CP, Morin GB, Harley CB, Shay JW, Lichtsteiner S, Wright WE (1998) Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. Science 279:349–352
- Campisi J (2003) Cancer and ageing: rival demons? Nat Rev Cancer 3:339–349
- Chanan-Khan AA, Munshi NC, Hussein MA, Elias L, Benedetti F, Smith J, Khor SP, Huff CA (2008) Results of a Phase I Study of GRN163L, a Direct Inhibitor of Telomerase, in Patients with Relapsed and Refractory Multiple Myeloma (MM). ASH Annu Meet Abstr 112:3688

- Chang E, Harley CB (1995) Telomere length and replicative aging in human vascular tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:11190–11194
- Chiu CP, Dragowska W, Kim NW, Vaziri H, Yui J, Thomas TE, Harley CB, Lansdorp PM (1996) Differential expression of telomerase activity in hematopoietic progenitors from adult human bone marrow. Stem Cells 14:239–248
- Collins K, Mitchell JR (2002) Telomerase in the human organism. Oncogene 21:564–579
- Cotter FE (1999) Antisense therapy of hematologic malignancies. Semin Hematol 36:9–14
- d'Adda dF, Reaper PM, Clay-Farrace L, Fiegler H, Carr P, von Zglinicki T, Saretzki G, Carter NP, Jackson SP (2003) A DNA damage checkpoint response in telomere-initiated senescence. Nature 426:194–198
- Damm K, Hemmann U, Garin-Chesa P, Hauel N, Kauffmann I, Priepke H, Niestroj C, Daiber C, Enenkel B, Guilliard B, Lauritsch I, Muller E, Pascolo E, Sauter G, Pantic M, Martens UM, Wenz C, Lingner J, Kraut N, Rettig WJ, Schnapp A (2001) A highly selective telomerase inhibitor limiting human cancer cell proliferation. EMBO J 20:6958–6968
- de Lange T (2002) Protection of mammalian telomeres. Oncogene 21:532–540
- Dikmen ZG, Gellert GC, Jackson S, Gryaznov S, Tressler R, Dogan P, Wright WE, Shay JW (2005) In vivo inhibition of lung cancer by GRN163L: a novel human telomerase inhibitor. Cancer Res 65:7866–7873
- Dikmen ZG, Wright WE, Shay JW, Gryaznov SM (2008) Telomerase targeted oligonucleotide thiophosphoramidates in T24-luc bladder cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 104:444–452
- Djojosubroto MW, Chin AC, Go N, Schaetzlein S, Manns MP, Gryaznov S, Harley CB, Rudolph KL (2005) Telomerase antagonists GRN163 and GRN163L inhibit tumor growth and increase chemosensitivity of human hepatoma. Hepatology 42:1127–1136
- El Daly H, Kull M, Zimmermann S, Pantic M, Waller CF, Martens UM (2005) Selective cytotoxicity and telomere damage in leukemia cells using the telomerase inhibitor BIBR1532. Blood 105:1742–1749
- Feng J, Funk WD, Wang SS, Weinrich SL, Avilion AA, Chiu CP, Adams RR, Chang E, Allsopp RC, Yu J (1995) The RNA component of human telomerase. Science 269:1236–1241

- Fletcher TM, Cathers BE, Ravikumar KS, Mamiya BM, Kerwin SM (2001) Inhibition of human telomerase by 7-deaza-2'-deoxyguanosine nucleoside triphosphate analogs: potent inhibition by 6-thio-7-deaza-2'-deoxyguanosine 5'-triphosphate. Bioorg Chem 29:36–55
- Folini M, Colella G, Villa R, Lualdi S, Daidone MG, Zaffaroni N (2000) Inhibition of telomerase activity by a hammerhead ribozyme targeting the RNA component of telomerase in human melanoma cells. J Invest Dermatol 114:259–267
- Folini M, Pennati M, Zaffaroni N (2002) Targeting human telomerase by antisense oligonucleotides and ribozymes. Curr Med Chem Anticancer Agents 2:605–612
- Garcia CK, Wright WE, Shay JW (2007) Human diseases of telomerase dysfunction: insights into tissue aging. Nucleic Acids Res 35: 7406–7416
- Gellert GC, Dikmen ZG, Wright WE, Gryaznov S, Shay JW (2006) Effects of a novel telomerase inhibitor, GRN163L, in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 96:73–81
- Gomez-Millan J, Goldblatt EM, Gryaznov SM, Mendonca MS, Herbert BS (2006) Specific telomere dysfunction induced by GRN163L increases radiation sensitivity in breast cancer cells. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 67(3):897–905
- Griffith J, Comeau L, Rosenfield S, Stansel R, Bianchi A, Moss H, de Lange T (1999) Mammalian telomeres end in a large duplex loop. Cell 97:503–514
- Gryaznov SM, Jackson S, Dikmen G, Harley C, Herbert BS, Wright WE, Shay JW (2007) Oligonucleotide conjugate GRN163L targeting human telomerase as potential anticancer and antimetastatic agent. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 26: 1577–1579
- Hahn WC, Counter CM, Lundberg AS, Beijersbergen RL, Brooks MW, Weinberg RA (1999a) Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature 400:464–468
- Hahn WC, Stewart SA, Brooks MW, York SG, Eaton E, Kurachi A, Beijersbergen RL, Knoll JH, Meyerson M, Weinberg RA (1999b) Inhibition of telomerase limits the growth of human cancer cells. Nat Med 5:1164–1170
- Harley CB (2008) Telomerase and cancer therapeutics. Nat Rev Cancer 8(3):167–179
- Harley CB, Futcher AB, Greider CW (1990) Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. Nature 345:458–460

- Hashizume R, Ozawa T, Gryaznov SM, Bollen AW, Lamborn KR, Frey WH, Deen DF (2008) New therapeutic approach for brain tumors: Intranasal delivery of telomerase inhibitor GRN163. Neuro Oncol 10:112–120
- Herbert BS, Gellert GC, Hochreiter A, Pongracz K, Wright WE, Zielinska D, Chin AC, Harley CB, Shay JW, Gryaznov SM (2005) Lipid modification of GRN163, an N3'–P5' thio-phosphoramidate oligonucleotide, enhances the potency of telomerase inhibition. Oncogene 24:5262–5268
- Ho MM, Ng AV, Lam S, Hung JY (2007) Side population in human lung cancer cell lines and tumors is enriched with stem-like cancer cells. Cancer Res 67:4827–4833
- Hochreiter AE, Xiao H, Goldblatt EM, Gryaznov SM, Miller KD, Badve S, Sledge GW, Herbert BS (2006) Telomerase template antagonist GRN163L disrupts telomere maintenance, tumor growth, and metastasis of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 12:3184–3192
- Jackson SR, Zhu CH, Paulson V, Watkins L, Dikmen ZG, Gryaznov SM, Wright WE, Shay JW (2007) Antiadhesive effects of GRN163L–an oligonucleotide N3'>P5' thio-phosphoramidate targeting telomerase. Cancer Res 67:1121–1129
- Jason TL, Koropatnick J, Berg RW (2004) Toxicology of antisense therapeutics. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 201:66–83
- Koga S, Kondo Y, Komata T, Kondo S (2001) Treatment of bladder cancer cells in vitro and in vivo with 2–5A antisense telomerase RNA. Gene Ther 8:654–658
- Kondo S, Kondo Y, Li G, Silverman RH, Cowell JK (1998) Targeted therapy of human malignant glioma in a mouse model by 2–5A antisense directed against telomerase RNA. Oncogene 16: 3323–3330
- Kushner DM, Paranjape JM, Bandyopadhyay B, Cramer H, Leaman DW, Kennedy AW, Silverman RH, Cowell JK (2000) 2–5A antisense directed against telomerase RNA produces apoptosis in ovarian cancer cells. Gynecol Oncol 76: 183–192
- Kyo S, Takakura M, Fujiwara T, Inoue M (2008) Understanding and exploiting hTERT promoter regulation for diagnosis and treatment of human cancers. Cancer Sci 99:1528–1538
- Lebkowski JS, Gold J, Xu C, Funk W, Chiu CP, Carpenter MK (2001) Human embryonic stem cells: culture, differentiation, and genetic

modification for regenerative medicine applications. Cancer J 7(Suppl 2):S83–S93

- Ludwig A, Saretzki G, Holm PS, Tiemann F, Lorenz M, Emrich T, Harley CB, von Zglinicki T (2001) Ribozyme cleavage of telomerase mRNA sensitizes breast epithelial cells to inhibitors of topoisomerase. Cancer Res 61:3053–3061
- Martens UM, Chavez EA, Poon SSS, Schmoor C, Lansdorp PM (2000) Accumulation of short telomeres in human fibroblasts prior to replicative senescence. Exp Cell Res 256:291–299
- McEachern MJ, Krauskopf A, Blackburn EH (2000) Telomeres and their control. Annu Rev Genet 34:331–358
- Melana SM, Holland JF, Pogo BG (1998) Inhibition of cell growth and telomerase activity of breast cancer cells in vitro by 3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine. Clin Cancer Res 4:693–696
- Mergny JL, Riou JF, Mailliet P, Teulade-Fichou MP, Gilson E (2002) Natural and pharmacological regulation of telomerase. Nucleic Acids Res 30:839–865
- Misawa M, Tauchi T, Sashida G, Nakajima A, Abe K, Ohyashiki JH, Ohyashiki K (2002) Inhibition of human telomerase enhances the effect of chemotherapeutic agents in lung cancer cells. Int J Oncol 21:1087–1092
- Moyzis R, Buckingham J, Cram L, Dani M, Deaven L, Jones M, Meyene J, Ratliff R, Wu J-R (1988) A highly conserved repetitive DNA sequence, (TTAGGG)_n, present at the telomeres of human chromosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85: 6622–6626
- Nakajima A, Tauchi T, Sashida G, Sumi M, Abe K, Yamamoto K, Ohyashiki JH, Ohyashiki K (2003) Telomerase inhibition enhances apoptosis in human acute leukemia cells: possibility of antitelomerase therapy. Leukemia 17:560–567
- Nakamura TM, Morin GB, Chapman KB, Weinrich SL, Andrews WH, Lingner J, Harley CB, Cech TR (1997) Telomerase catalytic subunit homologs from fission yeast and human. Science 277: 955–959
- Nosrati M, Li S, Bagheri S, Ginzinger D, Blackburn EH, Debs RJ, Kashani-Sabet M (2004) Antitumor activity of systemically delivered ribozymes targeting murine telomerase RNA. Clin Cancer Res 10:4983–4990
- Ohyashiki JH, Sashida G, Tauchi T, Ohyashiki K (2002) Telomeres and telomerase in hematologic neoplasia. Oncogene 21:680–687

- Olaussen KA, Dubrana K, Domont J, Spano JP, Sabatier L, Soria JC (2006) Telomeres and telomerase as targets for anticancer drug development. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 57: 191–214
- Olovnikov AM (1973) A theory of marginotomy. The incomplete copying of template margin in enzymic synthesis of polynucleotides and biological significance of the phenomenon. J Theor Biol 41:181–190
- Oulton R, Harrington L (2000) Telomeres, telomerase, and cancer: life on the edge of genomic stability. Curr Opin Oncol 12:74–81
- Ozawa T, Gryaznov SM, Hu LJ, Pongracz K, Santos RA, Bollen AW, Lamborn KR, Deen DF (2004) Antitumor effects of specific telomerase inhibitor GRN163 in human glioblastoma xenografts. Neuro oncol 6:218–226
- Pascolo E, Wenz C, Lingner J, Hauel N, Priepke H, Kauffmann I, Garin-Chesa P, Rettig WJ, Damm K, Schnapp A (2002) Mechanism of human telomerase inhibition by BIBR1532, a synthetic, nonnucleosidic drug candidate. J Biol Chem 277: 15566–15572
- Pendino F, Tarkanyi I, Dudognon C, Hillion J, Lanotte M, Aradi J, Segal-Bendirdjian E (2006) Telomeres and telomerase: pharmacological targets for new anticancer strategies? Curr Cancer Drug Targets 6:147–180
- Phatak P, Burger AM (2007) Telomerase and its potential for therapeutic intervention. Br J Pharmacol 152:1003–1011
- Phatak P, Cookson JC, Dai F, Smith V, Gartenhaus RB, Stevens MF, Burger AM (2007) Telomere uncapping by the G-quadruplex ligand RHPS4 inhibits clonogenic tumour cell growth in vitro and in vivo consistent with a cancer stem cell targeting mechanism. Br J Cancer 96:1223–1233
- Rankin AM, Faller DV, Spanjaard RA (2008) Telomerase inhibitors and 'T-oligo' as cancer therapeutics: contrasting molecular mechanisms of cytotoxicity. Anticancer Drugs 19:329–338
- Röth A, Baerlocher GM (2008) Dyskeratosis congenita. Br J Haematol 141:412
- Röth A, Baerlocher GM, Schertzer M, Chavez E, Dührsen U, Lansdorp PM (2005) Telomere loss, senescence, and genetic instability in CD4+ T lymphocytes overexpressing hTERT. Blood 106: 43–50
- Röth A, de Beer D, Dürig J, Dührsen U, Elias L, Tressler R, Baerlocher GM (2008) Extremely short telomeres and high telomerase activity in

T-cell prolymphocytic leukemia (T-PLL): An optimal target for telomerase inhibition with GRN163L? J Clin Oncol (Meeting Abstracts) 26:7061

- Röth A, Dürig J, Himmelreich H, Bug S, Siebert R, Dührsen U, Lansdorp PM, Baerlocher GM (2007) Short telomeres and high telomerase activity in T-cell prolymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia 21:2456–2462
- Röth A, Vercauteren S, Sutherland HJ, Lansdorp PM (2003a) Telomerase is limiting the growth of acute myeloid leukemia cells. Leukemia 17: 2410–2417
- Röth A, Yssel H, Pene J, Chavez EA, Schertzer M, Lansdorp PM, Spits H, Luiten RM (2003b) Telomerase levels control the lifespan of human T lymphocytes. Blood 102:849–857
- Rufer N, Dragowska W, Thornbury G, Roosnek E, Lansdorp PM (1998) Telomere length dynamics in human lymphocyte subpopulations measured by flow cytometry. Nat Biotechnol 16: 743–747
- Saretzki G, Ludwig A, von Zglinicki T, Runnebaum IB (2001) Ribozyme-mediated telomerase inhibition induces immediate cell loss but not telomere shortening in ovarian cancer cells. Cancer Gene Ther 8:827–834
- Shay JW, Wright WE (2002) Telomerase: a target for cancer therapeutics. Cancer Cell 2:257–265
- Smogorzewska A, de Lange T (2004) Regulation of telomerase by telomeric proteins. Annu Rev Biochem 73:177–208
- Strahl C, Blackburn EH (1996) Effects of reverse transcriptase inhibitors on telomere length and telomerase activity in two immortalized human cell lines. Mol Cell Biol 16:53–65
- Tauchi T, Nakajima A, Sashida G, Shimamoto T, Ohyashiki JH, Abe K, Yamamoto K, Ohyashiki K (2002) Inhibition of human telomerase enhances the effect of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor, imatinib, in BCR-ABL-positive leukemia cells. Clin Cancer Res 8:3341–3347
- Tauchi T, Shin-ya K, Sashida G, Sumi M, Nakajima A, Shimamoto T, Ohyashiki JH, Ohyashiki K (2003) Activity of a novel G-quadruplex-interactive telomerase inhibitor, telomestatin (SOT-095), against human leukemia cells: involvement of ATM-dependent DNA damage response pathways. Oncogene 22:5338–5347
- Vaziri H, Schachter F, Uchida I, Wei L, Zhu X, Effros R, Cohen D, Harley CB (1993) Loss of

telomeric DNA during aging of normal and trisomy 21 human lymphocytes. Am J Hum Genet 52:661–667

- Verfaillie CM, Pera MF, Lansdorp PM (2002) Stem cells: hype and reality. Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 369–391
- Vulliamy T, Beswick R, Kirwan M, Marrone A, Digweed M, Walne A, Dokal I (2008) Mutations in the telomerase component NHP2 cause the premature ageing syndrome dyskeratosis congenita. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 8073–8078
- Walne AJ, Vulliamy T, Marrone A, Beswick R, Kirwan M, Masunari Y, Al Qurashi FH, Aljurf M, Dokal I (2007) Genetic heterogeneity in autosomal recessive dyskeratosis congenita with one subtype due to mutations in the telomerase-associated protein NOP10. Hum Mol Genet 16:1619–1629
- Wang ES, Wu K, Chin AC, Chen-Kiang S, Pongracz K, Gryaznov S, Moore MA (2004) Telomerase inhibition with an oligonucleotide telomerase template antagonist: in vitro and in vivo studies in multiple myeloma and lymphoma. Blood 103:258–266
- Ward RJ, Autexier C (2005) Pharmacological telomerase inhibition can sensitize drug-resistant and drug-sensitive cells to chemotherapeutic treatment. Mol Pharmacol 68:779–786
- Watson JD (1972) Origin of concatameric T4 DNA. Nat New Biol 239:197–201
- Weng NP, Granger L, Hodes RJ (1997) Telomere lengthening and telomerase activation during human B cell differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:10827–10832
- Wong KK, Chang S, Weiler SR, Ganesan S, Chaudhuri J, Zhu C, Artandi SE, Rudolph KL, Gottlieb GJ, Chin L, Alt FW, DePinho RA (2000) Telomere dysfunction impairs DNA repair and enhances sensitivity to ionizing radiation. Nat Genet 26:85–88
- Yatabe N, Kyo S, Kondo S, Kanaya T, Wang Z, Maida Y, Takakura M, Nakamura M, Tanaka M, Inoue M (2002) 2–5A antisense therapy directed against human telomerase RNA inhibits telomerase activity and induces apoptosis without telomere impairment in cervical cancer cells. Cancer Gene Ther 9:624–630
- Yeo M, Rha SY, Jeung HC, Hu SX, Yang SH, Kim YS, An SW, Chung HC (2005) Attenuation of telomerase activity by hammerhead ribozyme targeting human telomerase RNA induces growth retardation and apoptosis in human breast tumor cells. Int J Cancer 114:484–489

Yokoyama Y, Takahashi Y, Shinohara A, Lian Z, Wan X, Niwa K, Tamaya T (1998) Attenuation of telomerase activity by a hammerhead ribozyme targeting the template region of telomerase RNA in endometrial carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 58: 5406–5410

Yokoyama Y, Takahashi Y, Shinohara A, Wan X, Takahashi S, Niwa K, Tamaya T (2000) The 5'-end of hTERT mRNA is a good target for hammerhead ribozyme to suppress telomerase activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 273: 316–321

Zhang X, Mar V, Zhou W, Harrington L, Robinson MO (1999) Telomere shortening and apoptosis in telomerase-inhibited human tumor cells. Genes Dev 13:2388–2399

GDC-0449 - Targeting the Hedgehog Signaling Pathway

17

Christine Dierks

Abstract Hedgehog signaling is activated in a variety of solid tumors and hematologic malignancies by point mutations in hedgehog pathway members or autocrine or paracrine ligand secretion. Several hedgehog inhibitors were developed to block hedgehog pathway activity on the level of the activating receptor, Smoothened (Smo). GDC-0449 is the first systemic Smoinhibitor entering clinical trials. It was successfully tested in a phase-I clinical trial demonstrating good pharmacodynamic (PD) and pharmacokinetic (PK) properties and showing objective response and clinical benefit in several patients with basal cell carcinoma.

17.1 Introduction

The hedgehog signaling pathway is one of the so-called "developmental pathways" like the Wnt or Notch signaling pathway and plays an

C. Dierks

Freiburg University Medical Center

important role in the embryonic development of the brain and the pattern formation of various organs (Goodrich and Scott 1998). Hedgehog ligands (Ihh, Shh, Dhh) bind to the seventransmembrane receptor, Patched (Ptch), inducing a conformational change, that abolishes Ptch-binding to the second transmembrane receptor Smoothened (Smo). Dissociation of these receptors alleviates Ptch1-mediated suppression of Smo activity. Activation of Smo induces a cascade of intracellular events, which results in the activation of the Gli transcription factors (Gli1, Gli2, and Gli3>Glioma associated protein 1-3) and transcription of specific target genes important for apoptosis, cell cycle regulation, or self-renewal like Ptch1, Gli1, Bcl2, Cyclin D1, Cyclin E, Noggin-1, and Bmi-1 (Marigo and Tabin 1996; Lee 1997; Duman-Scheel et al. 2002; Regl et al. 2004).

In contrast to embryogenesis, the hedgehog signaling pathway is inactivated in differentiated tissues in the adult organism. Tumor cells and especially the tumor stem cell population can reactivate "developmental pathways" like the hedgehog signaling pathway and thereby gain properties specific for embryonic progenitor and stem cell populations. Those include high proliferation rates, specific antiapoptosis mechanisms, and "self-renewal" functions, which contribute to tumor metastasis and resistance of tumor cells and tumor stem cells to conventional

Department of Hematology and Oncology Hugstetterstraße. 55, 79106 Freiburg, Germany e-mail: christine.dierks@uniklinik-freiburg.de

chemotherapy. Inactivating point mutations in one Ptch1 allele in the germ cell line results in the constitutive activation of the hedgehog signaling pathway and causes the Gorlin syndrome or basal cell nevus syndrome (Hahn et al. 1996; Johnson et al. 1996). The patients develop multiple UV-independent basal cell carcinomas and have a high incidence for the occurrence of medulloblastomas, rhabdomysarcomas (soft tissue carcinomas), and other tumors. Heterozygous loss of Ptch1 in mice results in a similar syndrome, supporting the role of Ptch1 as tumor suppressor (Goodrich et al. 1997; Hahn et al. 1998; Aszterbaum et al. 1999). Somatic mutations, which result in constitutive activation of the hedgehog signaling pathway, were also detected in 67% of sporadic basal cell carcinomas, in 25% of medulloblastomas, and 30% of rhabdomyosarcomas (Gailani et al. 1996; Raffel et al. 1997; Tostar et al. 2006). The mutations include Ptch1 or Sufu (suppressor of Fused) inactivating mutations, Smo activating mutations, and Gli1 amplifications. In other solid tumors like lung cancer, prostate cancer, gastrointestinal tumors, liver cell carcinoma, and pancreatic cancer, activation of hedgehog signaling occurs via autocrine ligand stimulation, and tumor cells mainly produce Ihh (Berman et al. 2003; Thayer et al. 2003; Watkins et al. 2003; Karhadkar et al. 2004). In contrast, B-cell lymphomas are dependent on paracrine hedgehog ligand stimulation provided by stroma cells in lymphoid organs, including the bone marrow (Dierks et al. 2007). Furthermore, oncogenes like Bcr-Abl in CML can activate hedgehog signaling via endogenous upregulation of the activating Smo-receptor, causing an imbalance in between activating and inactivating Hh pathway components (Dierks et al. 2008). Inactivation of hedgehog signaling in animal models of lymphoid malignancies, CML, and various solid tumors by the natural Smoinhibitor cyclopamine results in tumor regression and loss of the leukemic stem cell population in CML, indicating that Smo inhibitors might be beneficial in the treatment of various cancers.

17.2 Structure and Mechanism of Action

Several companies currently develop small molecule inhibitors to inactivate the hedgehog signaling pathway. GDC-0449 from Curis/Genentech is the first-in-human, first-in-class, potent systemic inhibitor of Hh signal transduction. GDC-0449 binds to the activating receptor Smo and locks it in its inactive conformation. Preclinical studies confirm high specificity of the compound for Smo and good potency in vitro and in vivo to block the hedgehog signaling pathway.

17.3 Clinical Data

GDC-0449 was tested in a phase I dose escalation clinical trial in refractory solid tumor patients to evaluate safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics (PK/PD). GDC-0449 was administered orally as a single dose on Day 1 with a 1-week PK break, and then once daily continuously (cycle 1>35 days). Altogether, 19 patients were treated at doses 150 mg/day (n > 7), 270 mg/day (n > 9), and 540 mg/day (n > 3). The median patient age was 63 years (range 39-84) with an ECOG performance status 0-2. There have been no dose-limiting toxicities. Reversible drug-related grade 3 hyponatremia and fatigue (one each) were reported. GDC-0449 PK properties showed a prolonged terminal half-life and drug accumulation, which resulted in surprisingly similar mean steady-state plasma concentrations (30-35 mM) across dose levels, resulting in expansion of the patient cohorts receiving the lower doses of GDC-0449. One partial response (150 mg) in basal cell carcinoma (BCC) and two stable diseases (270 mg) in BCC and adenocystic carcinoma were seen. Surrogate tissues were assessed for the expression of the Hh downstream target gene, Gli1. Gli1 was downmodulated more than twofold in skin biopsies from 11 of 14 patients analyzed, indicating good PD activity of the compound.

In October 2007, Genentech initiated a phase I expansion cohort to enroll additional BCC patients with locally advanced (LA), multifocal (MF), or metastatic disease. These expansion cohort patients were administered 150 mg of GDC-0449 daily continuously beginning on Day 1. In five patients with metastatic BCC to the lungs, two patients had confirmed RECIST partial responses, two have ongoing stable disease, and one had progressive disease. In four patients with clinically evaluable LA or multifocal BCC, two patients exhibited complete response in subcutaneous masses by physical exam and two patients had improvement of skin lesions. Metabolic responses by EORTC positron emission tomography (PET) metabolic response criteria were achieved in five out of five patients that received PET scans. Time on study for all nine patients ranged from 39 days to over 438 days, with a median of over 176 days. The biomarker Gli1 was reduced in all patients.

17.4 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

The Hh antagonist GDC-0449 was evaluated in a phase I clinical trial and continuous oral dosing at 150 mg/day demonstrated safety, effective PK concentrations, PD activity, an objective response, and clinical benefit in patients with BCC. Therefore, several phase II clinical trials are planned or already ongoing.

One phase II study focuses on advanced BCC patients. A second phase II clinical trial is planned on a combination of GDC-0449 with concurrent chemotherapy and bevacizumab as a first-line therapy in colorectal cancer. A third phase II clinical trial will evaluate GDC-0449 in ovarian cancer and further studies are planned in other solid tumors and hematologic malignancies.

References

- Aszterbaum M, Epstein J, Oro A et al (1999) Ultraviolet and ionizing radiation enhance the growth of BCCs and trichoblastomas in patched heterozygous knockout mice. Nat Med 5(11): 1285–1291
- Berman DM, Karhadkar SS, Maitra A et al (2003) Widespread requirement for Hedgehog ligand stimulation in growth of digestive tract tumours. Nature 425(6960):846–851
- Dierks C, Grbic J, Zirlik K et al (2007) Essential role of stromally induced hedgehog signaling in B-cell malignancies. Nat Med 13(8):944–951
- Dierks C, Beigi R, Guo GR et al (2008) Expansion of Bcr-Abl-positive leukemic stem cells is dependent on Hedgehog pathway activation. Cancer Cell 14(3):238–249
- Duman-Scheel M, Weng L, Xin S et al (2002) Hedgehog regulates cell growth and proliferation by inducing Cyclin D and Cyclin E. Nature 417(6886):299–304
- Gailani MR, Stahle-Backdahl M, Leffell DJ et al (1996) The role of the human homologue of Drosophila patched in sporadic basal cell carcinomas. Nat Genet 14(1):78–81
- Goodrich LV, Milenkovic L, Higgins KM et al (1997) Altered neural cell fates and medulloblastoma in mouse patched mutants. Science 277(5329):1109–1113
- Goodrich LV, Scott MP (1998) Hedgehog and patched in neural development and disease. Neuron 21(6):1243–1257
- Hahn H, Wicking C, Zaphiropoulous PG et al (1996) Mutations of the human homolog of Drosophila patched in the nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome. Cell 85(6):841–851
- Hahn H, Wojnowski L, Miller G et al (1998) Rhabdomyosarcomas and radiation hypersensitivity in a mouse model of Gorlin syndrome. Nat Med 4(5):619–622
- Johnson RL, Rothman AL, Xie J (1996) Human homolog of patched, a candidate gene for the basal cell nevus syndrome. Science 272(5268): 1668–16671
- Lee J, Platt KA, Censullo P, Ruiz i Altaba A. Gli1 is a target of Sonic hedgehog that induces ventral neural tube development. 1997 Jul;124(13):2537–2552
- Karhadkar SS, Bova GS, Abdallah N et al (2004) Hedgehog signalling in prostate regeneration, neoplasia and metastasis. Nature 431(7009): 707–712

- Marigo V, Tabin CJ (1996) Regulation of patched by sonic hedgehog in the developing neural tube. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(18): 9346–9351
- Raffel C, Jenkins RB, Frederick L et al (1997) Sporadic medulloblastomas contain PTCH mutations. Cancer Res 57(5):842–845
- Regl G, Kasper M, Schnidar H et al (2004) Activation of the BCL2 promoter in response to Hedgehog/ GLI signal transduction is predominantly mediated by GLI2. Cancer Res 64(21): 7724–7731
- Thayer SP, di Magliano MP, Heiser PW et al (2003) Hedgehog is an early and late mediator of pancreatic cancer tumorigenesis. Nature 425 (6960):851–856
- Tostar U, Malm CJ, Meis-Kindblom JM et al (2006) Deregulation of the hedgehog signalling pathway: a possible role for the PTCH and SUFU genes in human rhabdomyoma and rhabdomyosarcoma development. J Pathol 208(1): 17–25
- Watkins DN, Berman DM, Burkholder SG et al (2003) Hedgehog signalling within airway epithelial progenitors and in small-cell lung cancer. Nature 422(6929):313–317